
 
 
 

 
 

 

Planning Commission 
Meeting Packet 

 

FOR 
 

January 14, 2014 
At 7 PM 

 
Sherwood City Hall 

22560 SW Pine Street 
Sherwood, Oregon 

 
 

 

 



 

Meeting documents may be found on the City of Sherwood website or by contacting the Planning Staff at 503-925-2308. 

Amended Agenda, Time change 
City of Sherwood 

PLANNING COMMISSION 
Sherwood City Hall  

22560 SW Pine Street 
Sherwood, OR  97140 

January 14, 2014 – 6:00 PM 
 
Work Session (6:00) 
1. Training with Legal Counsel  
 
AGENDA 
1. Call to Order/Roll Call (7:00) 
2. Agenda Review 
3.  Consent Agenda 
 a. November 26, 2013 Planning Commission Minutes 
4. Council Liaison Announcements (Mayor Middleton) 
5.  Staff Announcements (Brad Kilby) 
6. Community Comments (7:10) 
7. Old Business (7:25) 

a. Public Hearing - SP 13-03 Sherwood Industrial Park, Phase II  
(Michelle Miller)  

The Planning Commission will consider a proposal to construct two tilt up buildings: 

72,000 sf and 35,000 sf in the light industrial zone for warehousing/ light industrial use 

on a 9.45-acre site adjacent to SW Century Drive and SW Tualatin Sherwood Rd., with 

172 parking spaces proposed. 

8. New Business (8:10) 

a.   Public Appeal Hearing - SP 13-01 Pacific FamilyDental Parking Lot Expansion  
      (Brad Kilby) 

 

The owner of the Pacific Family Dental office building owns two lots adjacent to each 

other. The office building is on one lot, and there is currently a single-family home and 

several outbuildings on the second lot. This is an appeal of a Hearings Officer decision 

to approve additional parking for his office building on a portion of a lot that contains a 

single-family residence. Both properties are zoned General Commercial (GC), and 

public or commercial parking is an outright permitted use. 

9. Adjourn (9:15) 

 



 
 

Consent Agenda 
   

Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

1



  
Planning Commission DRAFT Meeting Minutes 
November 26, 2013 
Page 1 of 12 
 

City of Sherwood, Oregon 
Planning Commission 

Work Session Meeting Minutes 
November 26, 2013 

 
Planning Commission Members Present:  Staff Present:  
Chair Jean Simson Brad Kilby, Planning Manager 
Commissioner Michael Cary    Bob Galati, City Engineer 
Commissioner Beth Cooke     Michelle Miller, Senior Planner 
Commissioner Russell Griffin Jason Waters, Civil Engineer   
Commissioner Lisa Walker Kirsten Allen, Planning Dept. Program Coordinator 
    
Planning Commission Members Absent:     
Vice Chair James Copfer     
Commissioner John Clifford    
   
Council Members Present:     Legal Counsel:  
Mayor Bill Middleton  None 

 

1. Call to Order/Roll Call 
Chair Jean Simson called the meeting to order at 6:43 pm.   

2. Agenda Review 
The agenda consisted of a public hearing for SP 13-03 and CUP 13-02/MLP 13-03.  Chair Simson 
moved the discussion of Planning Commission goals and accomplishments to the top of the agenda.   

7. New Business  
a. Discussion of Planning Commission goals and accomplishments for the Annual Boards & Commission 
Appreciation Dinner and Reporting dinner.   

Accomplishments:  

 Sherwood Town Center Master Plan 
 Interactive work session Citizen 

engagement tool  
 Special Neighborhood District tool 
 Good communication with City Council  

 
Other ideas discussed were increased 
attendance to Planning Commission meetings 
and having a Planning Commission with 
tenure.   

 

Goals: 

 Maintain communication with City Council  
 Improve the structure of the Citizen Involvement 

Plan 
 Continued Code Clean up including Old Town 

Design Standards 
 Comprehensive Plan update 
 Reconsider Brookman Road Concept Plan  

 

Other ideas discussed were how to improved 
citizen engagement, creating work programs for 
long term goals, and grant funds for a Sherwood 
West Concept Plan.

Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

2



  
Planning Commission DRAFT Meeting Minutes 
November 26, 2013 
Page 2 of 12 
 

3. Consent Agenda:    
There was no Consent Agenda  

4. Council Liaison Announcements 
Mayor Middleton had no announcements, but commented the City Council was impressed with the 
Town Center Plan process, indicating that the Council passed the ordinance without discussion and 
said there was trust between the Council and the Commission.   
  
5. Staff Announcements 
Brad Kilby, Planning Manager, reminded the Commission of the Annual Boards & Commission 
Appreciation Dinner and Reporting dinner on December 3, 2013.   
 
Bob Galati, City Engineer reported a Technical Advisory Committee (TAC) meeting in the afternoon 
on December 11, 2013 at City Hall with a Citizen Advisory Committee (CAC) meeting that evening at 
6pm.  He said there will be an open house for the general public on December 12, 2013 from 6-8 pm at 
the Sherwood Police Station.  Bob said the meeting will cover opportunities, needs, requirements, and 
policies that the TAC and CAC have recommended and will provide an opportunity for the public to 
give input.  More information will be available on the website at www.sherwoodoregon.gov . 
 
6. Community Comments 

There were no community comments.  
 
7. New Business  
b. Public Hearing – SP 13-03 Sherwood Industrial Park, Phase II 
Chair Simson called the public hearing for SP 13-03 Sherwood Industrial Park, Phase II to order and 
read the public hearing statement. 

Commissioner Beth Cooke indicated that she had visited the site.   

Note: Commissioner Cary arrived at 7:11pm.   

Michelle Miller, Senior Planner, gave a presentation (see record, Exhibit 1) and said the City received 
a Type IV Site Plan application for two concrete industrial size buildings and the associated parking at 
the southwest portion of the site off of Century Blvd and Tualatin Sherwood Road.  She said it was a 
52 acre site with the subject parcel being 9.45 acres. 

Michelle explained that this was part of a multi-phase project that first received preliminary land use 
approval in 2000. An Oregon Department of State Lands permit for a wetland fill followed in 2002, 
due to Rock Creek running along the eastern boundary of the larger 52-acre site. She said that mass 
grading was done in 2005 and Phase I included a Site Plan approval for two industrial buildings in 
2008.  

Michelle said that Building 3 included with this application is the larger building at 72,000 square feet 
(sf) and Building 4 is 35,000 sf.  She described existing improvements on SW Century Blvd as having 
street trees, sidewalks and full street improvement.  Michelle said that the applicant proposes two 
driveways to access the site and a landscaped parking area with 172 parking spaces.  It is anticipated 
that the traffic trips will be 1,131 per day with a CAP mitigation of $230. Michelle deferred to 

Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

3

http://www.sherwoodoregon.gov/


  
Planning Commission DRAFT Meeting Minutes 
November 26, 2013 
Page 3 of 12 
 

Engineering staff to answer questions about improvements or recommended conditions regarding the 
infrastructure.   

Michelle showed a view of Buildings 1 and 2 showing existing improvements as part of the earlier 
land use approval and commented that this application will be reviewed with the new industrial design 
standards developed a few years ago where there are two different options to gain approval.  She 
explained that the applicant does not meet the six objective design standards and have asked for the 
alternative of a Planning Commission design review to consider seven different criteria that are more 
subjective.  Michelle compared how the applicant performed regarding the criteria for the Industrial 
Design Standards and asked if the Planning Commission had questions for staff.   

Commissioner Walker commented that this was the first [subjective] review by the Planning 
Commission under the new criteria and received confirmation that four of the six Industrial Design 
Standards must be met, but all seven of the alternative criteria must be met for when a design review is 
done by the Planning Commission.  

Brad Kilby commented that it was the burden of the applicant to demonstrate that they meet the 
criteria, but staff will have to support the approval with findings.  He suggested that the applicant 
should provide those findings.   

Chair Simson asked if the application had findings to support the seven criteria of the Planning 
Commission’s design review. Michelle responded that the application contained information as well as 
Exhibit G found in the packet.   

Commissioner Lisa Walker commented that the Planning Commission preferred that an applicant meet 
the Industrial Design Standards and a design review by the Planning Commission was to give an 
opportunity to review designs that did not meet those criteria but could be reviewed more subjectively.   

Commissioner Russell Griffin commented that the applicant may have opted to have a design review 
hearing in front of the Planning Commission because they don’t meet four of the criteria.  The 
Planning Commission decided to ask the applicant.   

Chair Simson asked why the parking was based on industrial instead of a warehouse parking standards 
which require fewer spaces.  Michelle said the design is worse-case scenario using the industrial 
standards and they satisfied the requirement.   

Michelle asked to change some errors to the finding and conditions: 

 Add the word “time” in the last sentence of the finding under 16.31.020C 
 Change the traffic mitigation amount to $230  for the recommended condition under 16.82.C.7, 

16.106.070.F.3 and condition C.3 
 Remove the condition that refers to relinquishing the cul-de-sac easement under 16.106.020.A and 

condition E.4 
 Change the finding under 16.90.030.D.8.a.(6) to read the “applicant does not meet” 

 
Chair Simson asked for testimony from the applicant.  
 

Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

4



  
Planning Commission DRAFT Meeting Minutes 
November 26, 2013 
Page 4 of 12 
 

Mark Person and Dale Poppe, from Mackenzie, 1515 SE Water Ave, Ste. 100, Portland came forward 
to present on behalf of Jack Steiger of Oregon Washington Lumber, LLC.  Mr. Person introduced other 
members of his team and explained the proposal to the Commission.  He said the application was 
proposing a site plan with two buildings and that he believed it complied with the Sherwood Municipal 
Code and is allowed in the industrial zone.  Adjacent land is zone General or Light Industrial.  
 
Mr. Person explained that a neighborhood meeting was conducted that was unattended and it was his 
understanding that no public comments have been received.  He said that this was Phase II of larger 
development located south of Century Drive, north of the Southern Pacific right of way, west of Rock 
Creek and east of Langer Farms PUD Phase VII.  Mr. Person informed the Commission that the 
project started with permits in 2000 and received an Oregon Department of State Lands permit for 
wetlands around Rock Creek, but this portion of the development does not have any significant natural 
resources.  He said Century Drive and a storm drainage system for the entire site were constructed in 
2005 and two buildings totaling 90,000 sf, known as Phase I, was approved in 2008 and constructed in 
2010.  Mr. Person commented that the recession has slowed some of the progression and with Phase I 
complete and now leased. The applicant is ready to proceed to Phase II.   
 
Dale Poppe explained that the application was for 107,000 sf of industrial space with two acres or 22% 
of landscaping.  He said the buildings were designed as speculative multi-tenant industrial buildings 
and there are no tenants proposed. Mr. Poppe indicated that the design incorporates flexibility for a 
wide variety of industrial tenants such as light manufacturing and warehousing.   He said Building 3 is 
the larger building at 72,000 sf and is designed to accommodate between one and four tenants and   
Building 4 at 35,000 sf is designed for one or two tenants.  Mr. Poppe explained that a typical lease is 
between fifteen to twenty thousand square feet with 10-15% or 1500-4000 sf of office. Mr. Poppe 
explained that the site is configured to work with the existing grades and slopes to minimized the 
amount of grading during construction and stated that circulation is critical in industrial uses with 
trucks and cars accessing the site.  He pointed out that they were proposing two new driveways and 
have an existing shared access off of Phase I.  Mr. Poppe indicated the importance of maintaining 
circulation around the building and the need for driveways up front.  He said moving the building over 
would lose some of the parking and they wanted to meet the parking standards for the higher level 
industrial use.  To mitigate that, the applicant looked to the landscaping and softening the building 
from the street with street trees along Century, a ten foot landscape buffer with trees and shrubs and an 
additional 6 feet on the other side of the parking spaces next to the building.  Mr. Poppe said the 
configuration of the landscaping helps to soften the building’s presence along the street.   
 
Mr. Poppe explained that  storm water goes to the regional water quality facility to the north and there 
is swale to the east that drains to the wetland below, but the site is set up to avoid that area and limit 
disturbance except for planting the trees.  He said trash enclosures are available at the back of each 
building and not visible from Century Drive.  Mr. Poppe related that the proposal includes outdoor 
storage in a couple of pockets on the site that are an important amenity for industrial tenants to have; 
the storage is back away from Century Drive and screened by the buildings and the landscape.  He 
commented that there is a heritage oak tree on the site that will be preserved and the tree canopy and 
landscaping requirements exceed the minimum.   
 
Mr. Poppe explained that the buildings are tilt up concrete; a great material for industrial uses because 
of its durability and easy maintenance.  He said the elevations will be softened similar to Buildings 1 
and 2 through the use of architectural reveals and a multi-color paint scheme.  The paint colors and 

Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

5



  
Planning Commission DRAFT Meeting Minutes 
November 26, 2013 
Page 5 of 12 
 

configuration of the elevations are not identical but similar to the existing building in order to foster an 
industrial campus type of appearance.  Mr. Poppe remarked that there is a large amount of glazing at 
the entrees for each of the potential office entries and large ribbon windows in the front.  He said the 
structure would have the ability to add in windows if the tenant has the need.   
 
Mr. Poppe thanked the Commission and said the goal would be to submit for building permits in 
January, pull permits for construction over the summer in April, and to lease in November.   

Mark Person added that the applicant knew the application would not meet the Industrial Design 
Standard outright and asked for the Planning Commission design review (see 16.90.030D.8.b).  He 
explained that the November 18, 2013 memo provides additional information for 8.b as well as 
addressing some of the Industrial Design Standards to show how some of the criteria were met.   

Chair Simson commented that the Planning Commission has to meet the criteria and then provide 
findings that correspond with the review.  She explained that as a quasi-judicial body the Planning 
Commission can look at the seven criteria and say if they are met or not.  Mr. Person stated that the 
seven criteria are addressed in the initial submittal beginning on page 7 of the applicant’s materials.   

Chair Simson asked for questions from the Commission. 

Commissioner Russell Griffin asked what the outdoor storage areas would be used for and asked for 
clarification on how the concrete would create interest on the facade. Mr. Poppe responded that 
outdoor storage may be for trailers or materials related to the business that may need to be stored for a 
short period and explained that the face of the concrete can be cast with architectural reveals that 
would be painted to give depth to the elevation.  Commissioner Griffin asked how the proposed 
buildings were different from the two existing buildings.  Mr. Poppe replied that the pattern on the face 
of the building is different and another paint color was added.   

Commissioner Walker asked if Phase I would have met the Industrial Design Standards.  Mr. Poppe 
answered that he did not think it would.   

Chair Simson asked for the percentage of windows on the elevation facing the street. Mr. Poppe 
replied that Building 3 was about 1.6% with the majority of the glass along the “front” face of the 
building and Building 4 was 6.7%.  He said the reason was that an industrial tenant has the office  
configured across the front and the warehouse or manufacturing area are in the back is because it is 
difficult to put glazing in an industrial use because windows break and having glass in the back area is 
a risk.  Mr. Poppe also commented on the need for privacy or security in those areas.   

Commissioner Michael Cary commented that Phase I faces the street and has more glazing towards the 
street because of the orientation of the building.  Mr. Poppe responded that Phase I did not have 35 
foot offset or parking in the back as required by the Industrial Design Standards.  He said there was 24 
feet of drop across the site, it was hard to orient a long building across that grade, and the new 
buildings have to be oriented as proposed.   

The applicant had 15:13 minutes remaining for rebuttal testimony.    

With no other questions from Commission members, Chair Simson asked for citizen comments.   

Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

6



  
Planning Commission DRAFT Meeting Minutes 
November 26, 2013 
Page 6 of 12 
 

Lori Stevens, Sherwood resident commented that she was happy to see that the oak tree would remain 
because there are owls in the tree.  She expressed her concern that she did not receive a public notice 
and said she drove around looking for signs.  She commented that Tualatin Sherwood Road would be a 
logical location for a sign and she found out about the hearing by looking at the City website.  Ms. 
Stevens said she was part of a social media action group that tries to have community members attend 
the Planning Commission and City Council meetings and said they would like more notices.  

Ms. Stevens commented on the 1131 trips traffic per day and asked for substantiation, because there 
was a big discrepancy between this application and the Walmart study which uses the same roads.  She 
asked about the intended use or tenants and asked for more clarity regarding allowing the use of 
chemicals for labs because it is near a wetland.  

Chair Simson asked the applicant to return for rebuttal.  

Mark Person commented that the tenant was unknown and the space would be kept open and flexible 
for future users who would have to go through the tenant improvement process with the City.  Each 
tenant space improvement would require a building permit and have staff review to ensure compliance 
with the zoning and building requirements.   

Chair Simson clarified that when building permits are applied for the use would be reviewed for 
allowed uses as defined in the Sherwood Zoning and Community Development Code.  She asked for 
explanation of the sign posting from staff.   

Michelle Miller explained that a sign was posted in front of the subject property on Century Blvd. and 
a notice was sent to property owners within 1000 feet of the property per the code requirements on 
November 6th.  A list of who received the mailed notice is kept on file.    Staff reminded the 
Commission that the notice was also posted in five locations throughout the City and on the City’s 
website.  

Chair Simson asked if the applicant completed a traffic study.  

Mark Person responded that a Capacity Allocation Program (CAP) analysis was completed not a 
complete traffic study   

Bob Galati, City Engineer commented that the Average Daily Traffic (ADT) loading for Walmart was 
8070 trips to 1331 trips for this application.  He said Walmart was roughly eight times the magnitude.  
Bob explained that the CAP analysis was to determine if the development will need to mitigate for 
impacts along Highway 99W.  He added that the total CAP for the site is 43 net peak pm trips per acre 
or 1,756 trips for the total site and there is quite a bit of room for this to grow.  Bob said that the site 
already has an adopted traffic transportation plan and when a tenant improvement comes in staff will 
check again.   

Commissioner Walker asked if there was a time limit on the transportation study.  Bob said that there 
was no expiration of the study even though it did not take the Walmart site into account.  He said the 
Walmart study took surrounding area into account to determine impacts, but on this application the 
impact is very small and does not come close to the CAP limit.   

Chair Simson asked for additional questions from the Commission before deliberation.   

Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

7



  
Planning Commission DRAFT Meeting Minutes 
November 26, 2013 
Page 7 of 12 
 

Commissioner Cary asked if trucks would take Century Drive to Tualatin Sherwood Road or through 
Langer Farms Parkway.  Dale Poppe commented that current traffic uses Century Drive, because there 
is no access to Langer Farms at this time and the traffic study indicated roughly 10%.  Discussion 
followed regarding trucks using the roundabout on Langer Farms Parkway and having a traffic light on 
Tualatin Sherwood Road.  Bob answered that the City’s Transportation System Plan identifies a future 
traffic signal at the Langer Farms Parkway intersection and it would be appropriate for trucks to go 
from Century Drive to Langer Farms Parkway in order to make a left hand turn onto Tualatin 
Sherwood Road.  Mr. Poppe commented that truck traffic would be concentrated on traveling down 
Tualatin Sherwood Road to I-5.  

Commissioner Walker stated that of the six Industrial Design Standards the applicant qualifies for two.  
She asked which criteria the applicant was close to, and willing to adjust, in order to achieve four of 
the criteria.   She indicated that she wanted to ask questions before the public testimony was closed and 
the Commission could not ask the applicant questions.   Mr. Poppe commented that complying with 
the other criteria would be a major impact to the functionality of the building and site.   

Commissioner Walker commented that the subjective criteria are more difficult to stand behind.  Chair 
Simson added that the applicant would need to address how the seven subjective criteria have been met 
as only two have been addressed.   

Mark Person stated that all seven criteria are addressed in the site plan narrative included in the 
application.   

Commissioner Cary asked if it was the grade of the property that was causing the issues regarding 
orientation, parking and glazing.  Mr. Poppe confirmed that the grade guides many of those issues.   

Chair Simson called for a recess at 8:16 pm and reconvened at 8:27 pm and asked if there was any ex 
parte contact by Commissioners with the applicant during the recess.  None were received. She 
disclosed that she discussed outdoor storage with staff who explained that outdoor storage is within the 
permitted use on the site and the Commission presumes it is part of the permitted use.   

Mr. Person asked to use the remainder of this time to review the seven criteria for the Planning 
Commission.   

1. Provide High Value industrial projects to benefit community, consumers and developer – The 
applicant believes this is a high value, building that looks good and used Phase I as a testament 
of the demand and quality of the product.  Concrete is more durable and attractive than metal.  

2. Diversified working environment – The applicant acknowledged that this is difficult to affirm 
because there are no tenants, but said that flexible space can be utilized for a wide variety of 
uses from light manufacturing, recreational businesses, specialty contractors, technical services 
and limited offices.  Startup businesses typically do not have the capital to build their own 
buildings.   

3. Support the City’s goals of economic development – The applicant stated that Sherwood is a 
bedroom community without as many jobs as houses and this project will provide additional 
jobs in the city.   

4. Complement and enhance projects previous developed under the Industrial Design Standards – 
The applicant stated this is the first project using the standards.  

Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

8



  
Planning Commission DRAFT Meeting Minutes 
November 26, 2013 
Page 8 of 12 
 

5. Enhance the appearance of industrial developments visible from arterials and collectors, 
particularly those considered “entrances” to Sherwood , including Highway 99W, Tualatin 
Sherwood Road, and Oregon Street – The applicant believes the layout and siting of the 
buildings with the short side towards Century Drive looks good and with the 10 foot wide 
visual corridor with increased landscaping has met the criterion.   

6. Reduce the bulk appearance from street by applying exterior features such as architectural 
articulation, windows and landscaping – The applicant said the orientation with the short side 
towards the street, visual corridor and landscaping reduces the bulk.  The applicant said it was 
more visually pleasing to have the building further from the street and stated the separation for 
pedestrians and for parking is important.   

7. Protect the natural resources and encourage integration into the site design (including access to 
natural resources and open space amenities by the employees and community) – Phase I was 
next to Rock Creek and the associated wetlands. The applicant worked with the City and the 
Division of State Lands for those permits.  Phase II is outside of the natural resource area and 
the applicant feels this criterion is met.  Part of the last phase of this entire project is to 
construct a pedestrian trail through the wetland area.   

 

Chair Simson confirmed that one of the phases for this project fronted along Tualatin Sherwood Road 
and commented that this project may set a precedent for future projects being reviewed as a Planning 
Commission Design Review.  She said there are architectural features and opportunities that could be 
used on the building to make it more pedestrian scale.  Chair Simson mentioned the Community 
Center land use action where the architect was able to break up the wall architecturally to give it a 
smaller scale.   

Commissioner Cary remarked that this project would set a precedent for the next phase particularly the 
phase facing Tualatin Sherwood Road.  Discussion followed regarding how many phases there were 
and the Commission was informed that Phase III could be built as Phases III and V.   

Chair Simson asked for any additional questions from the Commission.   

Mr. Person commented that each phase should be considered independently, and depending on the 
road frontage, the architectural and pedestrian feel could be adjusted for each site.    

Chair Simson commented that the applicant could consider asking for a continuance to reconsider 
architectural features.   

Mr. Poppe asked for a continuance to ensure that the project is good for the community and the client.   

Chair Simson asked staff for direction regarding the timeline and busy schedule.  Brad Kilby said it 
would be up to the applicant. The hearing could be continued to a date certain if the applicant is 
wishing address the design of the building  or more time can be given if the building locations or 
parking will be adjusted to allow for additional analysis or comments from agencies and the public.  
Brad added that the applicant may need to toll the 120 day period for the time that will be asked for.  
Discussion followed regarding hearing process, time required, and available dates.   

Mr. Poppe asked for direction on what the Commission will be looking for.   

Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

9



  
Planning Commission DRAFT Meeting Minutes 
November 26, 2013 
Page 9 of 12 
 

Chair Simson closed the public hearing and moved to discuss the proposal.   

Commissioner Cary commented that he liked the project as is sits and the issue was how it looked.   

Commissioner Griffin commented that considering subjective criteria was setting a precedent.  He said 
that this project was two buildings at the back of the development and when the buildings near 
Tualatin Sherwood come to the Planning Commission it will be different.  Commissioner Griffin said 
he did not have a lot of problems with the current project and that it did not make sense to require 
glazing that would require a wall behind it, the building location is set by the site and he would like 
increased landscaping to make up for the flat wall.  Commissioner Griffin commented that people 
could take Century Drive to get to the shopping center and whatever is on that road should look nice.   

Chair Simson asked if there were any comments regarding the criteria besides (5) enhancing the 
appearance of the building or (6) reducing the bulk of the building.   She commented that the proposed 
is similar to the existing buildings but there were no design criteria in place for Phase I and this will be 
the gauge for future projects.  Commissioner Griffin asked about (7) protecting the natural resources 
and the Commission agreed that they had done that one.  Chair Simson commented that the applicant’s 
arguments established that Criteria 1 through 4 had been met.    

Discussion followed regarding the amount of traffic there will be on Century Drive. The Commission 
expressed that they would like to see more architectural features or articulation on the building and 
more landscaping on the side that faces the road.   

Chair Simson re-opened the public hearing and asked if the applicant is willing to continue to a date 
certain and toll the 120 days.   

Mr. Poppe said the applicant would be willing to continue and modify the 120-day period.  He said 
they would look at the street side elevation and work with staff to refine it to a mutually agreeable 
solution.   

Chair Simson said that with a motion, the Planning Commission would continue the hearing with the 
applicant’s understanding that we would be tolling the 120 days by 59 days and at the continued 
hearing it would be re-opened for applicant and public testimony.   

 

Motion: From Commissioner Russell Griffin to continue the Public Hearing SP 13-03 Sherwood 
Industrial Park, Phase II to January 14, 2014.  Seconded by Commissioner Michael Cary.  All 
present Planning Commissioners in favor (Vice Chair Copfer and Commissioner Clifford were 
absent). 
 

c. Public Hearing - CUP 13-02/MLP 13-03 Old Town Townhomes 
Chair Simson called public hearing CUP 13-02/ MLP 13-03 Old Town Townhomes to order,  
read the public hearing statement and asked for any ex parte contact, bias or conflicts of interest.   
 
Commissioner Cary indicated that he had visited the site.   

Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

10



  
Planning Commission DRAFT Meeting Minutes 
November 26, 2013 
Page 10 of 12 
 

Chair Simson turned the time over to staff for a report.   

Michelle gave a presentation (see record, Exhibit 2) and said the Old Town Townhomes was a 
Conditional Use Permit request and a Minor Land Partition.  She recounted that the Planning 
Commission reviewed an Old Town design for a single family home on the other half of the same tax 
lot. She explained that the lot is approximately 5,000 square feet (sf) and zoned retail commercial. 
Michelle said the applicant is proposing a two lot partition for the construction of two attached 
townhomes.  She explained that the Conditional Use Permit is required because the site is in the Old 
Town Overlay and said that each lot is approximately 2,508 sf with garage access from the alley in 
back.  She said frontage improvements will include street trees, a 5 foot sidewalk, and the Engineering 
Department has requested curb and gutter, quarter street improvements, a Public Utility Easement, a 
streetlight in the middle of the site, and a storm cleanout with manhole.    

Michelle showed a drawing of the elevation that showed colors and materials to address he residential 
Old Town Overlay design standards and described the volume, roof, building materials and 
architectural detail.  She said there were plenty of windows on the side and front entry and pointed out 
the front porch and landscaping.   Michelle said that staff recommended approval with conditions.  She 
explained that the last condition under D.1 should read prior to “final occupancy” instead of “prior to 
issuance” and become condition F.2.   

Chair Simson asked what a full depth AC means.  Bob Galati, City Engineer, explained that it meant 
the asphalt and concrete.   

With no other questions for staff from the Commission, Chair Simson asked for applicant testimony. 
 
Larry Wright, C & L Properties and resident of Sherwood said they were a small builder and were 
under construction for the single-family dwelling and it will go well with the townhomes that are under 
review. Mr. Wright expressed concerns about the conditions.  He handed a copy of the pre-application 
comments regarding the site on July 30, 2013 from Engineering to the Commission (see record, 
Exhibit 3) and said they paid for the pre-application meeting to do their due diligence and receive 
guidelines for the site before purchasing the property.  He explained that he received a report of the 
existing conditions where the curb line and A/C pavement were in a moderate condition.  Mr. Wright 
said that to him moderate was adequate.   He stated that in order to receive a partition in other 
jurisdictions they have been required to do a paved street, curb and sidewalks, but because they were 
adequate, they should not need to be replaced.  Mr. Wright said he discussed this with Bob Galati, City 
Engineer.  He said they had projected $15,000 in improvements and with the conditions it is over 
$50,000.  Mr. Wright said his biggest concern was the light and that people do not like a light shining 
in their bedroom.  He commented that there were only a few vacant lots in Old Town and asked where 
the revenue for other improvement for other parts of Old Town would come from.  He asked if other 
remodels in Old Town would be required to make improvements in front of their homes and said he 
did not know where the City would get the money for improvements.  Mr. Wright complimented staff 
saying there have been very helpful.   He said the issue was that these conditions were not brought up 
at the pre-application meeting but he was being required to do them now.   
 
Chair Simson said the conditions noted were C.1 a), i), and e) and asked if Mr. Wright was okay with 
the other conditions.  He responded that the catch basin is changed when replacing the curb and gutter.  
The storm cleanout and manhole were replaced with the first phase.  

Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

11



  
Planning Commission DRAFT Meeting Minutes 
November 26, 2013 
Page 11 of 12 
 

Bob Galati explained that staff identified items that would be affected by both lots.  He indicated that 
the conditions roll from the first project into this project because it is more cost effective to do them all 
at once and the intent was to set it up so the conditions applied to both lots regardless of which project 
was completed first.   

Commissioner Walker asked Mr. Wright the same conditions were on the first project reviewed in 
October.  He confirmed and replied that he had not read the email from staff and was unaware of the 
conditions until the night of the meeting.     

Chair Simson commented the Commission was unable to change conditions of a previously approved 
application.   She asked for public comments and there were none.   

Candy Wright from C & L Properties came forward to speak as part of the applicant testimony.  She 
said she was a real estate agent and sells the properties developed by the company.  Ms. Wright stated 
that people do not want a streetlight in front of their property and said there were four houses before 
there was a streetlight in the Oregon Trail subdivision where she lived.  She commented that 2nd Street 
was not a very long street and there was a streetlight on each end of the street.   Ms. Wright said the 
light would shine in someone’s bedroom, would not be a pretty color, and lighting up the Andy’s 
Automotive parking lot was not cool.  Ms. Wright suggested the City had tunnel vision regarding the 
Code requirements and should consider what people want.   

Chair Simson closed the public testimony and asked for staff response.   

Bob commented that the Pre-application process is not a definitive process of identifying all items that 
will be conditioned through the review process but to talk more generally about the process for 
planning land use approval.  He said staff does not do an in depth study at the pre-application meeting, 
but tries to capture items as best as possible through a preliminary review.  Bob indicated that 
moderate conditions may not mean it is acceptable regarding design life, and curb lines from the 1950s 
have a concrete life span of 75 years.  Bob said the standards are that if it does not have a 20- 25 year 
life span available then staff takes a closer look to see if the infrastructure can still function.  He 
commented that the applicant will be cutting out the curb line to replace the storm catch basin sump 
and be into the asphalt with that improvement.  Bob said that the curb is not up to standards and would 
not be allowed in other infill situations.  He said the minimum amount for the street would be a grind 
and overlay and the full depth of the asphalt has to be torn out to construct the curb line.  Bob 
commented on reducing the sidewalk from six feet to five feet and said that given the type of 
development, staff feels the conditions are proportional to the development that is occurring.  

Bob added that the street light is a safety issue and said the current street lights at Pine and 2nd Street 
and Washington and 2nd Street which light up the intersections, but do not reach mid-block.  He said 
the light would be the black Shepard’s hook, like those installed on Columbia Street that deflects the 
light down. Even though it is a small development, the light should be required.  Bob said he agreed 
with Mr. Wright voicing his opinions and questioning the conditions, but the conditions are the 
minimum Code requirements available.    

Chair Simson asked if all of the conditions were on both of the properties being developed.  Bob 
answered that the intent was that the conditions apply to both properties and when the Building 
Occupancy is granted on the last construction that the public improvements be completed.   

Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

12



  
Planning Commission DRAFT Meeting Minutes 
November 26, 2013 
Page 12 of 12 
 

Chair Simson asked if there was any reciprocity for property owners who would not have to put the 
light in and how the fee program worked.  Bob replied that he did not know about a fee or of anything 
he could attach a “fee in lieu of improvements”.  Bob compared the light to a sidewalk where someone 
puts it in but the community gets the benefit of it. Discussion followed.   

Commissioner Walker asked if there was a cost associated with a pre-application meeting.  Brad 
answered that the fee was $400 and the applicant meets with Planning, Engineering, Building, Public 
Works (for water and sewer), and Tualatin Valley Fire & Rescue, receiving notes from departments as 
needed.  He said a typical meeting discusses existing conditions, planning land use process, and criteria 
that needed to be addressed in the narrative and application requirements.  Brad said staff would 
acknowledge that there will be public improvements and developers are required to provide adequate 
water, sewer, and access.   He said the application is fronting a road and it is the City Engineer’s 
decision about whether the road is adequate to serve the development.   

Commissioner Walker commented that she understood the applicant’s position and expectations 
regarding the pre-application meeting.   

Commissioner Cooke remarked on her experience with a light outside a bedroom window and said it 
was important to have a style that would minimize light pollution.  Bob confirmed that the Shepard’s 
hook design throws light down towards the street and pedestrian corridor.   

With no other comments from the Commission, the following motion was received.   

Motion: From Commissioner Russell Griffin to approve CUP 13-02/ MLP 13-03 with conditions, 
adopting the staff report as presented and modified by staff. Seconded by Commissioner Lisa 
Walker.  All present Planning Commissioners in favor (Vice Chair Copfer and Commissioner 
Clifford were absent). 

Commissioner Griffin commented on the information received by Mr. Wright from staff and suggested 
more descriptive language be used.  Bob concurred and said he would be modifying his language to 
avoid the misunderstanding in the future.   

10. Adjourn 

Chair Simson thanked the Mayor for recognizing the work performed by the Planning Commission in 
the last year and adjourned the meeting at 9:21 pm. 

 
Submitted by: 

_________________________________________     

Kirsten Allen 
Planning Department Program Coordinator 
 

Approval Date: __________________________________ 

Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

13



 
 

Old Business Agenda 
Item A  

 

Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

14



City of Sherwood 
22560 SW Pine St. 
Sherwood, OR 97140 
Tel 503-625-5522 
Fax 503-625-5524 
www.sherwoodoregon.gov 
 
Mayor 
Bill Middleton 
 
Council President 
Linda Henderson 
 
Councilors 
Dave Grant 
Robyn Folsom 
Bill Butterfield 
Matt Langer 
Krisanna Clark 
 
 
City Manager  
Joseph Gall, ICMA -CM 
 

 
  
 
2009 Top Ten Selection 
 

 
  
 
2007 18th Best Place to 
Live 
 
 

 

 
Home of the Tualatin River National Wildlife Refuge 

 

 

 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 

 

 

DATE: January 7, 2014 

TO: Planning Commission 

FROM: Michelle Miller, AICP, Senior Planner 

SUBJECT: 
SP 13-03, Sherwood Industrial Park, Phase II 

Continued Public Hearing  

 
 

At the hearing on November 26, 2013, the Planning Commission 

continued the Sherwood Industrial Park (SP 13-03) site plan review 

until January 14, 2014. The applicant requested a continuance in 

order to submit a revised plan set with building elevations that 
addressed the alternative industrial design standards found in the 

Sherwood Zoning and Development Code (SZDC) § 16.90.030.D.8b. 

(Alternative Industrial Design Criteria). 

 

At the last hearing, the Planning Commission raised concerns that the 

original submittal did not meet all of the Alternative Industrial Design 
criteria that were necessary to grant approval of the project. The 

Commission discussed that they would likely agree and be able to 

make findings that the applicant met conditions § 16.90.030.D.8b (1-

4) and (7) but the buildings would not meet Alternative Design 

Criteria (5) and (6). The applicant decided that they would like to 
reassess their building design in order to fully comply with these 

criteria.  

The two criteria that the applicant addressed are: 

 

 (5) Enhance the appearance of industrial developments visible 
 from arterials and collectors, particularly those considered 

 “entrances” to Sherwood, included but not limited to: Highway 

 99W, SW Tualatin-Sherwood Road and Oregon Street.  

 

and:   

 (6) Reduce the “bulk” appearance of large industrial buildings 
 as viewed from the public street by applying exterior features 

 such as architectural articulation, windows and landscaping. 

 

The applicant has proposed adding glazing to the street facing side, 

relocating an entryway, and providing a recessed storefront entry, 
that better defines the corners of the buildings. The applicant has 

added several architectural reveals in the concrete panels, and vertical 

Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

15Exhibit H



 

 Page 2 of 2 
Planning Commission Memorandum for January 14, 2014, SP 13-03 Sherwood Industrial Park Phase II  
Created on 1/7/2014  

 

paint accents to increase interest along the street facing side of the buildings. 

The applicant has added landscaping and new “pop outs.” The top of the wall 

panels have been increased and varied to break up the buildings’ mass. 
 

The information in your packet includes a memo from the applicant that 

addresses these two alternative design criteria, color copies of the proposed 

building elevations and a plan set showing the revised buildings’ elevations. 

 
Based on these alterations to the original design, staff recommends that the 

applicant meets the Alternative Design Criteria. 

 

Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

16



P 503.224.9560    F 503.228.1285    W MCKNZE.COM    RiverEast Center, 1515 SE Water Avenue, #100, Portland, OR 97214
ARCHITECTURE    INTERIORS    STRUCTURAL ENGINEERING    CIVIL ENGINEERING    LAND USE PLANNING    TRANSPORTATION PLANNING    LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE

Portland, Oregon    Vancouver, Washington    Seattle, Washington

 

H:\Projects\213009601\WP\LTR\LTR-City of Sherwood-Planning Commission Resubmittal Letter-131216.docx 

 December 13, 2013 

City of Sherwood 
Attention: Michelle Miller 
22560 SW Pine Street 
Sherwood, Oregon 97140 

Re: Sherwood Industrial Park Phase II (SP 13-03) 
Project Number 2130096.01 

Dear Ms. Miller: 

On behalf of the applicant, OrWa Sherwood, LLC, Mackenzie would like to present additional information for Sherwood 
Staff and Planning Commission consideration of the Sherwood Industrial Park Phase II site plan review. As an alternative 
to meeting the Industrial Design Standards objective criteria of Sherwood Municipal Code 16.90.030.D.8.a, the applicant 
presented their case for the alternative criteria of 16.90.030.D.8.b during the November 26, 2013, Planning Commission. 
During discussion, Sherwood Planning Commissioners agreed that the proposal met criteria 1 through 4, as well as 
criterion 7 as proposed. However, Planning Commission indicated that they would like additional information on how 
the proposed development meets criteria 5 and 6 of the alternative criteria, specifically on the proposed buildings’ north 
facades; these are the façades that face Century Drive. In order for the applicant to provide additional information to 
the Sherwood Staff and the Planning Commission, the hearing was continued to January 14, 2014. The site plan and 
building elevations have been changed to address the following criteria in more detail.  

These two criteria are: 

(5) Enhance the appearance of industrial developments visible from arterials and collectors, particularly those 
considered “entrances” to Sherwood, including but not limited to: Highway 99W, Tualatin-Sherwood Road and 
Oregon Street. 

Response: The Sherwood Industrial Park Phases I and 2 sites are separated from Tualatin-Sherwood Road by one lot 
anticipated for future development (not part of the current application). The proposed Phase II buildings front along SW 
Century Drive, a collector with a visual corridor designation. The proposed high-value tilt up concrete structures will be 
constructed and finished to complement existing industrial buildings in order to foster the Corporate Park appearance. 
The proposed Phase II development will appear similar to the existing Phase I Industrial buildings to the east, but will 
have added features to comply with Sherwood’s industrial design standards. As previously described in the original 
application, the loading areas will be located to the rear and side of the buildings to be less visible from Century Drive. 
Additionally, the proposed buildings will include architectural reveals to create visual interest and shadow lines and a 
multi-tone paint scheme.  

The following changes are proposed from the original submittal. Glazing on the north side of the proposed buildings has 
been increased to over 8 percent for Building 3 and over 10 percent for Building 4 by the addition of windows. Similar to 

Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

17Exhibit I



City of Sherwood 
Sherwood Industrial Park Phase II (SP 13-03) 
Project Number 2130096.01 
December 13, 2013 
Page 2 

H:\Projects\213009601\WP\LTR\LTR-City of Sherwood-Planning Commission Resubmittal Letter-131216.docx 

Building 4, the entry of Building 3 has been relocated to the corner, providing a recessed storefront entry that wraps 
around the corner of both buildings and additional windows have been added to each building to increase the amount 
of glazing on that face to better align with City of Sherwood standards. The number of architectural reveals in the 
concrete panels has been increased, and vertical paint accents have been added, to provide additional texture and visual 
interest on the north face of both buildings. The paint scheme has been modified to define vertical bands at panel edges 
to reduce the size of any singular color field. Additional reveals have been added, along with paint striping above the 
entries, to create an accent to enhance and define a tenant signage area. These elements have been added to enhance 
the appearance of the proposed buildings from Century Drive.  

(6) Reduce the “bulk” appearance of large industrial buildings as viewed from the public street by applying exterior 
features such as architectural articulation, windows and landscaping.  

Response: The “bulk” appearance of the proposed buildings will be minimized from the public street through the layout, 
design, and landscaping. The proposed buildings will be oriented with the narrow end toward the street to reduce the 
bulk appearance from the street.  

In addition to increased glazing on both of the buildings’ north walls that front Century Drive, the revised buildings’ 
north façades are broken up by “pop outs” of the office entry panel two feet beyond the main face of the building. This 
“pop out” feature will differentiate office entry areas from the rest of the building and effectively reduce the length of 
the north side of both buildings. The landscaping width between Century Drive and the proposed buildings has been 
increased by two feet to provide area for additional shrubs to soften the buildings. The top of the wall panels has been 
modified to provide differing heights to the façade in order to break up the visual mass of the building. Lastly, a revised 
landscaping plan incorporates evergreen trees adjacent to the building to ensure a landscape buffer throughout all 
seasons. The tree canopy and shrub counts, in addition to the total landscape area provided, exceed City of Sherwood 
minimum standards. 

With the above-described design modifications, the applicant believes that the proposed buildings and site plan meet 
the intent of the industrial design standards and align with community goals. If you have any questions, please feel free 
to contact us directly. We look forward to presenting this information to the Planning Commission on January 14, 2013. 

Sincerely,  

 

Mark Person, AICP 
Planner 

 

Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

18



Sherwood Industrial Park
Phase II - Buildings Three & Four
Building Three - Northwest Colored Elevation
2130096.00 12/16/2013

Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

19

MACI<ENZI E . 



Sherwood Industrial Park
Phase II - Buildings Three & Four
Building Four - Northeast Colored Elevation
2130096.00 12/16/2013

Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

20

MACI<ENZI E . 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

21

CENTURY DRIVE, SHERWOOD, OREGON 
PRELIMINARY SET- NOVEMBER 27, 2013 

• 
Architecture • Interiors 
Planning • Engineering 

Portland, OR 
503.224.9560 

Vancouver, WA 
360.695.7879 

Seattle, WA 
206.749.9993 

www.mcknze.com 

MACKENZIE . 
DESIGN ~RIVEN I CLIENT FOCV5ED 

Client 
OFfNA SI-EFIWOOO, LLC. 
8320 NE HWY 99 
VANCOlJYB'I, WA 98885 

OWNER I DEVELOPER LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT SHEET INDEX BUILDING CODE DATA 

ORWA SHERWOOD, LLC. 

8320 NE HWY 59 
VANCOUVER WASHINGTON 98665 

ARCHITECT 

MACKENZIE 
RIVEREAST CENTER 
1515 WATER AVENUE, SUITE 100 
PORTLAND, OR. 97214 
PHONE: (503) 224-9560 
FAX: (503) 228-1285 
CONTACT: DALE POPPE 
E-MAIL: DEPOmcknze.com 

CML ENGINEER 

MACKENZIE 
RIVEREAST CENTER 
1515 WATER AVENUE, SUITE 100 
PORTLAND, OR. 97214 
PHONE: (503) 224-9560 
FAX: (503) 228-1285 
CONTACT: BOB FRENTRESS 
E-MAIL: RLFOmcknze.com 

ABBREVIATIONS 
•• ANCHM BCU OBI. 
AC ASPHALTIC CONCRETE CF 
AO.J NJJACEHT ..... 
AFf' ABO\£ FINISH FLOOR DIM 
AlT ALTERNATE Ill 
AlUW AL.UMINU\1 llH 
ANOO ANOOIZED ... 
APPROX APPROXIWA T£ DS 

'""" ARQfiTECT(URAL) 0.., 

B/ BOTTOM OF ElfS 

BD BOARD 
BTWN llrnlEEN El.EV 
JJU>G SUILOJNG ELECT 

BU< BLOCK <0 
BU<G BLOCKING EXJST ... BlNCH MARK 

.,., JT 

BOTT BOTTOM EXT 

BRG~ BEARING PLATE 
FAC£/STUD 

C8 CATCH BASIN FD 
Cl CAST IRCJN FDC 

CJ CONTROl JOINT FlN FlR 

t CENTER UNE FIN GR 

a.G CEJLJNG FlR 

C!R Cl£AR Foe 

""" camuGATlO METAl. PJI'E FNO 

CIAI CCWCRETE MASONRY UNlT FOIC 

co ClEAN OUT 
COL ""-""" FOS 

CONC CONCIO£T£ FOW 

CONN CONNECTION FT 

CONST CONSTRUCTICW FTO 

CONT CCWTlNUOUS "" CORR CORRJJGATED(JON) GYP BD 

C9' CONmETE !PIER PIPE GA 

CNTR CENTER GALV 
GEN 

DOUBL£ HB 
DRINKING FOUNTAIN HC 
DI""ETER HDR 
DIMENSION HOW 
DEAD lOAD HW 

"""" HORIZ 
DOOR HTG 
DOONSPOUT HYAC 
DRAWING 

m 
EXTERial INSULATION JE FINI9t SYSTDI JNSUL 
ELEVATION JNT 
El£ClRJCAI. 
<OUAL JST 
EJCJSTING JNT 
EXPANSION JOINT u 
EXTERIOR 

MAlL 
FAC£ OF STUD MAX 
FLOOR DRAIN MECH 
FIRE DfPARTifENT CCWNECTION MfD 
FINISH FLOOR MFG 
FJNJ9t GRADE MGR 
Fl.OOR MH 
FAC£ OF CONCRETE 

""' FOUNDATJON MISC 
FURHI.9f BY OM'O 

"" INSTALL BY CONTRACTOR 
MO 

FAC£ OF STUD 
FACE" (JF WALL NJC 
FEET/FOOT NO./# 
FOOTING Not.J 
... AD£ NR 

""'""" BOARO NTS 
GAUGE 
GAL VANIZfD 
GENERAL 

MACKENZIE 
RIVEREAST CENTER 
1515 WATER AVENUE, SUITE 100 
PORTLAND. OR. 97214 
PHONE: (503) 224-9560 
FAX: (503) 228-1285 
CONTACT: STEVEN TUTTLE 
E-MAIL: SPTCimcknze.com 

STRUCTURAL ENGINEER 

MACKENZIE 
RIVEREAST CENTER 
1515 WATER AVENUE, SUITE 100 
PORTLAND, OR. 97214 
PHONE: (503) 224-9560 
FAX: (503) 228-1285 
CONTACT: NABIL KAUSAL-HAYES 
E-MAIL: NKHCimcknze.com 

GEOTECHNICAL ENGINEER 

CARLSON GEOTECHNICAL 

7185 SW SANDBURG STREET, SUITE 110 
TIGARD, OREGON 97223 
PHONE: (503) 601-6250 EX. 109 
FAX: (503) 601-8254 
CONTACT: BRAD WILCOX 

HOSE BIBS 0/A 
HOLLOW CORE oc 
HEAillR 00 
H..,.,.... OH 
HOLLOW METAL OHO 
HCIRlZONT AI.. OPNG 
HEATING OPP 
HEATING, \IENTILA Tl(W AND 0/S 
AlR CCWDITICINING 
INSIDE DIMENSION ~ 
IN\IERT ELEVA n<:W PLAM 
INSULATION Pl.Y\\1> 
JNTERrOR PVC 

P""T 
JOIST PT 
JOJHT 
U\£ LOAD • RAO 
UA1ERIAI. RO 
WAXIMUII ... 
WE'CHANJCAL REIHF 
UANUFACTURED REO 
MANUFACTURING REV 
WANUFACTUAER ... 
UAH HOl£ RO 
UINIUUM ROW 
MJSCEU.ANEOUS ...... SHTG 
MASONRY OPfNING ""' 9'£C 
NOT IN CONTRACT so 
N""BfR ss 
NOMINAL STA PT 
NOT REQUJR£D STD 
NOT TO SCALE SUSP 

CMRALL 
ON CENTER 
OUTSIDE DIAMETER 
OPPOSITE HN<O 
0\IER HEAD DOOR 
OPENING 
OPPOSITE 
OUTSIDE 

PlAT£ 
PlASTIC LAMINATE 
Pl."""""' 
POlY VJN'I'I... CHlORIDE 
PAVEMENT 
PRESstJR£ TR£A TED 

RAOlUS 
RADIAL 
ROCF DRAIN 
RER£RENC< 
REINFORCING 
REOUJRED 
REVISION 

"""" ROUGH OPENING 
RIGHT OF WAY 

SH£'ATHING 
SDIILAR 
SPECifiCATION 
SQUARE 
STAIHl.ESS STEEL 
STATION POJHT 
STAM>ARO 
SUSf'ENOEJl 

T/ 
TH/( 

TS 
TU 
TYP 

Ul 
U/S 

\e!T 
\lEST 

W/ 
we 
"" W/0 ... ... -... 

T!.O 

CM... 
C!.! 
C2.1 
C2.2 
C2.3 
C5.0 
C5.1 
E!.O 

TITLE SHEET 

EXISTING CONDITIONS PLAN 
SITE PLAN 
SITE GRADING PLAN 
SITE UTIUTY PLAN 
EROSION AND SEDIMENT CONTROL PLAN 
EROSION AND SEDIMENT CONTROL NOTES AND DETAILS 
SITE PHOTOMETRIC PLAN 

LANDSCAPE 
L2.1 LANDSCAPE PLAN 

ARCHTEClllRAL 
1-A2.0 FLOOR PLAN - BUILDING THREE 
1-A2.1 
1-A3.0 
1-A3.1 
2-A2.0 
2-A2.1 
2-A3.0 
2-A3.1 

ROOF PLAN - BUILDING THREE 
ELEVATIONS - BUILDING THREE 
SECTIONS - BUILDING THREE 
FLOOR PLAN - BUILDING FOUR 
ROOF PLAN - BUILDING FOUR 
ELEVATIONS - BUILDING FOUR 
SECTIONS - BUILDING FOUR 

BASED ON 11-E 2001 OREGON STRUCTUW. SPECIALTY CODE 
WITH 20061NTEFW.110NAL Ell' I')NG CODE OBC) 

GENERAL CODE ANALYSIS 

CONSTRUCTION TYPE: V-B 

SINGLE STORY 

FIRE PROTECTION: AUTOMATIC SPRINKLER SYSTEM PROVIDED 

POTENTIAL OCCUPANCY: WAREHOUSE (5-1). MANUFACTURING (F-1), OFFICE (B) 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION 
TAX LOT 100, ASSESSORS MAP 2S129D 

SITE INFORMATION 
• REFER TO CIVIL DRAWINGS FOR SITE DATA 

Hillsboro 

Beaverton 

Wilsonville 

Clackamas 

Project 

SHERWOOO 
II'I:>USlRIAL PARK 
PHASE I 
BUILDINGS 3 - 4 

CENTUn' DRVE 
11-tEFlWOOD, OREQON 

© MACKENZIE 2013 
ALL RIGHTS RESERVED 

THESE DRA~NGS ARE THE PROPERTY OF 
MACKENZIE AND ARE NOT TO BE USED 

OR REPRODUCED IN ANY MANNER, 
WITHOUT PRIOR WRITTEN PERMISSION 

REVISIONS: 

~ .c; REWICWS 
~~ THIS 
~~ SlEET 

REVISION DELTA 
CLOSING DATE 

SYMBOLS AND REFERENCES AREA OF------... 
WORK TOP CF 

OOCK(NESS) SECTION 
SHEET TITLE: 

TUSE STEEl. 
TILT-UP BUILDING S£CT1CW KEY MARKS 

SHErr I TYPICAL 
SUB-CATEGORY llTLE SHEET 

UNDER MITERS l.ABORA TORIES CATEGORY 
UND£RSID£ 

"""CAl. SECTION 
1/ESTISIJ<£ 

S£CTIClll KEY MARKS SHErr 
WITH 
WATER CLOSET SUB CATEGORY 
WOOD CATEGORY 
WITH OUT 
WATER PROOF DETAIL# 
WATER RESISTANT 
liElJlED WIRE ...,., 

ELEVA Tl<W KEY MARKS WATER HEATER SHErr 
SUB CATEGORY 
CATEGORY 

DETAIL# ------ DRAWN BY:CDB 
-~ 

DETAIL R£FER£NC£ !1-S SHEET 
CHECKED BY: DEP 

SUB-CATEGORY 
CATEGORY SHEET 

RQQ!I NAME 
OFFIC£--

ROOM/SPACE lDENTinCATIQN Dill 
'-.. ROOII I 

KEY MAP r---., ~ 11111111111111111~1 T1.0 
DOOR S'rt.fBOL NUMBER @ 250 0 125 250 500 1000 

(IN FEET) 

PAINT P-X 
1 inch~ 500 ft. 

JOB NO. 2130096.00 

DESIGN REVIEW RESUBMITT AL - 12.16.2013 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

22

NOTES 
1) lliE ~ELD SUIMY FOR lHIS MAP WAS C(),jf'LETED ON JJLY 23, 2013. 

2) ELEVATIONS AND CONTOURS ARE BASED ON WASHINGTON COUNTY BENCHMARK 
NUMBER 103. lliE BENCHMARK IS A 3' BRASS DISK SET IN CONCRETE AT lliE 
SOUlHWEST CCllNER OF lliE INTERSECTION OF SW TUALATIN-SHER\IfOOIJ ROAD AND lliE 
R/R CROSSING, AND HAS AN ELEVATION OF 171.38 FEET ON THE 1981 DATUM. 

3) THE BOUNDARY AND RIGHT-OF-WAY SURVEY1NG WAS C(),jPLETED BY HOLDING 
MONUMENTS FOUND AND USING RECORD INFORMATION. 

4) THE UNDERGROUND UTILITIES ARE BASED ON THE MARKINGS PER LOCATE TI<l<ET 
NUMBER 13150559 AND A5-BUILT MAPPING. 

UTILITY STATEMENT 
THE UNDERGROUND UTILITIES SHOV!tl HAVE BEEN LOCATED fR(),j ~ELD SURVEY 
INFORMATION AND EXISTING DRAMNGS. THE SURVEYOR MAKES NO GUARANTEE THAT 
lliE UNDERGROUND UTILITIES SHOV!tl C(),jPRISE ALL SUCH UTILITIES IN lliE AREA, 
BlliER IN SER-,CE OR ABANDONED. lliE SURVEYCll FURlHER DOES NOT WARRANT 
THAT lliE UNDERGROUND UTILITIES SHOV!tl ARE IN THE EXACT LOCATION INDICATED 
AllHOUGH HE DOES CERTIFY lliAT lliEY ARE LOCATED AS ACCURATELY AS POSSIBLE 
fR(),j INFCllMATION AVAILABLE. lliE SURVEYOR HAS NOT PHYSICALLY LOCATED THE 
UNDERGROUND UTILITIES. 

-i 
)> 

r-v>< 
UJr
IO 

__.--/ 
I 

r-v-P>
coO 
oo 
() 

, 

• 
.1> 

r-v>< 
UJr
lo 

__.--/ 
I 

r-vG-J 
c.oO 
oo 
() 

, 10 
1::::0 

15 30 60 120 
( IN FEEl' ) 

1 inch = 30 fl 

EXISTING UTIUTES 

( SD 1) ( CB 3B) ( SD 9) 

MANHOLE MANHOLE CATCH BASIN RIM=161. 77 RIM=172.33 RIM=173.81 
IE IN 15" (S)=155.1 IE IN 42"(W)=164.1 IE OUT 10"(E)=169.9 
IE IN 24"(W)=154.6 IE OUT 42"(NE)=164.0 
IE OUT 24"(NE)=154.5 ( SD 4) 

( ss 1) MANHOLE 
( SD 2) RIM=178.80 MANHOLE 

MANHOLE IE IN 18"(N)=173.3 RIM=161.67 

RIM=164.12 IE OUT 18"(S)=173.3 IE IN 12"(W)=150.8 

IE IN 10"(N)=156.0 IE OUT 12"(NE)=150.6 

IE IN 10"(5)=156.4 ( SD 5) ( ss 2) 
IE IN 24"(W)=155.8 MANHOLE 
IE OUT 24"(E)=155.7 RIM=188.45 MANHOLE 

RIM=164.09 
( CB 2A) 

IE IN 18"(N)=169.9 IE IN 1 O"(S)=153.4 
IE OUT 18"(SE)=169.8 IE IN 1 O"(W)=153.4 CATCH BASIN 

RIM=163.67 ( SD 6) IE OUT 1 O"(E)=153.3 

IE OUT 10"(5)=160.5 MANHOLE ( ss 3) 
( CB 2B) 

RIM=182.72 
IE IN 18"(NW)=167.9 MANHOLE 

CATCH BASIN IE OUT 18"(SE)=167.8 RIM=177.38 
RIM=163.80 IE IN 10"(W)=169.7 
IE OUT 10"(N)=160.7 ( SD 7) IE OUT 1 O"(E)=169.5 

( 5D 3) MANHOLE 

MANHOLE 
RIM=175.26 
IE IN 18"(NW)=166.9 

RIM=172.46 
IE IN 15"(N)=166.6 IE IN 24"(W)=166.9 

IE IN 15"(5)=166.4 IE OUT 36"(SE)=166.8 

IE OUT 24"(E)=166.1 ( SD 8) 

( CB 3A) MANHOLE 

CATCH BASIN RIM=175.31 

RIM=172.21 IE IN 36"(NW)=164.6 

IE OUT 1 O"(E)=169.4 IE OUT 42"(E)=164.4 

LEGEND 
3" IIAPI..E (UNlfSS NOTED} 0 POE POLE <tl> 

FlRE HYDRANT .0. POE VAULT [£] 

WATER METER 1111 POE .A.INCllON BOX @I .. , 
POE RISER 0 

WATER VALVf. lXI 

SANITARY SE'tt£R MANHOLE (S) 1El..EPHONE/1El£~SION POLE <tl> 

STREET UGH :¢ 
1El..EPHONE/1El£~SION VAULT [iJ 

STORM SEWER CATCH BASIN 

STORM SEWER MANHOLE 

RIGHT -OF-WAY UNE 

BOUNDARY UNE 

PROPERTY UNE 

CENTERUNE 

DITCH 

CURB 

EDGE OF PAVf.IIENT 

EASEMENT 

GRAVf.L EDGE 

POE UNE 

OVf.RHEAD ~RE 

TEI..EPHONE UNE 

GAS UNE 

STORM SE\\ER UNE 

SANITARY SEE UNE 

WATER UNE 

~ 
1El..EPHONE/1El£~SION .A.INCllON BOX !:::. 

(j)) 1El..EPHONE/1El£~SION RISER Ill 

FOUND PR<PERTY CORNER MONUMENT e 
PO\\m STUB G 

----------

- - - -> - - - -> -

-----------

-----------
--- -m.--- -m.-

____ ... ____ ..,_ 

--- _,..._-- _,..._ 

- - - _,._ - - _,._ 
--- _ .. ,_-- _ .. ,_ 

KEY MAP -------- -0 125 250 500 1000 
(IN FDT) 

1 inch= 500 ft. 

• 
Architecture • Interiors 
Planning • Engineering 

Parllllnd, OR 
503.224.9560 

YancoiiWII'. WA 
360.695.7879 

seattle, WA 
206.749.9993 

-.mc:knze.c:om 

MACKENZIE. 
-liM DRIYIIII I CLIMT ~ 

Client 
OffNA a e IWOCD. u.c. 
8320 liE HWY 89 
VANCOlNB'\ WA 118685 

Project 

stfiiWOOO 
NJliSTRAI.... PARK 
F"tWEI 
EU...DNl83-4 

CBtiT\RY DRIVE 
Sl B MOW, aEQON 

© MACKENZIE 2013 
ALL RIGHTS RESERVED 

THESE DRAWINGS ARE THE PROPERTY OF 
MACKENZIE AMl ARE NOT TO BE USED 

OR REPRODUCED IN ANY MANNER, 
WITHOUT PRIOR WUTTEN PERMISSI{III 

REVISIONS: 

~~ REVISI(JtS REVISI.tlt DELTA 
:;!iii THIS Q.C)SijG DATE 
ll!o SI£ET 

SHEET TITLE: 

EXISTING 
CONDmONS 
PLAN 

DRAWN BY: 

CHECKED BY: 

SHEET 

C1.0 

JOB NO. 2130096.00 

DESIGN REVIEW RESUBMITT AL - 12.16.2013 
21~011600\ClYIL\09~-!:I.O.OWG 1<'15 12/16/1~ 09:04 1:JO 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

23

/ 

/ 

KEY NOTES 
1. VERTICAL CURB 

2. INSTALL ACCESSIBLE PARKING STALL 

3. LANDSCAPE AREA 

4. CONCRETE SIDEWALK 

5. 4" WIDE PARKING STRIPE 

6. ACCESSIBLE PARKING SIGN 

7. 5' WIDE STRIPED PEDESTRIAN CROSSWALK 

8. ACCESSIBLE RAMP 

9. CONCRETE/ AC TRANSITION 

10. EXISTING DRIVEWAY TO BE REMOVED, PATCH 

11. INSTALL NEW 40' COMMERCIAL DRIVEWAY 

12. DRIVE IN DOOR 

13. EXISTING TREE TO BE REMOVED 

14. STORM OUTFALL 

15. FIRE HYDRANT 

16. INSTALL BOLLARD 

17. DDCV ASSEMBLY 

LEGEND 

CURB AND SIDEWALK 

18. EXISTING POWER VAULT TO REMAIN 

19. INSTALL 30' COMMERCIAL DRIVEWAY 

20. ACCESSIBLE RAMP 

21. REMOVE EXISTING 20' DRIVEWAY 

22. (2) BICYCLE PARKING SPACES 

23. PROPOSED TRASH ENCLOSURE 20'X1 0' CLEAR INSIDE 
DIMENSIONS WITH 6' BLACK VINYL-CLAD CHAIN 
LINK FENCE 

24. GATE TO BE FREE SWINGING AND ABILITY TO BE 
PINNED OPEN BETWEEN 120 AND 150 DEGREES. 
NO CENTER POST ALLOWED 

25. GRAVEL UTILITY ACCESS 

26. INSTALL 15' OF MOUNTABLE CURB 

27. STAIRS, SEE ARCHITECTURAL PLANS 

28. INSTALL 400W, PARKING LIGHT W/25' POLE 

29. RELOCATED STREET LIGHT 

30. STREE LIGHT TO BE RELOCATED 

31. 4' MAX. BLOCK RETAINING WALL 

CONCRETE VERTICAL CURB 

PROPERTY LINE -----------l<.--
SITE LIMITS 

PGE EASEMENT 

EASEMENT 

OUTDOOR STORAGE AREA 

MANHOLE 

CATCH BASIN 

FIRE HYDRANT ASSEMBLY 

4' DOCK DOOR 

DRIVE-THRU DOOR 

' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' 

----

' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' 

... 
v 

' 

--

,. 
·.· . .. .. . . 

. . 
• 

'•' . . .. 
:· . 

. .· 

• 

• 

·.· 

. · 

.·. 

.·. 

.·. 

:.. ~ . . .. 

,•. ·.· 

-

• .. 
. .· .. .·. 

·.·. .· . •' .. 

-

14.7'± EASEMENT 

- - - - - - -~-~--'::::::':::..::::::!~~ - - - - - - -

BUILDING 3 
72,000 SF 

·.· ·: 

·=· ·: 

·=· ·: 
·=· ·: 

·.· 

rt/ti 

• • 

• 

• 

• • • 
. ·. 

:· ·=· 

.· . 

. . 

'•' . '•' •'• •'• '•'. 

'•' . '•' •'• •'• '•'. 

•'• . •'• '•' '•' •'•. •'• '•. 

•'• . •'• '•' '•' •'•. •'• '•. 

•'• . •'• '•' '•' •'•. •'• '•. 

'•' . '•' •'• •'• '•'. '•' •'. 

'•' . '•' •'• •'• '•'. 

BUILDING 4 
35,000 SF 

250' 

• . . 
• • 

• • • 

• 

• • 

0 

"' -

•• 

•'• . •'• '•' '•' 

•'• . •'• '•' '•' 

'•' . '•' •'• •'• 

'•' . '•' •'• •'• 

. .. 

... 

33' 26' 

+ 

'•' •'• •'• '•. '•' '•' 

'•' •'• •'• '•. '•' ... 
•'• '•' '•' •'. •'• 

... 

·.· .. . 
·=· ..... . '• •, 

·=· ..... . 

·=· ... 
·=· ... 

... 
.. . 

• 

------ -·--- _._ _, 
n 

JO 60 120 
( IN FEET ) 

1 inch - 30 tt. 

t 

• 

J 

.. 

• 

GENERAL NOTES 
1. ALL WORK SHALL CONFORM TO THE STANDARD SPECIFICATIONS AND THE 

REQUIREMENTS OF THE CITY OF SHERWOOD, CLEAN WATER SERVICES (CWS), 
AND THE CURRENT AMERICAN PUBLIC WORKS ASSOCIATION STANDARDS FOR PUBLIC 
WORKS CONSTRUCTION. 

2. THE WORKING DRAWINGS ARE GENERALLY DIAGRAMMATIC. THEY DO NOT SHOW 
EVERY OFFSET, BEND OR ELBOW REQUIRED FOR INSTALLATION IN THE SPACE 
PROVIDED. THEY DO NOT SHOW EVERY DIMENSION, COMPONENT PIECE, SECTION, 
JOINT OR FITTING REQUIRED TO COMPLETE THE PROJECT. ALL LOCATIONS FOR 
WORK SHALL BE CHECKED AND COORDINATED WITH EXISTING CONDITIONS IN THE 
FIELD BEFORE BEGINNING CONSTRUCTION. EXISTING UNDERGROUND UTILITIES 
LAYING WITHIN THE LIMITS OF EXCAVATION SHALL BE VERIFIED AS TO 
CONDITION, SIZE AND LOCATION BY UNCOVERING, PROVIDING SUCH IS 
PERMITTED BY LOCAL PUBLIC AUTHORITIES WITH JURISDICTION, BEFORE 
BEGINNING CONSTRUCTION. CONTRACTOR TO NOTIFY ENGINEER IF THERE ARE 
ANY DISCREPANCIES. 

3. EFFECTIVE EROSION PREVENTION AND SEDIMENT CONTROL IS REQUIRED. EROSION 
CONTROL DEVICES MUST BE INSTALLED AND MAINTAINED TO MEET CITY OF SHERWOOD 
REQUIREMENTS. THE GOVERNING JURISDICTION MAY, AT ANY TIME, ORDER CORRECTIVE 
ACTION AND STOPPAGE OF WORK TO ACCOMPLISH EFFECTIVE EROSION CONTROL. 

4. EFFECTIVE DRAINAGE CONTROL IS REQUIRED. DRAINAGE SHALL BE CONTROLLED 
WITHIN THE WORK SITE AND SHALL BE ROUTED SO THAT ADJACENT PRIVATE 
PROPERTY, PUBLIC PROPERTY, AND THE RECEIVING SYSTEM ARE NOT ADVERSELY 
IMPACTED. THE GOVERNING JURISDICTION MAY, AT ANY TIME, ORDER CORRECTIVE 
ACTION AND STOPPAGE OF WORK TO ACCOMPLISH EFFECTIVE DRAINAGE CONTROL. 

5. CONTRACTOR SHALL ADJUST ALL STRUCTURES IMPACTED BY CONSTRUCTION 
IMPROVEMENTS TO NEW FINISH GRADES. 

6. EXCAVATION: EXCAVATE FOR SLABS, PAVING, AND OTHER IMPROVEMENTS TO 
SIZES AND LEVELS SHOWN OR REQUIRED. ALLOW FOR FORM CLEARANCE AND 
FOR PROPER COMPACTION OF REQUIRED BACKFILLING MATERIAL. 
EXCAVATORW MUST COMPLY WITH O.R.S. 757.541 THROUGH 757.571: 
EXCAVATOR S SHALL NOTIFY ALL UTILITY COMPANIES FOR LINE LOCATIONS 
SEVENTY-T (72) HOURS (MINIMUM) PRIOR TO START OF WORK. DAMAGE TO 
UTILITIES SHALL BE CORRECTED AT THE CONTRACTOR'S EXPENSE. (ONE CALL 
LOCATE UTILITY NOTIFICATION CENTER - PORTLAND METRO AREA ~46-6699, 
OREGON 696-4848, ALL OTHER AREAS 1-800-332-2344). 

7. WHERE CONNECTING TO AN EXISTING PIPE, AND PRIOR TO ORDERING MATERIALS, 
THE CONTRACTOR SHALL EXPOSE THE END OF THE EXISTING PIPE VERIFY THE 
LOCATION, SIZE, AND ELEVATION. NOTIFY ENGINEER OF ANY DISCREPANCIES. 

8. REQUEST BY THE CONTRACTOR FOR CHANGES TO THE PLANS MUST BE 
APPROVED BY THE ENGINEER. 

CURB NOTE 
ALL CURB RADII ARE 2.5' UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED ON PLANS 

SITE DATA 
TOTAL SITE AREA 

TOTAL BUILDING FOOTPRINT 

BUILDING 3 FOOTPRINT 

BUILDING 4 FOOTPRINT 

411,763 SF (9.45 AC) 

107,000 SF (26.0%) 

72,000 SF (17.7%) 
35,000 SF (8.61%) 

PARKING/DRIVE/LOADING AREA 215,346 SF (52.3%) 

LANDSCAPE AREA 

PARKING LOT PERIMETER 
LANDSCAPE AREA 

PARKING LOT INTERIOR 
LANDSCAPE AREA 

PARKING DATA 
TOTAL STANDARD 

BUILDING 3 
BUILDING 4 

TOTAL COMPACT 

TOTAL HANDICAPPED 

BUILDING 3 
BUILDING 4 

TOTAL PROVIDED 

BUILDING 3 
BUILDING 4 

REQUIRED PARKING 

BIKE PARKING REQUIRED 

BIKE PARKING PROVIDED 

.( 

r 

89,437 SF (21. 7%) 

4,670 SF 

29,614 SF 

164 (96.0%) 

99 
65 

0 (0%) 

7 (4.0%) 

4 
3 

171 (1.6/1,000SF) 

103 (1.43/1,000SF) 
68 (1.94/1,000SF) 

171 (1.6/1,000SF) 

5 (1 /40 PARKING SPACES) 

12 (2.76/40 PARKING SPACES) 

PAVEMENT SECTIONS 
••FOR REFERENCE ONLY. REFER TO 
GEOTECHNICAL REPORT FOR MINIMUM 
REQUIREMENTS 

• 
' 

D 

-

CONCRETE DOCK 

CAR PARKING AREA 3" AC 
OVER 6" CRUSHED ROCK 

HEAVY DUTY AREA 3" AC 
OVER 12" CRUSHED ROCK 

a:' 1 ~ 

11111111 n 
KEY MAP D -------- -0 125250 500 1000 

(IN FEET) 
1 inc!FWO ft. 

• 
Architecture • Interiors 
Planning • Engineering 

Portland, OR 
503.224.9560 

Vancouver, WA 
360.695.7879 

Seattle, WA 
206.749.9993 

www.mcknze.com 

MACKENZIE. 
DESI<IN ll'RIVEN I C:LIENT FCJICUIED 

Oient 
ORWA stelWOOD, LLC. 
8320 IE HWY 99 
V~WA911685 

Project 

SHERWOOD 
INDUSTRIAL PARK 
PHASE II 
BUILDINGS 3 - 4 

© MACKENZIE 2013 
All RIGHTS RESERVED 

THESE DRAWINGS ARE THE PROPERTY OF 
MACI<ENZIE AND ARE NOT TO BE USED 

OR REPRODUCED IN ANY MANNER, 
WlTHOUT PRIOR WRITTEN PERfJISSION 

REVISIONS: 

~~ REVISI~S 
s:....~ nus 
~~ SHEET 

REVISION DEl. T A 
CLOSING DATE 

SHEET TITLE: 

SITE 
PLAN 

DRAWN BY: BTS 

CHECKED BY: RLF 

SHEET 

C2.1 

JOB NO. 2130096.00 

DESIGN REVIEW RESUBMITT AL - 12.16.2013 
21~00W600\C!VIL\0~6-C2.1.DWG CCII 12/16/IJ 14:J7 I:JQ 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

24

, , 

' ' 

' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' 

' 

' ' ' 

' 

/ 
/ 

' ' ' ' 

/ 
/ 

' ' ' 

, , 

/ 
/ 

/ 

' ' ' ' ' 

/ 
/ 

/ 
/ 

/ 

/ 

, 

/ -"""'"/-' / 

I 

2,z? ) 

/ 
' / 

__ )lJQ:mAC 

' ' ' 

, 

/ 
/ 

/ 
/ 

~1.5% 

/ 
/ 

/ 
/ 

\ 

, , 

\ 

, , 

\ 

, , 

1.3% 

.. . . . . 
''· ' . ~
• 

·. 

·. 4 . 

EXISTINQ UTLITlES APPEAR 
TO BE ACCESSil...E VIA lHE 

DEVB..OPMENT TO 1HE WEST 

~ 175.50 RIM 

1.3% 

• 

.... 

2.5%~ 

•• • 
4 ,"1:>. 

•• 
-.... 

·• ..• 

BUILDING 3 
72,000 SF 
F.F.=171.00 

• 

• 

.. 
• • 

• 
I>. • - " . 

. . . . 
' . . ' . -.' 

)> 
(/) 
"U :r 
)> 

'r -0 

• 

' ' 

iiiiiiiiiiSITE GRADIN~~P~L~AN~~~-
3o so 120 

( IN PEI!T ) 
1 inch = 50 ft. 

BUILDING 4 
35,000 SF 
F.F.=177.00 

• 
• .. (I .. 

• .. 
. -.., .. ': 

. · . .:. 

•• 

' !:>.' ' ' 

.. .... .Jt . . .. 
• 

• 
• • • • 

. .... 
• 

·. 4 . ·• '.... -e;,.· . 

4% 

RIM 

mn 

I I I 

• 

.. " 

I11JJ 

\ 
\ 

\ 

I I I I 

3.5% 

D 

D 

I11JJ 

n I I I 

I 

·- · ·, 

\ 

t 
1~ 

mn 

I I I I 

. 
c . 
fTl 

GRADING NOTES 

1. ROUGH GRADING: BRING ALL FINISH GRADES TO APPROXIMATE LEVELS 
INDICATED. WHERE GRADES ARE NOT OTHERWISE INDICATED, FINISH GRADES 
ARE TO BE THE SAME AS ADJACENT SIDEWALKS, CURBS, OR THE OBVIOUS 
GRADE OF ADJACENT STRUCTURE. GRADE TO UNIFORM LEVELS OR SLOPES 
BETWEEN POINTS WHERE GRADES ARE GIVEN. ROUND OFF SURFACES, AVOID 
ABRUPT CHANGES IN LEVELS. ROUGH GRADE TO ALLOW FOR DEPTH OF 
CONCRETE SLABS, WALKS, AND THEIR BASE COURSES. GRADE FOR PAVED 
DRIVES AND PAVED PARKING AREAS AS INDICATED AND SPECIFIED HEREIN, 
AND PROVIDE FOR SURFACE DRAINAGE AS SHOWN, ALLOWING FOR THICKNESS 
OF SURF ACING MATERIAL. 
F'tlj~ ~~~~G: AT COMPLETION OF JOB AND AFTER BACKFILLING BY 
OHAS BEEN COMPLETED, REFILL AND COMPACT AREAS WHICH 
HAVE SETTLED OR ERODED TO BRING TO FINAL GRADES. 
GRADING TOLERANCES: 
ROUGH GRADE AT PAVED OR LANDSCAPED AREAS: ±0.1 FT. 
FINISH GRADE PRIOR TO PLACING FINAL SURFACING: ±0.03 FT. 

2. EXCAVATION: EXCAVATE FOR SLABS, PAVING, AND OTHER IMPROVEMENTS TO 
SIZES AND LEVELS SHOWN OR REQUIRED. ALLOW FOR FORM CLEARANCE AND 
FOR PROPER COMPACTION OF REQUIRED BACKFILLING MATERIAL. 
EXCAVATOR~Sl MUST COMPLY WITH O.R.S. 757.541 THROUGH 757.571; 
EXCAVATOR S SHALL NOTIFY ALL UTILITY COMPANIES FOR LINE LOCATIONS 
72 HOURS MINIMUM) PRIOR TO START OF WORK. DAMAGE TO 
UTILITIES S ALL BE CORRECTED AT THE CONTRACTOR'S EXPENSE. 

3. EFFECTIVE EROSION PREVENTION AND SEDIMENT CONTROL IS REQUIRED. EROSION 
CONTROL DEVICES MUST BE INSTALLED AND MAINTAINED MEETING THE 
CITY OF SHERWOOD REQUIREMENTS. THE GOVERNING JURISDICTION MAY, AT ANY 
TIME, ORDER CORRECTIVE ACTION AND STOPPAGE OF WORK TO ACCOMPLISH 
EFFECTIVE EROSION CONTROL. 

4. EFFECTIVE DRAINAGE CONTROL IS REQUIRED. DRAINAGE SHALL BE 
CONTROLLED WITHIN THE WORK SITE AND SHALL BE SO ROUTED THAT 
ADJACENT PRIVATE PROPERTY, PUBLIC PROPERTY, AND THE RECEIVING 
SYSTEM ARE NOT ADVERSELY IMPACTED. THE GOVERNING JURISDICTION MAY, 
AT ANY TIME, ORDER CORRECTIVE ACTION AND STOPPAGE OF WORK TO 
ACCOMPLISH EFFECTIVE DRAINAGE CONTROL. 

5. SITE TOPSOIL SHALL BE STOCKPILED DURING CONSTRUCTION AND USED 
FOR LANDSCAPING. 

6. THE SURVEY INFORMATION SHOWN AS A BACKGROUND SCREEN ON THIS SHEET 
IS BASED ON A SURVEY BY HICKMAN AND ASSOCIATES, AND IS SHOWN FOR 
REFERENCE ONLY. CONTRACTOR TO VERIFY ALL EXISTING CONDITIONS 
WITH HIS OWN RESOURCES PRIOR TO START OF ANY CONSTRUCTION. 

7. CONTRACTOR TO COORDINATE GRADES AT ENTRANCE WITH ARCHITECTURAL 
PLANS PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION. 

B. 2% MAXIMUM SLOPE AT ALL ADA-COMPLIANT PARKING SPACES AND LOADING ZONES. 

9. 5% MAX SLOPE (EXCLUDING RAMPS) AT PEDESTRIAN SIDEWALK CONNECTIONS 
BETWEEN PUBLIC R.O.W. AND BUILDING ENTRANCES . 

10. WHERE SLOPES ARE STEEPER THAN 3:1, CONTRACTOR SHALL INSTALL JUTE MATTING. 
SLOPE SHALL BE PREPARED TO ENSURE COMPLETE AND DIRECT CONTACT OF MATTING 
WITH SOIL. FOLLOW MANUFACTURER'S RECOMMENDATIONS . 

LEGEND 
EXISTING 1-FT CONTOUR 

EXISTING 5-FT CONTOUR 

PROPOSED 1-FT CONTOUR 

PROPOSED 5-FT CONTOUR 

PROPERTY LINE 

RIM ELEVATION 

TOP OF STAIR ELEVATION 

BOTTOM OF STAIR ELEVATION 

- -- --199- -- --

- -- --200- -- --

-----199-----

-------200--------

1150.00 IRIM 

1150.00 ITs 

1150.00 IBS 

KEY MAP -------- -0 125 250 500 1000 
(IN FEET) 

1 inch- 500 ft. 

• 
Architecture • Interiors 
Planning • Engineering 

Portland, OR 
503.224.9560 

vancouver, WA 
360.695.7879 

Seattle, WA 
206.749.9993 

www.mcknze.com 

MACKENZIE . 

Oient 
ORWA 81-ERWOCD, LLC. 
8320 NE HWY 99 
VANCOUVER. WA 911665 

Project 

81-ERWOOD 
II'OJSTRIAL PARK 
PHASE II 
BUILDINGS 3 - 4 

© MACI<ENZIE 2013 
All RIGHTS RE~RVED 

THESE DRAWINGS ARE THE PROPERTY OF 
MACI<ENZIE AtJD ARE NOT TO BE USED 

OR REPROOUCED IN ANY MANNER, 
WITHOUT PRIOR WRITTEN PERMISSION 

REVISIONS: 
z 
~~ REVISION DELTA 
S:...J CLOSlNG DAlE 

"'"' ore 

SHEET TITLE: 

SITE 
GRADING 
PLAN 

DRAWN BY: BTS 

CHECKED BY: RLF 

SHEET 

C2.2 

JOB NO. 2130096.00 

DESIGN REVIEW RESUBMITT AL - 12.16.2013 
213009800\Cl'I.IL\09E-C2.2.DWG CDB 12/18/13 14:42 1:30 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

25

• 
EXISTING s:::i~1~~ ~ 
LIGHT TO Rl 

( IN FEET 
1 inch = 10 fl. 

~ 
I 
I 
I 

--

/ 
/ 

PROVIDE 15' WIDE---., 
GRAVEL ACCESS TO 
EXISTING MANHOLE 

EXIST. STORM 
RIM=175.26 

IE IN 1a"(NWl=166.9 
IE IN 24'(W =166.9 
OUT 36"(SE =166.a 

/ 
/ 

/ 

EXISTIIIG lmLJTES APPEAR 
TO BE ACCCESSIBLE VIA 11-E 
DEVELOPMENT TO 11-E WEST 

EXIST. STORM MH 
RIM=1aa.45 

IE IN 1a"(N)=169.9 
IE OUT 1a"(SE)=169.a 

~-.;--

I 
I 

----
--------

RIM!h5.5o 
IE=173.25(6") 

_ _J.__ -'--

---------

BUILDING 4 
35,000 SF 
FF•177.00 

DOWNSPOUT 
(3 - TYP.) 
IE= 

CB #2 
RIM=175.50 
IE=173.25(6") 

CB #4 
RIM=175.50 
IE=173.25(6") 

IE=171.37(1 0") 

I 
I 
I 

~·----11 

/ ~~~----------------------------------------------172-------~-------------------------------------------------------------------------------172'-----~~z 

IE 

PROVIDE 15' WIDE~ 
GRAVEL ACCESS TO 
EXISTING MANHOLES 

(SD1) (CB3A) (SDB) 

, , , , 

MANHOLE CATCH BASIN MANHOLE 
RIM=161.77 RIM=172.21 RIM=175.31 

I 
I 

) 

IE IN 15" (S)=155.1 IE OUT 10"(E)=169.4 IE IN 36"(NW)=164.6 
IE IN 24"(W)=154.6 (CB 38) IE OUT 42"(E)=164.4 

--- - IE OUT 24"(NE)=154.5 CATCH BASIN (SO 9) 
- -sfl'"r - - - oow RIM=172.33 MANHOLE 

MANHOLE - lrllO't Hl!(liF159..S. _R.JM=173.81 

-/ 
/ 

EXIST. STORM 
OUTFALL 
IE (42")=162.7 

RIM=164.12 (SO 4) IE Ilf"'o12"(W)=l64.1-oow-
IE IN 10"(N)=156.0 MANHOLE IE OUT 42"(NE)=164.0 -
IE IN 10"(S)=156.4 RIM=17B.BO 
IE IN 24"(W)=155.8 IE IN 1B"(N)=173.3 
IE OUT 24"(E)-155.7 IE OUT 1B"(S)=173.3 

(CB2A) (SD5) 
CATCH BASIN 
RIM=163.67 
IE OUT 10"(S)=160.5 

(CB 2B) 
CATCH BASIN 
RIM ~~~~0 
IE ~ (N)=160.7 

(so 3) 
MANHOLE 
RIM=172.46 
IE IN 15"(N)=166.6 
IE IN 15"(S)=166.4 
IE OUT 24"(E)=166.1 

MANHOLE 
RIM=188.45 
IE IN 1B"(N)=169.9 
IE OUT 1B"(SE)=169.8 

(so 6) 

MANHOLE 
RIM=1B2.72 
IE IN 18"(NW)-167.9 
IE OUT 1B"(SE)=167.6 

(SO 7) 
MANHOLE 
RIM=175.26 
IE IN 18"(NW)=166.9 
IE IN 24"(W)=166.9 
IE OUT 36"(SE)-166.8 

(SS 1) 
MANHOLE 
RIM=161.67 
IE IN 12"(W)=150.8 
IE OUT 12"(NE)=150.6 

( ss 2) 

MANHOLE 
RIM=164.09 
IE IN 10"(S)=153.4 
IE IN 1 O"(W)=153.4 
IE OUT 10"(E)=153.3 

( ss 3) 
MANHOLE 
RIM=177.38 
IE IN 10"(W)=169.7 
IE OUT 10"(E)=169.5 

/ 
/ 

CB #10 
RIM=169.55 
IE=167.30(6") 

a· FW 

0 ss ______ .:...__ 

CLEAN OUT 
IE=16a.50(6") 

CB #13 ------., 
RIM=169.55 
IE=167.30(6") 

#12 
RIM=169.55 
IE=167.30(6") 

CB #14----, 
RIM=169.55 
IE=167.30(6") 

CB #16-~ 
RIM=169.55 
IE=167.30(6") 

IE=163.32(12"}t--H~-!~~ 

ss-------- ss ...:"--------------- 6" SAN ,:>EWER AT 1.0% --------i~lt:~·, "-...;."• SS ----------'--------- SS ----------------__;,0 SS iP 

DOWNSPOUT 
(6 - TYP.) 

IE=159.32(a") 

BUILDING 3 

72,000 SF 
FF=171.00 

12" 0 2.0% MIN. 

-
-----

EXIST. FH 
~~~=i6r::::::=:=::::*;;;::::::~- t- -t oow:._ 

I - - _,..,f''Ur-~ - -

'-'r-

30 60 120 
( IN FEET ) 

1 inch = 30 ft. 

' ' 

.:.: ... .. .. .. '..; 

6" ss o 2.1:~~:--n 

SEE 2/C2.3 

D 

-
fli"'"'t---"" #25 --1 161.60 

I 
I 
i 
I 
I 
I 
I 
i 
l ~o 

I 

l h 
I• 

I IC 
I. 

... lf"T 

I 
·i 
I 
I 
I 
I .. i 
I 
I 
I 
I 
i 
I 

I 
I 
I 
\ 
\ 
\ 
\ 

UllLITY NOTES 
1. ALL WORK SHALL CONFORM TO THE REQUIREMENTS OF CITY OF SHERWOOD, 

CLEAN WATER SERVICES, AND THE CURRENT EDITION OF THE UNIFORM 
PLUMBING CODE AND THE INTERNATIONAL BUILDING CODE. ALL WORK 
WITHIN THE PUBLIC R.O.W. REQUIRES A PUBLIC WORKS PERMIT. 

2. THE WORKING DRAWINGS ARE GENERALLY DIAGRAMMATIC. THEY DO NOT 
SHOW EVERY OFFSET, BEND OR ELBOW REQUIRED FOR INSTALLATION IN THE 
SPACE PROVIDED. THEY DO NOT SHOW EVERY DIMENSION. COMPONENT 
PIECE, SECTION, JOINT OR FITTING REQUIRED TO COMPLETE THE PROJECT. 
ALL LOCATIONS FOR WORK SHALL BE CHECKED AND COORDINATED WITH 
EXISTING CONDITIONS IN THE FIELD BEFORE BEGINNING CONSTRUCTION. 
EXISTING UNDERGROUND UTILITIES LAYING WITHIN THE LIMITS OF EXCAVATION 
SHALL BE VERIFIED AS TO CONDITION, SIZE AND LOCATION BY UNCOVERING, 
PROVIDING SUCH IS PERMITTED BY LOCAL PUBLIC AUTHORITIES WITH 
JURISDICTION, BEFORE BEGINNING CONSTRUCTION. CONTRACTOR TO NOTIFY 
ENGINEER IF THERE ARE ANY DISCREPANCIES. 

3. PROVIDE CLEANOUTS AS REQUIRED IN THE CURRENT UNIFORM PLUMBING CODE 
CHAPTER 7, SECTIONS 707 AND 719, AND CHAPTER 11, SECTION 1101.12. 
NOTE: NOT ALL REQUIRED CLEANOUTS ARE SHOWN ON THE PLANS. 

4. ALL STORM PIPING IS SIZED FOR A MANNING'S "N" VALUE = 0.013 
ALL STORM PIPING IS DESIGNED USING CONCENTRIC PIPE TO PIPE AND 
WYE FITTINGS, UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED. 

5. SEE MECHANICAL DRAWINGS FOR UTILITIES LOCATED WITHIN THE BUILDING 
AND TO 5' OUTSIDE THE BUILDING. 

6. ALL DOWNSPOUT LEADERS TO BE 6" AT 2.0'1: MIN. UNLESS NOTED OTHERWISE. 

7. VERIFY LOCATION, SIZE AND DEPTH OF EXISTING UTILITIES BY POTHOLING 
PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION. NOTIFY ENGINEER OF DISCREPANCIES. 

a. PROVIDE 2" PVC DRAIN LINE FROM DOMESTIC WATER METER VAULT AND 
BACK FLOW PREVENTER VAULT TO THE DOUBLE DETECTOR CHECK VALVE (FIRE) 
VAULT. PROVIDE 1/3 HP SUMP PUMP AT BASE OF FIRE VAULT AND INSTALL 
2" PVC DRAIN LINE WITH BACKFLOW VALVE FROM SUMP PUMP TO DAYLIGHT AT 
NEAREST CURB. FURNISH '!( INCH DIAMETER CONDUIT FROM BUILDING 
ELIECTRICAL ROOM TO FIRE. VAULT FOR SUMP PUMP ELIECTRICAL SERVICE. 
NOTE: COORDINATE WITH FIRE PROTECTION CONTRACTOR FOR FLOW SENSOR 
INSTALLATION AND CONDUIT REQUIREMENTS. 

9. THE SURVEY INFORMATION SHOWN AS A BACKGROUND SCREEN ON THIS SHEET 
IS BASED ON A SURVEY PREPARED BY NORTHWEST SURVEYING, DATED a/1/2013. 

1 0. CONTRACTOR TO PROVIDE POWER TO IRRIGATION CONTROLLER. SEE 
SPECIFICATIONS AND LANDSCAPE PLANS. 

11. SEE BUILDING PLUMBING DRAWINGS FOR PIPING WITHIN THE BUILDING AND UP 
TO 5' OUTSIDE THE BUILDING, INCLUDING ANY FOUNDATION DRAINAGE PIPING. 

12. CONTRACTOR TO MAINTAIN MINIMUM 3 FT OF COVER OVER ALL WATER LINE. 

LEGEND 

SANITARY SEWER 

STORM LINE 

FIRE WATER LINE 

DOMESTIC WATER LINE 

GAS LINE 

POWER LINE 

TELEPHONE LINE 

STREET LIGHT 

CATCH BASIN 

STORM MANHOLIE 

SANITARY SEWER MANHOLE 

WATER VALVE 

FIRE HYDRANT 

POST INDICATOR VALVE 

EXISTING 

--- _...,_-- _...,_ 
--- _,.._-- _,.._ 
--- --T--- --T-

- - - _..,_ - - _.., __ 
-----------
--- -m.--- -m.-

WAT 
t><J 

'd 

UTILITY KEY NOTES 

PROPOSED 

1. INSTALL FIRE HYDRANT ASSEMBLY PER 9/Ca.O 11. INSTALL 10" X 8" REDUCER 

2. INSTALL FDC PER 13/CB.O 12. INSTALL 10" 45" BEND W/ RESTRAINED JOINT 

3. INSTALL POST INDICATOR VALVE PER 12/Ca.O 13. INSTALL a· X a" TEE 

4. TRANSFORMER 14. INSTALL a• X 6" TEE W/RESTRAINED JOINT 

5. INSTALL 10" DDCV PER 10/Ca.O 15. INSTALL 10" X 6" TEE W/ RESTRAINED JOINT 

6. EXISTING POWER VAULT TO REMAIN 16. INSTALL 10" X 10" TEE W/RESTRAINED JOINT 

7. INSTALL 1)f' METER 

a. INSTALL 2)1!' BACKFLOW 

9. INSTALL a" X 6" REDUCER 

10. INSTALL 8" 45' BEND W/RESTRAINED JOINT 

RESTRAINED JOINT NOTES 
TEST PRESSURE: 
DEPTH TO BURY: 
PIPE MATERIAL: 
SAFETY FACTOR: 
LENGTH OF RESTRAINT 
ALONG MAIN ON TEES, Lr: 

200 PSI 
3 FT 
PVC 
1 TO 1.5 

20FT 

NOTIFY ENGINEER IF DEVIATING FROM ABOVE SPECIFICATIONS. 

LENGTH OF PIPE REQUIRING RESTRAINED JOINTS 

a· 10" 

11)4" BEND 3' 4' 

22Jiz" BEND 6' a' 
45" BENDS 1 3' 15' 

90" BEND 31' 36' 

TEE 1' 4' 

DEAD ENDS 70' 84' 

CITY RETAINS AUTHORITY TO MODIFY AND/OR ADD JOINT 
RESTRAINTS AT THE DISCRETION OF THE CITY ENGINEER. 

KEY MAP CJ -------- -0 125250 500 1000 
(DI FEET) 

1 Inch= ~00 ft. 

• 
Architecture • Interiors 
Planning • Engineering 

Portland, OR 
503.224.9560 

Vancouver, WA 
360.695.7879 

Seattle, WA 
206.749.9993 

www.mcknze.com 

MACKENZIE. 
DISIU DRIVIM I C:LIINT ~OC:USID 

Oient 
OFfNA SI-ERWOOO, LLC. 
8320 liE HWY 99 
VANCOUVB\ WA 98665 

Project 

SHERWOOD 
IIIDUSTRIAL PARK 
PHASE II 
BUILDINGS 3 - 4 

CENTU!Y DRIVE 
SI-EFIWOOD, OF1EGON 

© MACKENZIE 2013 
ALL RIGHTS RE~RVED 

THESE DRA~NGS ARE THE PROPERTY OF 
MACKENZIE AND ARE NOT TO BE USED 

OR REPRODUCED IN ANY MANNER, 
WITHOUT PRIOR WRITTEN PERMISSION 

REVISIONS: 
z 
~~ REVISIONS REVISION DELTA 
S:iil 1H15 CLOSING DATE 
1!1c !I<EET 

SHEET TITLIE: 

SITE 
unLITY 
PLAN 

DRAWN BY: 

CHECKED BY: 

SHEET 

C2.3 

JOB NO. 2130096.00 

DESIGN REVIEW RESUBMITT AL 12.16.2013 
21JOOB60C\CIVIL\096-CZ.3.DWG RV5 12/16/IJ 09:07 I:JO 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

26

INLET PROTECTION (Typ 
PER 2/C5. 

' 
---~,- - -.. 

' 
' 

--

PROTECTION (TYP.) 
PER 2/C5.1 

---

I /-- -F.F.•1-7-7.0Q_ ___ __ 
- .........-- - - -i~,L}=~ ~-:!'!~ 

-t--Lf.-1.--------,.c:::::. <£s ------- ss ------- S£ -----+<> 
/ 

----........._ ----
./""' ---- - ---------

• 

' . 

PROTECTION (TYP.) 
PER 2/C5.1 

/ ----

' ''..::, ' . ~ 

--------
...-nt:::::--- _rt_-----t-- - =-~~-~......__~~ ::-..:-: !_---- _rt_.- -~- .! _ ___/_ 

. ' . ', ' 

--+-l4-t----- ss _____ __:":..___ ss ------- ss ..:." _______ =-....---_-_--"-" =--=----~----------=-"~ ~~--/---,-<~-~'-___...- ___ , 
---------s91-_ --- 1 

a a ~ -_...,...,.. a a • a a 

BUILDING 3 f 
~~----~ I 

..,_ ........___---- ....---L9t--.. 72,000 SF ----------- - .......____-----\- -

0 0 

-

.....___ -------.......... .........---- .. 
"""' / F:F. •171.00 

/ 
_./ 

0 

)> 
(/) 
-u :r 
)> 

'r 
..;:-! 

' 
' 

• 0 • 

-

I I I I I I I n I I I 

I 
I 

"'!-
~ 
I 
I 
I 
I 
~ 

--1... _L....-0~. 
I 
I 

-L ..1.---""""-II,.I-'l ~ 

I 
I 

;~ 
~ 

' \ 

l> 
(/) 
-u :r 
)> 
r 

\ 
\ 

\ 

-1 ..-/ 
~191----

/ll1J 

I I I I 

LEGEND 
EXISTING 1-FT CONTOUR ---199---

EXISTING 5-FT CONTOUR - - -200- - -

PROPOSED 1-FT CONTOUR 199----

PROPOSED 5-FT CONTOUR 200----

PROPERTY LINE 

LEGEND 

-

-+ 
-+ 

FLOW DIRECTION ARROWS: 
SHOWN ALONG STORM PIPES 

INLET PROTECTION 
PER 2/C5.1 

SEDIMENT BARRIER: 
SEDIMENT FENCE PER 3/C5. 1 

GRAVEL CONSTRUCTION ENTRANCE, 
PER 1/C5.1 

EXISTING DRAINAGE FLOW DIRECTION 

DRAINAGE FLOW DIRECTION 

D 

KEY MAP -------- -
0 125 250 500 1000 

(Ilf FEET) 
1 inch= 500 tL 

• 
Architecture • Interiors 
Planning • Engineering 

Portland, OR 
503.224.9560 

Vancouver, WA 
360.695.7879 

Seattle, WA 
206.749.9993 

www.mcknze.com 

MACKENZIE. 
IIElii.N DIIIVEN I CLIENT I'OCUIED 

Client 
aMA SI-ERWOOD, U.C. 
8320 tE HWY 99 
VANCOlNER, WA 98665 

Project 

SHERWOOD 
IIIDUSTRIAL PARK 
PHASE I 
BUILDINGS 3 - 4 

© MACKENZIE 2013 
ALL RIGilTS RESERVI:D 

THESE DRAWINGS ARE THE PROPERTY OF 
MACKENZIE AND ARE NOT TO BE USED 

OR REPRODUCED IN ANY MANNER. 
WITHOUT PRIOR Vv'RITTEN PERMISSION 

REVISIONS: 

REYISION DELTA 
Q.OSING DATE 

SHEET TITLE: 

EROSION AND 
SEDIMENT 
CONTROL PLAN 

ORA WN BY: BTS 

CHECKED BY: RLF 

SHEET 

C5.0 

JOB NO. 2130096.00 

DESIGN REVIEW RESUBMITT AL - 12.16.2013 
21JOOII~O~\!:IVD._ \OIIIi-C5.0.DWG RVS 12/16/13 09:09 1: ;!() 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

27

DUMP 

SEDIMENT CONTROL 
BAG "SIL TSACK" 
OR EQUAL 

2 EACH DU 
STRAPS 

DUMP STRAP 

EXPANSION RESTRAINT 
(~" NYLON ROPE, 
T FLAT WASHERS) 

BAG DETAIL 

BAG ri.-,>n< 
TO TOP IF PIPE ; 

!NST ALLA T!ON DET All 

1. THE DIMENSION CHART ABOVE IS FOR STANDARD CATCH BASINS AND INLETS ONLY. 
THE CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR PROVIDING THE CORRECT SIZE DEVICE FOR 
EACH INLET. 

2. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL MEASURE DIMENSIONS IN THE FIELD AND ORDER 
THE APPROPRIATE SIZE(S). 

3. THE INLET SEDIMENT CONIROL DEVICE SHALL BE OF NORMAL FLOW DESIGN, 
40 GAL/t.tiN /SF WITH NO OVERFLOWS. 

SUBGRADE REINFORCEMENT 
GEOTEXTILE REQUIRED. 

PROVIDE FULL WIDTH OF 
INGRESS/EGRESS AREA 

4. THE SEDIMENT CONTROL DEVICE SHALL BE INSPECTED DAILY BY THE CONTRACTOR 
AND MAINTAINED A MINIMUM ONCE PER MONTH OR WITHIN THE 24 HOURS FOLLOWING 
A STORM EVENT. 

8" MIN. DEPTH 
5. SUBSTITUTION OF A SHEET OF FILTER FABRIC PLACED OVER THE OPENING OF THE 

INLET IS NOT APPROVED. 

CATCH BASIN SEDIMENT FIL TEA BAG @CONS I RUCTION ENTRANCE 2 
CBSACKJ C5.1 N.T.S. N.T.S. E ENTRY C5.1 

GENERAL NOTES 
1. Hold a pre-construction meeting of project construction personnel that includes the inspector to discuss erosion and sediment 

control measures and construction limits. (Schedule A.B.c.i.(3)) 
2. All inspections must be made in accordance with DEQ 1200-C permit requirements. 
3. Inspection logs must be kept in accordance with DEQ's 1200-C permit requirements. 
4. Retain a copy of the ESCP and all revisions on site and make it available on request to DEQ, Agent, or the local municipality. 

During Inactive periods of greater than seven (7) consecutive calendar days, retain the ESCP at the construction site or at 
another location. (Schedule B.2.a) 

5. All permit registrants must implement the ESCP. Failure to implement any of the control measures or practices described in the 
ESCP Is a violation of the permit. (Schedule A B.a) 

6. The ESCP measures shown on this plan ore minimum requirements for anticipated site conditions. During the construction 
period, upgrade these measures as needed to comply with all applicable local, state, and federal erosion and sediment control 
regulations. (Schedule A.8.c.ii.(1)(c)) 

7. Submission of all ESCP revisions is not required. Submittal of the ESCP revisions is only under specific conditions. Submit all 
necessary revision to DEO or Agent. {Schedule A.12.c.iii) 

8. Phose clearing and gradTng to the maximum extent pr<Jctlcal to prevent exposed Inactive areas from becoming a source of 
erosion. (Schedule A 8.c.ii.(1)(d)) 

9. Identify, mark, and protect (by fencing off or other means) critical riparian areas and vegetation including important trees and 
associated rooting zones, and vegetation areas to be preserved. Identify vegetative buffer zones between the site and sensitive 
areas (e.g., wetlands), and other areas to be preserved, especially in perimeter areas. (Schedule A.8.c.i.(1) & (2)) 

10. Preserve existing vegetation when practical and re-vegetate open areas. Re-vegetate open areas when practicable before and 
after grading or construction. Identify the type of vegetative seed mix used. (Schedule A.7.b.iii(1) and A.7.b.iii(3)) 

11. Erosion and sediment control measures including perimeter sediment control must be in place before vegetotion is disturbed and 
must remain in place end be maintained, repaired, and promptly implemented following procedures established for the duration of 
construction, including protection for octive storm drain inlets and cotch basins and oppropriate non-stormwater pollution 
controls. (Schedule A.7.d.i and A.B.c) 

12. Establish concrete truck and other concrete equipment washout areas before beginning concrete work. (Schedule A.8.c.i.(6)) 
13. Apply temporary and/or permanent soil stabilization measures immediately on all disturbed areas as grading progresses and for 

all roadways Including gravel roadways. (Schedule A.8.c.ll.(2)) 
14. Establish material and waste storage areas, and other non-stormwater controls. (Schedule A.8.c.i.(7)) 
15. Prevent tracking of sediment onto public or private roods using BMPs such as: groveled (or paved) exits end parking areas, 

grovel all unpaved roads located onsite, or use an exit tire wash. These BMPs must be in place prior to land-disturbing 
activities. (Schedule A 7.d.ii.(1) and A.8.c.i(4)) 

16. When trucking saturated soils from the site, either use water-tight trucks or drain loads an site. (Schedule A.7.d.ii.(3)) 
17. Use BMPs to prevent or minimize stormwater exposure to pollutants from spills; vehicle and equipment fueling, maintenance, and 

storage; other cleaning and maintenance activities; and waste handling activities. These pollutonts include fuel, hydraulic fluid, 
and other oils from vehicles and machinery, as well as debris, leftover points, solvents, and glues from construction operations. 
(Schedule A.7.e.i.(2)) 

18. Implement the following BMPs when applicable: written spill prevention and response procedures, employee training on spill 
prevention and proper disposal procedures, spill kits in all vehicles, regular maintenance schedule for vehicles and machinery, 
material delivery and storage controls, training and signage, and covered storage areas for waste and supplies. {Sch A 7.e.iii.) 

19. Use water, soli-binding agent or other dust control technique as needed to avoid wind-blown soli. (Schedule A 7.b.ll) 
20. The application rate of fertilizers used to reestablish vegetation must follow manufacturer's recommendations to minimize nutrient 

releases to surface waters. Exercise caution when using time-release fertilizers within any waterway riparian zone. (Schedule 
A.9.b.iii) 

21. If a stormwater treatment system (for example, electro-coagulation, flocculation, filtration, etc.) for sediment or other pollutant 
removal is employed, submit an operation end maintenance plan (including system schematic, location of system, location of 
inlet, location of discharge, discharge dispersion device design, and a sampling plan and frequency) before operating the 
treatment system. Obtain plan approval before operating the treatment system. Operate and maintain the treatment system 
according to manufacturer's specifications. (Schedule A.9.d) 

22. Temporarily stabilize soils at the end of the shift before holidays and weekends, if needed. The registrant is responsible for 
ensuring that soils are stable during rain events at all times of the year. (Schedule A 7.b) 

23. At the end of each workday soil stockpiles must be stabilized or covered, or other BMPs must be implemented to prevent 
discharges to surface waters or conveyance systems leading to surface waters. (Schedule A 7.e.ii.(2)) 

24. Construction activities must avoid or minimize excavation and creation of bare ground during wet weather. (Schedule A. 7.a.i) 
25. Sediment fence: remove trapped sediment before it reaches one third of the above ground fence height and before fence 

removal. {Schedule A.9.c.i) 
26. Other sediment barriers (such os biobags): remove sediment before it reaches two inches depth above ground height. and before 

BMP removal. (Schedule A.9.c.ii) 
27. Catch basins: clean before retention capacity has been reduced by fifty percent. Sediment basins and sediment traps: remove 

trapped sediments before design capacity has been reduced by fifty percent and at completion of project. (Schedule A.9.c.III & 
iv) 

28. Within 24 hours, significant sediment that has left the construction site, must be remediated. Investigote the cause of the 
sediment release and Implement steps to prevent a recurrence of the discharge within the some 24 hours. Any Tn-streom clean 
up of sediment shall be performed according to the Oregon Division of State Lands required timeframe. (Schedule A.9.b.i) 

29. The intentional washing of sediment into storm sewers or drainage ways must not occur. Vacuuming or dry sweeping and 
material pickup must be used to cleanup released sediments. {Schedule A.9.b.ii) 

30. The entire site must be temporarily stabilized using vegetation or o heavy mulch layer, temporary seeding, or other method 
should all construction activities cease for 30 days or more. (Schedule A.7.f.i) 

31. Provide temporary stabilization for that portion of the site where construction activities cease for 14 days or more with a 
covering of blown straw and a tackifier, loose straw, or an adequate covering of compost mulch until work resumes on that 
portion of the site. (Schedule A.7.f.ii) 

32. Provide permanent erosion control measures on ell exposed areas. Do not remove temporary sediment control practices until 
permanent vegetation or other cover of exposed areas is established. However. do remove all temporary erosion control meosures 
as exposed areas become stabilized, unless doing so conflicts with local requirements. Properly dispose of construction materials 
ond woste, including sediment retained by temporary BMPs. {Schedule A.7.b.iii(2) and A.8.c.iii) 

FRONT VI'CN SIDEVI'CN 

ANGLE BOTH ENDS OF SEDIMENT FENCE 
TO ASSURE SOIL IS TRAPPED.----------

INTERLOCKE:D~==~~====::O~-::N:OT:E~S~:---l..v 
2" x 2" POSTS 1. BURY BOTTOM OF FILTER FABRIC 6" MIN. 
AND ATTACH. VERTICALLY BELOW GRADE. 

2. 2" x 2" FIR, PINE, OR STEEL FENCE POSTS. 

TOP VI'CN 3. STITCHED LOOPS TO BE INSTALLED 
UPHILL SIDE OF SLOPE. 

4. COMPACT NATIVE FILL IN ALL AREAS OF 
FILTER FABRIC TRENCH. 

5. ACCUMULATED SEDIMENT CAN BE ALLOWED 
TO REACH NO MORE THAN ONE-THIRD THE 
HEIGHT OF THE SEDIMENT FENCE. 

3 FIL TEA FABRIC SEDIMENT FENCE 
C5.1 N. T.S. SED FENCE 

TEMPORARY GRASSES, MULCH AND PERMANENT VEGETATIVE COVER 
PURPOSE: TO MINIMIZE EROSION AND SEDIMENTATION BY STABILIZING EXPOSED SOILS WITH VEGETATION AND 
MULCHING. 
NOTE: TEMPORARY ESTABLISHMENT MAY DIFFER FROM PERMANENT VEGETATED COVER (THE BEST EROSION 
PREVENTION TECHNIQUE) WHICH USES MANY OF THE SAME DESIGN AND IMPLEMENTATION PRINCIPLES AS SET 
OUT BELOW. CONDITIONS WHERE PRACTICE APPLIES 
- GROUND SURFACES LIKELY TO BE EXPOSED DURING THE WET SEASON (OCTOBER 1 THROUGH APRIL 30) OR 
SURFACES LIKELY TO BE EXPOSED FOR MORE THAN 3 WEEKS DURING DRY SEASON. Bt.tPs). 
- AREAS THAT WILL NOT BE SUB.ECTED TO WEAR OR ARE NOT WORKING SOILS PILES USED BY ONGOING 
CONSTRUCTION TRAFFIC. 
- EXPOSED GROUND SURFACES AT END OF CONSTRUCTION PERIOD (PERMANENT COVER MUST BE 
ESTABLISHED PRIOR TO REMOVAL OF ANY EROSION CONTROL - TEMPORARY OR PERMANENT STABILIZATION 
OF NEW OR DISTURBED DITCHES, PONDS, TRENCHES, DIKES OR SWALES DESIGN CRITERIA/SPECIFICATIONS 
- ALL VEGETATION SITES REQUIRE SOME SURFACE ROUGHENING: STAIR STEP. GROOVING, FURROWING OR 
TRACKING. 
SOIL PREPARATION: 
-TOPSOIL SHOULD BE PREPARED ACCORDING TO LANDSCAPE PLANS, IF AVAILABLE, OR RECOMMENDATIONS OF 
GRASS SEED SUPPLIER. 
SEEDING: 
-RECOMMENDED EROSION CONTROL GRASS SEED MIXES ARE AS SPECIFIED BELOW. SIMILAR MIXES DESIGNED TO 
ACHIEVE EROSION CONTROL MAY BE SUBSTITUTED IF APPROVED BY JURISDICTION. IN GENERAL, USE OF 
QUICK GROWING, STERILE GRASSES AND GRAINS IN MIXTURE WITH PERMANENT VEGETATIVE COVER IS 
RECOMMENDED TO ACHIEVE QUICK COVER OF EXPOSED SOILS. THE DESIGNER OR CONTRACTOR ARE 
ENCOURAGED TO USE MIXES OF NATIVE GRASSES THAT CAN BE INCORPORATED INTO A PERMANENT 
VEGETATIVE COVER. 
-HYDROSEED SHALL BE ECOFIBRE~ + TACKIFIER APPLIED AT A RATE OF 2000 LBS/ACRE USING SUNMARK 
SEEDS ODOT MIX APPLIED AT 40 LBS/ACRE WITH THE FOLLOWING MIX COMPOSITION: 

• 39% PERENNIAL RYEGRASS 
• 25% CHEWINGS FESCUE 
• 25% CREEPING RED FESCUE 
• 7% HIGHLAND COLONIAL BENTGRASS 
• 4% WHITE CLOVER 

ECOFIBRE~ + TACKIFIER IS COMPOSED OF THE FOLLOWING: 
• THERMALLY PROCESSED WOOD FIBER 
• GUAR BASE TACKIFIER - 3% ± 1% 
• MOISTURE CONTENT - 12% ± 3% 

STANDARD EROSION AND SEDIMENT CONTROL PLAN DRAWING NOTES; 
(NOTES COORESPOND TO DEQ 1200 C PERMIT) 

INSPECTION FREQUENCY· 
' 

SITE CONDmON MINIMUM FREQUENCY 

1. ACTIVE PERIOD DAILY WHEN STORMWATER RUNOFF, INCLUDING 
RUNOFF fR()j SNOWMELT, IS OCCURRING 

2. PRIOR TO SITE If:COUING INACTIVE OR ONCE TO ENSURE THAT EROSION ~D SEDIMENT 
IN ANTICIPATION Of SITE INACCESSI131LnY CONTROL MEASURES ARE IN WORKING ORDER. A~ 

NECESSARY MAINTENANCE ~D REPAIR MUST BE 
IAAIJE PRIOR TO LIAVING THE SITE 

3. INACTIVE PERIODS GREATER THAN (7) ONCE EVERY (2) TWO WEEKS 
CONSECUTIVE CALENDAR DAYS 

4. PERIODS AT WHICH lHE SITE IS IF PRACilCAL, INSPECTIONS MUST OCCUR DAILY AT 
INACCESSIBLE Dl.t: TO INCLEMENT WEAlHER A RELEVANT ~D ACCESSI131£ DISCHARGE POINT CJl 

DOWNSTREAM LOCATION. 

• 
Architecture • Interiors 
Planning • Engineering 

Portland, OR 
503.224.9560 

Vancouver, WA 
360.695.7879 

Saattle, WA 
206.749.9993 

www.mcknze.com 

MACKENZIE. 
DI~I·N DltiVIN I ICLIINT I'OICU$1D 

Client 
O'FNIA 81-ERWOOO, LLC. 
8320 NE HWY 99 
VANCOUVER, WA 98665 

Project 

SHERWOOD 
INDUSTFIAL PARK 
PHASE I 
Bli....DINGS 3 - 4 

c:emJRY DRIVE 
SHERWOOD, OFEQON 

© fJACKENZIE 2013 
C ALL RIGHTS RESERVED 

THESE DRAWitJGS ARE THE PROPERTY OF 
fAACKENZIE AND ARE NOT TO BE USED 

OR REPRODUCED IN ANY MANNER, 
WITHOUT PRIOR WRITTEN PERMISSION 

REVISIONS: 

~;:: REVISI(JtS 
S:irl THIS 
il!c SI£ET 

REVISION DELTA 
Q.OSING DATE 

SHEET TITLE: 

EROSION AND 
SEDIMENT 
CONTROL 
NOTES AND 
DETAILS 

DRAWN BY: BTS 

CHECKED BY: RLF 

SHEET 

C5.1 

JOB NO. 2130096.00 

DESIGN REVIEW RESUBMITT AL - 12.16.2013 
21~C9ti00\CIVIL\09~-c:i.1.DWG RV5 12/16/13 09:10 1:1 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

28

LUMINAIRE SCHEDULE 

PROJECT: SHERWOOD INDUSTRIAL 

QTY LABEL DESCRIPTION 

5 LP1-EXISTING STREETLIGHT HPS, 'ACORN' STYLE WMINAIRE, MOUNTED ON A 16' FLUTED ALUMINUM POLE 

1 LP2-PROPOSED STREETLIGHT HPS, 'ACORN' STYLE WMINAIRE, MOUNTED ON A 16' FLUTED ALUMINUM POLE 

38 LP3-PROPOSED BUILDING UGHT MH, GENERAL PURPOSE BUILDING MOUNTED 27' 

9 LP4-PROPOSED PARKING UGHT MH, AREA LUMINAIRE MOUNTED ON A 25' SQUARE METAL POLE 

NUMERIC SUMMARY 

PROJECT: SHERWOOD INDUSTRIAL 

LABEL CALC TYPE UNITS AVG MAX MIN AVG/IotiN MAX/MIN 

BUILDING 3 ILLUMINANCE Fe 2.20 10.6 0.2 22:1 106:1 

BUILDING 4 ILLUMINANCE Fe 3.00 12.5 0.2 15:1 62.5: 1 

LIGHT LEVEL REQUIREMENTS 
ROADWAY CLASSIFICATION LIGHT LEVEL 

TARGET 0.2 FC MIN 
BUILDING 3 PARKING 

ACHIEVED 0.2 FC 

TARGET 0.2 FC MIN 
BUILDING 4 PARKING 

ACHIEVED 0.2 FC 

/ 

' ' ' ' ' 

LEGEND 

PROPOSED PARKING LIGHT 

PROPOSED BUILDING LIGHT 

EXISTING STREET LIGHT 

PROPOSED STREET LIGHT 

' 

I 
I 
\ 

' 

\ 
\ 

\ 
\ 

' ' ' ' 

' ' 

UNIFORMITY 

20: I MAX/MIN 

106:1 

20:1 MAX/MIN 

62.5:1:1 

' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' 

WATTS WMENS 

250 

250 

456 

456 

' ' 

29000 

29000 

38000 

38000 

' ' ' ' 

ARM ARRANGEMENT LLF 

0 SINGLE 

0 SINGLE 

0 SINGLE 

0.228 SINGLE 

.... ... 

' ' ' 

o' 

"' 

-· ~ 

.... 

o' 

"' 

__. . :,.. 

-· b 

o' 

"' 

' \ 
' ~ 

' 

o' .. 
o• 

"' 

-· 
o' 

"' 

~ ' ~' ., 
' ' ~' 

~ 
\ 

0.690 

0.690 

1.000 

1.000 

o' .. 
o' .. 
o• .. 

o' .. 
-· "' -· "' 

.... 
" 

~· "' 
~· 

.... .. 
-· .. 

-· .. 
.... .. 

-· "' -· "' 

\ 

' ' 

'\ 
':::--

'" '" ' ""'. 
0 u: '," 

- ' " ' 0 ' \ 
)> ' "' ', \ ' . 

' ' 

', \ 
' '~ 

\ 

/ 
/ 

/ 
/ 

-· .. 

" '\ 

' ' 

-· " 

'\ 
'\ • 

' 

o' ... 

'\ 
\ 

o• ... 

\ 
\ • 

/ 
/ 

/ 
/ 

/ 
/ 

/ 

\ 

o' .. 

o' .. 

o• .. 

-· 
-· "' 

-· -· "' -· "' 

' 

o' .. 

o' .. 

o' 

"' 
o• 

"' 

o' .. 
-· " -· .. 

o' .. 
o' 

"' -· .. 

o' .. 

-· 

o' 

"' 
o• .. 

o• 

"' 
o' .. 

o' 

"' -· b 

o' .. 

-· .. 

o' .. 

-· 0 

-· ... 
-· .. 

-· " -· " -· .. 
.... .. 

~· ' 

o• .. 
o• 

"' 
o• .. o' .. 

o' 

"' 
o' .. 
o' 

'" 

o' .. 
o' .. 

BUILDING 3 

o• 

"' 

o' 

"' -· b 

-· '" 

~· "' 

o' 

"' 

o• .. 

o' .. 

o' .. 

o' .. 
o• .. 

o' 

"' -· " -· " 

o• 

"' 

o' 

' 
o• 

"' 

.... 

o' 

' 
o' 

"' 

-· .. 

o• 

"' -· ... 
-· .. 

.... 

o' 

"' 

-· "' -· ' 

-· b 

BUILDING 4 

-·. .. 

-· 
-· '" 

~· 
"' 

o• .. 
o' 

"' 

o• .. 
-· "' -· .. 

o' .. 
o• 

"' 

-· .. 

-· ' 
.... 

o' .. 

-· ... -· " 

• 

-· 
-· "' 

o' .. 
• 

-· ... 

o' 

" 

-· "' 

o• 

" 

.... 
" 

-· b 

• 

-· 
.... 

-· 

• 

o' .. 
-· -· b 

o• 

'" 
o' .. 
-· ... 
-· "' 

o' 

"' 

•• b 

•• 
b 

•• .. ~· 

o' 

"' 

o' .. 
o' 

'" 

• 

60 
IN FEET ) 

1 inch = 30 ft. 

3p' 
' 
I 

o' .. 

o' ... 

120 

t 

l 

. 
c . 
['1 

.· 

~ -a: 
0 

~ 
~ w 
() 

;: 
(/) 

• 

.... 

• 

r_I_T_I_l_f_I_T_I_l 

• 

• 

• 
Architecture • Interiors 
Planning • Engineering 

Portland, OR 
503.224.9560 

Vancouver, WA 
360.695.7879 

Seattle, WA 
206.749.9993 

www.mcknze.com 

MACKENZIE. 

Client 
OFfNA SI-ERWOOD, LLC. 
8320 IE HWY 99 
VANCOlNER, WA 98665 

Project 

SHERWOOD 
IIIDUSTRIAL PARK 
PHASE I 
BUILDINGS 3 - 4 

© MACKENZIE 2013 
ALL RIGilTS RESERVI:D 

THESE DRAWINGS ARE THE PROPERTY OF 
MACKENZIE AND ARE NOT TO BE USED 

OR REPRODUCED IN ANY MANNER, 
WITHOUT PRIOR Vv'RITTEN PERMISSION 

REVISIONS: 

~~- nn,...,....., ...., ,..,~.........., REYISlON DELTA il!g msEET CLOSING DATE 

SHEET TITLE: 

SllE 
PHOTOME I RIC 
PLAN 

DRAWN BY: BTS 

CHECKED BY: RLF 

SHEET 

E1.0 

JOB NO. 2130096.00 

DESIGN REVIEW RESUBMITT AL - 12.16.2013 
21J009ti00\CIVIL \096-EUJ.DWG FIVS IZ/16/13 OB::i7 1: ~ 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

29

PLANT MATERIAL SCHEDULE 
SYMBOL BOTANICAL NAME 

0 ZEL.KOVA SERRATA 'GREEN VASE' 

() ACER RUBRUM 'BOI'otiALL' 

~ CALOCEDRUS DECURRENS 

8 CERCIS CANADENSIS 

0 ACER GRISEUt.4 

QUERCUS GARRYANA 0 FRAXINUS P. 'PATMORE 

0 PRUNUS X YEDOENSIS 'AKEBONO' 

0 LIGUSTRUM JAPONICUM 'TEXANUM' 

0 VIBURNUM liNUS 'DWARF' 

C0 VIBURNUM DAVID!l 

COTONEASTER HORIZONTALIS 

PENNISETUM ALOPECUROIDES 'HAMELN' 

BERBERIS THUNBERG!l 'CRIMSON PYGMV' 

MAHONIA AQUIFOLIUM 'COMPACTA' 

EXISTING LANDSCAPE TO REMAIN 

LA\\N 
40% DELAWARE XL RYEGRASS 
40% AMAZING PERENNIAL RYEGRASS 
10% MAGIC CHEWINGS FESCUE 
10% GIBRALTER CREEPING RED FESCUE 

GRASSLANDS SEED MIX 
40% BLUE WILDRYE 
40% CALIFORNIA BROME 
15% NATIVE RED FESCUE 
5% TUFTED HAIRGRASS 

33 

11 

23 

17 

4 

14 

24 

22 

219 

202 

1,035 

1,211 

1,282 

1,536 

1,650 

31,249 SF 

2,937 SF 

23,442 SF 

COMMON NAME 

GREEN VASE ZEL.KOVA 

BOWHALL MAPLE 

INCENSE CEDAR 

EASTERN REDBUD 

PAPER BARK MAPLE 

GARY OAK 

PATMORE ASH 

AKEBONO CHERRY 

JAPANESE PRIVET 

LAURUSTINUS 

DAVID'S VIBURNUM 

ROCKSPRAY COTONEASTER 

DWARF FOUNTAIN GRASS 

CRIMSON PYGMY BARBERRY 

COMPACT OREGON GRAPE 

SUNMARK SUN MIX 

GRASSLANDS SEED MIX 

• PLANT COUNTS BASED ON SQUARE FOOTAGE CALCULATION ONLY. 

SITE DATA 
TOTAL SITE AREA 

PARKING/DRIVE/LOADING AREA 

LANDSCAPE AREA 

PARKING LOT PERIMETER 
LANDSCAPE AREA 

PARKING LOT INTERIOR 
AREA REQUIRED 

PARKING LOT INTERIOR 
AREA PROVIDED 

PARKING STALLS 
PROVIDED 

411,783 SF (9.45 AC) 

215,346 SF (52.3%) 

89,437 SF (21. 7%) 

4,870 SF 

7,740 SF 

29,814 SF 

171 PARKING STALLS 

PARKING LOT INTERIOR 
TREES REQUIRED 

43 LARGE OR 58 MEDIUM OR 86 SMALL = 172 PARKING STALLS 

PARKING LOT INTERIOR 
TREES PROVIDED 

PARKING LOT INTERIOR 
SHRUBS REQUIRED 

PARKING LOT INTERIOR 
SHRUBS PROVIDED 

NOTE: 

12 LARGE, 18 MEDIUM, 37 SMAll - 176 PARKING STALLS 

344 

3,971 

1. ALL NEW LANDSCAPE AREAS TO BE IRRIGATED WITH A FULLY 
AUTOMATIC UNDERGROUND IRRIGATION SYSTEM. 

2. PROVIDE DESIGN BUILD IRRIGATION DRAWINGS IN ACCORDANCE 
WITH SPECIFICATIONS. 

---

SIZE !SPACING 

2" CAL/AS SHOWN 

2" CAL/AS SHOWN 

6' 8.8./AS SHOWN 

2" CAL/AS SHOWN 

2" CAL/AS SHOWN 

2" CAL/AS SHOWN 

2" CAL/AS SHOWN 

2" CAL/AS SHOWN 

2 GAL/AS SHOWN 

1 GAL/AS SHOWN 

1 GAL/ AS SHOWN 

1 GAL. @ 30" D.C. 

1 GAL. @ 24" D.C. 

1 GAL. @ 24" D.C. 

1 GAL. 0 24" D.C. 

SEED 

SEED 

-CIHW- -

- --- ----

LANDSCAPE PLAN 
~~~~ 

JO 

THE r,_~'/EY [NFORM_~-:ON S-OYu'N /1S 1\ ~I'.C<~~='~NO S·~REE~, :1\ 
TH:S SHEET :s SHCM' ~oR RE~ERE\C:~ OI,IL Y AND I~ BASED ·~\ 
_A ',;UK\1:.Y tlY: H:CKIJAI'i & ASSOCI.A-ES UAil: 

0 10 JO 60 120 
( IN FEET ) 

1 !nob = 80 ft. 

---

SIZE/cANOPY FACTOR 

LARGE/192 

SMALL/15 

MEDIUM/60 

SMALL/9 

SMALL/10 

LARGE/100 

MEDIUM/63 

-OHw- -
- -CIIW-

' 

\ 
\ 

' 
' 

\ 
\ • 

BUILDING 3 

-----

BUILDING 4 

•• .~ .. :. ·:·· .... . ... 
·.• ••• 

• ., • .. . 
...... 

_, 

)> 
(Jl 
lJ :r: 
)> 
r 
-i 

I 

\ 
I 

0 
fTl 
z 
---1 
c 
::::0 
-< 
0 
::::0 
......... 

< 
fTl 

\ 
I 

\ 
I 

I 
I 

\ 

J 

' ' 

• 
Architecture • Interiors 
Planning • Engineering 

Portland, OR 
503.224.9560 

Vancouver, WA 
360.695.7879 

Seattle, WA 
206.749.9993 

www.mcknze.com 

MACKENZIE. 
PUIGH PRIViM I l:~liHT FOC:USig 

Client 
OFNIA SI-ERWOOO, LLC. 
8320~HWY99 
VANCOUYER, WA 9888(1 

Project 

SHERWOOD 
INDUSTRAL PARK 
PHASE II 
BUILDINGS 3 - 4 

,?' 1-A.I\C.<I 1\/11 /CL~ 
&J ,~L_ ~:c-rs RE~:::RI/ED 

TI-E::::: o::;:.~.WH,JC:: A=1E TH::: p::;:op:::p-y DF 
1-A.i~J><HUif A'~l: fl.llf ~IJI 10 f::f tSf l 

DR RE=>RC=d ... CU Jr, .~NY f<I.-',1\1-I:::R 
V,'[-H:JI~ T "RI:JF<. '.VRITTE'~ "ERIVISS!:JI\ 

REVISIONS: 

t5 < REWl1QIS 
!il,_ THIS 
i:iiil SlEET 
0:0 

REVISI~ DELTA 
CLOSING DATE 

SHEET TITLE: 

LANDSCAPE 
PLAN 

DRAWN BY: 

CHECKED BY: 

SHEET 

L2.1 

JOB NO. 2130096.00 

DESIGN REVIEW RESUBMITT AL - 12.16.2013 
2 3)0960J\LMIDS:.~PC\0Sii- _2. l.DVIG: 423) TCO · 2/15/13 : ~5 1: l.OC 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

30

• 0 
_I 
0 

"' 

1 0 3 4 <V 
2·_0.___ ts4·~o:J 

-~~---------5-0' ___ o _______________________ 5o-·--o-.----------+-,_---------5-o-·--o-.----------~,---------5-0' ___ o ____________________ ~~~-

• 0 
_I .... 
"' 

• • 0 
Ol 
I • 

- 0> ... -
1\ .... 

( 
• .I • 

4'-o"-------

' .. 
. ~ . 

•, 

_, 
. I 

27'-0" 

4'-0"--, 
19'-o" "'\ 

25'-o" 

. - 5'-o"~-... 
/ 15'-0" "· "\ . . ' 

ss 

25'-o" 

5'-0"--.-· . 
15'-0" "'· ~. 

ss 

25'-o" 

5'-0"-
15'-0" '\, L. 

FUTURE 
0 ENJN~ 

25'-o" 

SHEAR WALL 
5'-0"-

o o o .. I 
I I -' I -g 100 5 II 

I"' -~ 

'\ 

25'-o" 

5'-0"-. --. 
15'-o" ... \ 1> 
FUTURE 
OPE ING 

25'-o" 25'-o" 25'-o" 

s·-o·~ 

15'-0" "·~ 
5'-0"-... - .• 

15'-0" \ ' 
' 

6 

,, 
25'-o" 

s·-o·-
15'-o" '\, , 

50'-0" 

25'-o" 

5'-0"-. --. 
15'-0" "· I:\ 

FUTURE OFFICE 
.3,000 5F 

7 

25'-o" 

5'-0"-. --
15'-0" .... \ ~ .. 

2'-0" 

co!t 
I"" 

50'-0" 

25'-o" 

5'-0"--, 
15'-0" "'\ 

FUTURE 
OPENING 

9 

50'-0" '· 
25'-o"' 25'-o" 25'-o" 

2'-0" I 

+{-col 
I 

50'-0" 

25'-o" 

FUTURE OFFICE 
4,000 5F 

ss 

27'-0" 

10 0. 

( 
---2'-0" 

• 0 ,:. 
I 

~)S,~ \ 
~~\!/,,. ,'-._ 

~'"CJ.!I---1-. ! 

u 

0 
I 

"' I 
~~~ 

•· ... 
' • •• 

• .. 
/2'- ~ _.:· -~ 

~ ~ ~ J f---- '91+----ll .~ .. 
-c 11)0 g I I 

• 
Architecture • Interiors 
Planning • Engineering 

Portland, OR 
503.224.9560 

Vancouver, WA 
360.695.7879 

Seattle, WA 
206.749.9993 

www.mcknze.com 

MACKENZIE. 
DESIG'N DRIVEN I C~IENT FOCU&ED 

Client 
OFMA SI-ERWOOD, LLC. 
8320 tE HWY 99 
VANCOlNER, WA 98665 

~ I "' II 

-~~~~~~~\~~~ ----- ----~----- ------ ---- __ __,,_- ----- --+------- ... I,_ __ --------------~----------------- -<>•--- ----- ---- ----- r ----- ----- -----'~- .".J \ • ""' ~ I 
---t-<--~--\1~~==~~-----·~® 

\ \~ ~ .-" .. ~r===:=!f~::t----tl--- ---------- ---- __.,. ----- ----- ------ _ ___._- -----'k- ~ --r L ·~ ~+-- -
~~o~~~"~·; ________ r.--+--

1 4 ... 

;, • .... ; 
• • "'~ I 4~ 0 • 0 o:_ ,, . 

11 
I o .. l~~ ,-A3 . .. · 

0 g _I O;:,o._ ,. 
• ..I It) C'ol LL.. 0 .... 

0 ' ~~-======f=:::;;i_ -
1 o., ' • '"· •. ~ 

• 0 
I 

"' "' 

' • 0 -.I .. . ~ .. 
0 -

I 

0 

TENANT BAY 
1oo·-o· 

16,000 5F 

t 0 

TENANT BAY 
1 125'-o" 

20,000 5F 

} 
I 

I 

I 

I 

I 

I 

t 

17·-o· a·-o· 

~~~RICAL \ tu" 
~--~~,r---~.~'~'~' T---~/ 

• 0 
L',L_j 

SPRINKLER 
RISER ROOM 

,:. -
rSPRINKLER 

/ RISER 

TENANT BAY 
125'-o" 

20,000 5F 

t 0 

/ 

-

I 

TENAJ BAY 
100I_o• 

16.0r 5F 

I 

-

r2 /:::.. "' . <!> . . ~ . -~ "' . ~ <!> · 2 I r:;:l I /:::.. "' . <!> . . ~ . -~ "' 4 <!> · {3'\ 

~- l~+---,--+++-----+------+---~<!>-+'"----'---<~--~+---"'~+-'--c--'-4--~.----------ll -A3. I li.J I "' 4 "' -M. ~ 

''(, '; 
n 

4'
/ 

2'-0" 
16'-o" 4'-6\ 

/ /' 

25'-o" 
SHEAR WALL 2 o· 

50'-o" 

1 

PLAN-

LEGEND 
o---- KEYNOTE o---- GRIOUNE 

PJ PANEL JOINT 

\ 
\. 

ROUGH OPENING 

2 

... 
'I 

I> 

• I> 

··-o·- 2·-o· .., -,, 
e·-o· \ e·-o· \ 

' I" 
TYPI9AL DOCK 

PANEL 
25'-o" 

50'-o" 

R.O. 

oCO 

oD5 

PROPOSED CLEAN OUT (SEE PLUMBING) 

DOWNSPOUT LOCATION 

---ss--- UNDER SLAB SANITARY SEWER 

9'x10' DOCK-HIGH O.H. DOOR 

12'x14' DRIVE-IN O.H. DOOR 

I> , L_...J 4 I> . .....::::: . 
a· . • 

• :c. .~ 1>"-<1 I> :c. -~ 
• <!> .... •I> .. 4 

.... .. 
I> 

25'-o" 

3 

" ... ....... ..... 
I> 0. ' ' 'I /:::.. ·. . "'' ... 

4 

·I> 

• 

25'-o" 25'-o" 

50'-o'" 

4 

I>' 

25'-o" 

50'-o" 

---3'-4. :=:: 
a· " 

.( /i2·-o· 

25'-o" 
25'-o" 

SHEAR WALL 

50'-o" 

25'-o" 
SHEAR WALL 

450'-0" 

... 
<!> ".1> .. 

I> ... 
I> 

• 

25'-o" 25'-o" 25'-o" 25'-o" 

50'-o'" 50'-o" 

6 7 

I> 

25'-o" 

"I> . 

·I> 

4 
I>' 

~·-o· ~·-o· I 2' 
, e·-o· ( .. e·-o· r!;·

TYPIEA( DOCK/ .r 
PANEL 
25'-o" 

50'-o" 

9 

J'-4'"----.... 
a· -. . 

12'-o"'· .'1 

o• 
• 16'-o" 

25'-o" 

~·- . 

so·-o· 

> 
> 
> 
> 
> 

25'-o'" 
SHEAR WALL 

10 

• 
• 

~ 
( f\ 

•' • f--''<,.;-t---il 
a o -o 
I I ~ 
~ ~ g [\'0 
\\ ;;; .I I~ 

'··.}----+--..;~'-1 1 
• 0 -.I :-1 
~ b~ 

o I 
rx--·0::: 

"'< 

::1 
b -

(/) -' 
0 

-' II: "'< 
"'~ 

"' 

' ' I 
: 
I • 
\ 
\ 
' 
\ 

\ \ 

\ 

Project 

SHERWOOD 
IIIDUSTRIAL PARK 
PHASE I 
Bli..DINGS 3 - 4 

£) fvl~(i<.l \J/1 )[)' .'t 
'-- ,A.LL RI:;HTS RESERVE[ 

T -1ESE C·RA'oV:I\C3 A.RE TI-E PRJFERTY JF 
I,JA(~Kf-\l/1- A.N) AI~- NCI J:J -H- .J:~--1) 

OR REP:;>ODUC::D I~ t\f, Y ,,1!\N~,ER, 
WITI-CF P:;>JC:;: 'l"i:;>IrE~J P:::;>f..tSSIC'j 

REVISIONS: 

~-< RE'IISIIlOS 
S:~ THIS 
il!o SlEET 

REYISION DELTA 
a..osiNG DATE 

SHEET TITLE: 

FLOOR PLAN 
BUILDING THREE 

DRAWN BY: 

CHECKED BY: 

SHEET 

1-A2.0 

JOB NO. 2130096.00 

DESIGN REVIEW RESUBMITT AL - 12.16.2013 
21~J09008\N<CH\0Sd-.~2.0 l<LIJG j.IJ'IG CJl< 12/IE,/Ij "J:l2 ":S5.J() 



1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10

A.1

B

C

D

A.1

B

C

D

10.10.9

A A

Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

31

~ ·v 

/ 

' 

50' o· I. 

25'-0" 

50' o· 
25'-0" 25'-0" 

. ' 
-~ 
~ 

01 () 

0 
50' o· 50' o· I. 

25'-0" 25'-0" 25'-0" 25'-0" 25'-0" 

SHEAR WALL 

Q 

0 
·v 

w ·v 50' o· 50' o· I. 50' o· I. 50' o· 
25'-0" 25'-0" 25'-0" 25'-0" 25'-0" 25'-0" 25'-0" 25'-0" 27'-0" 

SHEAR WALL 

Q 

- '- ~ 5 
- ~u 

'~: ;;'~,;· :; ' ' ' ' ' ' > 0_(! ' ' \<2\ ~I:",, 
)"0~~ ~~~~~;~~Ait. ____ ~~==~~~rt:l=~~~=r~==~~~~~~==r==r~~~=r==f==r~~TJ~~~~tr==r==r~==T:~~r=~=t~~~~;;~=t~>~~ \~~ ) ~ ! ! ..._ ..._ ..._ \:·- o·T~1 1 -~ n A.1 9 ~ ~ ~ \~:~:·~o;·T~~~<:~~r>rn6c1AL,.1 \ \ I ~ ~ 

' 0 
.I 

2 

• 0 
I g 

?.I 

• t;; lr-,..;t'S\~--~~_.1 
• Q. 'C··y 
0 < -
I a: -• 

PI 

' 0 
I 

;,. 

"' 

I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I ? ~ I I I I I I I I I I I 1\,1 < , ~ 0 

--4.-- _l_ u--+----- _l_ l _l_l__l_ u-LL l_ l _l __ L_ 0 _ L __ _ l _l __ L U _ L'_ >r:--+--1 ~::~~ ~-~ !_~ ~ ~ ~-;., B~ 
~ ,_ !·-s· If .. -- \ 

'v/'- .-....+--- --- --

<> 
' 0 
I 

' ~ 

:J 
b~ 
.I a: 
., < . "' ~ 

~ iji 
10 

::l 
b~ 
• I a: ., < "' ~ flj 

,',_.1 

I I 
15'-(1" !. 

I 
I 

f-€H I 

I 31·-Jo· B/Dt CK T ipiCAL I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I 31'-~o· B/DECK TVPICAL I I I I > 

~ ~ 32 r TtRT G Io B J J ~ ~ ~ ~ 32 r TtRT 1 mB ~ ~ 1 1 -o· 

~ ~ ~ ~ ~~ > 
I 3~ I I I I I I I I I I I I I 0~ I I I I I I I I 3~ I I I I I I I I I 0 ~ I I I 

!Ill..:' iiJ1,..:- Ill-· uj -· ) 

v ?J 
/I' 

1\ 31'-:i· 

I 
I 

~ 'V ~ V ~ 'V ~ ~ v~: TI.C ~ 
' 

I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I ? ~ I I I I I I I I I I I l'-5'~ 

,_ 
~ 

' Q. 
0 < 
I a: 

h < 
"'.\!;. ,_ 

~31· r a; :/~,~~ 1 

; J~- t--l-+----+-- f -~\~JO·-· B~/D!E K T+--+P•oo - +-----+-- t--+- -t----1--H- -t--J--+-- t--+-- - r -H -+--- -GJd -l~ -r--f- +--=' ": ' ~~" ,.:, 
?J 31_A T, '1, I I I I I I I I I 31 ~ TfROPF G IO c I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I 31 ~ T/ROPF Gft/0 c I I I I > / " -~PJ 

"'\-=~ n1"t"'~===1-_. ' 1 ? ~ > / 1 ~">-c-'-~--+--
"-=/ ~~- kV 11 /{1 . ,_ :J 

.., =t ~ = ~ 
!'\ 0 <If( 0 ;a. 

I EP / > .I a: .I a: 
I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I (( ~ ::l ~ ~i:S ' 

~'x' / ·-. / ' .C ~" ·' J:A~(J' / > < 1- iji 'j' 
/ .. ' / ·-. / ?C ·-. / ·-. :.!. , ,_ / ?. ·-. / ·- o/I.S.~ // I > I --~---"P~· .. I_-+ __ ....,15 

?.I 

JSc >N o• B~ 
31 -1 Tf. 

•
~n 

Co 

< 33' -o· 

' ' 

T, " 

' I 

~I 

25'-0" 
SHEAR WALL 25'-0" 

50'-0" 

0 

PLAN-

LEGEND 
(l)----- KEYNOTE 

0---- GRIDUNE 

PJ PANEL JOINT 

25'-0" 

50'-0" 

Q 

25'-0" 25'-0" 25'-0" 

50'-0" 

KEYNOTES 
1. DURLAST MEMBRANE 
2. PROTECTION BOARD 
3. RIGID INSULATION (R-19) 
4. ROOF SHEA THING - SEE STRUCTURAL 
5. ROOF SUB PURLIN5 - SEE STRUCTURAL 
6. ROOF HATCH 
7. TRAme PADS 
8. SMOKE VENTS 

- ~· 

o_ ··• 

0 

25'-0" 

9. NO MECHANICAL TO BE PLACE WITHIN 15'-0" OF PARAPET 

25'-0" 

50'-0" 

~ 
'jl\/l I 

29'-5" Is/DECK -, 
30' -0" T / •vvr 

25'-0" 
SHEAR WALL 

50'-0" 

25'-0" 
SHEAR WALL 

450'-0" 

Q 

25'-0" 25'-0" 

50'-0" 

- ~· 

o_ ··• 

0 

25'-0" 

)-... -~ 

I 

I!~ 

25'-0" 

50'-0" 

I I 
Af.=:;" B . 

I-- T/1 

25'-0" 

~ 

I 

I D 0 

-

25'-0" 

50'-0" 

.....-

DURALAST MEMBRANE 

ROSIN-SIZED SHEA THING 
PAPER 

1 /2" COVER BOARD 

R-19 RIGID INSULATION 
(2) UFTS 

PL YWOOO - SEE 
STRUCTURAL 

r.~~~.~1 rR~O~O~F~A~S=S=E=M=B=L=Y~----------=3·_~1 .~o·! 

I / 
/ 

/ 
/ 

> 
I 1> I 

33'-0" 

T/PARAPET 

Q 

i> 

25'-0" 
25'-0" 

SHEAR WALL 

50'-0" 

\ ·~· b· a, 
~' T/1 

> 

LL 
U) 
0 

0 

---o 

• 
Architecture • Interiors 
Planning • Engineering 

Portland, OR 
503.224.9560 

Vancouver, WA 
360.695.7879 

Seattle, WA 
206.749.9993 

www.mcknze.com 

MACKENZIE. 
DESIGN DRIVEN I C~IENT FOCU&ED 

Client 
OFMA SI-ERWOOD, LLC. 
8320 tE HWY 99 
VANCOlNER, WA 98665 

Project 

SHERWOOD 
IIIDUSTRIAL PARK 
PHASE I 
Bli....DINGS 3 - 4 

c;_, fvl~(i<.l \J/1 )[)' .'t 
0;.; ,A.LL RI:;HTS RESERVE[ 

T -1ESE C·RA'oV:I\C3 A.RE TI-E PRJFERTY JF 
I,JA(~Kf-\l/1- A.N) AI~- NCI J:J -H- .J:~--1) 

OR REP:;>ODUC::D I~ t\f, Y ,,1!\N~,ER, 
WITI-CF P:;>JC:;: 'l"i:;>IrE~J P:::;>f..tSSIC'j 

REVISIONS: 

~j!_ REVISDIS REYISION DELTA 
S:G:I THIS a..osiNG DATE 
il!o SlEET 

SHEET TITLE: 

ROOF PLAN
BUILDING THREE 

DRAWN BY: 

CHECKED BY: 

SHEET 

1-A2.1 

JOB NO. 2130096.00 

DESIGN REVIEW RESUBMITT AL - 12.16.2013 



T/PARAPET

35' - 0"

T/PARAPET

33' - 0"

T/FINISH FLOOR

0' - 0"

T/FINISH FLOOR

0' - 0"

T/PARAPET

35' - 0"

T/FINISH FLOOR

0' - 0"

A.1BCD

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10

12345678910

A.1 B C D

T/PARAPET

35' -0"

T/PARAPET

33' - 0"

T/FINISH FLOOR

0' - 0"

B/REVEAL

B/REVEAL

REVEAL

REVEAL

B/REVEAL

B/REVEAL

REVEAL

REVEAL

B/REVEAL

B/REVEAL

REVEAL

REVEAL

B/REVEAL

B/REVEAL

REVEAL

REVEAL

10.1 0.9

10.90.9

A

A

Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

32



B/REVEAL

B/REVEAL

T/OPENING

T/FOOTING

T/FINISH FLOOR

0' - 0"

T/FINISH FLOOR

0' - 0"

T/PARAPET

35' - 0"

B/DECK

31' - 1"

T/FOOTING

T/FINISH FLOORT/FINISH FLOOR

0' - 0"

A B D

B/REVEAL

T/OPENING

T/PARAPET

35' - 0"

B/DECK

29 ' -5"

C

T/FOOTING

Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

33



1 2 3 4 5 6

1 2 3 4 5 6

A

B

C

D

A

B

C

D

0.9 6.1

D.1 D.1

Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

34



1 2 3 4 5 6

1 2 3 4 5 6

A

B

C

D

A

B

C

D

0.9 6.1

D.1 D.1

Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

35



T/PARAPET

32' - 6"

1 2 3 4 5 6

123456

D C B A

DCBA

T/FINISH FLOOR

0' - 0"

T/PARAPET

32' - 6"

T/FINISH FLOOR

0' - 0"

T/PARAPET

32' - 6"

T/FINISH FLOOR

0' - 0"

T/PARAPET

32' - 6"

T/FINISH FLOOR

0' - 0"

B/REVEAL

B/REVEAL

REVEAL

REVEAL

B/REVEAL

B/REVEAL

REVEAL

REVEAL

B/REVEAL

B/REVEAL

REVEAL

REVEAL

B/REVEAL

B/REVEAL

REVEAL

REVEAL

0.9 6.1

D.1

D.1

0.96.1

Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

36



T/PARAPET

32' - 6"

T/FINISH FLOOR

0' - 0"

T/FINISH FLOOR

0' - 0"

1 2 3 4 5 6

DCBA

T/PARAPET

32' - 6"

B/DECK

28 ' - 8"

T/FINISH FLOOR

0' - 0"

B/REVEAL

B/REVEAL

T/OPENING

T/FINISH FLOOR

0' - 0"

B/REVEAL

B/REVEAL

T/OPENING

T/FOOTING

T/FOOTING

B/DECK

27 ' -7"

Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

37



 
 

New Business Agenda 
Item A  

Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

38



City of Sherwood 
22560 SW Pine St. 
Sherwood, OR 97140 
Tel 503-625-5522 
Fax 503-625-5524 
www.sherwoodoregon.gov 
 
Mayor 
Bill Middleton 
 
Council President 
Linda Henderson 
 
Councilors 
Dave Grant 
Robyn Folsom 
Bill Butterfield 
Matt Langer 
Krisanna Clark 
 
 
City Manager  
Joseph Gall, ICMA -CM 
 

 
  
 
2009 Top Ten Selection 
 

 
  
 
2007 18th Best Place to 
Live 
 
 

 

 
Home of the Tualatin River National Wildlife Refuge 

 

 

 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 

 

 

DATE: January 7, 2014 

TO: Planning Commission 

FROM: Brad Kilby, AICP, Planning Manager 

SUBJECT: 
 

SP 13-01, Appeal of the Pacific Family Dental 

Parking Lot Expansion  
 

On November 22, 2013, the Sherwood Hearings Officer conditionally 

approved SP13-01, also known as the Pacific Family Dental Parking 

Lot Expansion.   

 
The Hearings Officer is an independent contractor with a background 

in land use law, appointed by the City Council to review and make 

decisions on conditional uses, variances, site plan reviews for projects 

measuring between 15,001 and 40,000 square feet of floor area, 

parking or seating capacity, and subdivisions less than 50 lots in size.  

 
In this case, the Hearings Officer held a duly noticed public hearing on  

October 24, 2013. At the end of the hearing the hearings officer held 

the record open for one week, until October 31, 2013, to allow any 

person an opportunity to submit additional argument and evidence. 

The hearings officer held the record open for a second week, until 
November 7, 2013, to allow the applicant an opportunity to submit a 

final argument, without any new evidence.   

 

On December 6, 2013, Jim and Susan Claus filed a timely appeal of 

the decision with the City of Sherwood. 
 

Background 

 

On July 19, 2013, the applicant filed an application to pave the 

northeast corner of tax lot 2100 to provide additional parking for the 

Pacific Family Dental Office Building and bring the gravel parking lot 
up‐to‐code with paving and landscape improvements in accordance 

with City of Sherwood standards. The gravel parking lot was 

constructed without permits, and the City had been working with the 

property owner to bring the property into compliance.  

 

Currently, tax lot 1600 is used as a professional dental office that was 
approved in 2006 (SP 06-07) as a “medical and dental office” use, 

Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

39



 

SP 13-01 Pacific Family Dental Appeal Memorandum to the Planning Commission 01.7.2014  Page 2 of 2 
  
  

 

which is a permitted use within the GC zoning district. The proposed parking lot 

extension would be an accessory use to the existing office and would, 

therefore, be an outright permitted use subject to site plan approval.  
 

Currently, Lot 2100 is developed with a single-family residence and associated 

outbuildings. According to the application, the portion of Lot 2100 not 

associated with this request will continue to include the single-family residence.  

The residential use is a pre-existing non-conforming condition since single-
family residences are not permitted unless for a security person or for a 

different form of residence normally associated with a conditional use. This 

property is also zoned General Commercial (GC).  

 

The properties are located at 17680 SW Handley Street and 22065 SW Pacific 

Highway, on the west side of Pacific Highway. The properties are identified as 
tax lot 1600 on Washington County Assessor Map 2S130CD and tax lot 2100 

on Washington County Assessor Map 2S131BA.  

 

The Hearings Officer approval allows the applicant to expand the existing 

parking lot onto an adjacent parcel of land. The existing parking lot includes 38 
onsite parking spaces.  With the expansion, 73 total parking spaces will be 

provided.  

 

Appellant Issues 

 
The appellant is requesting that the Planning Commission reverse the Hearings 

Officers decision and deny SP 13-01.  Mr. and Mrs. Claus submitted a narrative 

as part of their appeal application.  It is difficult to clearly summarize their 

specific grounds for appeal and what errors they believe the Hearings Officer 

made in his decision. Staff has attempted to summarize the issues below.   

 
The narrative provides information that is not fully accurate, but staff is not 

going to attempt to go through their appeal line by line to refute every mis-

statement, as much of the information is not relevant to application being 

reviewed.  We are happy to answer any specific questions the Commission has 

if it is not addressed in this memorandum.  The following is our understanding 
of the issues raised by the appellant and what they believe are grounds for 

reversal: 

 

1. The application was improperly processed as a new site plan and should 

have been processed as a major modification or whole new site plan for 
both properties. 

2. The original site plan approval is being violated and is not conforming to 

the original approval and the current code standards.  

3. The application is flawed in its description and is incomplete.  

4. By approving this application, the Hearings Officer has created a 
situation that allows the applicant to add offsite parking for the dental 

Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

40



 

SP 13-01 Pacific Family Dental Appeal Memorandum to the Planning Commission 01.7.2014  Page 3 of 3 
  
  

 

offices on the adjacent property, and that by doing so, over 50% of the 

buildable land will be developed requiring full site plan review of each lot 

separately.  
5. The Hearings Officer improperly determined that he did not have 

authority to deal with the code compliance issues and the “copious 

amounts of illegal, non-permitted actions of the applicant”.  

6. By approving this application the Hearings Officer is allowing the 

applicant to provide solid waste and recycling storage receptacles to be 
stored off-site, rather than on-site as required by section 16.98.020. 

7. That the Hearings Officers decision did not adequately require the solid 

waste and recycling storage to be properly screened. 

8. That the Hearings Officers decision violates the general and specific land 

use plans by not calling for the right-of-way dedication for Cedar Brook 

Way as designated in the City’s adopted Transportation System Plan. 
9. That the Hearings Officers conditions did not go far enough to ensure 

that the parking lot was not being commercially rented, leased, 

bartered, or used without any other form of renumeration to anyone 

including tenants of the building. 

10.That by not requiring the Cedar Brook Way right-of-way dedication, the 
City and the applicant are inversely condemning the appellants property 

and devaluing the property by more than 50%. 

 

The appellant has included the Hearings Officers final order as (Exhibit 1) to 

their appeal application.  The appellant also includes, as (Exhibit 2) their own 
comments throughout the order to bolster the allegations listed above.  

 

Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

41



 

SP 13-01 Pacific Family Dental Appeal Memorandum to the Planning Commission 01.7.2014  Page 4 of 4 
  
  

 

Within the findings of that final order, staff believes the Hearings Officer has 

addressed their issues as noted or expanded upon in the below table: 

 

Appeal issue number Page addressed 

on in Hearing 
Officer decision 

Additional comments 

1.   The application was 
improperly processed as a 

new site plan and should 

have been processed as a 

major modification or 

whole new site plan for 
both properties. 

Not Addressed It is not clear to staff how this would be 
relevant.  Whether the application was 

reviewed as Major Modification to a site 

plan, a separate site plan, or a minor 

modification to a site plan has no bearing 

on the Hearings Officers decision.  
Procedurally, a major modification and a 

site plan would be processed in the same 

manner, and as proposed would have 

been reviewed by the Hearings Officer. 

The site plan review included both 
properties not unlike many commercial 

developments where multiple properties 

are included as part of an application. 

2.   The original site plan 

approval is being violated 

and is not conforming to 

the original approval and 
the current code standards. 

Pages 5, 8, 10, and 

13 

 

3. The application is 
flawed in its description 

and is incomplete. 

Pages 2, 3, 4,7, 8, 
and 12 

The Claus’ raise concerns that the 
description of what the site plan is for as 

well as who is listed as the applicant.  

The application describes the 

development activity as a parking lot 

expansion.  The applicant’s narrative 
describes it as a parking lot expansion.  

It is not clear how this is a flawed 

description, or how it is incomplete. As 

long as the owner or someone with the 

owners signature signs and is aware of 

the application, it does not matter who is 
listed as the applicant. The applicant is 

not always the property owner. 

4.   By approving this 

application, the Hearings 

Officer has created a 

situation that allows the 

applicant to add offsite 
parking for the dental 

offices on the adjacent 

Pages 3, 5, 6, 8, 9,  

Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

42



 

SP 13-01 Pacific Family Dental Appeal Memorandum to the Planning Commission 01.7.2014  Page 5 of 5 
  
  

 

Appeal issue number Page addressed 

on in Hearing 

Officer decision 

Additional comments 

property, and that by doing 

so, over 50% of the 

buildable land will be 

developed requiring full site 
plan review of each lot 

separately. 

5.   The Hearings Officer 

improperly determined that 

he did not have authority 

to deal with the code 

compliance issues and the 
“copious amounts of illegal, 

non-permitted actions of 

the applicant”. 

Pages 5, 9, and 10 The Code does not provide the Hearings 

Officer with the authority to conduct code 

compliance activities outside of his role 

as a review body who is charged with 

ensuring the proposed development is 
compliant with the standards of the 

development code. 

6.   By approving this 

application the Hearings 

Officer is allowing the 

applicant to provide solid 
waste and recycling 

storage receptacles to be 

stored off-site, rather than 

on-site as required by 

section 16.98.020. 

Pages 44 and 45  

7.   That the Hearings 

Officers decision did not 
adequately require the 

solid waste and recycling 

storage to be properly 

screened. 

Page 28 In commercial developments, it is not 

uncommon for there to be shared 
facilities when crossover easements and 

agreements are in place.  Crossover 

easements were conditioned within the 

Hearings Officers final order. 

8.   That the Hearings 

Officers decision violates 

the general and specific 
land use plans by not 

calling for the right-of-way 

dedication for Cedar Brook 

Way as designated in the 

City’s adopted 
Transportation System 

Plan. 

Pages 3, 5, 11, and 

46-50 

 

9.   That the Hearings 

Officers conditions did not 

go far enough to ensure 

that the parking lot was not 

Pages 8, 13, 14, 

and 66 

The applicant proposed parking that is 

accessory to the dental offices, and has 

never represented that the parking lot is 

a commercial parking lot.  If he includes 

Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

43



 

SP 13-01 Pacific Family Dental Appeal Memorandum to the Planning Commission 01.7.2014  Page 6 of 6 
  
  

 

Appeal issue number Page addressed 

on in Hearing 

Officer decision 

Additional comments 

being commercially rented, 

leased, bartered, or used 

without any other form of 

renumeration to anyone 
including tenants of the 

building. 

parking as part of the rent for the tenant 

space in the building, that is not 

uncommon, but it does not make the 

parking lot a non-accessory commercial 
parking lot.  The hearings officer imposed 

a condition (#9) on page 66 of his 

approval further clarifying that this was 

not intended to be approved as a 

commercial non-accessory lot, and that 
any future intent to do so would require 

additional review by the City of 

Sherwood. 

10.   That by not requiring 

the Cedar Brook Way right-

of-way dedication, the City 

and the applicant are 
inversely condemning the 

appellants property and 

devaluing the property by 

more than 50%. 

Pages 3, 5, 11, and 

46-50 

The Hearings Officer addresses this issue 

in his findings found on Page 11 of the 

Hearings Officers final order.  Inverse 

condemnation is “the taking of property 
by a government agency which so greatly 

damages the use of a parcel of real 

property that it is the equivalent of 

condemnation of the entire property. 

Thus the owner claims he/she is entitled 
to payment for the loss of the property 

(in whole or in part) under the 

constitutional right to compensation for 

condemnation of property under the 

government's eminent domain right.” 

There is no evidence in the record to 
demonstrate how the value of the 

appellant’s property is devalued at all by 

this decision, let alone enough to claim 

inverse condemnation..  As discussed in 

detail in the Hearing Officer decision, 
right of way dedication cannot be 

justified for the proposed parking lot 

because it is not roughly proportional.  

That said, , the City Engineer has 

indicated that a future extension of the 
Cedar Brook Way in its current alignment 

is not precluded by the approval.   

 

Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

44



 

SP 13-01 Pacific Family Dental Appeal Memorandum to the Planning Commission 01.7.2014  Page 7 of 7 
  
  

 

Additionally, the appellant has raised a few points as part of their discussion on 

how they are aggrieved by the land use decision.  While not related to the 

Hearing Officer’s decision, staff feels compelled to respond to the following 
issues raised: 

 

Statement that the appeal fee is outrageous and excessive and the Planning 

Commission should reduce the fee.  

 
Fees are reviewed and adopted by the City Council each year. While staff has 

input on the review fees, the final decision lies with City Council.  The review of 

appeals for type III and IV actions by ordinance is 50% of the original fee.  The 

intent is that fees and charges for all services be set by the City Council, and at 

a level whereby reasonable costs are recovered (Resolution 2013-028). 

Appeals are complex and take significant staff time and resources to process.  
Regardless, this specific issue is not relevant to the application at hand, and by 

no means a reason to reverse, remand, or amend the Hearings Officers 

decision.   Additionally, it should be noted that only the City Council has the 

authority to waive, reduce, or refund fees per section 16.74.020.   

 
Statement that the Code language in general is arbitrary, capricious, and as 

applied, does not meet due process and equal treatment tests. 

 

The appellant has not demonstrated that the Code language relied upon by the 

Hearings Officer in reviewing and approving SP 13-01 is arbitrary, capricious, 
and applied in a manner that deprives a person of due process or equal 

treatment. The Code is intended to be clear and objective. There are processes 

in place used to understand any language that is open to interpretation. Any 

person can refute and/or appeal the language with supporting evidence that 

logically shows why their unbiased interpretation supports the goals and 

objectives of the City’s Comprehensive Plan.  Deference within the language is 
given to the legislative history and intent.  

 

Statement that the City has willfully ignored illegal activity on the site. 

 

This simply is not true.  The City met with the landowner and their consultants 
on several occasions between the original construction of the illegal parking lot, 

and the submittal of this application informing them of their requirements to 

comply with the development code and to bring the property into compliance.  

It has been and continues to be the City’s policy to work with the property 

owners to bring the property into compliance prior to taking the matter to 
court.  If, on the other hand, the property owner has indicated that they do not 

intend to comply and continues the illegal activity, then enforcement 

proceedings move forward.  Regardless, the Hearings Officer does not have the 

authority to conduct code compliance and an attempt to bring a non-compliant 

or illegal activity into compliance with the development code is not grounds to 
deny the application.  

Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

45



 

SP 13-01 Pacific Family Dental Appeal Memorandum to the Planning Commission 01.7.2014  Page 8 of 8 
  
  

 

 

Recommendation 

 
Staff has reviewed the appellant’s materials along with the Hearings Officers 

final order and recommends that the Planning Commission uphold the Hearings 

Officer decision finding that none of the issues raised are substantiated by 

evidence in the record or relevant to the land use decision.    

 

Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

46



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

47

Hom~ t:{ the Tualatin R.Wtr Natimtnl Wild lifo RLfu~ 

RE?CEIVED 

DEC ~ •1 

BY Bf.l"' 
PLANNING DEPT. 

, 

NOTICE OF APPEAL 
TYPES Ill & IV 

TAX LOT: 
MAP NO: 
CASE NO: 

To: ?l~nf\1~·j Grnm'.551~ 

APPEAL BY: _;31=-:,.t l"v)_..;___c._L.;_;-/\_u_s______./'-5_..;.'-1 _5 _A_tJ_C_L_A_u_s __ _ 
(Appellant's Name) 

ON FILE# s p \ ~-0 \ at f 7 t, g D s vJ H tt n d I e lj t· )_ l b b 5 s LV Pet G ~ 1'\l/ 
(address/tax lot number) s w:A\\i\1'0'00 

\..~:lnt.\ 
The undersigned in the above-entitled matt~oes hereby appeal from that certain decision of the 
t\e"n~s Of£;Q.-r rcnderedon th~~dayof N1>Vt-rn!x.r, 20~ upon the 
following grounds: (Please provide on a separate sheet the reasons why you think the Appeal 
Authority should render a,dif.ferent decis(on than that re'ldert;d by tljx Hearing Authority). J. 
1"'h \s <A..t? (\eAl. -f.e.~ t5 Q xus-5• ~ Or'Y\t,l V' o 1.-.~~- (.:r)eJ 4f:: 1 -fQ ,.-0)Mm{ltt1J rl.-1 

)'\ o\\1.~~ ,~ laY"t! lAse Pl~ tH1lhj. Lu~F<.~ IS OY>L"j $ 4VO . 1\'0'IWK~ 
~il-'tf'-'~~""------'~;:;_:.:.....;_, ~~....J Date Signed: be- c. f- , 20 ll J~ ~ 

Appellant C' Y 
P 

~61 y~ f Jttj 
"Ll-'J-11 S ,.J _ (J.d:.•-(! I L -f&-vv 5}1> 3, - k, JS- <:; ::)_(, $ 'lb._~ "j 'f <I. 

Address ( Phone No. · = --

t~i 
To be filled out by City Staff 

Received by: BG AD \<I b, Date: --'-=i\ J.~~{ o /'-'-1 3..___ __ 
(authorized st1ffmember) I 

*Fee~ ~1 3qy Receipt No.: Cf'l ~I lP & 

* See City of Sherwood current Fee Schedule, located at www.ci.sberwood.or.us. Click on City 
Government/Departments/Finance. 

~pt~tl ~ 
J_~m. 

~1~ 
I~ rrtte* 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

48

BEFORE THE SHERWOOD PLANNING COMMlSSION 
OF THE CITY OF SHERWOOD, OREGON 

Regarding an application for site plan approval to ) 
expand an existing parking lot at 17680 SW Handley ) 
Street onto a separately owned tax. parcel at 22065 SW ) 
Pacific Highway in the City of Sherwood, Oregon ) 

) _________________________________ ) 

A. DATE 

PETITION FOR REVIEW 
Case No. SP 13-01 

Applicants: Nathan & Polly Doyel of 
Handle Properties, LLC and 

Nathan Doyel of Knob Properties, LLC 

This petition for review is being filed on December 6, 2013 by 5:00 pm per the date and time 
given as a deadline by Brad Kilby, Planning Manager of the City of Sherwood in an email dated 
November 25, 2013 at 5: II pm addressed to Jim Claus. 

B. BRIEF BACKGROUND 

[n December of 2006, the Cedar Brook Professional Building, TL # 1600 received site plan 
approval to build a 14,054 sq.f:t. two story building for dental offices. TL #1600 is located on 
approximately 8/lOths of an acre. The site plan approval for this building only contained 38 on site 

parking spaces. The Hearings Officer at the time, directed that ten additional spaces be found off site in 
order to meet minimum parking requirements for the site. The applicant also had the choice to decrease 

the size of the office building. The site itself could not be built with adequate parking given the building 
that Mr. Doyel decided to build. Mr. Doyel chose to keep the building the same size and find parking off 
site. 

After the dental office building was built, it was leased to several different businesses. Current 
tenants include Pacific Family Dental, Bittner Dentistry for Kids, Sherwood Oral Surgery, and Wjfson 
Orthodontics per the sigt1age located outside the building. These businesses lease space from Nathan and 
Polly Doyel through their Handle Properties LLC ownership. Nathan Doyel is half owner of Pacific 
Family Dental business along with Ben Aanderud. Both Doyels and Aanderud are active in the business 
community as well as involved in the local politics of the town. 

In October of2012, Nathan Doyel bought TL#2100 through Knob Properties, LLC. After 
purchasing this two acre property, he illegally took out vegetation and replaced much of the useable site 
area with eJ~.1ensive gravel. He also cut trees. added a walk way between TL #21 00 and TL # 1600, and 

then a llowed many of the employees of the dent-al offices to enter/exit off 99W and park their vehicles on 
TL #21 00. He was reported to code enforcement and city officials severaJ times. After seventeen months 
of violating the original site plan ofTL #1600 and doing illegal, non-permitted work on TL #2100. 

Doyel has asserted that the street parking that was part of his original approval has been taken 
over by other people and is no longer available. The original site plan approval has been violated and is 
non conforming not only to the approval but also to current code standards. 

Petition for Review-- Case No. SP 13-01 Doyel Site Plan Request for Off Site Parking Page 1 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

49

C. DESCRIPTION OF THE LAND USE ACTION 

Nathan Doyel made an application for site plan review that involved two separate tax lots: TL 

#1600 2S130 CD located at 17680 SW Handley Street and TL#2100 2Sl3BA located at 22065 SW 
Pacific Highway, in Sherwood, Oregon The application itself has fundamental flaws in its description of 
what the site plan is for, as well noting Pacific Family Dental as an applicant rather than a mere tenant of 
the building-- the site plan runs with the property-- not the tenant, or does it? If the tenant leaves or the 
business is sold, what happens to the site plan? 

Nathan Doyel is requesting to add offsite parking for TL #1 600 by using 1/2 acre, approximately 

50% of the buildable land from TL #21 00 two acre parcel as well as altering the original site plan for 
Cedar Brook Professional Building. He is tying both properties together with one site plan, instead of 
each property standing alone with its own site plan, a total of 8/1 Oth of an acre. The two parcels together 
contain not quite three acres. The electric transformer vault and existing solid waste/recycling facility for 
TL # 1600 is being moved on to TL #21 00. The resulting amount of parking to be dedicated to TL # 1600 

is over one acre. Maybe he didn't want to pay for two site plan fees; the problem is however, the 
Hearings Officer has merged both tax lots into "the site" (See p. 1 Summary in Final Order, Case No. SP 
13-0 1.) It also appears that TL # 1600 has been illegal for seven years. 

The proposed land use action is at least partially in response to illegal, unpermitted activities by 
Doyel on TL #2100 including cutting trees, increasing the non-conformity ofTL #2100 by adding heavy 
vehicle parking/storage to the site, removing vegetation and installing an illegal graveled "parking lot" 
area, and illegal accessing of 99W for parking purposes over a 17 month period by employees of the 

dental offices located at Cedar Brook Professional Building. He also built a gravel walkway between the 
two lots so the employees of the dental offices could walk between the two parcels to access the office 
building. Additionally, in violation of the landscaping and visual corridor plans he "topped" the trees 
along Pacific Highway located on the Cedar Brook Professional Building site because they were blocking 
part of his sign. The trees are now effectively prevented from producing a canopy, producing another 
code violation. 

Figure 1: TL #21 00 Illegal Parking Lot, Street View 

Petition for Review-- Case No. SP 13-01 Doyel Site Plan Request for Off Site Parking Page 2 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

50

Figure 2: TL #21 00 Image Before Illegal Work 

Petition for Review-- Case No. SP 13-01 Doyel Site Plan Request for Off Site Parking Page 3 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

51

Figure 3: TL #21 00 Image After Illegal Work 

Figure 4: TL #1600 with Visual Corridor Trees "topped" 

(Note contrast with similar trees to left in photo and their height) 

Figure 5: View ofTL #2100- Highlighted 
Orange= Parking Lot for TL # 1600 benefit, Hatched Pink= 25 ft visual corridor 

Pink = Existing House and graveled parking areas 
Blue = Vegetative Corridor, Hatched Blue= Estimated Cedar Brook Way Extension 

Petition for Review-- Case No. SP 13-01 Doyel Site Plan Request for Off Site Parking Page 4 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

52

D. PETITIONER'S REQUEST OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION 

For this Petition For Reyjew, according to Section 16.76.040, the Planning Commission "may act 

to affirm, reverse, remand, or amend the action being reviewed. The action of the Appeal Authority 
(Planning Commission) shall be the final City of Sherwood action on the application, un less remanded to 

the Hearing Authority. Upon remand, the decision of the Hearing Authority shall be the final City of 
Sherwood action." 

Petitioner is requesting that the Planning Commission REVERSE the action from the hearing 
officer and asking that SP 13-01 be denied. The two properties TL #1600 and TL #2100 are being 
merged for parking purposes as well as for utility and garbage storage purposes. Changes are requested to 

the original 2006 site plan on TL # 1600 that now e~~:pands the site plan to include part ofTL #21 00, yet 

this is not designated in the application as a separate site plan review or modification to the original site 
per the site plannjng practices as outl ined in Section 16.90 et.seq. oftbe municipal code. That site plan is 
NOT in compliance with its original approvals and appears to have been illegal from the date of 
occupancy . This SP 13-01 file is and has always been incomplete for code purposes to process the site 

planning for TL #2 100 and# 1600. Both sites have to be site planned because changes are requested to 
be made to the original site plan for TL # 1600 as well as site planning for TL #21 00. As it stands now, 
both sites are tjed together and have been developed-- with millions of dollars being spent. This isn't just 
a negligible development of a parking lot. [t involves the entire three acres of both sites. The code has 
been cherry picked to give the impression that this isn't fulJ site development. Looking at the highlighted 

areas on Figure 5. between the house and heavy equipment storage, the parking lot for the benefit ofTL 
#1600, the vegetative corridor, and the Cedar Brook Way Extension, there's not much more that can be 
squeezed on to the site. Also, viewing the adjoinjng TL #1600 in conjunction with TL #21 00, there is full 

development ofthe Cedar Brook Professional Building. With all of the development now, and the 
parking lot given for the benefit of TL # 1600 tbat represents 50% of the usable land for TL#2l 00-- how 
is the Cedar Brook Way roadway dedication not justified now? The city and applicant are attempting to 
make the argument that at some point in the future with only 50% of the usable tax lot#2100 available it 
will have a major redevelopment that willjustify the Cedar Brook Way extension-- how? Look at the 
site planning requirements for the Cedar Brook Professional Building-- it was so under parked from the 

2006 approvals that it i.s non-conforming and required MORE land fi·om the neighboring parcel to 
achieve code compliance in the parlcing standards-- and it is located on 8/ I Oth of an acre. Now TL#21 00 
will have all of approximately I /2 an acre to bui ld on-- if the house is torn down and not converted to a 
commercial use-- as it appears to be now. 

The Hearings Officer gave an approval to TL #21 00 based on a variety of conditions. Instead of 

dealing with the copious amounts of il legal, non-permitted actions of the applicant, the hearings officer 
made an improper judgment call that he did not have code authority to deal with the land use planning 
issues involved in SP 13-01. On the contrary, Petitioner asserts that a logical remedy exists within the 
code to deal with non-compliance matters in site plans, See Section 16.90.030 A & B. Specifically the 
hearings officer could use the remedy of Revocation "Any departure from approved plans shall be cause 

for revocation or applicable building and occupancy permits. Furthermore, if, in the City's determination, 
a condition or conditions of site plan approval are not or cannot be satisfied, the site plan approval, or 

building and occupancy permits, shall be revoked." 

Petition for Review-- Case No. SP 13-01 Doyel Site Plan Request for Off Site Parking Page 5 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

53

Doyel deliberately and willfully made changes to the original site plan including topping the trees 

in the visual corridor, modifying the pedestrian access on TL #1600 to include a llowing illegal pedestrian 
access from TL #2100's illegal parking lot that he created without permits, and expanded the parking for 
TL # 1600 via TL #21OO's illegal conversion from vegetation to a graveled area. Doyel testified that the 
parking spaces in front of the dental building that were designated with the dental building are now not 

available because other people such as neighboring apartment dwellers ate using them. The original site 
plan from 2006 is non-conforming on TL #1600. TL #21 00 is non-conforming and in all probability both 
are illegal. Neither site is becoming confo rming with this site plan application. For instance, Sherwood's 
municipal code Section 16.98.020 does not allow for off site storage of solid waste and recycling: "All 
uses shall provide solid waste and recycling storage receptacles which are adequately sized to 
accommodate all solid waste generated on site. (emphasis added). All solid waste and recycliog storage 

areas and receptacles shall be located out of public view. Solid waste and recycling receptacles for multi
family, commercial, industrial and institutional uses shall be screened by six (6) foot high sight-obscuring 
fence or masonry wall and shall be easily accessible to collection vehicles. The applicant is proposing to 
move the solid waste/recycling from TL #1600 on to TL #2100 and build a vegetation fence blocking the 
"site line" to enter 99W. 

The Hearings Officer and city staff have incorrectly allowed an approval for these two tax lots 
without providing the proper public infrastructure according to city code. Chapter 16.1 04.020 states that 
"The precise alignment and location of a public improvement shall be established during the land use 
process and shall be depicted on public improvement plans submitted and approved pursuant to Section 

16.108 and other applicable sections of this Code." By attempting to characterize this merged site plan 

as piecemeal. the general and specific land use plans for Sherwood are being violated as well as 
expanding Doyel's illegal uses. Mr. Doyel is developing these lots yet is not being required to dedicate a 
public road way designated in the Sherwood Transportation Plan. 

Knob Properties, LLC owns TL #2100 which will have the new parking lot. On page 14 of his 
Final Order, the hearings officer said that the parking lot was "not reviewed as a commercial parking lot. 
A condition of approval is warranted prohibiting commercial use of the parking lot on this site without 

further City review." Again the Sherwood city code does not define "commercial'; or "commercial 
parking lot" however tl1e hearings examiner infers from the code that commercial activities such as the 
parkjng lot cannot be rented or leased-- including chargi ng the building tenants Pacific Family Dental, 
Bittner Dentistry For Kids, Wilson Otthodontics, Sherwood Oral Surgery or any other building tenant 
reut or increased rent based upon the addition of the new parking lot. Knob Properties should not be able 
to rent or lease to Handle Properties either as it would create a commercial relationship/use of the parking 

lot. The condition of approval shpuld have expressly stated that no renting, leasing, or value exchange of 
any kind can occur regarding the entire parking Jot becanse it has not been reviewed as a commercial 
parking lot. As the hearings officer also states on p. 14 of his Final Order. "the parking lot expansion is 
intended solely to provide additional parking for the existing dental office building on tax Jot 1600. 11 It 

cannot provide that additional parking at a cost (rent, lease, barter, or any other fonn of remuneration) to 
the dental office bujlding owners or tenants. Approval of this application does not aUow Mr. Doyel or 
Knob Properties as owners of the lot to receive rent, lease, barter or any other form of remuneration for 

the use of the parkjng lot. The Planning Commission either needs to AMEND the hearing officer's 

Petition for Review-- Case No. SP 13-01 Doyel Site Plan Request for Off Site Parking Page 6 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

54

condition of approval to specify the same, or needs to REVERSE the hearings officer's Final Order. Of 
course, central to this problem is Doyel hides the facts of his multi-tenant incoming generating 
commercial activities. 

This parking lot must stay with TL #1600 or Cedar Brook Professional Building is in violation of 
current parking standards-- it can never again rely on its own land and the public parking spaces to be in 
compliance at the nonconforming amount of 48 spaces. Sherwood code does not allow old site plan 

standards to revert if for some reason, the parking lot use agreement with TL #21 00 ceases. The bearings 
officer and therefore the city bas taken the applicant at its word that Knob Properties will not charge rent, 
Jease, barter or any other funn of remuneration for the use of the parking lot on TL #21 00. This should 
be a basis for REVOCATION of the site plan if Doyel tries to receive any form of remuneration for the 
non-commercial parlciog lot on TL #21 00 and he admits in the report that the new parking area w ill be for 
"employees and patrons'' of his tenants but apparently we are to trust that they wiU not pay rent for the use 
of the parking Jot 

For these and many other reasons further discussed in this Petition and accompanying comments 
to the Hearings Officer's Final Order, Petitioner is requestjng REVERSAL of the hearing officer's final 
order. 

E. ADOPTED FINDINGS OFF ACT 

The contract Hearing Officer, an attorney and AICP planner, Mr. Joe Turner produced a Final 

Order for Case No. SP 13-0 I signed and dated November 22, 2013. In his 68 page Hearing Officer Final 
Order he includes his Adopted findings of fact. His Final Order is attached to this Petition of Review as 
Exhibit 1. Petit ioner also attaches a copy of the Final Order with Petitioner's comments inserted in red 
ink with the word COMMENT: preceding each set of comments as Exhibit 2. 

Additionally, Planning Manager Kilby has confrrmed that the entire record for SP 13-01 is made 
part of this appeal proceeding and will be given to each of the Planning Commission members. Per 
Sherwood Municipal Code 16.76.030 "the record of the land use action and any City Staff review of the 
issues subject to the appeal shall be made a part of the record before the Appeal Authority." It is 
appellant's understaniling that the planning commission members wHI each be receiving a copy of the 
entire record for this Petition of Review. Petitioners records of objections to this SP 13-0 l are 
additionally contained throughout the entire record. 

F. STATEMENT OF HOW THE PETITIONER IS AGGRIEVED 

Petitioner is aggrieved at the outrageous and excessive fee to appeal this local decision to another 
local body. The state's Land Use Board of Appeals only charges $400 for an appeal of a land use decision 

to the LUBAjudges. The City is violating GOAL #1 of the Oregon's Statewide Planning Goals and 
Guidelines that are designed not to "chill" c itizen involvement in the local land use planning process. 
Additionally, according to ORS 215.422(l)(c): 

Petition for Review-- Case No. SP 13-01 Doyel Site Plan Request for Off Site Parking Page 7 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

55

The goveming body may prescribe, by ordinance or regulation, fees to defray the costs incurred 

in acting upon an appeal from a hearings officer, planning commission or other designated 

person. The amount of the fee shall be reasonable and shall be no more than the average cost of 

such appeals or the actual cost of the appeal, excluding the cost of preparation of a written 

transcript. The governing body may establish a fee for the preparation of a written transcript. The 

fee shall be reasonable and shall not exceed the actual cost of preparing the transcript up to $500. 

The city has not proven that the fee being charged is reasonable or that it is "no more than the average 

cost" of such appeals. The Planning Manager merely cites the current fee schedule for the city, which 

charges l/2 of the cost of the application fee charged to the applicant. Petitioner requests that the 

Planning Commission reduce this excessive fee to bring it in I ine with the spirit and intent of Goal #I and 

ORS 215.422 (I) (c). Petitioner also requests a refund of the appeal fee in the case that the Planning 

Commission reverses, remands, or amends the action being reviewed. 

The code language presented to describe and direct the local appeal has problems. This appeal 

requirement is a typical example. The word "aggrieved" is not defmed in the code. What does aggrieved 

mean in the context of achieving a successful appeal at the local level? Petitioners have o~jected to the 

vague, arbitrary and capricious words in the Sherwood code repeatedly. We have complained that this 

vague, arbitrary and unreasonable language on such words as "abut" simply give the city staff, paid 

consultants and contract agents a right to manipulate our property and civil rights in an arbitrary, 

capricious and unreasonable fashion. Tt does not meet due process and equal treatment tests. Using such 
language in code documents that can jail people and violate due process and equal treatment is 

inappropriate. These are the same codes we are forced to deal w ith in the Doyel matter. Put another way, 

you are making political decisions based on zoning applications based on w.ho the individual or applicant 

has supported as elected officials. While I apologize for this statement and would hope it is not true but 

believe it is, in short it is my opinion and belief it is true, it demonstrates one way we are "aggrieved" in 

this current SP 13-01 decision. 

Petitioner is also aggrieved in several ways by this land use application and land use process as it 

has unfolded. There has been unequal treatment of the Sherwood Municipal Code interpretations by city 

staff resulting in 14th Amendment violations. The City chose to specify a road on the Transportation 

System Plan (TSP) known as Cedar Brook Way. In this land use process, the staff, specifically the 

Community Development Manager Julia Hadjuk, and Planning Manager Brad Kilby, decided not to 

require that Cedar Brook Way be put in or the right of way dedicated. Staff stated that the road 

requirement would be an exaction requiring the city to pay and therefore they would not be requiring the 

road or dedication of the right of way. No evidence was presented by the applicant or the city to justify 

not requu·ing the dedication. Per Chapter 6 Goal #3, Policy #16, Strategy #6 of the city's Comprehensive 

Plan, the city is supposed to" provide specific guidelines for determining the proportional benefit 

contribution associated with the requirements (o.r non-requirement-- Petitioner's comment) for street 

dedication and the construction of off-site transportation improvements." Petitioners have asked for and 

never been responded to regarding the analysis used by the applicant and the city that resulted in the non

requirement of the Cedar Brook Way road or dedication. They constructively merged both TL # 1600 

and #21 00 in the SP 13-01 application; yet they try to claim that the millions of dollars spent on the Cedar 

Brook Professional Building and now its parking upgrades do not justify the Cedar Brook Way road 

Petition for Review-- Case No. SP 13-01 Doyel Site Plan Request for Off Site Parking Page 8 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

56

dedication. Per Section 16.106.020 "all developments containing or abutting an ex.isting or proposed 

street, that is either unimproved or substandard in right-or-way width or improvement, shall dedicate the 

necessary right-or-way prior to the issuance of building permits and/or complete acc.eptable 

improvements prior to issuance of occupancy permits." 

Staff has made some assertions that Cedar Brook Way is not needed by the Doyel lots. The 

problem however, is that TL #21 00 was paid for its highway access some years ago. The legal access for 

TL #2 1 00 is Cedar Brook Way. Doyel is proposing to change the access for TL #2100 to Handley Drive 

through TL# 1600's parking lot. The bearings officer notes that "the site takes access from SW Handley 

Street." However, the legal road access for TL #2100 is Cedar Brook Way. Doyel bought TL #21 00 
knowing of these constraints. Attempting to constructively change the legal access ofTL#2100 through 

the parking lot of TL # 1600 and on to Handley Drive cannot be done unless tbe properties are legally 

merged or conditio11s noted that the access for the TL #21 00 land associated with the TL#l600 parking lot 

is only for parking lot purposes and cannot at a future date be opened up to allow other parts of TL #2 1 00 

to access Handley Street. 

IF THE CITY IS SERIOUS ABOUT CEDAR BROOK WAY as a viable road through this 

district, then it cannot allow a favored party like Nathan Doyel to deconstruct the development code to 

avoid dedication and/or building of this road. lt is on th.e TSP plan for the city and has been used as a foil 

by the city in the past to STOP development of Petitioners property. Petitioner is asking at a minimum 

from the Planning Commission for the dedication of the Cedar Brook Way road to the southem end ofTL 

#2100 where the property meets Petitioners property. Additionally, Doyel has paid over $500,000 in 

impact fees -- why can't some ofthat be rebated? 

Petitioner is being forced to appeal the decis ion because Petitioner believes that the city is 

constructively inversely condemnjng Petitioners property by mandating Cedar Brook Way be placed on 

Petitioners property upon development, but not requiring the extension of Cedar Brook Way by the Doyel 

properties during the land use process. On page 49 of the hearings officer's order, there is mention that 

"future extensions of the street system" are not physically precluded by the proposal. The hearing officer 

fails to mention however that Petitioner or any other private party does not have c-ondemnation authority 

or the ability to force a sale or transaction upon a neighbor. Doyel is developing his two parcels now, yet 

not bei ng required to build a TSP mandated road. Petitioner has no ability to e>.1end Cedar Brook Way on 

property owned by Mr. Doyel by law. Doyel is now in control of Claus' property and can ask any price of 

Claus or other neighbors to ''sell" his Cedar Brook Way right -of-way. Petitioners are exhausting 

administrative remedies, trying to resolve and avoid the inverse condemnation the city is forcing on 

Petitioners property which will result in more than 50% diminution of value to Petitioner's property by 

this act alone. 

The staff violated the city's Community Development plan and general land use plan as well as 

the transportation system plan by not requiring the roadway to be built. The Sherwood municipal code 

does not give the staff the flexibi lity to make an arbitrary detetmination to not require a TSP mandated 

road. The two Doyel properties abut the Cedar Brook Way extension. At the time of the original 

application, Doyel did not build Cedar Brook Way the entire length of the abutting property. Per the city 

code, when the road abuts the applicant is supposed to build to the next property, . For this application' 

Petition for Review- Case No. SP 13-01 Doyel Site Plan Request for Off Site Parking Page 9 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

57

purposes, Cedar Brook Way should have been extended to the Claus property at TL #2Sl31BA-02000. 

In the 2006 application process. the City already assessed the Doyel Cedar Brook Professional Building 
approximately $500,000 toward the street impact fees. Much of that money has already been collected 
from Doyel by the city. They should have street monies to pay for the land dedication and to offset the 

street construction. Instead, the city is attempting to allow Doyel to expand his two non-conforming sites 
and make it easy for Doyel to continue his uses in perpetuity while stopping the Cedar Brook Way 
extension for the district. 

Petitioners have lived on adjoining TL #2Sl3lBA-02000 for almost th.irty years. As part ofthe 
City of Sherwood's general land use plan, the city has mandated via their Transportation System Plan 
(TSP) that a road, Cedar Brook Way, be built through a handful of properties located along Pacific 
Highway and along Handley Street. Petitioners were told (and confirmed in writing by Julia Hajduk) by 

city staff during pre-application meetings for the Claus property that the city would require "cross 
easements" from the neighboring properties for the Cedar Brook Way extension to insure that the 
neighbors would have access to this so called Cedar Brook Way road that staff has used to stop 
development of the Claus property. All things being equal, staff policy of cross easements for the 

neighbors should have applied to the Doyel properties as part of the development application process. 
Instead, staff, the city contract attorneys, and the Hearings Officer have determined that no cross 
easements, no dedication, no road construction is required for the Doyel properties as well as allowing-
if not encouraging illegal activities by Doyel. Tf the staff is not going to enforce a TSP mandated road, 
then the general and specific plans of the municipal code are being violated. 

The spirit and intent of the city's site plruming process has been willfully violated by Mr. Doyel 
when be decided to perform extensive site work on TL #21 00 without any approved site plan or permits 

mandated by Municipal Code Sections 16.90.0 I 0-16.90.030. Mr. Doyel illegally cut down trees on TL 
#2100 and illegally trimmed trees in the visual corridor for TL #1600. He removed vegetation from TL 
#21 00 and made graveled parking areas on the high ground of the site--- increasing the non conformity of 
TL #2100 and also ofTL #1600. His activities were reported to the staff several times by neighbors 
during a 17 month period of time for his illegal, non-permitted actions. Staff chose to ignore his illegal 
behavior. Only when the state police were going to be brought into the problem to deal with the illegal 

behavior did the local code enforcement officer obtain permission to write a cease and desist letter in 
August of2013 did Mr. Doyel cease allowing his employees and his tenants' employees to park their cars 
on TL #21 00 and enter/exit on 99W. 

The City of Sherwood has a local municipal zoning code that is part ofthe city's general plan. As 
such, the city has enacted ordinances governing the land use activities in the town, The city's general plan 

also contains rules and procedures for the land use activities as well as penalties and legal consequences 
for parties who decide to unilateral ly make changes to their property without city review and approval. 

Both tax lots need their own site plan reviews-- unless the parcels are being merged. The Doyel 
application did not provide full site plan review criteria for TL #21 00 or for TL # 1600. The SP 13-01 
designates a site plan approval for part of the two tax lots and the hearings officer collectively calls them 
"the site." TL #21 00 however, was only partially addressed in the site plan process. According to 

Section 16.90.020 of the code, "site plan review shall be required prior to any substantial change to a site 

Petition for Review- Case No. SP 13-01 Doyel Site Plan Request for Off Site Parking Page 10 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

58

or use, issuance of bujlding permits for a new building or structure, or for the substantial alteration of an 

existing structure or use" TL # 1600 will now have more than one acre of parking assigned and the entire 
TL# 2100 developed. 

G. SPECIFIC GROUNDS RELIED UPON IN REQUESTING A REVlEW 

The Sherwood municipal code outlines an appeal process to request a review of the Hearings 

Officer's decision. It is found in Section 16. 76. Per this section of the code, the Petitioner is requesting a 
review of the Hearing Officer's Final Order for SP-13-01. 

H. SOME PROPOSED FINDINGS OF FACT FOR REVERSAL 

Petitioner offers several proposed findings of fact to assist the Planning Commission in reversing 

the bearings officer's decision. Tbis is by no means a complete listing. 

l. Nathan Doyel unilaterally and knowingly violated city code and the 99W visual 
corridor when he cut trees down, "topped" trees that were in the way of his 
business sign, 

2. Doyel allowed employees ofthe dental site to enter/exit off of99W and park 
their cars illegally for some 1 7 months. 

3. Doyel bought the property at 22065 with knowledge of the requirement to 
extend Cedar Brook Way upon development. 

4. Doyel is allowing his tenant at 22065 to park heavy construction equipment on 
site in areas that previously had vegetative cover. 

5. Doyel's original permit on TL #1600 has been non-conforming and illegaL 

6. Doyel violated 99W ingress and egress for both TL #2100 and #1600. 
7. Doyel violates the state well regulations on TL #21 00. 
8. Doyel and his partner still illegally is parking on TL #21 00 while this process is 

ongoing. 
9. Doyel has damaged adjacent water drainage and wetlands buffers. 
10. Doyel violated the vegetative corridor. 

Th~oooin reviewing these matrers. 

JUn~i~l:S
1 

\ 

Petition for Review-- Case No. SP 13-01 Doyel Site Plan Request for Off Site Parking Page 11 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

59

BEFORE THE LAND USE HEARINGS OFFICER 
OF CITY OF SHERWOOD, OREGON 

Regarding an application for site plan approval to ) 
expand an existing parking lot at 17680 SW Handley ) 
Street onto an adjacent parcel at 22065 SW Pacific ) 
Highway in the City of Sherwood, Oregon ) 

A. SUMMARY 

FlNALORDER 
Case No. 
SP 13-01 

(Pacific Dental Parking Lot) 

1. The applicants, Handle Properties, LLC & Knob Properties LLC, request site 
plan approval to expand the existing 38-space parking lot at 17680 SW Handley Street 
(also known as tax lot 1600 2S 130CD) onto the adjacent property at 22065 SW Pacific 
Highway (also known as tax lot 2100 2S 13BA) (collectively, the "site"). The proposed 
expanded parking lot wiJl have a total of73 parking spaces. The applicants wj)} also 
relocate the existing solid waste/recycling facility and an electric transformer vault. The 
site and surrounding properties to the southwest, nort~ across SW Handley Street, and 
east, across Highway 99, are zone GC (General Commercial). Properties to the northwest 
and northeast are zoned LDR-PUD (Low Density Residential, Planned Unit 
Development). Properties to the south, across Highway 99, are zoned MDRH (Medium 
Density Residential High). Tax lot 1600 is currently developed with a 14,054 square foot 
office buiJding. Tax lot 2100 is developed with a single-family residence, shop and well 
house. Tax JOt 2 1 00 also contains a gravel parking area tnat was constructed without 
required permits. The applicants will remove the shop and gravel parking lot and retain 
the single-family residence and well bouse on tax lot 2100. Additional basic facts about 
the site and surroundings and applicable approval standards are provided in the City of 
Sherwood Staff Report to the hearings officer dated October 17, 2013 (the "Staff Report'') 
incorporated herein by reference, except to the extent modified by or inconsistent 
herewith. 

2. City of Sherwood Hearings Officer Joe Turner (the ''hearings officer") 
conducted a public hearing about the application. City staff recommended that the 
hearings officer approve the application subject to conditions of approval in the Staff 
Report. The applicants accepted those findings and conditions without objections or 
corrections. Two persons testified orally or in writing in favor of the application and three 
persons tcstjfied orally or in writing in opposition. Contested issues in the case include 
the followjng: 

a. Whether the hearings officer is required to reopen the record to accept 
Mr. Claus' November 7. 2013 letter; 

b. Whether the City provided adequate public notice of the application and 
hearing; 

c . Whether the Code requires unity of ownership of the properties 
proposed for development; 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

60

d. Whether past violations on the site and the City's failure to take 
immediate enforcement action, are relevant to the approval criteria for this development; 

e. Whether the proposed use is permitted in the CG zone; 

f. Whether the applicants can be required to extend SW Cedar Brook Way 
as a condition of this approval; 

g. Whether approval of this development wi111imit or preclude the future 
extension of SW Cedar Brook Way; 

h. Whether the proposed development will cause or exacerbate drainage 
problems on adjacent properties; 

i. Whether the applicants are required to prove a need for additional 
parking; 

j. Whether the development complies with Code limits on the minimum 
and maximum number of parking spaces; 

k. Whether the development complies with landscaping requirements, 
including visual corridor requirements along the site's Highway 99 frontage; and 

1. Whether the development can comply with the noise limits of the Code. 

3. Based on the findings and conclusions in this final order, and subject to the 
conditions of approval listed or incorporated by reference at the conclusion of thls final 
order, the hearings officer approves the application in this case. 

B. HEARING AND RECORD HIGHLIGHTS 

1. The hearings officer received testimony at the duly noticed public hearing about 
this application on October 24, 2013. All exhibits and records of testimony are filed at the 
City of Sherwood Planning Department. The hearings officer announced at the beginning 
of the hearing the rights of persons with an interest in the matter, including the right to 
request that the hearings officer continue the hearing or hold open the public record, the 
duty of those persons to testifY and to raise all issues to preserve appeal rights and the 
manner in which the hearing will be conducted. The hearings officer disclaimed any ex 
parte contacts, bias or conflicts of interest. The following is a summary by the hearings 
officer of selected testimony and evidence offered at the public hearing. 

2. At the hearing, City planner Brad Kilby summarized the Staff Report. He noted 
that the City received four new exhibits, including separate requests from Mr. Claus and 
Ms. Claus that the hearing officer hold the record open. 

a. He noted that the applicants proposed to expand the existing 38-space 
parking lot onto the adjacent property to the south. The expanded parking lot will provide 

Hearings Officer Final Order 
Case No, SP 13-01 (Pacific Dental Parking Lot) Page 2 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

61

a total of 73 parking spaces. The site is zoned GC and parking is an allowed use in the 
OC zone. The applicants will also relocate the exjsting solid waste enclosure on tax lot 
1600 and modify the existing storm water facility on the south boundary of tax lot 1600. 

b. The applicants will retain the existing single-family residence and 
remove the existing shop on tax lot 2100. The residence will retain its existing access to 
Highway 99. No access is proposed between the parking lot and Highway 99. 

c. The applicants proposed to provide a landscaped visual conidor 
between the new parking lot and Highway 99. The applicants can rely on the existing 
vegetation to provide a visual con'idor on the remainder of the site until it is redeveloped 
in the future. 

d. The applicants are required to comply with CWS stormwater and 
erosion control requirements. The proposed development will have no impact on the 
existing erosion concel1'ls noted by Mr. Claus. 

e. CWS issued a service provider letter requiring the applicants restore the 
vegetated corridors on the site to ''good" condition or better. 

f. SW Cedar Brook Way, a designated collector street, is stubbed near the 
nOiihwest corner of the site, abutting the west botmda:ry of tax lot 1600 and the north 
boundary of tax lot 2100. The applicants did not propose to extend this street through the 
site as part of this project. The City cannot require the applicants extend Cedar Brook 
Way as a condition of this approval, because the cost of the road extension would exceed 
the roughly proportional impacts of the proposed development. The proposed parking lot 
will only serve the existing office building on tax Jot 1600. It will not generate any new 
vehicular trips or change the existing accesses. Therefore it will have no impact on the 
City's transportation system and will not increase the need for extension of Cedar Brook 
Way. The City will require the extension of this street when the site is further developed. 
Cedar Brook Way is designated as a collector street. Therefore SDC credits will be 
available to offset the cost of extending the street. 

g. The applicants' tenant on tax Jot 2100 constructed a gravel surfaced 
parking lot on tax lot 2100 without required pe1mits. The City enforcement section has 
been working with tenant and the applicants for roughly 17 months to bring the property 
into compliance. 

h. He argued that Mr. Doyel is the owner of the site and has the authority 
to sign the application. 

i . He testified that be was not aware of any ODOT or CWS concerns 
regarding right-of-way dedication for this project. lie spoke with ODOT staff the day of 
the hearing and they did not raise any concerns. 

j. The GC zone requires a minimum 10,000 square foot lot size. Therefore 
the one-acre of developable area on tax lot 2100 could be divided into four separate lots. 

Hearings Officer Final Order 
Case No. SP 13-01 (Pacific Dental Parking Lot) Page 3 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

62

k. The applicants are required to plant trees and other vegetation within the 
vegetated corridor on the site. Construction of the Cedar Brook Way extension will 
require removal of some ofthat vegetation. However those impacts are unavoidable, 
because there is no specific alignment plan for the Cedar Brook Way extension. 

3. City engineering associate Craig Christensen testified that the applicants will 
collect stormwater runoff from the site and discharge it into existing stom1 drains located 
near SW Handley Street. The proposed development will not increase the volume of 
storm water flowing into the drainage corridor on the west boundary of the site. 

4. Planner Chris Goodell, engineer Monty Hurley, and property owner Nathan 
Doyel testified on behalf of the applicants, Handle Properties, LLC & Knob Properties 
LLC. 

a. Mr. Goodell summarized the proposed development. He noted that the 
City approved the existing office building and parking lot on tax lot 1600 several years 
ago. With this project, the applicants intend to expand the parking lot onto the adjacent 
property to the south, teL'< lot 2100. The applicants will remove the existing shop building 
on tax lot 2100. The applicants will plant additional landscaping within the parking lot 
and within the visual and vegetative corridors on the site. The applicants will collect 
stormwater runoff from impervious areas of the site and convey it to on-site catchbasins. 
The applicants will discharge treated storm water runoff into Cedar Creek, several 
hundred feet north of the site. 

b. Mr. Hurley testified that the applicants will modify and expand the 
existing stormwater facilities on the site to accommodate additional runoff from the 
expanded parking lot. The applicants will collect storm water from the parking lot and 
convey it to an on-site swale for treatment. Treated stotmwater is then piped north to a 
Cedar Creek tributary. Runoff from this site will have no impacts on the drainage way 
west of the site. 

c. Mr. Doyel testified that the proposed parking lot is needed to provide 
additional off-street parki~ for patients and employees of the existing dental office on 
the site. Construction of the apartment complex north of the site increased the demand for 
on-street parking in the area. 

5. David Emami testified in support of the application. He agreed with Mr. Doyel 
that the apartment complex north of the site has increased the demand for on-street 
parking in the area. 

6. Robert James Claus testified in opposition to the application. He requested the 
bearings officer hold the record open for two weeks to allow him an opportunity to 
submit additional testimony and evidence. 

a. He noted that the original public notice for this application listed 
"Pacific Family Dental" as the applicant, not Handel LLC or Knob LLC. Pacific Family 

Hearings Officer Final Ordel' 
Case No. SP 13-01 (Pacific Dental Parking Lot) Page4 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

63

Dental is a tenant, not an owner of the property. Pacific Family Dental is an LLC owned 
by Ben Aanderud and Nathan Doyel. Therefore there is no unity of interest. 

b. The existing dental office on tax lot 1600 was built without sufficient 
offsite parking. That use is now nonconforming with regard to parking. He argued that the 
applicants were able to create a nonconforming situation without a variance. The lack of 
adequate on-site parking on tax lot 1600 is a self-imposed hardship. The law prohibits 
approval of a variance to relieve the applicants of that hardship. 

c. He noted that Knob LLC is owned by Nathan Doyel alone. CWS staff 
told him that Mr. Doyel keeps his properties in separate ownerships in order to avoid 
unity of title, which allows him to avoid dedication requirements that would solve all of 
the problems. 

d. He argued that the applicants or the applicants' tenant, Corey Platt, 
graded tax lot 2100 and constructed a gravel-surfaced parking lot without required 
pennits and approvals. Mr. Platt used the parking lot for parking and sale of heavy 
construction equipment and vehicles. The City allowed this use to continue for more than 
six months, w1til he threatened to contact the state police. The City never imposed daily 
fines for the violation and never prohibited Mr. PJatt from parking his vehicles and 
equipment on tax lot 2100. The City is confusing nonconforming uses with illegal uses. 
The existing single-family residence on tax lot 2100 is a nonconforming use. The existing 
parking lot on tax lot 2100 is an illegal use. However the City plans to allow Mr. Platt to 
continue parking his vehicles and equipment in the iiiegal parking lot in the front yard of 
the single-family residence on tax lot 2100. The current application is incomplete because 
it does not include the existing, illegal, equipment parking use on tax lot 2100. The 
applicant, or his predecessor in title, sold the ingress and egress rights for tax lot 2100 to 
ODOT. ODOT continues to allow highway access for the residential use, but not for 
commercial access for parking and storage of construction equipment. The applicants and 
the City had constructive and actual notice of the existing illegal parking use. 1bcrefore 
the existing parking use should have been included in the application. The applicants 
should be required to remedy the existing violation and restore the site to its preexisting 
condition before this appl ication is approved. 

e. CWS is reviewing the erosion problem on his property. The "borrow 
pit" along the Highway 99 frontage of tax lot 2 I 00 caused additional storm water to flow 
into the drainageway on his east boundary, causing additional erosion problems. 

f. If the applicants are not required to extend Cedar Brook Way as a 
condition of this approval, it may never occur. That would violate the City's specific and 
general plans, which require the extension of Cedar Brook Way through this site, 
Although tax lot 2100 contains two acres of land, only one acre is developable. The 
remainder is a protected drainageway and vegetated corridor that cannot be developed. 
The proposed parking lot will consume roughly 0.48-acres of tax lot 2100. The existing 
single-family residence consumes the remainder of the developable area on the site. 
Therefore, if this application is approved, this site will be fully developed and Cedar 
Brook Way will never be extended. Failure to extend Cedar Brook Way will result in 

!Tearings Qfficer Nnal Order 
Case No. SP 13-01 (Paci}lc Demal Parking Lot) Page 5 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

64

inverse condemnation of properties west of the site, which have no alternative access for 
development. 

7. Susan Claus noted that Cedar Brook Way must be extended across tax lot 2100 
to allow properties to the west to develop. However there is no "game plan" or map 
illustrating how that street will be extended. The City's TSP does not include a plan for 
funding the extension of this street. The City is relying on developers, including the 
applicant, to extend this street. However the costs of constructing the street extension 
must be roughly proportional to the impacts of development. Approval of this project will 
reduce the amount of laud available for development. Although tax lot 2100 contains 
two-acres of land, only one acre is developable. The proposed parking lot will consume 
roughly half of the developable area of this site, severely reducing the amount of land for 
future development that is needed to fund the extension of Cedar Brook Way. 

a. The City argued 1hat the app1icants cannot be required to extend Cedar 
Brook Way as a condition of this development, but they failed to provide any evidence in 
support of that statement. 

b. CWS required the applicants to plant trees and other vegetation within 
the vegetated corridor on the site. However the future construction of Cedar Brook Way 
will require removal of those plantings. 

c. The existing office use on tax lot 1600 is nonconforming with regard to 
off-street parking requirements. 

8. At the end of the hearing the hearings officer held the record open for one 
week, until October 31, 2013, to allow any person au opportunity to submit additional 
argument and evidence. The hearings officer held the record open for a second week, 
lmtil November 7, 2013, to allow the applicants an opportunity to submit a final 
argument, without any new evidence. 

C. PROCEDURAL ISSUES 

1. The hearings officer finds that Mr. Claus' November 7, 2013 letter was 
untimely and therefore must be excluded from the record. 

a. Pursuant to the. Clauses' requests, and as required by ORS 
197.763(6)(a), the hearings officer held the record open for one week, until October 31, 
2013, to allow any party an opportunity to submit additional argwnent and evidence. 

b. The hearings officer held the record open for a second week, until 
November 7, 2013, to allow the applicants an opportunity to submit a final argument, 
without any new evidence, as required by ORS 197.763(6)(e). 

c. ORS 197.763(6)(c) provides: 

Hearings Officer Final Order 
CG.$e No. SP 13-01 (Pacific Dental Parking /.ot) Page 6 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

65

lfthe hearings authority leaves the record open for 
additional written evidence, arguments or testimony, the 
record shall be left open for at least seven days. Any 
participant may fiJe a written request with the local 
government for an opportunity to respond to new evidence 
submitted during the period the record was left open. If 
such a request is filed, the hearings authority shall reopen 
the record pursuant to subsection (7) of this section. 

d. Mr. Claus submitted a letter on November 7, 2013, after the record 
was closed to the public. Mr. Claus stated that his letter was, "[ s Jubmitted in response to 
comments made by Susan Claus." ORS 197.763(c) only requires that the hearings officer 
reopen the record to allow the parties an opportunity to respond to new evidence. 
Comments alone, without any new evidence, are not a sufficient basis to reopen the 
record. Ms. Claus' letter did not introduce any new evidence that Mr. Claus could respond 
to, and Mr. Claus's Jetter did not identify any new evidence. Therefore the hearings officer 
is not required to reopen the record to accept Mr. Claus' November 7. 2013. That letter 
must be excluded from the record as untimely. 

D. PUBLIC COMMENTS 

The following jssues were raised in public comments submitted prior to, during, and after 
the public hearing in this case. 1 

Public Notice 
Mr. Claus argued that the City's original public notice for this application listed ''Pacific 
Family Dental" as the applicant, not Handel LLC or Knob LLC, who are the listed owners 
of the tax lots that are the subject of this application. Pacific Family Dental is a tenant, 
not an owner of the propetty. Section 16.72.030 of the Sherwood Zoning and 
Development Code (the "SZDC") sets out the requirements for public notices. The Code 
does not require that the notice include the name of the applicants. Therefore failure to 
include the name of the property owners or applicants in the notice is irrelevant. 

Unity of ownership: 
The fact that the two tax lots that make up the site are owned by two different entities is 
irrelevant. Nothing in the Code requires unity of ownership. The applicants are required 
to record ajoint access and maintenance easement between lots 1600 and 2100 for the 
purposes of providing legal access to the accessory parking area as well as maintaining 
the water quality faci lity and trash enclosure. Although the two parcels can be owned by 
separate entities, the easements will ensure that they contlnue to be used together. 

Change of use, act of parceling, or Jot line adjustment: 

I Mr. Claus raised a number of issues by inserting comments and arguments into the Staff Report findings. 
See Exhibit P. In order to ensure that all of the issues are directly addressed, the hearings officer responded 
to those issues in the findings provided for the specific Code criteria where Mr. Claus raised those issues, 
even if they repeated issues discussed in the "Public Comments" section of this Final Order. 

Hearings Officer Final Order 
Case No. SP 13-01 (Pacific Demal l'arking Lot) Page 7 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

66

The Clauses argued that this application "[i]s either a change of use, an act of parceling or 
a lot line adjustment." p. 2 of Exhibit B. However they failed to provide any support for 
this argument. 

No parceling is proposed. The site currently consists of two separate lots. Approval of 
this application will not alter that condition. 

The use will not alter the existing lot lines, so it will not result in a lot line adjustment. 

SZDC 16.22.030.A defines, "Change in Use" as, "A change to a parcel efland, a premise 
or a building which creates a change in vehicular trip generation activities, which changes 
the minimum parking requirements of this Code, or which changes the use classification 
as defined by this Code or the Uniform Building Code." In this case the applicants are 
proposing a "change to a parcel efland ... " A pot1ion of tax lot 2100 will be changed from 
residential to commercial parking lot. However that change will not "create[] a change in 
vehicular trip generation activities ... , change[] the minimum parking requirements of this 
Code ... or ... change[] the use classification as defined by [the SZDC] or the Uniform 
Building Code." Therefore this application does not constitute a change in use. 

Future Lot line adjustment: 
The applicants are not cUJTently seeking a lot line adjustment. If the applicants submits a 
request for a lot line aqjustment in the future, the City will review that request based on 
the laws in effect when the application is filed. The hearings officer has no authority to 
impose a condition of approval prohibiting approval of a lot line adjustment on this site. 

The existing medical office building is nonconforming with respect to parking: 
When the office use was approved, the Code required a minimum 3.9 parking spaces per 
1,000 square feet of gross leasable area, or 48 parking spaces. Seep. 13 of the December 
22, 2006 "Report and Decision of the Hearings Officer, File No: SP 06-0T' attached to 
Exhibit P. The applicants developed the office building with the minimum number of 
parking spaces, 38 on-site spaces and 10 on-street spaces. The current code requires a 
minimum 4.1 parking spaces per 1,000 square feet, or 60 parking spaces and a maximum 
90 spaces. Approval of this application will bring the use into compliance with current 
parking requirements, creating a total of 73 on-site parking spaces. Therefore this 
application is consistent with SZDC 16.48, which requires that alterations of non
conforming uses bring the use into compliance with current Code requirements. 

Allegations that the traffic analysis for the existing dental office tmdercstimated the 
number of vehicle trips the use would generate are irrelevant. The dental office building 
was approved and no changes are proposed to the existing building with this application. 
Therefore the City has no authority to require a new traffic study or traffic counts at this 
time. 

Self imposed hardship 
The applicants are not seeking a variance or adjustment. Therefore the self-imposed 
hardship standard is inapplicable. 

1/earings Officer Final Order 
Case No. SP 13-01 (Pacific Dental Parking Lot) Page8 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

67

Need for additional parking 
The Clauses argued that there is no need for the proposed parking lot expansion. 
Adequate parking is a}Jeady available within the existing parking lot on tax lot 1600 and 
on public streets north of the site. However the applicants are not required to demonstrate 
a need for the proposed development. The proposed development will bring the site into 
compliance with ctment minimum parking requirements and it will not exceed the 
maximum number of parking spaces allowed by the ctment code. 

lllegal grading and gravel parking lot construction: 
There is no dispute that the applicants and/or his tenant, Corey Platt, removed trees and 
other vegetation and graded tax lot 21 00 to create a gravel surfaced parking area without 
required permits and approvals. Tenants of the applicants' dental office building used a 
portion of this area for passenger vehicle parking and Mr. Platt used other areas for 
parking of heavy construction equipment. Access to the gravel parking area was provided 
from the existing residential driveway to Highway 99. Those activities are a violation of 
the Code. However they are not relevant to this application, because the construction and 
use of the gravel surfaced parking lot and use of the existing driveway to Highway 99 is 
not proposed as part of this application. 

The hearings officer's jurisdiction is limited to review of the proposed development. The 
hearings officer has no authority to impose fines, issue stop work orders or take other 
actions to address alleged violations. Enforcement authority is given to the city manager 
or the manager's delegate. SZDC 15.28.030. 

The Code does not prohibit the review and approval of a development application on a 
property with an existing code violation. Based on the plain meaning of the words in the 
law, the past behavior ofthe applicants are not relevant to the applicable standards for site 
plan approval. Tfthe applicants sustain the burden of proof that the application does 
comply with the approval standards, or if it can comply provided certain conditions are 
imposed, the hearings officer must approve the application as a matter of law.2 

The City has been working with the property owner over the course of the seventeen 
months to bring the property into compliance. The proposed development will eliminate 
this violation. The applicants will replace a portion of the gravel parking area with an 
approved asphalt parking lot. All access to the parking lot will come from Handley Street. 
No access proposed between the new parking lot and Highway 99. The City can address 
any remaining violations through its enforcement process. 

2 ORS 197.522 provides as follows: 

A local government shall approve an application for a pennit, authorization or other approval 
necessary for the subdivision or partitioning of, ot construction on, any Land that is consistent with 
the comprehensive plan and applicable land use regulations or shall impose reasonable conditions 
on the application to make the proposed activity consistent with the plan and applicable 
regulations. A local government may deny an application that is inconsistent with the 
comprehensive plan and applicable land use regulations and that cannot be made consistent 
through the imposition of reasonable conditions of approval. 

Hearings Officer Final Order 
Case No. SP 13-01 (Pacific Dental Parking Lot) /'age 9 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

68

As noted in the Staff Report, the site cannot be legally used for any type of commercial 
use, other than the proposed parking lot and existing dental office, without prior 
authorization and proper pem1its from the City of Sherwood. Both, the property owner 
and the renter have been made aware of these requirements. If it is subsequently found 
that a commercial use is operating on that lot, including parking and storage of heavy 
equipment, then the property owner will be subject to code enforcement and face 
violations of up to $500 a day pursuant to section 16.02.040 of the Sherwood Zoning and 
Community Development Code. 

Lack of enforcement: 
The hearings officer understands the Clauses frustration with the City' s enforcement 
process. The illegal grading and parking activities have been occurring for roughly 17 
months. However the hearings officer has no authority to address those concerns. The 
hearings officer has no enforcement authority and no ability to compel the City to take 
any enforcement action. The Clauses may be able to request mandamus or take other legal 
action to force the City to enforce its regulations. But the hearings officer has no authority 
to do so in this proceeding. 

Violation of prior approval: 
Ms. Claus argued that the applicants failed to install signage noting the planned extension 
of Cedar Brook Way as required by the conditions of approval for the existing office 
building. p. 8 of Ms. Claus' October 31, 2013 letter. To the extent the applicants are in 
violation of the conditions of prior approval, it is an enforcement issue. 1t is not relevant 
to the approval criteria for this application. 

llandJey Drive storm drain: 
Mr. Claus noted that the existing storm drain inlet on Handley Drive was set too low, 
which caused significant erosion on his property west ofthe site. Exhibit B. Mr. Claus 
argued that the proposed development will exacerbate this condition. Staff appear to 
agree that the existing storm drain inlet was improperly installed. P. 3 of the Staff Report. 
However this is an existing condition. The proposed development will not exacerbate the 
problem. The applicants will collect and treat stormwater from this site and pipe it to an 
outfall north of the site. The proposed development will not direct any stormwater onto 
the Clauses property or into the existing, improperly installed, storm drain inlet noted by 
Mr. Claus. 

Based on Mr. Claus' testimony, runoff from the illegal gravel parking lot and other 
illegally graded areas of the site (the ''borrow pit") may be flowing onto the Clauses 
property, contributing to the erosion problem. However that existing, illegal, impact is not 
relevant to this application. The proposed parking lot may alleviate the runoff problems to 
some extent, by replacing the existing gravel area with a paved parking lot and properly 
engineered storm water facilities that will divert stormwater runoff away from the Clauses 
property. Existing gravel areas located outside of the proposed development may continue 
to drain onto the Clauses property. However those impacts are not relevant to the 
approval criteria for this application. The City can only address impacts from the existing 
illegal grading and construction through its enforcement process. 

Hearings Officer Final Order 
Case No. SP 13-0 I (Pacific Dental Parking J.ot) Page 10 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

69

Approval of this development will preclude future extension of Cedar Brook Way: 
SW Cedar Brook Way, a designated collector street, is current1y stubbed to the north 
boundary of tax lot 2100, near the western boundary. This street will eventually extend 
across tax lot 2100 and properties to the west, providing a connection to Highway 99. The 
Clauses expressed concerns that approval of the proposed parking lot expansion on tax lot 
21 00 will delay or preclude this street extension. The Clauses noted that the City can only 
require a developer to pay for the extension of this street if the cost of the street extension 
is roughly proportional to the impact of a proposed development. The proposed parking 
lot will consume much ofthe developable area oftax lot 2100. Less developable area 
means less development to fund this street extension. Failure to extend this street will 
result in inverse condemnation ofproperties west of the site, which have no alternative 
access for development 

The hearings officer understands the Clauses' concerns. However they are not relevant to 
the approval criteria for this application. The City cannot constitutionally require the 
applicants to extend SW Cedar Brook Way as a condition of this approval, because there 
is no "essential nexus" between tbe impacts of the proposed development and the need 
for this street extension. Nollan v. Calffornia Coastal Comm 'n, 483 U.S. 825, 107 S.Ct. 
3141 (1987). While there may be a public need for the extension ofSW Cedar Brook 
Way, the development proposed in this case will not create or exacerbate that need. The 
proposed parking lot expansion will not generate additional traffic that would utilize this 
street. Parking lots do not generate traffic separate from the uses they serve. In this case, 
the parking lot will serve the existing dental office building on tax lot 1600. No changes 
are proposed to that existing building. Therefore the proposed development will not 
generate any additional traffic, and there is no essential nexus between the impacts of the 
proposed development and a condition Jequiring the extension ofSW Cedar Brook Way. 
In addition, in order to impose such a condition of approval the City must bear the burden 
of proof that the cost of the extension is roughly proportional to the impact of the 
development. Dolan v. City ofTigard, 114 S.Ct. 2309, 129 L.Ed.2d 304 (1994) and 
Koontz V St. Johns River Water Management District, U.S. Supreme CoUii Slip 
Opinion, No. 11-1447, (June 25, 2013). The City fai led to provide any evidence to that 
effect. The City could not make such a showing because the proposed parking lot will not 
generate any additional traffic impacts that could justify the cost of extending SW Cedar 
Brook Way. 

The Clauses may be conect that expansion of the parking lot onto tax lot 2100 will 
reduce the City's ability to require future developers to extend SW Cedar Brook Way. 
The proposed parking lot will reduce the amount of developable area on tax lot 2100, 
which will reduce the amount of development available to fund the extension of SW 
Cedar Brook Way. However the Code does not prohibit such impacts. 

Highway 99 Frontage Improvements 
The City and ODOT cannot constitutionally require the applicants to construct additional 
transportation improvements along the site's Highway 99 frontage as a condition of this 
approval for the same reasons the City cannot require the extension of SW Cedar Brook 
Way. There is a need for additional improvements along this section of Highway 99. 
However the proposed development will not generate any increase in traffic that would 

Hearings. Officer Fi1taf Order 
Case No. SP 13-01 (l'acific Dental Parking Lot) Page I I 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

70

create or exacerbate the need for those improvements. Therefore there is no essential 
nexus between the development and the needed improvements. 

Vegetated Corridor Plantings 
The Clauses argued that tree planting required by CWS within the vegetated corridor on 
the site will limit or preclude the extension ofSW Cedar Brook Way. City plans call for 
the extension of SW Cedar Brook Way across the vegetated corridor and drainage located 
on the site. However the plans do not designate a specific alignment for this road 
extension. Therefore it is impossible to avoid planting trees within the future right of way. 
However those plantings will not preclude the future extension of this street. Trees can be 
removed if necessary. CWS may require additional plantings to compensate for any trees 
that are removed, as well as to mitigate for other impacts caused by construction of this 
street across the vegetated corridor and drainage. Approval ofthis application wi11 not 
preclude such mitigation. 

Alteration of the nonconforming use: 
The existing single-family residence on tax lot 2100 is a nonconforming use. Single
family residences are not pem1itted in the GC zone except for a security person or for a 
different form of residence normally associated with a conditional use. The applicants 
proposed to remove the existing detached garage and shed associated with the single
family residence. Nothing in the Code prohibits such an alteration. The Code only 
prohibits the enlargement, extension or relocation of nonconforming uses. 16.48.040.A. 
Removal of the garage will eliminate covered parking for the single-family dwelling on 
the site. However the Code does not require covered parking for the single-family 
dwellings. 

Highway 99 access: 
The existing single-family residence on tax lot 2100 will continue to use the existing 
driveway to Highway 99. However no access is proposed to Highway 99 fi·om the 
proposed parking lot or the existing dental office. 

Site plan 
Joe and Mara Broadhurst argued that this site plan application must include the entire 
site. Exhibit M. The hearings officer finds that the proposed plans do include the entire 
site. See the applicants' plan sheets. The applicants proposed to develop a portion of the 
site with the expanded parking lot. The applicants proposed to retain the existing, 
nonconforming, single-family residential use on the remainder of the site. Nothing in the 
Code requires that the applicants develop the entire site at once. 

F. FINDINGS 

Chapter 16.22- Commercial Land Use Districts 

16.22.020- Uses 

The table (16.22.020 in the Development Code) identifies the land uses that are 
permitted outright (P), permitted conditionally (C), and not permitted (N) in the 

Hearings Officer Final Order 
Ca.ve No. SP 13-0 I (Pacific Dental Pa~·king Lot) Page 12 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

71

Commercia) Districts. The specific land use categories are described and defined in 
Chapter 16.88 Usc Classifications and Interpretations. Tn this instance, the 
properties are zoned General Commercial (GC) 

FINDING: The current use of tax lot 1600 as a professional dental office was identified 
in the SP 06-07 approval as a "medical and dental office" use, which is a permitted use 
within the GC zoning district. The applicants are proposing to pave the nm1heast corner 
of tax Jot 2100 to provide additional motor vehicle parking for the existing dental office 
building in accordance with City of Sherwood standards. The proposed parking lot 
extension is an accessory use to the existing office and therefore is an outright pennitted 
use subject to site plan approvaL 

Mr. Claus argued that parking is not a permitted use in the GC zone, except public or 
commercial parking (non-accessory), which is permitted as a "personal service" use. p. 11 
of Exhibit P. However the applicants are not proposing to provide a stand-alone 
commercial parking lot as a separate and independent use. The applicants arc proposing 
to provide additional parking as an accessory use to serve the existing dental office use on 
tax lot 1600. Such professional offices, including associated parking, are a permitted use 
in the GC zone. 

The applicants cannot transfer this parking area to another use in the future. The existing 
office building is nonconforming with respect to the minimum parking requirements of 
the current code.3 The proposed parking lot expansion will bring the site into compliance 
with the minimum parking requirements of the current code. SZDC l6.22.030.A prohibits 
any modification or conveyance of any portion of a lot when such modification or 
conveyance would reduce the required parking below the minimum required by the Code. 
Therefore the applicant cannot transfer this parking 1ot to another use~ because doing so 
would cause the dental office to fall out of compliance with the minimum parking 
requirements of the Code. 

The Clauses argued that the parking lot is an accessory use that must be enclosed, citing 
the table of uses included in SZDC 16.22.020. p. 11 of Exhibit P and p. 7 of Ms. Claus' 
October 31, 2013 letter, attached to Exhibit P. The table of uses included in SZDC 
16.22.020 lists the following as a conditional use in the GC zone, "Any incidental 
business, service, processing, storage or display, not otherwise permitted~ that is essential 
to and customarily associated with a use permitted outright, provided said incidental use 
is conducted entirely within an enclosed building." The hearings officer fmds that this 
provision is inapplicable to this application. The applicants are proposi11g to expand an 
existing parking lot to serve an existing use. The applicants are not proposing a separate, 
independent, use that would be subject to this requirement. Motor vehicle parking is 
allowed, and required, as an accessory use for most, if not all, uses permitted in the GC 
zone. 

3 When the office use was approved, the Code required a minimum 3.9 parking spaces per 1,000 square feet 
of gross leasable area, or 48 parking spaces. Seep. 13 of the December 22, 2006 ' 'Report and Decision of 
the Hearings Officer, File No: SP 06-07" attached to Exhibit P. The current code requires a minimum 4.1 
parking spac-es per 1,000 square feet, or 60 parking spaces. 

Hearings Officer Fin(ll Order 
Case No. SP 13-01 (l'aciflc Dental Parking l.ot) Page 13 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

72

Mr. Claus argued that the illegally constructed, gravel surfaced, parking area on tax lot 
2100 is not a parking lot; it is an illegal excavation. p. 17 of Exhibit P. That is correct. 
The existing gravel area was constructed without required permits and approvals. With 
this application the applicants will replace the gravel surfaced parking area with a 
properly constructed and approved asphalt surface parking area. Approval of this 
application will correct the existing violation in the redeveloped portion of tax lot 2100. 

Mr. Claus argued that the applicants intend to use the parking lot as a commercial parking 
lot. p. 17 of Exhibit P. That is not what the applicants proposed. The parking lot 
expansion is intended solely to provide additional parking for the existing dental office 
building on tax lot 1600. As discussed above, the applicants cannot transfer this parking 
area to another use in the future without violating SZDC 16.22.030.A. In themy, the 
applicants could rent or lease parking spaces that exceed the minimum requirements of 
the Code as a commercial parking. However this use was not reviewed as a commercial 
parking lot. A condition of approval is warranted prohibiting commercial use of the 
parking lot on this site without further City review. 

This standard is satisfied. 

16.22.030- Dimensional Standards 

No lot area, setback, yard, landscaped area, open space, off-street parking or 
loading area, or other site dimension or requirement, existing on, or after, the 
effective date of this Code shall be reduced below the minimum required by this 
Code. Nor shall the conveyance of any portion of a lot for other tban a public use or 
right-of-way, leave a lot or structtlre on the remainder of said lot with less than 
minimum Code dimensions, area, setbacks or other requirements, except as 
permitted by Chapter 16.84. (Variance and Adjustments). 

A. Lot Dimensions 
Except as otherwise provided, required minimum lot areas and dimensions 
shall be: 

1. Lot area: 10,000 square feet 

2. Lot width at front property line: 70 feet 

3. Lot width at building line: 70 feet 

FINDING: The existing lot area, lot width, and width at the building line exceed the 
minimum requirements prescribed above. The applicants are not proposing to modify the 
dimensions ofthe existing lots. Since this request does not include a land division or 
reconfiguration of the lots involved, these standards are not applicable to the proposed 
development. 

Hearings Officer Pinal Order 
Case No. SP 13-01 (Pacijlc Dental Parking Lot} Page 14 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

73

Mr. Claus argued that the applicants should be prohibited from seeking a lot line 
adjustment. p. 18 of Exhibit P. However he failed to cite to any provision of the Code or 
case law that would justify such a condition. The applicants are not currently seeking a lot 
line adjustment. If the applicants submit a request for a lot line adjustment in the future, 
the City will review that request based on the laws in effect when the application is filed. 

B. Setbacks 
E b 'd d . d xccpt as ot erwtse prova e , reqmrc b k b II b mtmmum set ac s s a e: 

1. Front None, except when abutting a residential zone, then there shaU 
yard: be the same as the abutting residential zone. 

2. Side None, except when abutting a residential zone, then there shall 
yard: be a minimum of twenty (20) feet. 

3. Rear None, except when abutting a residential zone, then there sbaU 
yard: be a minimum of twenty (20) feet. 

4. Height: Fifty (50) fe.et. 

FINDING: Setback requirements only apply to buildings and structures.4 No new 
buildings or structures are being proposed as part of this project. 5 Therefore this standard 
is inapplicable. 

16.22.060 -Community Design 

For standards relating to off-street parking and loading, energy conservation, 
historic resources, environmental resources, landscaping, access and egress, signs, 
parks and open space, on-site storage, and site design, see Divisions V, VID and IX. 

ANALYSIS: The applicable standards that are listed in the Community Design section 
are addressed elsewhere in this Final Order. As proposed, the development will meet 
these standards: off- street parking, energy conservation, environmental resources, 
landscaping, access and egress, signs, parks and open space, on-site storage, and site 
design. There are no historic resources on site therefore that standard is not applicable. 

Chapter 16.58- Clear Vision and Fence Standards 

16.58.010- Clear Vision Areas 

4 SZMC 16.10.020 defines, "Setback" as "The minimum horizontal distance between a public street right
of-way line, or side and rear property lines, to the front, side and rear lines of a building or structure located 
on a lot." 
5 SZMC 16.10.020 provides the following relevant definitions: 

Building: Any structure used, intended for, supporting or sheltering any use or occupancy. Each portion 
of a structure separated by a division wall without any openings shall be deemed a separate building." 
Structure: A structure must be more than one foot from grade to be considered a structure. 

Hearings Officer Final Order 
Case No. SP 13-01 {Ptlcijic Dental Parking Lot) Page 15 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

74

A. A clear vision area shall be maintained on the corners of all property at the 
intersection of two (2) streets, intersection of a street with a railroad, or 
intersection of a street with an alley or private driveway. 

B. A clear vision area shall consist of a triangular area, two (2) sides of which are 
lot lines measured from the corner intersection of the street lot lines for a 
distance specified in this regulation; or, where the lot lines have rounded 
corners, the lot lines extended in a straight line to a point of intersection, and so 
measured, and the third side of which is a line across the corner of the lot 
joining the non-in1ersecting ends of the other two (2) sides. 

C. A clear vision area shall contain no planting, sight obscuring fence, wall, 
structure, or temporary or permanent obstruction exceeding two and one-half 
(2 112) feet in height, measured from the top of the curb, or where no curb 
exists, from the established street center line grade, except that trees exceeding 
this height may be located in this area, provided all branches and foliage are 
removed to the height of seven (7) feet above the ground on the sidewalk side 
and ten (10) feet on the street side. 

The following requirements shaH govern clear vision areas: 

1. In all zones, the minimum distance shaJI be twenty (20) feet. 

2. ln aU zones, the minimum distance from corner curb to any driveway shaD 
be twenty-five (25) feet. 

3. Where no setbacks are required, buildings may be constructed within the 
clear vision area. 

FINDING: The proposed development will not create any new intersections listed in 
SZMC 16.58.01 O.A. The proposed parking lot will connect to the existing parking lot on 
tax lot 1600. All ingress and egress will occur via the existing intersection on SW 
Handley Street. Therefore this criterion is not applicable to the proposed development. 

The Clauses argued that the proposed landscaping wiJI conflict with required clear vision 
areas, p. 19 of Exl1ibit P. However they failed to provide any evidence to that effect. No 
new intersections are proposed with this application, The proposed parking lot expansion 
will utilize the existing driveway intersections on SW Handley Street. No changes are 
proposed to those intersections. The proposed parking lot and associated landscaping will 
be located 100 feet or more any existing intersections. 

16.90.030 - Site Plan Modifications and Revocation 

D. Required Findings 

No site plan approval shall be granted unless each of the following is found: 

Hearings Officer Final Order 
Case No. SP /3-01 (Pacific Dental Parking Lot) Page 16 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

75

1. The proposed development meets applicable zoning district standards and 
design standards in Division ll, and all provisions of Divisions V, VI and 
VIII. 

FINDING: This standard can be met as discussed and conditioned in tlus final Order. 

2. The proposed development can be adequately served by services conforming 
to the Community Development Plan, including but not limited to water, 
sanitary facilities, storm water, solid waste, parks and open space, public 
safety, electric power, and communications. 

FINDING: existing water, sanitary, stonn water, solid waste, public safety, electrical 
power, and conununications providers already serve the office building. The applicants 
are not proposing any new utility improvements for the proposed parking lot extension. If 
it is subsequently determined that water service is necessary for the purposes of providing 
irrigation, improvements related to water service will be required. The specifics related to 
this determination are discussed in greater detail later in this Final Order. As discussed 
and conditioned later in this Final Order, it is feasible for the applicants to satisfy this 
standard. 

The Clauses argued that the applicants should be required to extend public sewer and 
water to the existing sing1e-family residence on tax lot 2100. However the existing single
family residence on tax lot 2100 is an existing nonconforming use. No modifications are 
proposed that would alter uti lity needs of the residence. Therefore the existing residence 
is not relevant to this approval criterion. 

3. Covenants, agreements, and other specific documents are adequate, in the 
City's determination, to assure an acceptable method of ownership, 
management, and maintenance of structures, landscaping, and other on-site 
features. 

FINDING: The site is owned by Handle Properties, LLC & Knob Properties LLC. The 
northern portion of the site, tax lot 1600, is already developed with a dental office 
building, landscaping, parking and other improvements. The maintenance of structures_, 
landscaping, and other on-site features have been on-going, and do not appear to be 
neglected. Condition of approval 5 requires ongoing maintenance in the future. This 
standard is satisfied. 

4. The proposed development preserves significant natural features to the 
maximum extent feasible, including but not limited to natural drainage ways, 
wetlands, trees, vegetation (including but not limited to environmentaUy 
sensitive lands), scenic views, and topographical features, and conforms to 
the applicable provisions of Division VIll of this Code and Chapter 5 of the 
Community Development Code. 

FINDING: According to the Natural Resource Assessment written by SWCA 
Consultants (Exhibit J) and corroborated by Clean Water Services, there are on-site 

Hearings OjJ'icer Final Order 
Case No. SP 13-01 (Pacific Dental Parking Lot) Page 17 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

76

wetlands on the western portion of tax lot 2100, which require a 50-foot-wide vegetated 
corridor. The proposed development will have no impact on the vegetated corridor. Clean 
Water Services has identified the vegetated corridor as being degraded and is requiring 
restoration efforts by the applicants. Included in the Natural Resource Assessment is a 
plan for enhancing the vegetated corridor to the specifications required by Clean Water 
Services. The plan includes a list of native trees, shrubs and groundcovers that would be 
planted upon approval. Specifically~ the plan states that prior to ground disturbance, an 
erosion control permit is required through the City. Additionally, a maintenance plan 
descdbing a two-year maintenance period is included with the vegetated corridor planting 
plan. The site does not contain any additional significant natural features. 

CONDITION: Prior to fmal site plan approva~ the applicants shall submit evidence
demonstrating compliance with the required conditions provided by Clean Water Services 
File Number 13-001610, Exhibit K. This includes obtaining City of Sherwood Building 
Department approval for any grading or erosion control plans. 

S. For a proposed .site plan in the Neighborhood Commercial {NC), Office 
Commercial {OC), Office Retail (OR), Retail Commercial (RC), General 
Commercial (GC), Light Industrial (LI), and General Industrial (Gl) zones, 
except in the Old Town Overlay Zone, the proposed use shall satisfy the 
requirements of Section 16.108.080 Highway 99W Capacity Allocation 
Program, unless excluded herein. 

FINDING: The proposed parking lot extension will not increase vehicular traffic to the 
site. The proposed patking lot is intended to serve the existing dental office building on 
the site. No changes are proposed for the existing dental office building that would cause 
an increase in vehicular traffic to the site. Construction of a parking lot alone will not 
generate additional vehicle traffic. Therefore the proposed use is expressly excluded from 
the provisions of the Highway 99W Capacity Allocation Program6 and this standard is not 
applicable to the proposed development. 

Mr. Claus argued that the applicants are trying to "offset his mistake" of providing 
inadequate parking for the existing dental office. p. 15 of Exhibit P. The hearings officer 
finds that the applicants' subjective purposes for building this parking lot are irr-elevant. 
There is no dispute that the dental office does not comply with the minimum parking 
requirements ofthe cunent Code. The existing dental office complied with the minimum 
parking requirements of the Code in effect when the use was originally approved. Those 
requirements have since changed. The proposed parking lot expansion wm bring the use 
into compliance with the minimum and maximum parking requirements of the current 
Code. 

6 Provides, ih relevant part: 

The following types of projects and activities are specifically excluded from the provisions of this 
program: 

3. Changes in use t bat do not increase the number of trips generated by the current use. 

Hearings Officer Final Order 
Case No. SP 13-01 (Pacific DentaL Parking Lui) Page 18 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

77

Mr. Claus argued that the applicants are seeking this approval so they can then apply for a 
lot line adjustment. p. 15 of Exhibit P. Assuming Mr. Claus' allegations are correct, they 
are irrelevant. If the applicants or their successors in interest submit an application for a 
lot line adjustment in the future, the City will review that application subject to the 
criteria in effect when the application is filed. 

6. For developments that are likely to generate more than 400 average daily 
trips (ADTs), or at the discretion of the City Engineer, the applicants shall 
provide adequate information, such as a traffic impact analysis or traffic 
counts, to demonstrate the level of impact to the surrounding street system. 
The developer shall be required to mitigate for impacts attributable to the 
project. The determination of impact or effect and the scope of the impact 
study shall be coordinated with the provider of the affected transportation 
facility. 

FINDING: The proposed parking lot extension will not increase vehicular traffic to the 
site. No changes are proposed for the existing office b uilding that would cause an 
increase in vehicular traffic to the site. Therefore, this standard is not applicable to the 
proposed development. 

Mr. Claus appears to be raising an issue about whether the proposed parking lot is 
"needed." p. 16 of Exhibit P. However, whether additional parking is "needed" to serve 
the existing dental office building is irrelevant. The only relevant issue is whether or not 
the application complies with the applicable approval criteria. 

7. The proposed office, retail, multi-family, institutional or mixed-use 
development is oYiented to the pedestrian and bicycle, and to e;\.;sting and 
planned transit facilities. Urban design standards shall include the following: 

a. Primary, front entrances shall be located and oriented to the street, and 
have significant articulation and treatment, via facades, porticos, arcades, 
porches, portal, forecourt, or stoop to identify the entrance for 
pedesfrians. Additional entrance/exit points for buildings, such as a 
postern, are allowed from secondary streets or parking areas. 

b. Buildings shall be located adjacent to and flush to the street, subject to 
landscape corridor and setback standards of t.he underlying zone. 

c. The architecture of buildings shall be oriented to the pedestrian and 
designed for the Jong term and be adaptable to other uses. Aluminum, 
vinyl, and T -111 siding shall be prohibited. Street facing elevations shall 
have windows, transparent fenestration, and divisions to break up the 
mass of any window. Roll up and sliding doors are acceptable. Awnings 
that provide a minimum 3 feet of shelter from rain shall be installed 
unless other architectural elements are provided for similar protection, 
such as an arcade. 

Hearings Officer Final Order 
Case No. SP /3-01 (Pac(fic Dental Parking Lot) Page 19 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

78

FINDING: This approval criterion only applies to buildings. No new buildings are 
proposed with this application. The parking lot will serve the existing dental office on tax 
lot 1600. No changes are proposed for the existing building, whlch is already oriented to 
Handley Street. The proposed parking lot extension would be located behind or to the 
side of the existing building depending on the frontage, but the parking is not proposed 
between the building and existing right-of-way. Therefore, thls standard is not applicable 
to the proposed development. 

Mr. Claus argues that any development on tax lot 2100 must connect to SW Cedar Brook 
Way. p. 16 of Exhibit P. However the plain language of this approval criterion does not 
support such a requirement. This criterion only applies to buildings, and no new buildings 
are proposed. 

16.92- Landscaping 

16.92.010 - Landscape Plan 

All proposed developments for which a site plan is required pursuant to Section 
16.90.020 shall submit a landscaping plan which meets the standards of this chapter. 
All areas not occupied by structures, paved roadways, walkways, or patios shall be 
landscaped or maintained according to an approved site plan. 

FINDING: The proposed landscape plan meets the standards of this chapter based on the 
following fmdings. This standard is satisfied. 

16.92.020- Landscaping Materials 

A. Type of Landscaping 
Required landscaped areas shall include an appropriate combination of native 
evergreen or deciduous trees and shrubs, evergreen ground cover, and 
perennial plantings. Trees to be planted in or adjacent to public rights-of-way 
shall meet the requirements of this Chapter. Plants may be selected from the 
City's "Suggested PJant Lists for Required Landscaping Manual" or suitable 
for the Pacific Northwest climate and verified by a landscape architect or 
certified landscape professional. 

ANALYSIS: The proposed landscaping includes the addition of perimeter landscaping 
and six landscape islands, and the applicants are proposing to maintain all existing on-site 
landscaping. The proposed plants include a combination of evergreen and deciduous 
species including trees, shrubs and groundcover. However~ it is not clear that the 
proposed plants are "native." This standard could be easily met if the landscape architect 
submits a letter certifYing that the plants are included on the City•s ttSuggested Plant Lists 
for Required Landscaping Manualn or are native plants suitable for the Pacific Northwest 
climate. 

FINDING: The hearings officer cannot confirm that the proposed plants comply with the 
selection requirements of this section. However the hearings officer finds that this 

!Iea1'ings Officer Final Order 
Case No, SP 13-01 (Pacific Dental Parking Lot) Page 20 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

79

standard can be met if the applicants submit a letter certifYing that the plants are native 
and/or most appropriate for the site or if they modifY the plant list to provide the required 
native plants. 

CONDITION: Prior-to final site plan approval, the applicants shall submit a letter from 
the landscape architect certifying that the plants are native and/or are the most appropriate 
for the site or if they modify the plant list to provide the required native plants. 

B. Plant Materials Selection and Preparation 
1. Required landscaping materials shall be established and maintained in a 

healthy cohdition and of a size sufficient to meet the intent of the approved 
landscaping plan. Specifications shaiJ be submitted showing that adequate 
preparation of the topsoil and subsoil will be undertaken. 

2. Landscape materials should be selected and sited to produce a hardy and 
drought-resistant landscape area. Selection of the plants should include 
consideration of soil type, and depth, the amount of maintenance required, 
spacing, exposure to sun and wind, the slope and contours of the site, and 
compatibility with existing native vegetation preserved on the site. 

FINDING; The proposed landscaping plan states how the new landscape materials will 
be established and maintained in a healthy condition and sufficient size. The landscaping 
plans do not indicate how the topsoil or subsoil preparation will be undertaken. This 
standard is not met, but can be met as conditioned below. 

Mr. Claus' argued that the applicants' contractors and engineers should be required to 
explain the prior grading and construction impacts on this site. p. 21 of Exhibit P. 
However the applicants' past activities on thls site are not relevant to this approval 
criterion. It could be argued that grading and gravel filling on this site altered the soil 
conditions in a way that will prevent the establishment and survival of required 
landscaping. However the hearings officer finds that it is feasible to prepare the topsoil 
and subsoil in the planting areas to ensure the establishment and survival of required 
landscaping. If necessary, the applicant can add soil amendments or replace the existing 
soil within landscaped areas to provide adequate growing conditions. 

CONDITION: Prior to final site plan approval, the applicants shall submit additional 
information on how the topsoil or subsoil preparation will be undertaken to ensure that 
the new landscape plants will receive the appropriate nutrients and soil conditions to 
survive. 

C. Existing Vegetation - All developments subject to site plan review as per Section 
16.90.020 and required to submit landscaping plans as per Section 16.92.020 
shall preserve existing trees, woodlands and vegetation on the site to the 
maximum extent possible, as determined by tbe Commission, in addition to 
complying with the provisions of Section 16.142.060. 

Hearings Officer Final Order 
Case No. SP 1 3·0 I (Pacific Dental Parki12g Lot) Page l ) 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

80

FINDING: The applicants have noted that they are proposing to maintain all existing 
landscaping. The landscape plan preserves vegetation to the maximum extent possible. 
Therefore, this standard is satisfied. 

Mr. Claus notes that the applicants previously removed much of the existing vegetation; 
including trees, on this site to accommodate construction of the gravel parking area. p. 21 
of Exhibit P. This appears to be true, based on the photographs submitted by the Clauses. 
See pp. 2 & 3 of Exhibit P. That clearing and grading activity may constitute a code 
violation. However those past actions are not relevant to the application before the 
hearings officer. No additional vegetation removal is proposed with this application. The 
City can only address prior violations through its enforcement processes. Those prior 
clearing activities will not preclude compliance with this approval criterion. 

D. Non-Vegetative Features- Landscaped areas as required by this Chapter may 
include architectural features interspersed with planted areas, such as 
sculptures, benches, masonry or stone walls, fences, rock groupings, bark dust, 
semi-pervious decorative paving, and graveled areas. Impervious paving shall 
not be counted as landscaping. Artificial plants are prohibited in any required 
landscaped area. 

FlNDIN'G: The proposed plans show a mixture of existing trees, shrubs and low growing 
ground cover. No hardscapes are proposed to be counted towards the landscape 
requirement for this developmeilt. Therefore this standard is satisfied. 

Mr. Claus asserts that, "This is a clear acknowledgement that [this is] treated as a separate 
lot and development from the 17680 Handley lot." p. 21 of Exhibit P. However Mr. Claus 
failed to show any coiTelation between his argument and this approval criterion or explain 
how this finding is "acknowledgement" that the applicant and/or staff are treating tax: lots 
1600 and 2100 as separate developments. 

Landscaping, including any hardscaping or architectural features, on tax lot 1600 was 
reviewed when the dental office was originally approved. No changes are proposed to 
those existing landscaped areas, except along the southem edge of the existing parking lot 
on tax lot 1600. There is no hardscaping, architectural features or other features listed in 
this criterion within the existing landscaped areas that will be altered by this 
development. 

16.92.030 .. Site Area Landscaping and Perimeter Screening Standards 

A. Perimeter Screening and Buffering 
1. Perimeter Screening Separating Residential Zones - A minimum six-foot 

high sight-obscuring wooden fence, decorative masonry wall, or evergreen 
screen, shall be required along property lines separating single and two
family uses from multi- family uses, and along property lines separating 
residential zones from commercial, institutionaVpublic or industrial zones 
subject to the provisions of Chapter16.48.020 (Fences, Walls and Hedges). 

Hearings Officer Final Order 
Case No. SP 13-0l (Pacific Dental Parking T.ot) Page 22 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

81

a. For new uses adjacent to inventoried environmentally sensitive areas, 
screening requirements shall be limited to vegetation on]y to preserve 
wildlife mobility. In addition, the Review Authority may require plants 
and other landscaping features in locations and sizes necessary to protect 
the privacy of residences and buffer any adverse effects of adjoining uses. 

FINDING: The site is zoned commercial and it abuts residential zoned properties at the 
northwest comer of tax lot 2100, west of Cedar Brook Way. Screening is required to 
separate this commercially zoned property from the abutting residential zoned property. 
However the northwest comer of the site is a protected drainageway and vegetative 
buffer. 

SZDC 16.92.030.B(7) allows for reduction or modification ofthe landscape standards 
when necessary to protect environmen tally sensitive areas. Therefore the applicant should 
not be required to p.rovide a fence or hedge in this location. The applicants are requited to 
plant additional vegetation to enhance the vegetative buffer. In addition, the proposed 
development on this site is located more than 100 feet from these residential zoned 
properties, The hearings officer finds that this physical separation, combined with the 
required mitigation plantings within the vegetative buffer, will provide adequate 
screening and buffering between the development on this site and adjacent residential 
zoned properties. 

There is an existing single-family residence in the southwest comer ofthe site. The 
applicants proposed to provide a hedge comprised of trees, evergreen shntbs, and 
groundcover between the proposed parking lot and the existing residence on tax lot 2100. 
The proposed evergreen shrub that would form a substantial portion of the hedge is 
identified as the Pacific Wax Myrtle, which has the potential to grow up to 30 feet in 
height without pruning, which would exceed the six (6) foot height requirement and will 
protect the privacy of persons residing in the residence on the site. This standard is 
satisfied. 

Mr. Claus argued that the applicants should be fined for the prior illegal clearing and 
grading perfonned on the site. p. 22 of Exhibit P. That may be appropriate. However, as 
discussed above, the hearings officer has no authority to impose fines or take other 
enforcement action. The applicants' past actions are not relevant to the approval criteria 
for this development application. 

2. Perimeter Landscape Buffer 
a. A minimum ten (10) foot wide landscaped strip comprised of trees, shrubs 
and ground cover shall be provided between off-street parking, loading, or 
vehicular use areas on separate, abutting, or adjacent properties. 

b. The access drives to a rear lots in the residential zone (i.e. flag lot) shall be 
separated from abutting property(ies) by a minimlllll of forty-two-inch sight
obscuring fence or a forty-two-inch to an eight (8) feet high landscape hedge 
within a four-foot wide landscape buffer. Alternatively, where existing 

Hearings Ojjicer Final Order 
Case No. SP 13-01 (Pacific Dental Pwking Lot) Page23 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

82

mature trees and vegetation are suitable, Review Authority may waive the 
fence/buffer in order to preserve the mature vegetation. 

FINDING: The landscape plan identifies a ten (10) foot wide hedge comprised of trees, 
evergreen shrubs, and groundcovers between the proposed parking lot and the existing 
dwelling on tax lot 2100. The proposed evergreen shrub that would form a substantial 
portion of the hedge is identified on the landscape plan as the Pacific Wax Myrtle, which 
has the potential to grow up to 30 feet in height without pruning, which would exceed the 
eight (8) foot height requirement. This standard is satisfied. 

B. Parking Area Landscaping 

Purpose The standard is a landscape treatment that uses a combination of trees, 
shrubs, and ground cover to provide shade, storm water management, aesthetic 
benefits, and screening to soften the impacts of large expanses of pavement and 
vehicle movement. It is applied to landscaped areas within and around the 
parking lot and loading areas. 

2. Definitions 

a. Parking Area Landscaping: Any landscaped area on the site that is not 
required as perimeter landscaping§ 16.92.030 (Site Landscaping and 
Screening). 

b. Canopy Factor 

(1) Landscape trees are assigned a canopy factor to determine the specific 
number of required trees to be planted. Tbe canopy factor is calculated based 
on the following formula: 

Canopy Factor= Mature Height (in feet) x Canopy Spread (in feet) x Growth 
Rate Factor x .01 

(2) Growth Rate Factor: The growth rate factor is three (3) for fast-gTowing 
trees, two (2) for medium growing trees, and one (1) for slow growing trees. The 
growth rate of a tree is identified in the "Suggested Plant Lists for Required 
Landscaping Manual." 

3. Required Landscaping 

There shall be at least forty-five (45) square feet parking area landscaping for 
each parking space located on the site. The amount of required plant materials 
are based on the number of spaces as identified below. 

FINDING: According to the applicants' landscape plan and statement, the parking 
lot expansion site area would remove two parking stalls and add 37 new parking 
stalls. This would require a minimum of 1,665 square feet (45 square feet x 37 =: 

Hearings Officer Final Order 
Case No. SP /3-01 (Pacific Denial Parking Lot) ?age 24 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

83

1,665 square feet) of parking area landscaping. The applicants are proposing 2,025 
square feet of landscaping, which exceeds the requirement. This standard is satislled. 

4. Amount and Type of Required Parking Area Landscaping 

a. Number of Trees required based on Canopy Factor 

Small trees have a canopy factor of less than forty (40), medium trees have a 
canopy factor from forty ( 40) to ninety (90), and large trees have a canopy 
factor greater than ninety (90); 

(1) Any combination of the following is required: 

(i) One (1) large tree is required per four (4) parking spaces; 

(ii) One (1) medium tree is required per three (3) parking spaces; or 

(iii) One (1) small tree is required per two (2) parking spaces. 

(iv) At least five (5) percent of the required trees must be evergreen. 

(2) Street trees may be included in the calculation for the number of required 
trees in the parking area. 

The applicants propose the fo llowing parking lot landscape trees: 
Type of Number Canopy Category 
Tree ofTrees Factor ofTree 

Incense 
Cedar 

Imperial 
Honey 
Locust 

Shore 
Pine 

4 

10 

2 

90 Mediutn 

32 Small 

12 Small 

Parking 
space# 

12 (4 

x3) 

20 (10 
X 2) 

4(2 X 

2) 

Total Combination of Trees = 36 parking spaces 

The applicants provided a combination of small and medium trees to account for 36 
parking spaces. The applicants have proposed 37 parking spaces with their 
application and thus the landscape plan will need to be revised to include one (1) 
additional tree to address this deficiency in the number of required landscape trees 
within the parking lot. 

1/earings Officer Final Order 
Case No. SP 13-01 (Pac(fic Dental Parking Lot) Page 25 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

84

FINDING: Based on the above discussion, the applicants have not met this standard 
but can do so with the following condition. 

CONDITION: Prior to fmal site plan approval, provide a landscape plan that shows 
the appropriate combination of trees to satisfy the parking lot landscaping standard. 

Mr. C1aus appears to argue that the applicants should be required to restore the 
illegally graded areas on the site prior to approval of this application. p. 24 of Exhibit 
P. However, as discussed above, such prior activities are not relevant to this 
development application. The Code does not require applicants to remedy alleged 
violations prior to approval of new development on a site. 

b. Shrubs: 

(1) Two (2) shrubs are required per each space. 

(2) For spaces where the front two (2) feet of parking spaces have been 
landscaped instead of paved, the standard requires one (1) shrub per space. 
Shrubs may be evergreen or deciduous. 

FINDJNG: The applicants have provided a landscape plan that shows 74 shrubs and 
therefore meets this criterion. 

c. Ground cover plants: 

(1) Any remainder in the parking area must be planted with ground cover 
plants. 

(2) The plants selected must be spaced to cover the area within three (3) years. 
Mulch does not count as ground cover. 

FINDING: The applicants have provided a landscape plan that shows ground cover 
plants throughout the remainder of the landscaped area and therefore meets this 
crite1ion. 

5. Individual Landscape Islands Requirements 

a. Individual landscaped areas (islands) shall be at least ninety (90) square feet 
in area and a minimum width of five (5) feet and shall be curbed to protect the 
landscaping. 

b. Each landscape island shall be planted with at least one (1) tree. 

c. Landscape islands shall be evenly spaced throughout the parking area. 

d. Landscape islands shall be distributed according to the following: 

fiearings Officer Final Order 
Case No. SP 13-01 (Pacific Dental Parking /,ot) Page 26 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

85

(1) Residential uses in a residential zone: one (1) island for every eight (8) 
contiguous parking spaces. 

(2) Multi or mixed-uses, institutional and commercia] uses: one (1) island for 
every ten (10) contiguous parking spaces. 

(3) Industrial uses: one (1) island for every twelve (12) contiguous parking 
spaces. 

e. Storm water bio-swales may be used in lieu of the parking landscape areas 
and may be included in the calculation of the required landscaping amount .. 

FINDING: According to the applicants' Jandscape plan, each landscape island would be 
a minimum of five feet wide and at least ninety (90) square feet in area. Additionally, 
each island contains one tree and is spaced evenly throughout the parking area. One 
landscape island is proposed for at least every ten ( 1 0) contiguous parking spaces. All 
landscape islands are proposed as having curbs to protect the landscaping. This standard 
is satisfied. 

6. Landscaping at Points of Access 
When a private access-way intersects a public right-of-way or when a 
property abuts the intersection of two (2) or more public rights-of-way, 
landscaping shall be planted and maintained so that minimum sight 
distances shall be preserved pursuant to Section 16.58.010. 

FINDING: The proposed application does not propose any changes to the existing site 
access or sight distances where the private access-ways abut SW Handley Street. Tllis 
standard is satisfied. 

7. Exceptions 
a. For propert ies with an environmentally sensitive area and/or trees or 

woodlands that merit protection per Chapters 16.142 (Parks, Tr·ees and 
Open Space) and 16.144 (Wetland, Habitat and Natural Areas) the 
Jandscaping standards may be r educed, modified or "shifted" on-site 
where necessary in order to retain existing vegetation that would 
otherwise be removed to meet the above referenced landscaping 
requirements. 

FINDING: There are no environmentally sensitive areas and/or trees or woodlands 
located on the disturbed portion of the subject site. The stream and associated vegetated 
corridor running along the west edge of the property will be protected and remediated as 
required by Clean Water Services. This standard is satisfied. 

Mr. Claus testified that the applicants and their contractor cleared vegetation within the 
vegetated corridor. p. 25 of Exhibit P. However, as discussed above, such prior activities 
are not relevant to the approval criteria for this development application. ln addition, the 

Hearings Officer Final Order 
Case No. SP J 3-0 I (Pac{fic Dental Parking Lot) Page 27 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

86

applicants are required to plant additional vegetation within the vegetated corridor, which 
may mitigate the prior activities to some extent. 

Mr. Claus further argued that CWS did not take further enforcement action, because 
CWS staff assumed that the applicants had proper permits for placement of gravel on the 
site. Id. Based on Mr. Claus' testimony, CWS' alleged assumptjon is incorrect . The 
applicants did not have permits to grade and gravel the site. However those past actions 
are not relevant to the approval cr iteria for this application. 

b. The maximum reduction in required landscaping buffer permitted 
through this exception process shall be no more than fifty (50) percent. 
The resulting landscaping buffer after reduction may not be less than five 
(5) feet in width unless otherwise permitted by the underlying zone. 
E~ceptions to the required landscaping may only be permitted when 
reviewed as part of a land use action application and do not require a 
separate variance permit. 

FINDING: The applicants wi tl reduce the required landscaping to some extent by not 
providing a hedge between the site and the adjacent residential zoned properties to the 
nor thwest. However that reduction will not reduce the required landscaping by more than 
fi fty percent. This standard is satisfied. 

C. Screening of Mechanical Equipment, Outdoor Storage, Service and Delivery 
Areas. 

All mechanical equipment, outdoor storage and manufacturing, and service and 
delivery areas, shall be screened from view from aU pubUc streets and any 
adjacent residential zones. If unfeasible to fully screen due to policies and 
standards, the applicants shall make efforts to minimize the visual impact of the 
mechanical equipment. 

FlNDlNG: According to the applicants' statement and landscape plan, a transformer and 
garbage/recycling area would be relocated within the parking lot expansion area. Based 
on the landscape plan it appears that the transformer would be screened using landscape 
plantings while the garbage/recycle area would be screened using fencing or a wall. This 
cr iterion is satisfied. 

Mr. Claus argued that solid waste cannot be located on a sep arate property from the use it 
is intended to serve. Locating the waste fac ility on tax lot 2100 would require an 
exception to the landscape code and violates U1e site plan approval for the existing 
development on tax lot 1600. p. 26 ofExhibit P. However Mr. Claus failed to identify any 
regulations that would be violated by the proposed relocation of the waste facility. The 
applicant is required to record easements that will allow the office building on tax lot 
1600 to u tilize the waste facility on tax lot 2100. 

D. Visual Corridors 

Hearings Officer Final Order 
Case No. SP I J.OJ (/'acific Dentall'arking Lot) Page 28 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

87

Except as aJlowed by subsection 6. above, new developments shaH be required 
to establish landscaped visual corridors along Highway 99W and other arterial 
and collector streets, consistent with the Natural Resources and Recreation Plan 
Map, Appendix C of the Community Development Plan, Part II, and the 
provisions of Chapter 16.142( Parks, Trees, and Open Space). Properties within 
the Old Town Overlay arc exempt from this standard. 

FINDING: The applicants have proposed a visual corridor along the section of Highway 
99W adjacent to the new parking lot area, but not the entirety of the site. Therefore, this 
standard has not been met. The applicants can meet this standard by planting additional 
landscaping along the site's Highway 99 frontage. The applicants can rely on existing 
vegetation on the undeveloped portions of the site to meet this standard. However the 
applicant must demonstrate that the combination of existing and newly planted vegetation 
is sufficient to meet the requirements of the Code. 

Mr. Claus arg11es that the applicants cut trees within the existing visual corridor on tax lot 
1600 to increase visibility of his sign. p. 26 of Exhibit P. This activity may be a violation 
of the Code, but it is not relevant to the approval criteria for this application. However the 
visual corridor requirement applies to the site' s entire Highway 99 frontage, including the 
pmiion of tax lot 1600 that abuts Highway 99. Therefore the applicants may need to plant 
additional vegetation wjthin the existing visual corridor on tax lot 1600 if necessary to 
mitigate for prior clearing activities and bring the entire site into compliance with this 
standard. 

Mr. Claus further argued that the applicants cannot be trusted to comply with the 
conditions of approval. !d. Failure to comply with the conditions of approval can preclude 
final approval of the proposed development and can also be a basis for further 
enforcement. But the hearings officer cannot assume that the appJicant will not comply 
and deny the application on that basis. The City can ensure compliance by withholding 
required approvals and/or through its enforcement process. 

CONDITION: Prior to final site plan approval, submit landscape plans that show a 
visual corridor along the site's entire Highway 99W frontage that is consistent with the 
standard. The applicants can rely on existing vegetation on the undeveloped portions of 
the site to meet this standard. 

16.92.040 Installation and Maintenance Standards 

A. Installation 
AU required landscaping must be in-ground, except when in raised planters that 
are used to meet minimum Clean Water Services storm water management 
requirements. Plant materials must be instalJcd to current nursery industry 
standards. Plant materials must be properly supported to ensure survival. 
Support devices such as guy wires or stakes must not interfere with vehicular or 
pedestrian movement. 

Hearitlgs Officer f'inal Order 
Case No. SP 13-01 (Pacific De11tal Parking Lot) Page 29 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

88

FINDING: According to the applicants' statement and landscape plan, all plants and 
plantings shall confotm to the City of Sherwood's design standards and to American 
Nursery Standards ASN 1260. 1. Additionally, plants shall be installed in ground in a 
sound workman-like manner in accordance with standards adopted by the Oregon 
Landscape Contractors Board (OLCB), and properly maintained to ensure survival 
according to industry standards. This standard is satisfied. 

B. Maintenance and Mitigation of Landscaped Areas 
l. Maintenance of existing non-invasive native vegetation is encouraged within 

a development and required for portions of the property not being 
developed. 

2. All landscaping shall be maintained in a manner consistent with the intent of 
the approved landscaping plan. 

3. Any required landscaping trees removed must be replanted consistent with 
the approved landscaping plan and comply with§ 16.142, (Parks, Trees and 
Open Space). 

FINDING: According to the applicants ' statement and landscape plan, all landscaping 
will be maintained in a manner consistent with the intent of the approved landscaping 
pian and in accordance to industry standards. The applicants indicated that care would be 
taken to not disturb existing plantings that are to remain and if disturbance occurs, the 
area would be restored and repaired to existing conditions. No landscaping trees are 
proposed for removal. This standard is satisfied. 

Mr. Claus argued that the application should be denied based on the applicants' prior 
illegal actions in cutting trees within the visual coiTidor, clearing and grading the site, and 
placing gravel to create an unpermitted parking area. p. 27 ofExhibit P. However, as 
discussed above, the applicants' past behavior is not relevant to the applicable standards 
for site plan approval in the SZDC. The use must comply with the conditions of approval, 
and the failure to do so can be a basis for further enforcement. The hearings officer 
cannot assume that the applicants will not comply with the conditions and deny the 
application on that basis. 

C. Irrigation 
The intent of this standard is to ensure that plants will survive the critical 
establishment period when they are most vulnerable due to lack ofwatering. All 
landscaped areas must provide an irrigation system, as stated in Option 1, 2, or 
3. 

1. Option 1: A permanent built-in irrigation system with an automatic 
controller installed. 

2. Option 2: An irrigation system designed and certified by a licensed landscape 
architect or other qualified professional as part of the landscape plan, which 
provides sufficient water to ensure that the plants become established. The 

Hearings Officer Final Order 
Case No. SP 13-0 I (Pacific Dental Pad..ing Lot) Page 30 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

89

system does not have to be permanent if the plants chosen can survive 
independently once established. 

3. Option 3: Irrigation by band. If the applicants chooses this option, an 
inspection will be required one (l) year after final inspection to ensure that 
the landscaping has become established. 

FINDING: According to the applicants' statement and landscape plan, all new landscape 
areas are to be irrigated with water-efficient automatic irrigation. This standard is 
satisfied. 

D. Deferral of Improvements 
Landscaping shall be installed prior to issuance of occupancy permits, unless 
security equal to one hundred twenty-five {125) percent of the cost of the 
landscaping is .t11ed with the City. "Security" may consist of a performance 
bond payable to the City, cash, certified check, or other assurance of completion 
approved by the City. If the installation of the landscaping is not completed 
within one (1) year, the security may be used by the City to complete the 
instaJiation. 

FINDING: According to the applicants' statement the required landscaping shall be 
installed prior to issuance of permits or a security equal to 125% of the cost of the 
landscaping will be filed with the City. The hearings officer finds that this standard can 
be met with the recommended condition below. 

CONDITION: Prior to final approval, the required landscaping shall be installed or a 
security equal to 125% of the cost of the landscaping will be filed with the City. 

16.94. Off-Street Parking and Loading (relevant sections) 

16.94.010- Generally 

A. Off-Street Parking Required. 
No site shall be used for the parking of vehicles until plans are approved 
providing for off-street parking and loading space as requit·ed by this Code. 
Any change in uses or structures that reduces the current off-stre·et parking and 
loading spaces provided on site, or that increases the need for off-street parking 
or loading requirements shall be unlawful and a violation of this Code, unless 
additional off-street parking or loading areas are provided in accordance with 
Section 16.94.020, or unless a variance from the minimum or maximum parking 
standards is approved in accordance with Chapter 16.84 Variances. 

ANALYSIS: The applicants are proposing to pave a gravel parking area that was illegally 
constructed in the northeast corner of tax lot 21 00 and increase the number of parking 
stalls serving Pacific Family Dental from 38 parking stalls to 73 parking stalls. The 
existing building currently used by Pacific Family Dental is approximately 14,504 square 
feet. lbe current development code requires at least 4.1 parking spaces per 1,000 square 

HeaYings Officer Final Order 
Case No. SP 13-01 (Pacific Dental Parking Lot) Page 31 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

90

feet for "general retail or personal service" uses resulting in a minimum of 60 required 
parking stalls and a maximum of90 parking stalls. 

FINDING: In this instance, the applicants are proposing to provide 73 parking stalls, 
which exceeds the minimum required but does not exceed the maximum allowed. 

SZDC 16.94.010.E(2) provides that the applicant may rely on adjacent on-street parking 
spaces. This Code section is permissive. The applicant may, but is not required to, rely on 
adjacent on-street parking. In tbis case, there are ten on-street parking spaces on the 
section of Handley Street abutting the site. Even if these spaces are cotmted towards the 
parking requirements as allowed by SZDC 16.94.020.B(5), the use still complies with the 
maximum parking requirements of the Code. This standard is satisfied. 

Mr. Claus argues parking is not allowed as a stand alone activity in the GC zone. Parking 
is only allowed as an activjty that is accessory to another use. pp. 29 and 30 of Exhibit P. 
That is exactly what the applicants have proposed in this case; parking as an activity that 
is accessory to the existing dental office building on tax lot 1600. 

B. Deferral of Improvements 
Off-street parking and loading spaces shall be completed prior to the issuance 
of occupancy permits, unless the City determines that weather conditions, lack 
of available surfacing materials, or other circumstances beyond the control of 
the applicants make completion impossible. In such circumstances, security 
equal to one hundred twenty five (125) percent of the cost of the parking and 
loading area is provided the City. "Security'' may consist of a performance 
bond payable to the City, cash, certified check, or other assurance of completion 
approved by the City. If the installation of the parking or loading area is not 
completed within one (1) year, the security may be used by the City to complete 
the installation. 

FINDING: There are no new or altered buildings involved in this application. The 
proposed parking lot is intended to serve the existing dental office building on the site. 
Therefore no occupancy permits are required, and deferral of the proposed improvements 
is not proposed or relevant to this situation. This criterion is satisfied. 

Mr. Claus argues that this application cannot be approved, because the two tax lots that 
make up the site are in separate ownerships and could be separately conveyed. p. 29 of 
Exhibit P. The hearings officer finds that fact that the two properties are in separate 
ownerships is not relevant to the applicable approval criteria for this application. The 
applicants are required to record a joint access and maintenance easement between lots 
1600 and 21 00 for the purposes of providing legal access to the accessory parking area as 
well as maintaining the water quality facility and trash enclosure. Although the two 
parcels can be owned by separate entities, the easements will ensure that they continue to 
be used together. 

C. Options for Reducing the Required Parking Spaces 

Hearings Officer Pinal Order 
Case No. SP 13-01 (Pacific Dema! Parking Lot) Page 32 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

91

FINDING: No reduction in required parking spaces is requested. Therefore, this 
standard is satisfied. 

D. Prohibited Uses. 
Required parking, loading and maneuvering areas shall not be used for long
term storage or sale of vehicles or other materials, and shall not be rented, 
leased or assigned to any person or organization not using or occupying the 
building or use served. 

FINDING: The proposed parking area will only serve the existing dental office building 
on tax lot 1600. The applicants do not propose any required parking, loading, or 
maneuvering areas to be used for storage or rented, leased, or assigned to any person or 
organization not using or occupying the building or use served. This is prohibited by 
condition of approval 9, discussed above. The applicants are not proposing to continue 
parking and storing heavy equipment within the proposed parking lot. This standard is 
satisfied. 

Mr. Claus states, ''This is complete nonsense. What he is proposing to do is to tear up an 
area that was not used as anything but a half acre field by the Williams and he is 
proposing to assign that to a separate property, namely 17680 Handley. There is no 
possible way tl1at he can make the statement in his application." p. 29 of Exhibit P. The 
hearings officer cannot find any connection between Mr. Claus' statement and thls 
approval criterion. The fact that the tax lots that make up the site are in separate 
ownerships will not preclude compliance with this requirement. Mr. Claus may be 
referring to the prior actions of the applicants' tenant~ where heavy equipment was stored 
on the illegally created gravel area on tax lot 2100. However, as discussed above, storage 
of heavy equipment is not proposed as part of this application. 

E. Location. 
4. Residential off-street parking spaces. 

a. Shall be located on the same Jot or development as the residential use. 

b. Shall not include garages or enClosed buildings with the exception of a 
parking structure in multifamily developments where three (3) or more 
spaces are not individually enclosed. (Example: Underground or multi· 
level parking structures). 

S. For other uses, required off-street parking spaces may include adjacent on
street parking spaces, nearby public parking and shared parking located 
within five hundred (500) feet of the use. The distance from the parking, area 
to the use shall be measured from the nearest parking space to a building 
entrance, foUowing a sidewalk or other pedestrian route. The right to use 
private off-site parking must be evidenced by a recorded deed, lease, 
easement, or similar written notarized letter or instrument. 

6. Vehicle parking is allowed only on improved parking shoulders that meet 
City standards for public streets, within garages, carports and other 

llem·ings Oj]icer Final Order 
Case No. SP 13-01 (Pacific Dental Parking Lot) Page 33 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

92

structures, or on driveways or parking lots that have been developed in 
conformance with this code. Specific locations and types of spaces (car pool, 
compact, etc.) for parking shall be indicated on submitted plans and located 
to the side or rear of buildings where feasible. 
a. All new development with twenty (20) emp1oyees or more shall include 

preferential spaces for either car pool and vanpool designation. 

b. Existing development may redevelop portions of designated parking 
areas for multi-modal fac.ilities (transit shelters, park and ride, and 
bicycle parking), subject to meeting all other applicable standards, 
includjng minimum space standards. 

FINDING: The site contains existing parking directly adjacent to the existing office 
building on tax lot 1600, which is owned by the applicants. The proposed parking 
extension would also be located directly adjacent to the existing office building on tax lot 
2100, which is also owned by the applicants. This standard is satisfied. 

Mr. Claus appears to argue that the existing, gravel surfaced, parking lot on tax lot 2100 
is illegal, because it was not properly engineered, the design was not reviewed and 
approved by the City, and required fees were not paid. Therefore the applicants cannot 
use the existing gravel parking lot. p. 30 of Exhibit P. The hearings officer finds that Mr. 
Claus is correct that the applicants cannot legally use the existing gravel parking lot. 
However that is not what the applicants have proposed. With this application, the 
applicants are proposing to remove the illegal gravel surfaced parking area and replace it 
with an approved, properly engineered, paved and landscaped parking lot. 

F. Marking 
All parking, loading or maneuvering areas shall be clearly marked and painted. 
All interior drives and access aisles shall be clearly marked and signed to show 
the direction of flow and maintain vehicular and pedestrian safety. 

FINDING: The applicants' statement indicates that all parking lot markings required by 
the City of Sherwood would be implemented. However, the site plans do not clearly 
identify where all parking, loading or maneuvering areas would be marked or painted. 

CONDITION: Prior to final site plan approval, applicants shall submit additional 
information clearly identifying where all parking, loading or maneuvering areas will be 
marked or painted. 

G. SUl'face and Drainage 
1. All parking and loading areas shall be improved with a permanent hard 

surface such as asphalt, concrete or a durable pervious surface. Use of 
pervious paving material is encouraged and preferred where appropriate 
considering soils, location, anticipated vehicJe usage and other pertinent 
factors. 

Hearings Officer Final Ordel' 
Case No. SP 13-01 (Pacific Dental Pm·king I.ol) Page 34 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

93

2. Parking and loading areas shall include storm water drainage facilities 
approved by the City Engineer or Building Official. 

FINDING: According to the applicants' statement, the proposed parking lot will be 
paved in asphalt. Additionally, as shown on the landscape plan, the existing private 
storm water facility located on tax lot 1600 will be relocated to tax lot 21 00 on the western 
edge of the proposed parking lot exiension. A Stonnwater Report submitted by the 
applicants has been included in the record as Exhibit J. The City Engineer recommended 
additional conditions of approval to address the proposed amendments to the stormwater 
facilities to ensure that this standard is satisfied. The hearings officer finds that the 
recommended conditions are warranted and should be inc]udcd. 

H. Repairs 
Parking and loading areas shall be kept clean and in good repair. Breaks in 
paved surfaces shall be repaired. Broken or splintered wheel stops shall be 
replaced. Painted parking space boundaries and directional symbols shall be 
maintained in a readable condition. 

FINDING: The applicants agree to maintain the parking and loading areas clean and in 
good repair. The City can ensure compliance with that agreement through its enforcement 
process. This standard is satisfied. 

16.94.020 - Off-street parking standards 

A. GeneraiJy 
Where square feet are specified, the area measured shall be the gross building 
floor area primary to the functioning of the proposed use. Where employees are 
specified, persons counted shall be those working on the premises, including 
proprietors, during the largest shift at peak season. Fractional space 
requirements shall be counted as a whole space. The Review Authority may 
determine alternate off- street parking and loading requirements for a use not 
specifically listed in this Section based upon the requirements of comparable 
uses. 

FINDING: The existing building currently used by Pacific Family Dental is 
approximately 14,504 square feet. The current development code requires a minimum 4.1 
and a maximum 5. 1 parking spaces per 1 ,000 square feet for "general retail or personal 
service" uses, resulting in a minimum of 60 required parking stalls and a maximum of 90 
parking stalls. The 73 parking spaces proposed on this site is consistent with the 
minimum and maximum parking requirements of the Code. This standard is satisfied. 

B. Dimensional and General Configuration Standards 
1. Dimensions For the purpose of this Chapter, a ''parking space'' means a stan 

nine (9) feet in width and twenty (20) feet in length. Up to twenty five (25) 
percent of required parking spaces may have a minimum dimension of eight 
(8) feet in width and eighteen (18) feet in length so long as they are signed as 
compact car stalls. 

F:Tearings, Officer Final Order 
Case No. :>'P 13-01 (Pacific Dental Parking Lot) Page 35 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

94

FINDING: Based on the applicants' site plan and statement, each of the proposed 
parking spaces is nine (9) feet wide by twenty (20) feet deep. This standard is satisfied. 

2. Layout 
Parking space configuration, stall and access aisle size shall be of sufficient 
width for all vehicle turning and maneuvering. Groups of more than four (4) 
parking spaces shall be served by a driveway so as to minimize backing 
movements or other maneuvering within a street, other than an alley. All 
parking areas shall meet the minimum standards shown in the following 
table and diagram. 

FINDING: Based on the applicants' site plan and statement, the proposed parking space 
configuration and maneuvering aisle size (24 feet minimum) is sufficient to allow for 
backing movements and other maneuvering on site. This standard is satisfied. 

3. Wheel Stops 
Parking spaces along the boundaries of a parking Jot or adjacent to interior 
landscaped areas or sidewalks shall be provided with a wheel stop at least 
four (4) inches high, located three (3) feet back from the front of the parking 
stall as shown in Appendix G. Wheel stops adjacent to landscaping, bio
swales or water quality facilities shall be designed to allow storm water run
off. 

FINDING: Based on the applicants ' site plan and statement, the proposed parking stalls 
are twenty (20) feet in length and provide wheel stops in order to prevent vehicles from 
overhanging onto sidewalks or damaging interior landscaped areas. The wheel stops are 
shown on the site plan as having spaces in between each one to provide the passage of 
water. This standard is satisfied. 

4. Service Drives 
Service drives shall be clearly and permanently marked and deimed through 
use of rails, fences, walls, or other barriers or markers, and shall have 
minimum vision clearance area formed by the intersection of the driveway 
center line, the street right~of-way line, and a straight line joining said lines 
through points fifteen (15) feet from their intersection. 

FINDING: Based on the applicants' site plan and statement, no changes are proposed for 
the existing access points onto Handley Street from the site. The new parking area will 
obtain access through lot 1600. This standard is satisfied. 

C. Bicycle Parking Facilities 
1. Location and Design 

a. Bicycle parking shaD be conveniently located with respect to both the 
street right-of-way and at least one (1) building entrance (e.g., no farther 
away than the closest parking space). Bike parking may be located inside 
the main building or near the main entrance. 

Hearings O.fficer Final Order 
Case No. SP 13-01 (Pacific Dental Parking Lo~) Page36 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

95

b. Bicycle parking in the Old Town Overlay District can be located on the 
sidewalk within the right-of-way. A standard inverted ''U shaped" design 
is appropriate. Alternative, creative designs are strongly encouraged. 

2. Visibility and Security. Bicycle parking shall be visible to cyclists from street 
sidewalks or building entrances, so that it provides sufficient security from 
theft and damage. 

3. Options for Storage. Bicycle parking requirements for long-term and 
employee parking can be met by providing a bicycle storage room, bicycle 
lockers, racks, or other secure storage space inside or outside of the building. 

4. 1igbting. Bicycle parking shall be at least as well lit as vehlcle parking for 
security. 

5. Reserved Areas. Areas set aside for bicycle parking shaiJ be clearly marked 
and reserved for bicycle parking only. 

6. Hazards. Bicycle parking shall not impede or create a hazard to pedestrians. 
Parking areas sball be located so as to not conflict with vision clearance 
standards. 

FINDING: According to the applicants' statement, the required number of bicycle 
parking spaces is already provided with the existing building and no additional bicycle 
parking spaces are proposed. The building and site have undergone a prior site plan and 
final site plan approval that verified the location and number of bicycle parking spaces 
provided with the medical/dental office building. This criterion is satisfied. 

Mr. Claus appears to argue that the existence of bicycle parking on tax lot 1600 is 
inelevant to tJJis criterion for a parking lot on tax lot 2 100. "[Jt is] as ridicule[ ous] as 
saying because McDonalds has parking spaces, so Kohl's doesn't need parking spaces.'' p. 
33 of Exhibit P. The hearings officer finds that Mr. Claus~ argument misunderstands the 
development proposed in this case. With this application, the applicants proposed to 
expand the existing motor vehicle parking lot on tax Jot 1600 onto tax lot 2100. The 
purpose of the expanded parking lot is to provide additional motor vehicle parking for the 
existing dental office on tax lot 1600. The existing dental office on tax lot 1600 has 
sufficient bicycle parking to meet code requirements. The proposed parking lot expansion 
will not generate any additional bicycle traffic. Therefore no additional bicycle parking is 
required for the proposed parking lot expansion. 

16.96 On-Site Circulation 

16.96.010- On-site pedestrian and bicycle circulation 

A. Purpose 

Hearings Officer Final Order 
Case No. SP 13-01 (Pacific Dental Parking Lot) Page 37 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

96

On-site facilities shall be provided that accommodate safe and convenient 
pedestrian access within new subdivisions, multi-family developments, planned 
unit developments, shopping centers and commercial districts, and connecting 
to adjacent residential areas and neighborhood activity centers within one half 
mile of the development. Neighborhood activity centers include but are not 
limited to existing or planned schools, parks, shopping areas, transit stops or 
employment centers. All new development, (except single family detached 
housing), shaH provide a continuous system of private pathways/sidewalks at 
least 6 feet wide~ 

ANALYSIS: All proposed pedestrian and bicycle access into and along the perimeter of 
the site is existing. As proposed, the site provides safe, marked, and to the extent 
practical, convenient pedestrian access. 

FINDING: The use of the site and the office building are existing and are proposed to 
remain unchanged after the proposed parking lot expansion. Therefore, the above 
standard is not applicable. 

Mr. Claus argues that the applicants cannot comply with this criterion, because the two 
tax lots that make up the site are in separate ownerships. p. 33 of Exhibit P. The fact that 
the tax lots that make up the site are in separate ownerships will not preclude compliance 
with this requirement. The applicants are required to record a joint access and 
maintenance easement between lots 1600 and 2 100 for the purposes of providing legal 
access between the accessory parking area and the office building it will serve. 

Mr. Claus argues that the applicants should be required to construct a sidewalk along the 
site's Highway 99 frontage. p. 33 of Exhibit P. The City cannot constitutionally require 
the applicants to construct additional sidewalks as a condition of approval of this 
application. In order to require the appl icant to dedicate land and/or construct public 
improvements, the City must demonstrate an "essential nexus" between the impacts of 
the proposed development and the need for the required improvements. Nollan v. 
California Coastal Comm 'n, 483 U.S. 825, 107 S.Ct. 3141 (1987). In this case, the 
proposed parking lot expansion will not generate additional pedestrian and bicycle traffic 
that would create a need for a sidewalk. Parking lots do not generate traffic separate from 
the uses they serve. The parking lot will serve the existing dental office building on tax 
lot ]600. No changes are proposed to that existing building. Therefore the proposed 
development will not generate any additional pedestrian and bicycle traffic, and there is 
no essential nexus between the impacts of the proposed development and a condition 
requiring construction of a sidewalk along the site's Highway 99 frontage. 

In addition, the City failed to bear the burden of proof that the cost of constructing a 
sidewalk along the site' s Highway 99 frontage would be roughly proportional to the 
impact ofthe use. Dolan v. City ofTigard, 114 S. Ct. 2309, 2322, 512 U.S. 374, 129 L. 
Ed. 2d. 304 (1994) and Koontz V. St. Johns River Water Management District, U.S. 
Supreme Court Slip Opinion, No. 11-1447, (June 25, 2013). 

B. Maintenance 

llearings Officer Final Order 
Case No. SP /3-01 (J'aciflc Derlfal Parf .. :?ng Lot) Page 38 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

97

No building permit or other City permit shall be issued until plans for ingress, 
egress and circulation have been approved by the City. Any change increasing 
any ingress, egress or circulation requirements, shall be a violation of this Code 
unless additional facilities are provided in accordance with this Chapter. 

FINDING: According to the applicants ' statement, and as shown on the site plan, an 
existing pedestrian connection was provided with the original construction of the dental 
office and existing site ingress and egress is unchanged by the proposed parking lot. 
Therefore, this standard is satisfied. 

Mr. Claus argues that the applicants cannot rely on the existing ingress, egress and 
circulation on tax lot 1600 to satisfy this criterion for a parking lot on tax lot 2100, 
because there is no cmmection between the two tax lots. pp. 33 and 34 of Exhibit P. The 
hearings officer finds that there will be significant physical and legal connections between 
the two tax lots. The proposed parking lot will physically connect to the existing parking 
lot on tax lot 1600. AJI ingress to and egress from the new parking lot will utilize the 
existing driveway accesses onto SW Handley Street. No new ingress and egress points are 
proposed. In addition, the applicants are required to record a joint access and maintenance 
easement between lots 1600 and 2100. Although the two parcels can be owned by 
separate entities, the easements wiH ensure that they continue to be used together. 

Mr. Claus further argues that the applicant, "[h ]as to supply fill services to this site which 
he isn' t doing.'' p. 34 of Exhibit P. The hearings officer cannot determine what Mr. Claus 
means by, "fill services" and how this argument relates to this approval criterion. 

C. Joint Access 
Two (2) or more uses, structures, or parcels of land may utilize the same ingress 
and egress when the combined ingress and egress of aU uses, structures, or 
parcels of Jand satisfied the other requirements of this Code, provided that 
satisfactory legal evidence is presented to the City in the form of deeds, 
easements, leases, or contracts to clearly establish the joint use. 

FINDING: The applicants are proposing to access the parking lot on lot 2100 through lot 
1600. The parking is proposed as accessory to the dental office use, and it will be 
necessary to maintain legal access between the two parcels for this specific use, so the 
applicants should be conditioned to lJrovide and record a joint access agreement over the 
portion of tax lot 21 00 and 1600 in support of the parking area. Therefore, the following 
conditioh is warranted. 

Mr. Claus here argues parking is not allowed as an accessory use in the GC zone. Parking 
is only allowed as a corrunercial use, with parking spaces leased or rented to uses located 
within 500 feet. p. 34 of Exhibit P. As discussed above, the applicants are not proposing 
parking as a separate, stand alone, use. The proposed parking is intended solely as an 
accessory use that will serve the existing dental office building on tax lot 1600. The 
existing dental office building is a permitted use in the GC zone. Parkjng is permitted, 
and required. for such uses. 

!JearingS Officer Final Order 
Case No. SP 13-01 (Pacific Dental Parking Lot) Page 39 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

98

Mr. Claus argued that the applicants are seeking to avoid required dedications and fees by 
obtaining this approval and then requesting a lot line adjustment in the future. /d. 
However those concerns are not relevant to the applicable approval criteria for this 
application. The applicants are not required to dedicate right-of-way as a condition of this 
application, because the proposed use will not generate any additional traffic. The 
applicants did not request a lot line adjustment with this application. If the applicants 
submit such an application in the future, it will be reviewed subject to the regulations in 
effect at that time. 

CONDITION: Prior to final approval, the applicants shall provide City staff with proof 
that an joint access and maintenance easement is provided between lots 1600 and 21 00 
for the purposes of providing legal access to the accessory parking area as well as 
maintaining the water quality facility and trash enclosure. 

Mr. CLaus appears to argue that the City cannot ensure compliance with this condition of 
approval, based on the City's lack of prior enforcement.Jd Mr. Claus argues the 
applicants should be required " [t]o present to hearings officer as to what he is doing." As 
discussed above, the City's enforcement process is separate from the development 
process. Nothing in the Code requires that the applicants explain their past violations 
pdor to approval of a development application. As noted above, the applicants must 
comply with the conditions of approval, and the failure to do so can be a basis for further 
enforcement. But the hearings officer cannot assume that the applicants will not comply, 
or that the City will not enforce compliance, and deny the application on that basis. The 
applicants' prior actions are not relevant to this approval criterion. 

D. Connection to Streets 
J. Except for joint access as per 16.96.010, aJl ingress and egress to a use or 

parcel shall connect directly to a public street, excepting alleyways. 

2. Required private sidewalks shall extend from the ground floor entrances or 
the ground floor landing of stairs, ramps or elevators to the public sidewalk 
or curb oftbe public street which provides required ingress and egress. 

FINDING: The proposed parking lot extension would be connected to an existing 
parking lot on tax lot 1600 that bas existing frontage along and access points to Handley 
Street. This standard is satisfied. Sidewalks and pedestrian access to Handley Street were 
required as a condition of approval for the original approval (File No. SP06-07) of the 
existing building on tax lot 1600. Staff has confirmed the existence of sidewalks 
connecting the dental office entrance to the sidewalk along the frontage of Handley Street 
on the northern border of tax lot 1600. 

Mr. Claus appears to argue that access to any development on tax lot 21 00 must be 
provided from SW Cedar Brook Way. p. 35 of Exhibit P. However Mr. Claus failed to 
identify any applicable approval criterion or City plan that supports such a requirement. 
The applicant proposed to access the expanded parking lot from SW Handley Street, a 
public street. The applicant will record a joint access agreement to facilitate such access 
across tax lot 1600. As discussed above, the proposed development will not generate any 

1/ew·iltgs Officer Final Order 
Case No_ SP I 3-01 (Pacific Dental Parking T,ol) Page 40 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

99

new pedestrian, bicycle or vehicular traffic that could support a condition of approval 
requiring the extension ofSW Cedar Brook Way. 

E. Maintenance ofRequired Improvements 
Required ingress, egress and circulation improvements shall be kept clean and 
in good repair. 

FINDJNG: According to the appJicants' statement, ingress and egress for all types of 
circulation shall remain in good repair and would be maintained over time. This standard 
is satisfied. 

F. Access to Major Roadways 

FINDING: This application does not propose ingress or egress to or from an arterial. 
Therefore, these standards are not app1icable. 

Mr. Claus argues that approval of this application will alter the City's transportation plan, 
because the development does not include the extension of SW Cedar Brook Way. p. 35 
of Exhibit P. The hearings officer finds that the proposed development will not preclude 
the extension of SW Cedar Brook Way. The proposed parking lot is located in the eastern 
portion of tax lot 2100. Adequate area remains in the northwest corner of tax lot 2100 to 
accommodate the needed right-of-way and improvements for this future street extension, 
consistent with adopted City plans. 

G. Service Drives 
Service drives shall be provided pursuant to Section 16.94.030. 

FINDING: Based on the applicants' site plan and statement, an existing paved access 
provides vehicular access onto SW Handley Street. This standard is satisfied. 

16.96.030- Minimum Non-Residential Standards 

Minimum standards for private, on-site circulation improvements in non-residential 
developments: 

A. Driveways 
1. Commercial: Improved hard surface driveways are required as follows: 

Required Minimum Width 

Parking #Driveways One-Way Two-Way 
Spaces Pair 

1 - 49 1 15 feet 24 feet 

50 & above 2 15 feet 24 feet 
3. Surface materials are encouraged to be pervious when appropriate 

considering soils, anticipated vehicle usage and other pertinent factors. 

Hearings Officer Final Order 
Case No. SP 13-01 (Pacific Dental Parking l.ot} /'age 41 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

100

FINDING: Based on the applicants' site plan and statement, a 24-foot wide and two-way 
paved parking area drive aisle is proposed to serve the extended parking area. This 
standard is satisfied. 

Mr. Claus argues that SW Handley Street is designated as a local feeder street and it was 
not designed to accommodate additional traffic from development on this site. p. 35 of 
Exhibit P. However, as discussed above, the proposed parking lot will not generate any 
additional pedestrian, bicycle or vehicular traffic. The parking lot will only serve the 
existing denta] office building on tax lot 1600 and no changes are proposed to that 
existing building that would generate additional traffic. Therefore the proposed 
development will not increase the vo]ume of traffic on SW Handley Street. 

B. Sidewalks and Curbs 
1. A private pathway/sidewalk system extending throughout the development 

site shall be required to connect to existing development, to public rights-of
way with or without improvements, to parking and storage areas, and to 
connect all building entrances to one another. The system shall also connect 
to transit facilities within 500 feet of the site, future phases of development, 
and whenever possible to parks and open spaces. 

2. Curbs shall also be required at a standard approved by the Hearing 
Authority. Private pathways/sidewalks shall be connected to public rights-of
way along driveways but may be allowed other than along driveways if 
approved by the Hearing Authority. 

3. Private Pathway/Sidewalk Design. Private pathway surfaces shaH be 
concrete, asphalt, brick/masonry pavers, or other pervious durable surface. 
Primary pathways connecting front entrances to the right-of-way shall be at 
least 6 feet wide and conform to ADA standards. Secondary pathways 
between buildings and within parking areas shall be a rn)nimum of four (4) 
feet wide and/or conform to ADA standards. Where the system crosses a 
parking area, driveway or street, it shall be clearly marked with contrasting 
paving materials or rajsed crosswalk (hump). At a minimum all crosswalks 
shall include painted striping. 

4. Exceptions. Private pathways/sidewalks shall not be required where physical 
or topographic conditions make a connection impracticable, where buildings 
or other existing development on adjacent lands physically preclude a 
connection now or in the future considering the potential for redevelopment; 
or pathways would violate provisions of leases, restrictions or other 
agreements. 

FINDING: Based on the applicants' sHe plan and statement, there is an existing 
pedestrian connection that connects the building entrance and parking lot and the public 
right-of-way. There are no adjacent public parks and open spaces and/or future phases of 
development identified with this proposal. This standard is satisfied. 

H~arings Officer Final Order 
Case No. SP 13-01 (Pacific Dental Parking Lol) Page 42 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

101

16.96.040- On-Site Vehicle Circulation 

A. Maintenance 
No building permit or other City permit shall be issued until plans for ingress, 
egress and circulation have been approved by the City. Any change increasing 
any ingress, egress or circulation requirements, shaD be a violation of this Code 
unless additional facilities are provided in accordance with this Chapter. 

FINDING: Ingress and egress locations were approved by the City with the original 
construction of the dental office. Existing site ingress and egress would be unchanged by 
the proposed parking lot. This standard is satisfied. 

Mr. Claus argues that it is not feasible to comply with this criterion because two tax lots 
that make up the site are in separate ownership. P. 36 of Exhibit P. However, as discussed 
above, the applicants are required to record an easement a joint access and maintenance 
easement between lots 1600 and 2100 to ensure legal access between the accessory 
parking area and the office building it will serve. All ingress to and egress from the new 
parking lot will utiJize the existing driveway accesses onto SW Handley Street. No new 
ingress to and egress points are proposed. Mr. Claus failed to identify how the proposed 
development is in violation of''the transportation specific plan." Jd. 

B. Joint Access [See also Chapter 16.1 08] 
Two (2) or more uses, structures, or parcels of land are strongly encouraged to 
utilize jointly the same ingress and egress when the combined ingress and egress 
of all uses, structul'es, or parcels of land satisfy the other requirements of this 
Code, provided that satisfactory legal evidence is presented to the City in the 
form of deeds, easements, leases, or contracts to clearly establish the joint use. 
In some cases, the City may require a joint access to improve safety, vision 
clearance, site distance, and comply with access spacing standards for the 
applicable street classification. 

FINDING: According to the applicants' statement, the proposed parking lot extension 
area is to be utilized only by the employees and patrons of the existing Pacific Family 
Dental. There are two existing uses on the site, residential and commercial, and both uses 
have separate existing access points for ingress and egress. The commercial use has 
access onto Handley Street while the residential use has access onto Highway 99. In order 
to ensure that the access from tax lot 1600 to tax lot 2100 is legally provided, a condition 
requiring an easement bas been required above. Meeting the conditions of approval can 
feasibly satisfy this standard. 

C. Connection to Streets 
1. Except for joint access per this Section, all ingress and egress to a use or 

parcel shall connect directly to a public street, excepting alleyways. 

Hearings (Jjjicer Final Order 
Case No. SP /3-0J (Pacific Dental Parking Lot) Page43 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

102

2. Required private sidewalks shall extend from the ground floor entrances or 
the ground floor landing of stairs, ramps or elevators to the public sidewalk 
or curb of the public street which provides required ingress and egress. 

FINDING: Based on the applicants' site plan and statement, the existing Pacific Family 
Dental building has adequate sidewalks that extend from the ground floor entrance to the 
public .sidewalk and ingress and egress to SW Handley Street. The proposed parking area 
will connect to the public street through the same ingress as the existing office building. 
This standard is satisfied. 

D. Maintenance of Required Improvements 
Required ingress, egress and circulation improvements shall be kept clean and 
in good repair. 

F INDING: The applicants have indicated that ingress and egress for all types of 
circulation on the site shall remain in good repair. The applicants intend to meet this 
standard over time. This standard is satisfied. 

Mr. Claus argued that the applicants cannot ensure ongoing compliance with this criterion 
because tax lot 2100 can be conveyed separately from tax Jot 1600. p. 37 of Exhibit P. 
The hearings officer finds that the required access and maintenance easement will ensure 
that tax lot 2100 will continue to serve the office use on tax lot 1600 and allow 
maintenance of any and all landscaping, vehicle parking, maneuvering and access areas 
and other improvements proposed in this development. 

E. Service Drives 
Service drives shall be provided pursuant to Section 16.94.030. 

FINDING: Based on the applicants' site plan and statement, an existing paved access 
provides access on SW Handley Street, This existing service drive is unchanged by the 
proposed parking lot. This standard is satisfied. 

Chapter 16.98- ON-SITE STORAGE 

16.98.010- Recreational Vehicles and Equipment 

Recreational vehicles and equipment may be stored only within designated and 
improved off-street parking areas. Such areas shall meet the screening and 
landscaping requirements of Section 16.92.030. 

FINDING: According to the applicant, on site storage of recreational vehicles and 
equipment is not proposed as part of the parking lot extension. Therefore, this standard is 
not applicable. 

16.98.020- Solid Waste Storage 

Hearings Officer Final Order 
Case No. SP 13-01 (Pacific Dental Parking Lot) Page 44 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

103

All uses shall provide solid waste storage receptacles which are adequately sized to 
accommodate all solid waste generated on site. All solid waste storage areas and 
receptacles shall be located out of public view. Solid waste receptacles for multi
family, commercial and industrial uses shall be screened by six (6) foot high sight
obscuring fence or masonry wall and shall be easily accessible to collection vehicles. 

FINDING: Based on the applicants' site plan and statement, the existing solid waste and 
recycling receptacle enclosure would be relocated. A ll solid waste and recycling 
receptacles would be screened from view and would be easily accessible to collection 
vehicles. Comments submitted by Pride Disposal Company on October 1, 2013, stated 
that several additional requirements would need to be met prior to the approval of the site 
plan. The following requirements should be added as conditions of approval to ensure 
compliance with this approval criterion. 

CONDLTJON: Prior to final site plan approval, the applicants shall submit evidence of 
the following information: 

• The enclosure needs to have inside measurements of20 feet wide. and 10 feet deep. 
• There should be no center post at the access point in the center of the enclosure. 
• The gates will need to allow for the full 20 feet needed to access the enclosure. 

They should be hinged in front of the enclosure walJs to allow for the full 20 feet 
width. This will also allow for the 120-degree opening angle that is required. 

• The gates need cane bolts and holes put in place for the gates to be locked in the 
open and cJosed position. The holes for the gates to be held open need to be at the 
full 120-degree opening angle. 

• No roof on the enclosure. 

Mr. Claus argued that solid waste caru1ot be located on a separate property from the use it 
is intended to serve. p. 38 of Exhibit P. However he failed to identify any section of the 
Code that prohibits such an anangement. The applicants are required to record an 
easement to ensure that improvements on tax lot 2 1 00) including the solid waste faci1ities, 
are available to serve the existing use on tax lot 1600. 

16.98.030 -Material Storage 

FINDING: According to the applicant) no materials, hazardous or otherwise, are 
proposed to be stored. Therefore, this standard is not applicable. 

16.98.040 -Outdoor Sales and Merchandise Display 

FINDING: According to the applicant, outdoor sales and/or merchandise displays are not 
proposed with this development. Therefore, this standard is not applicable. 

Division VI. Public Infrastructure 
The applicable provisions of Chapter 6 include: 16.106 (Transportation Facilities), 
16.110 (Sanitary Sewers), 16.112 (Water Supply), 16.114 (Storm Water}, 16.116 
(Fire Protection), and 16.118 (Public and Private Utilities) 

Hearings Officer Final Order 
Case No. SP 13-01 (Pacific Dental Parking Lot) Page 45 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

104

Compliance with the standards in these sections is discussed below: 

16.106- Transportation Facilities 

16.106.020- Required Improvements 

A. GeneraDy 
Except as otherwise provided, all developments containing or abutting an 
existing or proposed street, that is either unimproved or substandard in right
of-way width or improvement, shaD dedicate the necessary right-of-way prior to 
the issuance of building permits and/or complete acceptable improvements 
pt·ior to issuance of occupancy permits. 

FINDING: SW Cedar Brook Way (half street improvements and right-of-way) exists 
adjacent to the west side of Tax Lot 1600 and dead ends at the north end of Tax Lot 2100 
toward the western end of the property. The City ofSherwood,s TSP has established SW 
Cedar Brook Way as a Collector status street that will extend southward from SW 
Handley Street to its eventual connection to Highway 99 (S W Pacific Highway). 
Therefore SZDC 16.1 06.020.A requires the applicant dedicate right of way and construct 
improvements for the extension of this street across the northwest corner of tax lot 2100. 
However, as discussed above, the City cannot constitutionally require such dedication and 
improvements as a condition of this approval. In order to require an applicant to dedicate 
land or build improvements, the City must demonstrate an "essential nexus" between the 
impacts of the proposed development and the need for the required improvements. Nollan 
v. California Coastal Comm 'n, 483 U.S. 825, 107 S.Ct. 3141 (1987). In other words, the 
City must show that the proposed development will create or exacerbate a need for the 
required improvements. In this case, the proposed parking lot expansion will not generate 
additional traffic that would create a need for the extension ofSW Cedar Brook Way. 
Accessory parking lots do not generate traffic separate fi·om the uses they serve. The 
parking lot will serve the existing dental office building on tax lot 1600. No changes are 
proposed to that existing building. Therefore the proposed development will not generate 
any additional traffic, and there is no essential nexus between the impacts of the proposed 
development and a condition requiring the extension of SW Cedar Brook Way. In 
addition, the City failed to bear the burden of proof that the cost of dedicating right -of
way and constructing an extension ofSW Cedar Brook Way through tax lot 2 100 would 
be roughly proportional to the impact of the use. Dolan v. City ofTigard, 11 4 S. Ct. 2309, 
2322,512 U.S. 374, 129 L. Ed. 2d. 304 (1 994) and Koontz V. St. Johns River Water 
Management District, U.S. Supreme Court Slip Opinion, No. 11-1447, (June 25, 2013). 

Should the applicants decide to provide dedication for the extension of SW Cedar Brook 
Way, credits against Transportation System Development Charges (SDC) and the 
Washington County Transportation Development Tax (TDT) are available for the fuhrre 
development of Tax Lot 1600. These credits are available for 7 years from the date of 
dedication to the city at which time the credits wi ll expire. If the applicants decide to 
provide dedications, it should consist of the following to be consistent with the TSP: 

Hearings Officer Fir1al Order 
Case No. SP 13-01 (Pacific Dental Parking Lot) Page 46 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

105

• Dedication of public right-of-way (58-foot width) from the end ofSW Cedar 
Brook Way at the north property line of Tax Lot 2100 to the southwest 
property line of Tax Lot 2100. 

• Dedication of20-footwide slope easement to the City of Sherwood along the 
northwest side of the dedicated right-of-way and a 12-foot wide slope 
easement along the southeast side ofthe dedicated 1ight-of-way. 

• Dedication of 8-foot wide PUE along each side of the dedicated right-of-way. 

This standard is satisfied. 

Mr. Claus argues that the applicants are proposing prohibited alteration ofthe existing 
nonconforming single-family residential use on tax lot 2100. p. 39 and 40 ofExhlbit P. 
The hearings officer finds that modification of the existing nonconforming residential use 
is allowed. SZDC 16.48 .060.A prohibits the modification of structures devoted to a 
nonconforming use. except where the modification will accommodate a change to a 
confom1ing use. In this case the applicants proposed to completely remove the existing 
detached garage on tax lot 2100 in order to accommodate the proposed parking lot, a 
permitted use in the GC zone. Therefore the proposed modification is consistent with 
SZDC l6.48.060.A. The existing single-family residence on tax lot 2100 is a completely 
separate structw-e and no changes are proposed to that structure. 

Mr. Claus again refers to the prior grading activity on ta.x lot 2100. p. 40 of Exhibit P. 
However, as discussed above, that past activity is not relevant to the applicable approval 
criteria for this application. Grading for construction of the proposed parking lot 
extension will have no impact on the future extension ofSW Cedar Brook Way. 

Mr. Claus again notes that tax lots 1600 and 2100 are in separate ownership. !d. That is 
irrelevant, as discussed above. 

Mr. Claus argues that Handley Street was not designed to accommodate additional traffic. 
!d. However, as discussed above. the proposed development will not generate any 
additional traffic. 

Mr. Claus is correct that this Code section requires the extension of SW Cedar Brook 
Way as a condition of development on tax lot 2100. !d. However, as discussed above, the 
City cannot constitutionally require the extension of this street as a condition of approval 
of this development. Denial of this development for f'flilure to provide this street 
extension would constitute an unconstitutional taking. Koontz. 

Mr. Claus appears to argue that prior grading activities on the site will preclude the 
extension ofSW Cedar Brook Way. Jd. Unfortunately, Mr. Claus' argument on this point 
is confusing and the hearings officer cannot determine exactly what he is arguing here. 
All grading and construction activities proposed for this project are located on the eastern 
portion of tax lot 2100 and on tax lot 1600. See the applicants' ''preliminary grading and 
erosion control plan," Plan Sheet 4. No grading or development is proposed in the 

l learings Officer Filla/ Order 
Ca.w~ No. SP JJ.OJ (Pac((ic Dentaf fJarking Lot) Page 47 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

106

western portion of tax lot 21 00, where S W Cedar Brook Way will be extended in the 
future. The applicants' prior grading activities are not relevant to this application. 

B. Existing Streets 
Except as otherwise provided, when a development abuts an existing street, the 
improvements requirement shall apply to that portion of the street right-of-way 
located between the centerline of the right-of-way and the property line of the 
lot proposed for development. In no event shall a required street improvement 
for an existing street exceed a pavement width of thirty (30) feet. 

FINDING: The site takes access from SW Handley Street As discussed above, it would 
be difficult to justifY additional improvements or right-of-way dedication with this 
development This standard is satisfied. 

Mr. Claus argues that the applicants are attempting to block the development of adjacent 
properties. However there is no substantial evidence in the record of such intent. Even if 
there were, the applicants ' subjective intent is not relevant to the applicable approval 
criteria for this development. The hearings officer understands that the Clauses would 
like the applicants or the City to extend SW Cedar Brook Way across tax lot 2100, 
because that would facilitate development on their property west of the site. However, as 
discussed above, the City cannot require the applicants to dedicate right-of-way and 
construct the street extension as a condition of this approval, because there is no nexus 
between the impact of the proposed development and the need for the street extension, 
nor is the cost of the dedication and construction roughly proportional to the impacts of 
the development. 

16.106.030- Location 

A. Generally 
The location, width and grade of streets shall be considered in their relation to 
e"Xisting and planned streets, topographical conditions, and proposed land uses. 
The proposed street system shall provide adequate, convenient and safe traffic 
and pedestrian circulation, and intersection angles, grades, tangents, and curves 
shall be adequate for expected traffic volumes. Street alignments shall be 
consistent with solar access requirements as per Chapter 16.156, and 
topographical considerations. 

FINDING: No new streets are proposed with this development. Therefore this standard is 
inapplicable. 

B. Street Connectivity and Future Street Systems 
1. Future Street Systems. The arrangement of public streets shall provide for 

the continuation and establishment of future street systems as shown on the 
LocaJ Street Connectivity Map contained in the adopted Transportation 
System Plan (Figure 8-8). 

1/enrings Officer Final Order 
Case No. SP /3-01 (Pacific Dental Parking Lot) Page 48 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

107

ANALYSIS: As previously discussed in this Final Order, no changes are proposed to 
alter the existing access to the site from Handley Street. The proposed parking lot 
extension is not in a location that would physically hinder the continuation or 
establishment of SW Handley Street as shown in the TSP. No new streets, or extension of 
existing streets, is proposed or required. 

FINDING: As cliscussed above, future extensions of the street system is not physically 
precluded by the proposal. Approval ofthis development will have no effect on the 
continuation of the pla1med street system as shown on the Local Street Connectivity Map 
contained in the adopted Transportation System Plan (Figure 8-8); therefore this standard 
is met. 

Mr. Claus appears to argue that the applicant, working with City staff, can block the 
future extension of SW Cedar Brook Way. However Mr. Claus fai led to identify how the 
applicants and/or the City could legally do so. ln addition, Mr. Claus' allegations are 
irrelevant to this approval criterion. As proposed, tlus development will not preclude the 
future extension of SW Cedar Brook Way. 

16.106.040 - Design 

J. Transit Facilities 
Development along an existing or proposed transit route, as illustrated in 
Figure 7-2 in the TSP, is required to provide areas and facilities for bus 
turnouts, shelters, and other transit-related faciUties to Tri-Met specifications. 
Transit facilities shall also meet the foiJowing requirements: 

1. Locate buildings within 20 feet of or provide a pedestrian plaza at major 
transit stops. 

2. Provide reasonably direct pedestrian connections between the transit stop 
and building entrances on the site. 

3. Provide a transit passenger landing pad accessible to disabled persons (if not 
already existing to transit agency standards). 

4. Provide an easement or dedication for a passenger shelter and underground 
utility connection from the new development to the transit amenity if 
requested by the public transit provider. 

5. Provide lighting at a transit stop (if not already existing to transit agency 
standards). 

FINDING: There are no existing or proposed transit routes adjacent to or near this site. 
Transit facilities are not currently available to the site, and do not appear to be necessary 
for this development. This standard is not applicable. 

/learings Officer Final Order 
Case No. SP 13-0/ (Pacific Dental Parking Lot) Page 49 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

108

16.110- Sanitat)' Sewers 

16.110.010- Required Improvements 

Sanitary sewers shall be ins1alled to serve all new developments and shall connect to 
existing sanitary sewer mains. Sanitary Sewers shall be constructed, located, sized 
and installed at standards consistent 16.110. 

FINDING: The site is already provided with public sanitary sewer service. Sanitary 
sewer exists within SW Cedar Brook Way and SW Handley Street and no new 
connections are proposed. This criterion is not applicable to the proposed development. 

16.112- Water Supply 

16.112.010 - Required Improvements 

Water lines and fire hydrants conforming to City and Fire District standards shall 
be instalJed to serve all building sites in a proposed development in compliance with 
16.112. 

FINDING: Water lines exist within SW Cedar Brook Way and SW Handley StTeet which 
connect to an existing water line within Highway 99 through an existing public utility 
easement within Tax Lot 1600. 

The water line within SW Cedar Brook Way south of SW Handley Street stops short of 
the north property line of Tax Lot 2100 by approximately 30 teet. Therefore, if water 
service from the water main within SW Cedar Brook Way is necessary for Tax Lot 2100, 
then the water main with in SW Cedar Brook Way will be required to be extended to the 
north property line of Tax Lot 2100. 

Sherwood Municipal Code docs not allow water connections between separate tax lots 
unless approved by the City Engineer. 

Tax Lot 1600 has existing domestic service from the main in SW Handley Street. IfTax 
Lot 2100 cotmects to the existing ground water well for irrigation; then a reduced 
pressure backOow assembly would be required behind the existing water meter ofT ax 
Lot 1600. This is required to protect the water main within SW Handley Street from 
potential ctoss connection contamination. 

Sherwood Municipal Code Section 13.10.075 states "In general, all water line extensions 
shall extend the entire distance between opposite boundaries of the property to be served 
and shall be located within public right-of-way unless the city determines it necessary to 
construct water lines on public easements across private property. The city may elect to 
have installed a larger main than needed for the applicant's service requirements. When it 
does, the city will bear the additional cost of all piping, fittings, valves and other 
materials and equipment used." This indicates that if public water service is being 

Hearings Officer Final Order 
Case No. SP 13-01 (Pacific Dental Parking Lot) Page 50 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

109

installed for Tax Lot 2100, then the water main within Highway 99 shall be extended to 
the southwest comer of Tax Lot 2 100. 

If a water main is extended throughout the frontage of the property, the existing home 
will be required to be connected to public water and the well shall either be abandoned or 
backflow prevention shall be installed behind the new water meter to protect the water 
main from potential cross cmmection contamination. City policy requires a plumbing 
permit to be obtained through the Building Department for all private water line 
construction (irrigation is exempt). 

Engineering staff has identified some deficient easements for existing water services that 
need to be remedied by the proposed development. The fo llowing conditions are 
warranted to ensure that public lines and services are preserved. Near J Iighway 99 the 
existing water main within Tax Lot 2100 is less than 7.5 feet from the existing public 
utility easement line. A portion of the existing water vault within Tax Lot 2100 is located 
outside of the existing public utility easement. 

CONDITION: Prior to final approval, a public water line easement shall be dedicated to 
the City on the outside of the existing public utility easement to give a minimum 
easement width of7.5 feet from the existing water main. 

CONDITION: Prior to final approval, a new water vault easement shall be dedicated to 
the City on the outside of the existing public utility easement to give a minimum 
easement wjdth of 5 feet around the outside of the existing water vault. 

16.114- Storm Water 

16.114.010 - Required Improvements 

Storm water facilities, including appropriate source control and conveyance 
facilities, shaU be installed in new developments and shall connect to the existing 
downstream drainage system consistent with the Comprehensive Plan, the 
requirements of the Clean Water Services water quality regulations and section 
16.114. 

16.114.020- Design Standards 

A. Capacity 
Storm water drainage systems shall be sized, constructed, located, and installed 
at standards consistent with this Code, the Storm Drainage Master Plan Map, 
Chapter 7 ofthe Community Development Plan, other applicable City 
standards, the Clean Water Services Design and Construction standards R&O 
04-9 or its replacement, and hydrologic data and improvement plans submitted 
by the developer. 

Water quality treatment is required for all existing and newly constructed impervious 
areas on both tax lots. The proposed parking lot expansion would increase the amount of 

Hearings Officer Final Order 
Case No. SP 13-01 (Pacific Dental Pat'king Lot) Page 51 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

110

impervious surface on the site. There is an existing water quality facility on the site that is 
proposed for relocation from its current location to the western edge of the proposed 
parking lot extension area. The applicants have stated that the relocated storm water 
conveyance and disposal system would be prepared in accordance with the above listed 
standards. The Stormwater Report prepared by AKS Engineering & Forestry, LLC has 
been included with this staff report as Exhibit J. Compliance with Clean Water Service 
standards has been conditioned previously in this Final Order. 

Per Clean Water Services and City of Sherwood standards, a 45% credit of storm SDC is 
available for the construction of storm water treatment facilities and a 55% credit of 
storm SOC is available for the construction of storm detention facilities. 

City policy requires a plumbing pennit to be obtained through the Building Department 
for all private stotm sewer construction. The existing storm pipe outlet discl1arging into 
the east end of the existing water quality swale is buried below the flow line of the swale. 
There are some unknowns related to the reconfiguration of the system, therefore the 
fo llowing conditions are warranted to ensure that the development complies with the 
design and construction standards. 

FINDING: Storm sewer exists within SW Handley Street and no new connections are 
proposed. Therefore, no new public storm improvements are required. There are some 
tmknowns related to the reconfiguration of the existing private storm system, therefore 
the following conditions are warranted to ensure that the development is compliant with 
the design and construction standards. 

Mr. Claus argues that tbe applicants' stormwater calculations fail to account for the 
construction of an illegal gravel parking lot on tax lot 2100. However, as discussed 
above, the applicants' prior activities are not relevant to the approval criteria for this 
application. CWS can review the applicants' stormwater analysis to ensure that the 
proposed storm sewer facilities can accommodate any stonnwater runoff that may flow 
into the proposed parking Jot from the portions of tax lot 2100 that are not part of the 
current development proposal. Prior grading activities by the applicants that may be 
generating additional stom1water flows outside of the proposed parking lot are not 
relevant to this approva] criterion, because such impacts are not proposed with this 
development. If such stonnwater impacts are occurring as a result of prior grading 
activities, they can only be addressed through the City' s or CWS' enforcement processes. 

CONDITION: Prior to fmal approval, either the existing water quality swale shall be re
graded or the storm pipe will be re-laid to allow the pipe to discharge into the :flow line of 
the swale. 

CONDITION: Prior to fmal approval, a private stormwater facility access and 
maintenance covenant between the owner and the City shall be implemented and recorded 
with Washington County with a copy being provided to the. City. 

B. On-Site Source Control 

Hearing.v Officer Final Order 
Case No. SP 13-01 (Pacific Dental Parking Lot) Page 52 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

111

Storm water detention and groundwater recharge improvements, including but 
not limited to such facilitie-s as dry wells, detention ponds, and roof top ponds 
shall be constructed according to Clean Water Services Design and 
Construction Standards. 

FINDING: The proposed storm drainage improvements do not include dry wells> 
detention ponds, or roof top ponds. Therefore, these standards are not applicable. 

C. Conveyance System 
The size, capacity and location of storm water sewers and other storm water 
conveyance improvements shall be adequate to serve the development and 
accommodate upstream and downstream flow. Han upstream area discharges 
through the property proposed for development, the drainage system shall 
provide capacity to the receive storm water discharge from the upstream area. 
If downstream drainage systems are not sufficient to receive an increase in 
storm water caused by new development, provisions shall be made by the 
developer to increase the downstream capacity or to provide detention such tbat 
the new development will not increase the storm water caused by the new 
development. 

FINDING: Per the stom1water report provided by AKS Engineering, the preliminary 
storm drainage improvements are adequate to serve the proposed development and 
accommodate upstream and downstream flow. This standard is satisfied. 

16.114.030- Service Availability 

Approval of construction plans for new storm water drainage facilities pursuant to 
Chapter 16.106, and the issuance of building permits for new development to be 
served by existing storm water drainage systems shall include certification by the 
City that existing or proposed drainage facilities are adequate to serve the 
development. 

FINDING: The attached stonnwater report includes the necessary documentation 
demonstrating that the stormwater drainage facilities are adequate to serve the site. The 
applicants met with City Engineering staff at the pre-application conference and 
discussed utilizing the existing stormwater facility located on the Pacific Family Dental 
site. The required calculations and design are included in the Stormwater Report included 
with this staff report as Exhibit J. The preliminary storm drainage improvements are 
adequate to serve the proposed development and accommodate upstream and downstream 
flow provided the conditions recommended above are met. 

16.116-Fire Protection 

16.116.020- Standards 

A. Capacity 

lleariflgs Officer Final Order 
Case No. SP 13-01 (Pacific Dental Parking Lot) Page 53 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

112

All fire protection facilities shall be approved by and meet the specifications of 
the Fire District, and shaD be sized, constructed, located, and instaJled 
consistent with this Code, Chapter 7 of the Community Development Plan, and 
other applicable City standards, in order to adequately protect life and 
property in the proposed development. 

B. Fire Flow 
Standards published by the Insurance Services Office, entitled "Guide for 
Determination of Required Fire Flows" shaD determine the capacity of facilities 
required to furnish an adequate fire flow. Fire protection facilities shall be 
adequate to convey quantities of water, as determined by ISO standards, to any 
outlet in the system, at no less than twenty (20) pounds per square inch residual 
pressure. Water supply for fire protection purposes shall be restricted to that 
available from the City water system. The location of hydrants shaD be taken 
into account in deter mining whether an adequate water supply exists. 

C. Access to Facilities 
Whenever any hydrant or other appurtenance for use by the Fire District is 
required by this Chapter, adequate ingress and egress shall be provided. Access 
shall be in the form of an improved, permanently maintained roadway or open 
paved area, or any combination thereof, designed, constructed, and at all times 
maintained, to be clear and unobstructed. Widths, height clearances, ingress 
and egress shall be adequate for District ttrefighting equipment. The Fire 
District may further prohibit vehicular parlOng along private accessways in 
order to keep them clear and unobstructed, and cause notice to that effect to be 
posted. 

D. Hydrants 
Hydrants located along private, accessways shall either have curbs painted 
yellow or otherwise marked prohibiting parking for a distance of at least fifteen 
(15) feet in either direction, or where curbs do not exist, markings shaD be 
painted on the pavement, or signs erected, or both, given notice that parking is 
prohibited for at least fifteen (15} feet in either direction. 
(Ord. No. 2010-015, § 2, 10~5-2010; Ord. 91-922, § 3; Ord. 86~851, § 3) 

FINDING: The proposal will not jmpact the existing access to the office building or the 
existing hydrants constructed as part of the original building approval (SP 06-07). The 
TVFR Deputy Fire Marshal has reviewed the plans and indicated that be is not concerned 
with the proposed expansion. Therefore, this standard is not applicable. 

Mr. Claus argued that the Fire Marshall 's comments are inapplicable, because the Fire 
Marshall reviewed this proposal as a parking lot extension, not as a separate parking lot. 
The hearings officer fi nds that the proposed development is an expansion of the existing 
parking lot on tax lot 1600, not a separate, free-standing, commercial parking lot. Access 
to the new parking lot will be provided through the existing parking lots on tax lot 1600 
via the existing driveways on Handley Street. Although tax lots 1600 and 2100 are in 
separate ownerships, required easements will enstrre that the parking areas 011 the two 

Hearings Officer Final Order 
Case No. Sl) 13-01 (Pactjlc Dental Parking LoO Page 54 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

113

parcels function as a single parking lot. The proposed development may improve fire 
access to the building on tax lot 1600, by providing paved vehicular access behind the 
building. 

16.118- Public and Private Utilities 

16.118.020- Standards 
A. Installation of utilities shall be provided in public utility easements and shall be 

sized, constructed, located and installed consistent with this Code, Chapter 7 of 
the Community Development Code, and applicable utility company and City 
standards. 

B. Public utility easements shall be a minimum of eight feet in width unless a 
reduced width is specifically exempted by the City Engineer. 

C. Where necessary, in the judgment of the City Manager or his designee, to 
provide fot· orderly development of adjacent properties, public and franchise 
utilities shall be extended through the site to the edge of adjacent property (ies). 

D. Franchise utility conduits shall be installed per the utility design and 
specification standards of the utility agency. 

E. Public Telecommunication conduits and appurtenances shall be installed per 
the City of Shenvood telecommunication design standards. 

F. Exceptions: Installation shall not be required if the development docs not 
require any other street improvements. In those instances, the developer shall 
pay a fee in lieu that will finance installation when street or utility 
improvements in that location occur. 

ANALYSIS: The site is served by existing utilities. 

FINDING: Utilities are available to the property and, as demonstrated within the plans 
and narrative an existing electric transformer vault is being relocated. The applicants state 
that all proposed utilities shall meet 16.1 18.030 and 16.118.040. These standards are 
satisfied. 

Division VIII. Environmental Resources 
The applicable provisions of Chapter 6 include: 16.142 (Parks, Trees and Open 
Spaces), 16.144 (Wetland, Habitat and Natural Areas), 16.146 (Noise), 16.148 
(Vibrations), 16.150 (Air Quality), 16.152 (Odors), and 16.154 (Heat and Glare) 

Compliance with the standards in these sections is discussed below: 

16.142 - Parks, Trees and Open Spaces 

16.142.040 - Visual Corridors 

Hearings Officer Final Order 
Case No. SJ> 13-01 (Pac[(ic Dental Parking Lo(} Page 55 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

114

A. Corridors Required 

New developments located outside of the Old Town Overlay with frontage on 
Highway 99W, or arterial or collector streets designated on Figure 8-1 of the 
Transportation System Plan shall be required to establish a landscaped visual 
corridor according to the following standards: 

Category Width 

1. Highway 99W 25ft. 

In residential developments where fences are typically desired adjoining the above 
described major street the corridor may be placed in the road right-of-way between 
the property line and the sidewalk. In all other developments, the visual corridor 
shall be on private property adjacent to the right-of-way. 

B. Landscape Materials 

The required visual corridor areas shaJI be planted as specified by the review 
authority to provide a continuous visual and/or acoustical buffer between major 
streets and developed uses. Except as provided for above, fences and walls shall not 
be substituted for landscaping within the visual corridor. Uniformly planted, 
drought resistant street trees and ground cover, as specified in Section 16.142.060, 
shall be pla11ted in the corridor by the developer. The improvements shall be 
included in the compliance agreement. In no case shall trees be removed from the 
required visual corridor. 

C. Establishment and Maintenance 

Designated visual corridors shall be established as a portion of landscaping 
requirements pursuant to Chapter 16.92. To assure continuous maintenance of the 
visual corridors, the review authority may require that the development rights to 
the corridor areas be dedicated to the City or that restrictive covenants be recorded 
prior to the issuance of a building permit. 

D. Required Yard 

Visual corridors may be established in required yards, except that where the 
required visual corridor width exceeds the required yard width, the visual corridor 
requirement shall take precedence. In no case shall buildings be sited within the 
required visual corridor, with the exception of front porches on townhomcs, as 
permitted in Section 16.44.010(E)(4){c). 

E. Pacific Highway 99W Visual Corridor 

Hearings Officer Final Order 
Case No. SP 13-f)J (Pacific Dental Parking Lot) Page 56 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

115

1. Provide a landscape plan for the highway median paralleling the subject frontage. 
In order to assure continuity, appropriate plant materials and spacing, the plan 
shall be coordinated witb the City Planning Department and ODOT. 

2. Provide a visual corridor landscape plan with a variety of trees and shrubs. Fifty 
percent (SO%) of the visual corridor plant materials shall consist of groupings of at 
least five (5) native evergreen trees a minimum of ten (10) feet in height each, spaced 
no less tban fifty (50) feet apart, if feasible. Deciduous trees shall be a minimum of 
four (4) inches DBH and twelve (12) feet high, spaced no less than twenty-five (25) 
feet apart, if feasible. 

ANALYSIS: The applicants are proposing non-residential development on a parcel 
located outside of the Old Town Overlay that has frontage on Highway 99. Therefore the 
applicants are required to provide a 25-foot wide visual corridor on the section of the site 
adjacent to the Highway 99 right-of-way. 

The applicants have provided a 25-foot visual corridor along a portion of the site where it 
abuts the new parking area. However the applicants have not shown the appropriate type 
oflandscaping groupings as indicated in this provision. In addition, the landscaped 
corridor does not extend along the entire site frontage. The applicant can rely on the 
existing vegetation on the site to help fulfill this criterion, but the applicant must provide 
sufficient existing and proposed vegetation to comply with this criterion. 

FINDING: Based on the above discussion the applicants have not met this provision, but 
can do so with the following condition. 

CONDITION: Prior to final site plan approval, provide a landscape plan that shows the 
appropriate visual corridor along the site's entire Highway 99W frontage that is consistent 
with the standard. The applicants can rely on existing vegetation on the undeveloped 
portions of the site to meet this standard. 

Mr. Claus appears to argue that this condition fails to provide sufficient specificity for the 
design of the visual corridor and there is no guarantee that the final design of the visual 
corridor will provide adequate screening. p. 48 of Exhibit P. The hearings officer finds 
that SZDC 16.142.040.£(2) provides specific requirements for numbers, types and 
spacing of plantings within visual corridors on Highway 99. Compliance with the 
planting and spacing requirements of the Code will ensure an adequate visual corridor. 
The applicant is required to provide a visual corridor along the site's entire Highway 99 
frontage. 

The fact that the applicants arc demolishing the detached garage on tax lot 2100 is 
irrelevant to this approval criterion. 

The fact that the two tax lots that make up the site are in different ownerships has no 
affect on compliance with this criterion. 

Hearings Officer Final Order 
Case No. Sf' 13-01 (Pacific /)ental Parking Lot) Page 57 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

116

Mr. Claus argued that the applicant, '1[h]as no median and [therefore] he doesn't play the 
visual corridor and you should lead to a rejection of the entire plan." !d. The hearings 
officer finds that it is feasible for the applicants to comply with all of the Code 
requirements for visual corridors. The Code provides specific design requirements for 
visual corridors. The applicants can be required to comply with those requirements. There 
is sufficient area along the s ite' s Highway 99 frontage to accommodate the required 
corridor. 

16.142.060- Street Trees 

A. Installation of Street Trees on New or Redeveloped Property. 
Trees arc required to be planted to the following specifications along public 
streets abutting or within any new development or re-development. Planting of 
such trees shall be a condition of development approval. The City shall be 
subject to the same standards for any developments involving City-owned 
property, or when constructing or reconstructing City streets. After installing 
street trees, the property owner shall be responsible for maintaining the street 
trees on the owner's property or within the right-of-way adjacent to the owner's 
property. 

1. Location: Trees shall be planted within the planter strip along a newly 
created or improved street. In the event that a planter strip is not required or 
available, the trees shall be planted on private property within the front yard 
setback area or within public street right-of-way between front property 
lines and street curb lines or as required by the City. 

2. Size: Trees shall have a minimum trunk diameter of two {2) inches DBH and 
minimum height of six (6) feet. Diameter at breast height (DBH) shall be 
measured as def'med by the International Society of Arboriculture. 

3. Types: Developments shall include a variety of street trees. The trees planted 
shall be chosen from those listed in 16.142.080 of this Code. 

4. Required Street Trees and Spacing: 
a. The minimum spacing is based on the maximum canopy spread identified 

in the recommended street tree list in section 16.142.080 with the intent of 
providing a continuous canopy without openings between the trees. For 
example, if a tree has a canopy of forty ( 40) feet, the spacing between 
trees is forty (40) feet. If the tree is not on the Ust, the mature canopy 
width must be provided to the planning department by a certified 
arbol'ist. 

b. All new developments shall provide adequate tree planting along aU 
public streets. The number and spacing of trees shall be determined 
based on the type of tree and the spacing standards described in a. above 
and considering driveways, street light locations and utility connections. 
Unless exempt per c. below, trees shall not be spaced more than forty (40) 
feet apart in any development. 

Hearings O.fficer Fi~tal Order 
Case No. Sf' 13-01 (Pacific Dental Parking Lot) ?age 58 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

117

c. A new development may exceed the forty-foot spacing requirement under 
section b. above, under the following circumstances: 

(1) lnstalling the tree would interfere with existing utility lines and no 
substitute tree is appropriate for the site; or 

(2) There is not adequate space in which to plant a street tree due to 
driveway or street light locations, vision cJearance or utility 
connections, provided the driveways, street light or utilities could 
not be reasonably located elsewhere so as to accommodate 
adequate room for street trees; and 

(3) The street trees are spaced as close as possible given the site 
limitations in (1) and (2) above. 

(4) The location of street trees in an ODOT or Washington County 
right-of-way may require approval, respectively, by ODOT or 
Washington County and are subject to the relevant state or county 
standards. 

(5) For arterial and collector streets, the City may require planted 
medians in lieu of paved twelve-foot wide center turning lanes, 
planted with trees to the specifications of this subsection. 

FINDING: No new street trees are required for this proposal. Street trees were provided 
along the site's street frontages with the original development. No new streets are 
proposed with this development. Therefore these standards are not applicable. 

Mr. Claus again argues that the applicants should be required to extend SW Cedar Brook 
Way as a condition of this development approval. p. 49 of Exhibi t P. However, as 
discussed above, the City cannot constitutionally impose such a condition of approval, 
because the proposed parking lot does not create the need for this street extension and the 
cost of the extension would exceed the impacts of the proposed development. Required 
street trees were installed on tax lot 1600 when the dental office was originally 
constructed. Tax lot 2100 currently has no street frontage, other than on Pacific Highway, 
where a visual corridor is required. Therefore street trees are not requi red ai this time. 
Street trees can be provided in the future when SW Cedar Brook Way is extended. 

16.142.070 - Trees on Property Subject to Certain Land Use Applications 

All site developments subject to Section 16.92.020 shall be required to preserve trees 
or woodlands to the maximum extent feasible within the context of the proposed 
land use plan and relative to other policies and standards of the City 
Comprehensive Plan, as determined by the City. Review and mitigation shall be 
consistent with 16.142.060 A, B, C and D. 

Hearings Officer Piflal Order 
Case No. SP 13-0/ (Pacific Dental Parking !,at) Page 59 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

118

FINDING: The applicants are not proposing to remove any of the existing on-site 
landscaping; therefore, this standard is not applicable to the proposed development. 

Mr. Claus noted that the applicants previously removed trees from the site in order to 
create a gravel surface parking area on tax lot 21 00. While that is unfortunate, it is 
irrelevant to this approval criterion. Any prior illegal tree removal must be dealt with 
through the City' s enforcement process. 

D. Retention requirements 

1. Trees may be considered for removal to accommodate the development including 
buildings, parking, walkways, grading etc., provided the development satisfies of 
D.2 or D.3, below. 

2. Required Tree Canopy - Residential Developments (Single Family Attached, 
Single Family Detached and Two- Family) 

Each net development site shall provide a variety of trees to achieve a minimum 
total tree canopy of 40 percent. The canopy percentage is based on the expected 
mature canopy of each tree by using the equation 1tr2 to calculate the expected 
square footage of canopy for each tree. The expected mature canopy is counted for 
each tree regardless of an overlap of multiple tree canopies. 

The canopy requirement can be achieved by retaining existing trees or planting new 
trees. Required street trees can be used toward the total on site canopy required to 
meet this standard. The expected mature canopy spread of the new trees wiiJ be 
counted toward the needed canopy cover. A certified arborist or other qualified 
professional shall provide the estimated tree canopy of the proposed trees to the 
planning department for review. 

3. Required Tree Canopy- Non-Residential and Multi-family Developments 

Each net development site shall provide a variety of trees to achieve a minimum 
total tree canopy of 30 percent. The canopy percentage is based on the expected 
mature canopy of each tree by using the equation nr2 to calculate the expected 
square footage of each tree. The eA"Pected mature canopy is counted for each tree 
even if there is an ovel'lap of multiple tree canopies. 

The canopy requirement can be achieved by retaining existing trees or planting new 
trees. Required landscaping trees can be used toward the total on site canopy 
required to meet this standard. The expected mature canopy spread of the new trees 
will be counted toward the required canopy cover. A certified a rborist or other 
qualified professional shall provide an estimated tree canopy for all proposed trees 
to the planning department for review as a part of the land use review process. 

l!earings Officer Final Order 
Case No. SJ> 13-0 I (Pacific Dental Parking Lot) Pag~ 60 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

119

Residential Old Commercial 
Town 

Canopy Requirement 40% N/A 30% 
Counted Toward the Canopy 
Requirement 
Street trees included in canopy Yes N/A No 
requirement 
Landscapi11g requirements N/A NIA Yes 
included in canopy requirement 
Existing trees onsite Yes N/A Yes 

x2 x2 
Planting new trees onsite Yes NIA Yes 

FINDING: The applicants have not provided details as to compliance with this criterion; 
however it appears likely with the amount of proposed landscaping and existing trees on 
site that this criterion could be satisfied with the following condition. 

Mr. Claus again notes that the applicants removed trees and other vegetation on the site in 
order to construct an illegal gravel surfaced parking lot on tax lot 2100. pp. 50 and 51 of 
Exhibit P. However that prior clearing activity will not preclude the applicants from 
complying with the canopy requirement. SZDC 16.142.070.D(3) provides, "The canopy 
requirement can be achieved by retaining existing trees or planting new trees." The City 
encourages the retention of existing trees by doubling the canopy of existing trees for 
purposes of computing the canopy requirement. SZDC 16142.070.E. Therefore, to the 
extent the prior clearing activities reduced the number of existing trees on the site, the 
applicants will need to plant more new trees to meet this criterion. But the prior clearing 
does not preclude the applicants from complying with this standard. 

Mr. Claus argued that the required plantings will inhibit the extension of SW Cedar 
Brook Way, because the applicants will plant trees in the right-of-way for this future 
street extension. p. 51 of Exhibit P. The hearings officer finds that required plantings will 
not pr~clude the future street extension. CWS regulations require that the applicants plant 
trees in the entire vegetated corridor in order to improve the existing degraded condition 
of the corridor. SW Cedar Brook Way is planned to be extended across the vegetated 
corridor in the future. Construction of this extension will require removal of some oftbe 
required plantings when SW Cedar Brook Way is extended in the future. Those impacts 
are unavoidable; because there is no specific alignment plan for the Cedar Brook Way 
extension, it is impossible to avoid planting trees within the future right of way for this 
street. However those impacts will not preclude compliance with this criterion. The City 
and/or CWS may require additional plantings when SW Cedar Brook Way is extended 
the future in order to replace/mitigate for trees removed by roadway construction. 

CONDITION: Prior to final site plan approval, provide landscape plans that show that 
the site meets the tree canopy requirement of 30-percent of the entire site area. 

Hearings Officer Final Order 
Case No. SP 13-01 (Pacific Dental Parking Lot) Page 61 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

120

Mr. Claus appears to argue that the City is being inconsistent in jts treatment ofthe two 
tax lots that make up the site, treating them as separate parcels for purposes of street trees 
and as a single parcel for purposes of the canopy requirement. p. 51 of Exhibit P. The 
hearings officer disagrees. The street tree requirement applies to street frontages. As 
discussed above, only tax lot 1600 has existing street frontage that requires street trees 
and those frontages already comply with the street tree requirement. Tax lot 2100 has no 
existing street frontage, other than Highway 99. Therefore street trees are not required on 
that portion of the site. Both tax lot 1600 and 2100 have frontage on Highway 99 and the 
applicants are required to provide a landscaped visual corridor along that entire site 
frontage, lots 1600 and 2100. The canopy requirement ofSZDC 16.1 42.070.0(3) must be 
met based on the area of the entire site. Therefore it is necessary to include both lots in 
the canopy cover calculation. 

16.144-Wet1and, Habitat and Natural Areas 

16.144.020- Standards 

A. The applicants shall identify and describe the significance and functional value 
of wetlands on tbe site and protect those wetlands from adverse effects oftbe 
development. A facility complies with this standard if it complies with the 
criteria of subsections A.1.a and A.l.b, below: 

1. The facility will not reduce the area of wetlands on the site, and de.velopment 
will be separated from such wetlands by an area determined by the Clean 
Water Services Design and Construction Standards R&O 00-7 or its 
replacement provided Section 16.140.090 does not require more than the 
requested setback. 
a. A natural condition sucb as topography, soil, vegetation or other feature 

isolates the area of development from the wetland. 

b. Impact mitigation measures will be designed, implemented, and 
monitored to provide effective protection against harm to the wetland 
from sedimcntaHon, erosion, loss of surface or ground water supply, or 
physical trespass. 

c. A lesser setback complies with federal and state permits, or standards 
that will apply to state and federal permits, if required. 

FINDING: The applicants are not proposing to remove any of the existing on-site 
landscaping. According to the Natural Resource Assessment (Exhibit I) wrinen by 
SWCA Consultants and corroborated by Clean Water Services (Exhibit K), there are on
site wetlands on the western portion ofta.x lot 2100, which require a 50-foot-wide 
vegetated corridor. The applicants propose no vegetated corridor impacts with this 
development. Included in the Natural Resource Assessment is a plan for enhancing the 
vegetated corridor to the specifications required by Clean Water Services. The plan 
includes a list of native trees, shrubs and groundcovers that would be planted upon 
approval. Additionally, a maintenance plan describing a two-year maintenance period is 

/leurings Officer Final Order 
Case No. SP 13-01 (Pacific Dental Parking Lot) !'age 62 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

121

included with the vegetated corridor planting plan. The site would not reduce the area of 
wetlands on the site. Therefore, this standard is satisfied. 

16.146- Noise 

16.146.010- GeneralJy 

All otherwise permitted commercial, industrial, and institutional uses in the City 
shall comply with the noise standards contained in OAR 340-35-035. The City may 
require proof of compliance with OAR 340-35-035 in the form of copies of all 
applicable State permits or certification by a professional acoustical engineer that 
the proposed uses will not cause noise in excess of State standards. 

FINDING: The only increase in noise due to the proposed parking lot extension would 
occur during construction and be of temporary duration. It is not anticipated that this 
development would create high levels of noise beyond what is expected in an urban area. 
There are not any expected adverse impacts therefore this standard is satisfied. 

Mr. Claus appears to argue that construction vehicle parking activities on tax lot 2100 
generate noise in violation of this standard. p. 52 of Exhibit P. Assuming that is true, it is 
irrelevant. No construction vehicle parking is proposed with this application. 

Construction of the proposed parking lot will require the operation of construction 
equipment, which will generate noise. However those impacts are short term and 
temporary, while construction is actually occurring on the site. Once the parking lot is 
completed, those impacts will cease. ln addition, construction noise is exempt from the 
noise limitations of OAR 340-035-035. See OAR 340-035-0035((5)(g). At the hearing 
Mr. Claus argued that the applicants and/or Mr. Platt intends to continue parking 
construction equipment on the portion of tax lot 2100 outside ofthe parking lot. llowcver 
such activities are prohibited in the GC zone and therefore would be a violation subject to 
enforcement action by the City. 

16.148- Vibrations 

16.148.010- Generally 

All otherwise permitted commercial, industrial, and institutional uses shall not 
cause discernible vibrations that exceed a peak of 0.002 gravity at the property line 
of the originating use, except for vibrations that last five (S) minutes or less per day, 
based on a certification by a professional engineer. 

FINDING: It is not anticipated that this development would create high levels of 
vibration beyond what is expected in an urban area. There are no expected adverse 
vibration impacts therefore this standard is satisfied. 

16.150- Air QuaUty 

Hearing.~ Officer Final Order 
Case No .. SP !3-0/ (Pac{fic Dental Parking Lot) Page 63 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

122

16.150.010- Generally 

All otherwise permitted commercial, industrial, and institutional uses shall comply 
with applicable State air quality rules and statutes: 

A. AU such uses shall comply with standards for dust emissions as per OAR 340-
21-060. 

B. Incinerators, if otherwise permitted by Section 16.140.020, shall comply with 
the standards set forth in OAR 340-25-850 through 340-25-905. 

C. Uses for which a State Air Contaminant Discharge Permit is required as per 
OAR 340-20-140 through 340-20-160 shall comply with the standards of OAR 
340-220 through 340-20-276. 

FINDING: It is not anticipated that there will be high levels of air pollution beyond what 
is expected in an urban area. There are no expected adverse air quaHty impacts therefore 
this standard is satisfied. 

16.152- Odors 

16.152.010- Generally 

All otherwise permitted commercial, industrial, and institutional uses shaJI 
incorporate the best practicable design and operating measures so that odors 
produced by the use are not discernible at any point beyond the boundaries of the 
development site. 

FINDING: Jt is not anticipated that there will be high levels of odor or unusual beyond 
what is expected in an urban area. There arc no expected adverse odor impacts, therefore 
this standard is satisfied. 

16.152- Heat and Glare 

16.154.010- Generally 

Except for exterior lighting, aU otherwise permitted commercial, industrial, and 
institutional uses shall conduct any operations producing excessive heat or glare 
entirely within enclosed buildings. Exterior lighting shall be directed away from 
adjoining properties, and the use shall not cause such glare or lights to shine off site 
in excess of one-half (0.5) foot candle when adjoining properties are zoned for 
residential uses. 

ANALYSIS: The applicants ' lighting plan identified eight (8) new exterior lights to 
illuminate the proposed parking lot extension. All exterior lighting will be be directed 

Hearings Officer Final 01•der 
Ct:L~e No. SP 13-01 (Pacific Dental Parking Lot) Page 64 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

123

toward the interior of the proposed parking lot and away from adjacent residential uses 
and the existing building. 

FINDING: The proposed lighting plan only shows the anticipated foot-candle levels 
within the parking lot. It is unclear what amount of illwnination, if any, would spill over 
onto adjacent properties. The applicants did not respond, and .it is not clear from the 
proposed plans whether or not lighting would be added or required in these areas. 
Therefore, the following condition is warranted. 

CONDITION: Prior to final site plan approval , the applicants shall submit a revised 
lighting plan showing that the lighting will not shine more than 0.5 foot candle from the 
property onto adjacent properties. 

D. CONCLUSION 

Based on the above findings, the hearings officer concludes that File No. SP 13-0 I 
(Pacific Dental Parking Lot) should be approved, because the applicants sustained the 
burden of proof that it does or can comply with applicable approval standards of the 
SZDC subject to the conditions recommended by City staff, as amended consistent with 
the discussion above. 

G. DECISION 

The hearings officer hereby approves File No. SP 13-01 (Pacific Dental Parking 
Lot), subject to the following conditions of approval : 

CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 

1. Compliance with the Conditions of Approval is the responsibility of the developer 
or its successor in interest. 

2. This land use approval shall substantially comply with the submitted site plans 
dated July 15, 2013 prepared by AKS Engineering and Forestry except as 
indicated in the fo Bowing conditions of the Notice of Decision. Additional 
development ot change of use may require a new development application and 
approval. 

3. The developer/owner/applicants are responsible for all costs associated with 
private/public facility improvements. 

4. This approval is valid for a period of two (2) years from the date of the decision 
notice. Extensions may be granted by the City as afforded by the Sherwood 
Zoning and Community Development Code. 

l learings O.fflcer Final Order 
Case No. SP I 1-01 (Pacific Dental Parking Lot) Page 65 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

124

5. An on-going condition of approval is that the site be maintained in accordance 
with the approved site plan. 

6. The continual operation of the property shall comply with the applicable 
requirements of the Sherwood Zoning and Community Development Code and 
Municipal Code. 

7. A temporary use permit must be obtained from the Planning Department prior to 
placing a construction trailer on-site. 

8. This approval does not negate the need to obtain permits, as appropriate from 
other local, state or federal agencies even if not specifically required by this 
decision. 

9. Use ofthis parking area shall be limited to employees and patrons of the existing 
dental office building on tax lot 1600. Rental, lease, sale or other commercial use 
of the parking spaces shall not be allowed without further City review and 
approval. 

Prior to issuance site, grading, or erosion control permits from the Building 
Department: 
1. Obtain City of Sherwood Building Department approval for any grading or 

erosion control plans. 

Prior to Final Site Plan Approval: 
L Submit evidence-indicating compliance with the required conditions provided by 

Clean Water Services File Number 13-001610, Exhibit K. This includes obtaining 
City of Sherwood Building Department approval for any grading or erosion 
control plans. 

2. Provide additional infonnation on how the topsoil or subsoil preparation will be 
undertaken to ensure that the new landscape plants will receive the appropriate 
nutrients and soil conditions to survive. 

3. Submit a letter from the landscape architect certifying that the plants are native 
and/or are the most appropriate for the site or if they modify the plant list to 
provide the required native plants. 

4. Provide a landscape plan that shows the appropriate combination of trees to 
satisfy the parking lot landscaping standard. 

1 fearil1gs Officer Final Order 
Case No. SP 13-0 I (Pacific Dental Parking Lot) Page 66 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

125

5. Submit landscape plans that show a visual corridor along the site' s entire 
Highway 99W frontage that is consistent with the visual corridor standard. The 
applicants can rely on existing vegetation on the undeveloped portions of the site 
to meet this standard. 

6. Submit additional information identifying how the garbage/recycle area would be 
screened from Handley Street. 

7. Submit additional infom1ation clearly identifying where all parking, loading or 
maneuvering areas would be marked or painted. 

8. Submit a revised lighting plan showing that the lighting will not be more than 0.5 
foot candle from the property onto adjacent properties. 

9. Submit evidence of tbe following information as requested by Pride Disposal 
Company: 

a. The enclosure needs to have inside measurements of 20 feet wide and 10 
feet deep. 

b. There should be no center post at the access point in the center of the 
enclosure. 

c. The gates wilJ need to allow for the full 20 feet needed to access the 
enclosure. They should be hinged in front of the enclosure walls to allow 
for the full20 feet width. This wHl also allow for the 120 degree opening 
angle that is required. 

d. The gates need cane bolts and holes put in place for the gates to be locked 
in the open and closed position. The holes for the gates to be held open 
need to be at the full 120-degree opening angle. 

e. No roof on the enclosure . 
. ·~. -· ~ . ·-, ' 

\ ·' . ', 
10. ProVide landse(!P.@.P~~s thsl: shqwLn~ the site meets the tree canopy requirement 

of 30-percent of the entire site area. 

Prior to Final Approval: 
1. Receive Sherwood Engineering Department approval of engineering plans for all 

public improvements and/or connections to public utilities (water, sewer, storm 
water, and streets) including comp1iance with all conditions specified in '•Prior to 
approval of public improvement plans. 

2. Provide staff with proof of a recorded joint access and maintenance easement 
between lots 1600 and 2100 for the purposes of providing legal access to the 

Hearings Officer Final Order 
Case No. SP 13-01 (Pacific Dental Parking Lot) Page 67 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

126

accessory parking area as well as maintaining the water quality faci lity and trash 
enclosure. 

3. Obtain final site plan approval from the Planning Department. 

4. Re-grade the existing water quality swale or re-lay the storm pipe to allow the 
pipe to discharge into the flow line of the swale. 

5. Provide evidence that a private stormwater facility access and maintenance 
covenant between the owner and the City has been implemented and recorded 
wit11 Washington County with a copy being provided to the City. 

6. Dedicate a public water line easement to the City on the outside of the existing 
public utility easement to give a minimwn easement width of7.5 feet from the 
existing water main within Tax Lot 2100. 

7. Dedicate a new water vault easement to the City on the outside of the existing 
public uti lity easement to give a minimum casement width of 5 feet arm.md the 

outside of the existing water vault within Tax Lot 2100. 

8. Install the required landscaping or pay a security equal to 125% of the cost of the 
landscaping will be filed with the City. 

9. All site improvements including but not limited to landscaping, parking and site 
lighting shall be installed per the approved .final site plan and inspected and 
approved by the Planning Department. 

Hearings Officer Final Order 
Case No. SP 13-01 (Pacific Dental Parking Lot) 

DATE this~OI3. 

e Turner, AlCP 
City of Sherwood Hearings Officer 

Page 68 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

127

J.CLAUS COMMENTS IN RED INSERTED TO ADDRESS ISSUES 
1N THE FINAL ORDER of the hearings officer: 

BEFORE THE LAND USE HEARINGS OFFICER 
OF CITY OF SHERWOOD, OREGON 

Regarding an application for site plan approval to ) 
expand an existing parking lot at 17680 SW Handley ) 
Street onto an adjacent parcel at 22065 SW Pacific ) 
Highway in the City of Sherwood, Oregon ) 

FINAL ORDER 
Case No. 

A. SUMMARY 

SP 13-01 
(Pacific Dental Parking Lot) 

l. The applicants, Handle Properties, LLC & Knob Properties LLC, request site 
plan approval to expand the existing 38-space parking lot at 17680 SW Handley Street 
(also known as tax lot 1000 2S 130CD) onto the adjacent property at 22065 SW Pacific 
Highway (also known as tax lot2100 2Sl3BA) (collectively, the "site"). The proposed 
expanded parking lot will have a total of 73 parking spaces. The applicants will also 
relocate the existing solid waste/recycling facility and an electric trnnsformer vault. The 
site and sun·ounding properties to the southwest, north, across SW Handley Street, and 
east, across Highway 99, are zone GC (General CommerciaQ. Properties to the nOlihwest 
and northeast are zoned LDR-PUD (Low Density Residential , Planned Unit 
Development) . Properties to the south, across Highway 99, are zoned MDRH (Medium 
Density Residential High). Tax lot 1600 is currently developed with a 14,054 square foot 
office building. Tax lot 2100 is developed with a single-family residence, shop and well 
house. Tax lot 2100 also contains a gravel parking area that was constructed without 
required permits. The applicants will remove the shop and gravel parking lot and retain 
the single-family residence and well house on tax lot 21 00. Additional basic facts about 
the site and surroundings and applicable approval standards are provided in the CHy of 
Sherwood StaffRepO llto the hearings officer dated October l 7, 20 13 (the "StaffRepott ") 
incorporated herein by reference, except to the extent modified by or inconsistent 
herewith. 

COMMENT: Petitioner objects to several of the characterizations and description 
omissions in the hearing officer's summary. The gravel parking area was illegal. There 
was a commercial beauty salon on site that is being proposed to be demolished. None of 
Doyel's illegal activities are summarized. The hearings officer misidentifies "the site" as 
TL #1600 and the parking lot from TL #21 00 and mischaracterizes this site plan 
application. How much of the two sites is involved throughout this final order varies. 
Many of the accompanying issues in this order involve both parcels, yet only one site 
plan has been submitted. The two parcels remain in separate ownership but forever tied 
together in attempts to cure illegalities and non-conformities. 

2. City of Sherwood Hearings Officer Joe Turner (the ''hearings officer") 

CLAUS COMMENTS TO FINAL ORDER (PAGE I) 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

128

conducted a pub I ic hearing about the application. City staff recommended that the 
bearings officer approve the application subjectto conditions of approval in the Staff 
Report The applicants accepted those findings and conditions '¥ithout objections or 
corrections. Two persons testified orally or in writing 1n favor of the application and three 
person s testified orally or in writing in opposition. Contested issues in the case include 
the following: 

a. Whether the bearings officer is required to reopen the record to accept 
Mr. C laus' November 7,20 13 1etter; 

b. Whether the City provided adequate public notice ofthe application and 
hearing; 

c. Whether the Code requires unity of ownership of the properties 
proposed for development; 

CLAUS C.OMMF\1 rs TO FINAl ORDER (PAGli~J 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

129

d. Whether past violations on the site and the City's failure to take 
immediate enforcement action. are relevant to the approval criteria for this development: 

e. Whether the proposed use is permitted in the CO zone; 

f. Whether the applicants can be required to extend SW Cedar Brook Way 
as a condition oftbis approval · 

g. Whether approval of this development wi 1 I I imit or preclude the future 
extension of SW Cedar Brook. Way; 

h. Whether the proposed development wi ll cause or exacerbate drainage 
problems on adjacent properties; 

i. Whether the app licants are required to prove a need for additional 
parking: 

j. Whether the development complies with Code limits on the minimum 
and maximum number of parking spaces: 

k. Whether the development complies with landscaping requirements. 
including visua l corridor requirements along the site's Highway 99 frontage; and 

1, Whether the development can comply with the noise limits of the Code. 

3. Based on the findings and conclusions in this final order, and subject to the 
conditions of approval I isted or incorporated by reference at the conclusion ofthis final 
tJrder, the hearings officer approves the application in this case. 

B. HEARING AND RECORD WGHLIGHTS 

I. The hearings officer received testimony at the duly noticed public hearing about 
this application on October 24, 20 13.Ail exhibits and records of testimony are fi led at the 
City of Sherwood Planning Department. The hearings officer announced at the beginning 
of the hearing the rights of person s with an interest in the matter. including the right to 
request that the hearings officer continue the hearing or hold open the public record. the 
duty of those persons to testify and to raise all issues to preserve appeal rights and the 
manner inwhich the hearing will be conducted. The hearings officer disclaimed any ex 
parte contacts, bias or conflicts of interest. The following is a summary by the hearings 
officer of selected testimony and evidence offered at the public hearing. 

2. At the hearing, City panner Brad Ki lby summarized the Stafl'Report. He noted 
lhat the City received four new exhibits, including separate requests from Mr. Claus and 
Ms. Claus that the hearing officer hold the record open. 

a. He noted that the applicants proposed to expand the existing 38-space 
parking lot onto the adjacent property to the south. The expanded parking lot will provide 

CI.Alf!) COMMENTS TO riNAL ORDLN 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

130

1-learings Ojft:er Final Order 
Case Yo SP 13-UJ rPacific Demal Parking La!/ Page 2 

CLAUS COMMENTS TO FINAL ORDER (PAGF- 4) 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

131

a total of 73 parking spaces. The site is zoned GC and parking is an allowed use in the 
OC zone. The applicants wi II also relocate the roasting solid waste enclosure on tax Jot 
1600 and modify the existing storm water faci lity on the south boundary oftax lot 1600. 

b. The applicants will retain the existing single-fami ly residence and 
remove the existing shop on tax lot2l 00. The residence will retain its existing access to 
Highway 99. No access is proposed between the parking lot and Highway 99. 

c. The applicants proposed to provide a landscaped visual conidor 
between the new parking lot and Highway 99. The applicants can rely on the existing 
vegetation to provide a visual con'idor on the remainder of the s ite until it is redeveloped 
in the future. 

d. The applicants are required to comply with CWS stormwater and 
erosion control requirements. The proposed development wi ll have no impact on the 
existing erosion concell 'Is noted by Mr. Claus. 

e. CWS issued a service provider letter requiring the applicants restore the 
vegetated corridors on the site to "good" condition or better. 

f. SW Cedar Brook Way, a designated collector street, is stubbed near the 
no ihwest corner of the site. abutting the west botmda:ry of tax lot 1600 and the notth 
boundary of tax Jot 2100. The applicants did not propose to extend this street through the 
site as part ofthis project. The City cannot require the applicants extend Cedar Brook 
Way as a cond itio n ofthis approvaL becausethecostoftheroad extension would exceed 
the roughly proport ional impacts ofthe proposed development. The proposed parking lot 
will only serve the existing office building on tax Jot 1600. It wi ll not generate any new 
vehicular trips or change the existing accesses. Therefore it wi ll have no impact on the 
City's transportation system and w ill not increase the need for extension of Cedar Brook 
Way. The City will require the extension ofthis street when the site is further developed. 
Cedar Brook Way is designated as a collector street. Therefore SOC credits will be 
available to offset the cost of extending the street. 

g. The applicants' tenant on tax Lot 2 I 00 constructed a gravel surfaced 
parking Jot on tax Iot21 00 without required pe I mits. The City enforcement sectiot1 has 
been working with tenant and the applicants for roughly 17 months to bring the property 
into cotnpl iance. 

h. He argued that Mr. Doyel is the owner ofthe site and has the authority 
to sign the appl ication. 

iHe testified that be was not aware of any ODOT or CWS concerns 
regarding right-of-way dedication tor this prqject, Uc spoke with ODOT stat'f the day oF 
the hearing and they did not raise any concerns. 

j. The GC zone requires a minimum I 0.000 square foot lot size. Therefore 
the one-acre of developable area on tax lot 2100 could be divided into four separate lots. 

CI.AUS COMMFNTS 1'0 1-fNAl. ORDI.f{ 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

132

tlearings Officer Final Order 
Case No SP /3-0/ (f'ud/ic: Dental Parkin.~ Lor) 

Cl.AU~ COMMENTS TO FINAl OlWER 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

133

k. The applicants are required to plant trees and other vegetation within the 
vegetated corridor on the site. Construction of the Cedat" Brook Way extension vyjlJ 
require removal of some of that vegetation. HO\Never those impacts are unavoidable, 
because there is no specific alignment plan for the Cedar Brook Way extension. 

3. Cny engineering associate Craig Christensen testified that the applicants will 
collect storm water runoff from the site and discharge it into existing stom ldrains located 
near SW Handley Street. The proposed development will not incl"ease the volume of 
stormwater flowing into the drainage corridor on the west boundary of the site. 

4. Planner Chris Goodell, engineer Monty Hurley, and property owner Nathan 
Doyel testified on behalf of the applicants, Handle Properties. LLC & Knob Properties 
LLC. 

a. Mr. Goodell summarized the proposed development. He noted that the 
City approved the existing office building and parking Jot on tax lot 1600 several years 
ago. With this project, the applicants intend to expand the parking lot onto the adjacent 
r:roperty to the south, tax lot 2100. The applicants wil l remove the existing S1op building 
on tax lot 2100. The applicants will plant additional landscaping within the parking lot 
and within the visual and vegetative corridors on the site. The applicants will collect 
stormwater runoff from impervious areas ofthe site and convey it to on-site catch basins. 
The applicants will discharge treated storm water runoff into Cedar Creek, several 
hundred feet north ofthe site. 

COMMENT: This is an admission that they are destroying the buildings and taking them 
out and expanding the trucking. They are increasing the non-conformity. Doyel and his 
experts recognize that as welJ as destroying a commercial use of a beauty salon. 

b. Mr. Hurley testified that the applicants will modify and expand the 
existing stormwater facil ities on the site to accommodate additional runoff fi·om tbe 
expanded parking lot. The applicants will collect stormwater from the parking lot and 
convey it to an on-site swale for treatment. Treated stotmwater is then piped north to a 
Cedar Creek tributary. Runoff from this site wi ll have no impacts on the drainage way 
west of the site. 

COMMENT: This is a violation of state well standards. The swale and parking lot are too close to 
the pump house. 

c. Mr. Doyel testified that the proposed parking lot is needed to provide 
additional off-s1reet parking for patients and employees ofthe existing dental office 
on the site. Construction of the apartment complex north of the site increased the 
demand for on-street parking in the area. 

COMMENT: See photos. This is a mere assertion with no proof. In the file there is 
evidence otherwise. He and his business partner testified that they were losing 
business because they didn't have enough parking. They were required by code as 
admitted in this document to give details about the business to give calculations for 

CLAUS COMMENTS ro FIN/\J ORDER (PAGE 7) 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

134

parking. No information supplied on their activities. 

5. David Emami testified in support of the application. He agreed with Mr. Doyel 
that the apartment complex north ofthe site has increased the demand for on-street 
parking in the area. 

6. Rebert Ja-n'les Cla-us testified in opposition to tke application. He req~:~estee:l tl:!e 
hearings officer hold the record open for two weeks to allow him an opp01tunity to 
submit additional testimony and evidence. 

a. He noted that the criginal public notice for this application Listed 
"Pacific Family Dental"as the applicant, not Handel LLC or Knob LLC. Pacific Family 

Hearings O.tJlcer Final Orde/' 
Case No. SP I 3-0 I I Paci(c Dental Parking lor) Page+ 

CLAUS COMMENTS TO FINAL ORDER (PAGE 8) 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

135

Dental is a tenant, not an owner of the property. Pacific Family Dental is an LLC owned 
by Ben Aanderud and Nathan Doyel. Therefore there is no unity of interest. 

COMMENT: The hearing examiner misunderstands and misstates. Julia Hadjuk 
allowed Doyel after the 2006 Norr hearing to go in there with illegal parking. That is in 
the record. He did not ask for a variance or conditional use permit, he simply used it 
illegally. Two of the parking spaces that Ms. Hajduk allowed on public property were 
not authorized by the hearing officer. 

b. The existing dental office on tax lot 1600 was built without sufficient 
offsite parking. That use is now nonconforming with regard to parking. He argued that the 
appl icants were able to create a nonconforming situaion without a variance. The lack of 
adequate on-siteparking on tax lot 1600 is a self-imposed hardship. The law prohibits 
approval of a variance to rei ieve the applicants of that hardship. 

c. He noted that Knob LLC is owned by Nathan Doyel alone. CWS staff 
told him that Mr. Doyel keeps his properties in separate ownerships in order to avoid 
unity oftitle, which allows him to avoid dedication requirements that would solve all of 
the problems. 

COMMENT: The hearing examiner misinterpreted. There were ways to do th is 
application legitimately such as a lot line adjustment and then he would have been 
developing under a different standard. Kil by told CWS that Doyel refused the lot line 
adjustment because it would have required dedication of the Cedar Brook Way 
extension. He has never had any intention of dedicating the road extension. 

d. He argued that the applicants or the applicants' tenant, Corey Platt. 
graded tax Jot 2 I 00 and constructed a gravel-surfaced parking lot without required 
permits and approvals. Mr. Platt used the parking lot for parking and sale of heavy 
construction equipment and vehicles. The City allowed this use to continue for more than 
six months , wltil he threatened to contact the state police. The City never imposed daily 
fines for the violation and never prohibited M. PJatt from parking his vehicles and 
equipment on tax lot 2 100. The City is confusing nonconforming uses with illegal uses. 
The existing single-family residence on tax lot 2100 is a nonconforming use. The existing 
parking lot oh tax lot 2100 is an illegal use. However the City plans to allow Mr. Platt to 
continue parking his vehicles and equipment in the jJiegal parking lot in the front yard of 
the single-family residence on tax lot 21 00. The current application is incomplete because 
it does not include the existing, illegaL equipment parking use on tax lot 2100. The 
applicant, or his predecessor in title. sold the ingress and egress rights for tax lot 2 100 to 
ODOT. ODOT continues to allow highway access for the residential use, but not for 
commercial access for parking and storage of construction equipment. The applicants and 
the City had constructive and actual notice of the existing illegal parking use. lbcrefore 
the existing parking use should have been included in the application. The applicants 
should be requfred to remedy the existing vio latjon and restore the site to its preexisting 
condition before this application is approved. 

COMMENT: This is a misstatement from the Hearings Officer. Doyel 
misrepresents the facts to get it to fit to the code. He is aided and abetted by the city 

CLAUS COMMENTS TO FINAL ORDER (PAGE 9) 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

136

in misrepresenting the facts. TL #2100 and TL #1600 had complete illegal 
construction of a parking area~ tear down a legitimate commercial use (beauty salon), 
they topped the trees, they illegally expanded the parking for the house for the 
construction equipment. They made both lots more non-confonning. Doyel 
expanded his illegal parking-- all without permits. Still they are not applying for 
those permits with this. It appears Kilby completely misrepresented the statements to 
ODOT and told them Platt was using it as a bouse and not an equipment storage yard. 
They tore down uses~ in order to build the parking lot. The remaining one acre is 
entirely developed. 

e. CWS is reviewing the erosion problem on his property. The "borrow 
pit" along the Highway 99 frontage of tax lot 21 00 caused additional stormwater to flow 
into the drainageway on his east boundary, causing additional erosion problems. 

COMMENT: This is an admission oftruth. With the graveling of the front yard. photos 
were presented that shows the falseness that drainage is not being increased. The graveled 
areas. the dty says increases storm water fees and charges for it. 

f. If the applicants are not reg uired to extend Cedar Drook Way as a 
condition ofthis approval.itmay never occur. That would violate the City's specific and 
general plans, whichrequiretheextensionofCedarBrook Way through this site. 
Although tax lot21 00 contains two acres ofland. only one acre is developable. The 
remainder is a protected drainageway and vegetated corridor that cannot be developed. 
The proposed parking lot will consume roughly0.48-acresoftaxlot21 00. The existing 
single-family residence consumes the remainder of the developable area on the site. 
Therefore, if this ~plication is approved , this site will be fully developed and Cedar 
Brook Way will never be extended .Failure to extend Cedar Brook Way will result in 

!Tearings Q{ficer jl'nal Order 
Case No. SP 13-01 (Pacijh Dema l Parking Lot) Pa;;e 5 

CLAUS COMMENTS TO FINAL ORDER /PAGE lO) 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

137

inverse condemnation of properties west of the site, which have no alternative access for 
development. 

COMMENT: One acre developable. That is a misstatement. It is for parking lot or 
buildings. The remaining is in wetlands~ buffer, or easements. It is not available to 
Doyel to put buildings on. 

7. Susan Claus noted that Cedar Brook Way must be extended across tax lot 2100 
to allow ptoperties to the west to develop. Elowever tl1e1e is 110 "gan1e plan"or map 
illustrating how that street will be extended. The City's TSP does not include a plan for 
funding the extension of this street. The City is relying on developers, including the 
applicant, to extend this street. However the costs of constructing the street extension must 
be roughly proportional to the impacts of development. Approval of this project will 
reduce the amount of laud available for development. Although tax lot 2100 contains 
two-acres of land, only one acre is developable. The proposed parking lot wi 11 consume 
roughly half of the developable area of this site, severely reducing the amount of land for 
future development that is needed to fund the extension of Cedar Brook Way. 

a. The City argued fuatthe applicants cannot be required to extend Cedar 
Brook Way as a condition ofthis development, but they failed to provide any evidence in 
support of that statement. 

b. CWS required the applicants to plant trees and other vegetation within 
the vegetated corridor on the site. However the future construction of Cedar Brook Way 
will require removal ofthose plantings. 

c. The existing office use on tax lot 1600 is nonconforming with regard to 
off-street parking requirements. 

COMMENT: The point was that this applicant has an obligation along with the city -
- they already have the fees to fund the Cedar Brook extension. By combining these 
two areas and defining them~ they are obligated to fund the street. They have created 
their own obligation. Separation of the ownerships doesn't lessen the obligation. 
They run as a unit. City has the money to pay for it. Bring the balance of 17680 
with the 22065 need to bring into conformity under new code guidelines. 

8. At the end of the hearing the hearings officer held the record open for one 
week, until October 31 ,2013, to allow any person au opportunity to submit additional 
argwnent and evidence. The hearings officer held the record open for a second week. 
until November 7, 2013, to allow the applicants an opportunity to submit a final 
argument, without any new evidence. 

C. PROCEDURAL ISSUES 

I. The hearings officer finds that Mr. Claus' November 7, 2013 letter was 
untimely and therefore must be excluded from the record. 

a. Pursuant to the. Clauses' requests, and as required by ORS 
197 .763(6)(a), the hearings officer held the record open for one week, until October 31, 

CLAUS COMMENTS TO FINAL ORDER (PAGE ll) 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

138

20 l3, to allow any party an opportunity to submit additional argwnent and evidence. 

b. The hearings officer held the record open for a second week. until 
November 7. 2013. to allow the applicants an opportunity to submit a final argument. 
without any new evidence, as required by ORS 197.763(6)(e). 

e. ORS 197 .763(6)(e) pt•ovides: 

I I ear ir~s C~IJlcer Final Ortfe1 
C0.$e .Vu. Sl' I .HI/ fPae1fi: Llt'IIUI 1 Porki11,e f.vO 

U AUS COMMFNIS !'0 IINAJ ORDER 

Paee 6 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

139

lfthe hearings authority leaves the record open for 
additional written evidence. arguments or testimony. the 
record 9-lall be left open for at least seven days. Any 
participant may fiJe a written request with the local 
government for an opportunity to respond to new evidence 
submitted during the period the record was left open. If 
such a request JS bled, the hearmgs authonty shall reopen 
the record pursuant to subsection (7) ofthis section. 

d. Mr. Claus submitted a letter on November 7, 2013, after the record 
was closed to the public. Mr. Claus stated that his letter was, "[s.Jubmitted in response to 
comments made by Susan Claus." ORS 197.763(c) only requires that the hearings officer 
reopen the record to allow the parties an opportunity to respond to new evidence. 
Comments alone, without any new evidence, are not a sufficient basis to reopen the 
record. Ms. Claus' Jetter did not introduce any new evidence that Mr. Claus could respond 
to, and Mr. Claus's Jetter did not identify any new evidence. Therefore the hearings officer 
is not required to reopen the record to accept Mr. Claus' November 7.2013. That letter 
must be excluded from the record as untimely. 

D. PUBLIC COMMENTS 

The followi ngjssues were raised in public comments submitted prior to, during. and after 
the public hearing in this case. 1 

Public Notice 
Mr. Claus argued that the City's original public notice for this application listed "Pacific 
Family Dental"as the applicant, not Handel LLC or Knob LLC, who are the listed owners 
of the tax lots that are the subject of this application. Pacitic Family Dental is a tenant, 
not an owner of the propeity .Section 16.72.030 of the Sherwood Zoning and 
Development Code (the "SZDC") sets out the requirements for public notices. The Code 
does not require that the notice include the name of the applicants. Therefore failure to 
include the name of the property owners or applicants in the notice is irrelevant. 

COMMENT: Correct. But the code doesn't give you the right to falsify who the 
various entities are in the land use process. Doyel has also used tenant names on the 
land use application. Nobody wants to get sued when they are not involved. 

Unity of ownership: 
The fact that the two tax lots that make up the site are owned by two different entities is 
irrelevant. Nothing in the Code requires unity of ownership. The appl icants are required 
to record a. joint access and maintenance easement between lots 1600 and 2100 for the 
purposes of providing legal access to the accessory parking area as well as maintaining 
the water quality facility and trash enclosure. Although the two parcels can be owned by 
separate entities, tbe easements will ensure that they continue to be used together. 

COMMENT: Sadly, he is missing the point. He is implying no unity between the 
office and the parking lot. He cannot do that. The same standard has to apply. Doyel 

CLAUS COMMFNTS TO FINAL ORDER (PAGE 11) 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

140

is trying to cure two illegal sites. He is not accomplishing either one. Once the sites 
are combined, you can't make part of the sites legal and parts of the sites more illegal. 
He is tearing down legitimate uses, not doing anything to bring the second site to the 
basic code requirements. That limited view of the code cannot be tolerated. 

The hearings officer said that these actions make "the site" more conforming. He 
should teat do~u the house, add the lat'tdseapit'\g areas, tutd put ill the visual eot•t·idOl'. 
Some is more conforming. some is more non conforming. Using the word "the site" 
interchangeable brings confusion. He acts as if a ll of TL #2100 is not together. 

Change of use. act of parceling. or Lot line adjustment: 

[Mr. Claus raised anumberofissues by inserting comments and arguments into theStaffReport findings. 
See Ex hibit P.ln order to ens ure that all of the issues are directly addressed, the hearings officer responded 
to those issues in the findings provided for the speci fie Code criteria where Mr. Claus raised those issues, 
even ifthey repeated issues discussed in the ''Pub! ic Comments" section oft his Final Order. 

Hearings Officer Final Order 
Case No. SP 13-01 ( Pac(fic Denta/ l'arking lot) Page I 

CLAUS COMMENTS TO FTNAL ORDER (PAGE 14) 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

141

The Clruses argued that this application "[i]s either a change of use , an act of parceling or 
a lot line adjustment."p. 2 ofExhibit B. However they failed to provide any support for 
this argument. 

No parceling is proposed. The site curtentl y consists of two separate lots. Approval of 
this application wiJI not alter that condition. 

The use will not alter the existing lot lines, so it will not result in a lot line adjustment. 

SZDC 16.22.030A defines, "Change in Use" as, "A change to a parcel ofland, a premise 
or abuilding which creates a change in vehicular trip generation activities, which changes 
the minimum parking requirements of this Code, or which changes the use classification 
as defined by this Code or the Uniform Building Code." I nthis case the applicants are 
proposing a "change to a parcel ofland ... "A pOllion of tax lot 2100 will be changed from 
residential to commercial parking lot. However that change will not "create[] a change in 
vehicular trip generation activities ... , change[] the minimum parking requirements of this 
Code .. . or ... change[] the use classification as defined by [the SZDC] or the Uniform 
Building Code." Therefore this application does not constitute a change in use. 

COMMENT: By the hearing officer's own admission it is changing the use. And 
changing the traffic count. You can tie the use up to another parcel of land, he has 
changed the use and therefore has to do a traffic study. 

Future Lot line adjustment: 
The applicants are not cUJTently seeking a lot line adjustment. If the applicants rubmits a 
request for a lot line aqjustment in the future, the City will review that request based on 
the laws in effect when the application is filed. The hearings officer has no authority to 
impose a condition of approval prohibi ting approval of a lot line adjustment on this site. 

Th.eexistingmedical office building is nonconforming ITISD.J..EGAL~II\G 
with respecttoparking: 
When the office use was approved, the Code required a minimum 3.9 parking spaces per 
1.000 square feet of gross l easable area, or 48 parking spaces. Seep. 13 of the December 
22.2006 'Report and Decision of the Hearings Officer. File No: SP 06-0T' attached to 
Exhibit P. The applicants developed the office building with the minimum number of 
parking spaces, 3 8 on-site spaces and l 0 on-street spaces. The current code requires a 
minimmn 4.1 parking spaces per I ,000 square feet, or 60 parking spaces and a maximum 
90 spaces. Approval of this application will bring the use into compliance with CUlTent 
parking requirements, creating a total of 73 on-site parking spaces. Therefore tllis 
application is consistent with SZOC 16.48,which requires that alterations of non
conforming uses bring the use into compliance with current Code requirements. 

COMMENT: Here is admission that they did not comply with the code the first time 
around. It never should have been occupied. The site is illegal. They are applying for 
a parking lot, we know the visual COITidor has been damaged-- illegally cut the trees, 
He has to confmm to this code and the visual corridor. The transportation trips moving 
on the parcel, that is where he needs the traffic study-- that parcel did not have those 

CLAUS COMMENTS TO FINAL ORDER (PAGE 15) 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

142

trips before. 

Allegations that the traffic analysis for the existing dental office tmdercstimated the 
number of vehicle trips the use would generate are iiTelevant. The dental office building 
was approved and no changes are proposed to the existing building with this application. 
Therefore the City has no authority to require anew traffic &udy or traffic counts at this 

COMMENT. The hearing officer misses the point. He is creating trips on a new 
parcel of ground where there were no trips previously. 

Self imposed hardship 
The applicants are not seeking a variance or adjustment. Therefore the self. imposed 
hardship standard is inapplicable. 

COMMENT: They did not seek a variance. They simply went in and illegally did a variety of changes 
to the two sites. They didn't even try to get any land use approvals. These are illegal acts from the day 
he opened the building. 

/ 'earings Oj}lcer Final Order 
Case l1lo. SP 13-01 (Pacific Dental Parking Lot) Page8 

CLAUS COMMENTS TO FfNAL ORDER (PAGE 16) 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

143

Need for additional parking 
The Clauses argued that there is no need for the proposed parking lot expansion. 
Adequate parking is already available within the existing parking lot on tax lot 1600 and 
on public streets north of the site. However the applicants are not required to demonstrate 
a need for the proposed development. The proposed development will bring the site into 
compliance with current minimum parking requirements and it will not exceed the 
maximum number of parking spaces allowed by the current code. 

COMMENT: He needs more parking per the report itself. The applicant and city 
staff are picking and choosing which parts of the code they want to use-- it all has to 
be made conforming. There is no physical description of the building. Turn down 
the site plan application for incompleteness. More information has to be given in 
order to make the calculations, and land use decisions for these two sites. 

Illegal grading and gravel parking lot construction: 
There is no dispute that the applicants and/or his tenant, Corey Platt, removed trees and 
other vegetation and graded tax lot 21 00 to create a gravel surfaced parking area without 
required permits and approvals. Tenants of the applicants' dental office building used a 
portion of this area for passenger vehicle parking and Mr. Platt used other areas for 
parking ofheavy construction equipment. Access to the gravel parking area was provided 
from the existing residential driveway to Highway 99. Those activities are a violation of 
the Code. However they are not relevantto this application , because the construction and 
use ofthe gravel surfaced parking lot and use of the existing driveway to Highway 99 is 
not proposed as part of this application. 

COMMENT: We understand that the hearing officer cannot enforce the code, but a 
hearings officer can and should revoke Doyel's permits. He is only supposed to rule 
how the code complies. There is a non conforming house that expanded all the parking
- illegally. The code doesn't allow it un less apparently your name is Nathan Doyel. 

The hearings officer's jurisdiction is limited to review of the proposed development. The 
hearings officer has no authority to impose fines, issue stop work orders or take other 
actions to addJess alleged violations. Enforcement authority is given to the city manager 
or the manager's delegate. SZDC 15.28.030. 

The Code does not prohibit the review and approval of a development application on a 
property with an existing code violation. Based on the plain meaning of the words in the 
law, the past behavior of the applicants are not relevant to the applicable standards for site 
plan approval. Tfthe applicants sustain the burden of proof that the application does 
comply with the approval standards, or if it can comply provided certain conditions are 
imposed. the hearings officer must approve the application as a matter of law.2 

The City has been working with the property owner over the course of the seventeen 
months to bring the property into compliance. The proposed development will eliminate 
this violation. The applicants will replace a portion of the gravel parking area with an 
'PProved asphalt parking lot. All access to the parking lot will come from Handley Street. 
No access proposed between the new parking lot and Highway 99. The City can address 

CLAUS COMMENTS TO F1NAL ORDER (PAGE 17) 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

144

any remaining violations through its enforcement process. 

! ORS 197.522 provides as follows. 

A local government shall approve an application for a penn it, authorization or other approval 
necessary for the subdivision or parti tiooim! of. ot construction on, any land that is consistent with 
the comprehensive plan and applicable land use regulations or shall impose reasonable conditions 
on the application to make the proposed activity consistent with the plan and applicable 
regulations. A local government muy deny an application that is inconsistent wifh the 
comprehensive plan and applicable land use regulations and that cannot be made consistent 
through the imposition ofreasonablc conditions of approval. 

llt!lll'fl~~~ Uj!lcar Final Onit'l' 
1 'aw ·'ru ,\P 1 3-{}f f Pacl/lc Dental Par/..mg [n!) 'age 9 

CLAUS COMMENTS TO HNI\t OROt-:R rPAI..·~ 18) 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

145

COMMENT: Doyel has expanded the nonconformity. He has expanded the vehicles. It IS 

inconsistent with the general plan. Doyel bought the property knowing that Cedar Brook 
Way had to be built. He forced the issue with his illegal activities. Certain government 
ofticials have aided him. He is now trying to "legitimize" his earlier behavior, but he is still 
not following the code and solving all the land use problems he created. 

As noted in the Staff Report, the site cannot be legally used for any type of commercial 
use. other than the proposed parking lot and ex_isting dental office, without prior 
authorization and proper pemlits from the City of Sherwood. Both, the prope1ty owner 
and the renter have been made aware of these requirements. If it is subsequently found 
that a commercial use is operating on that lot. including parking and storage of heavy 
equipment, then the propetty owner will be subject to code enforcement and face 
violations of up to $500 a day pursuant to section 16.02.040 of the Sherwood Zoning and 
Community Development Code. 

COMMENT: It is not a matter if it is a commercial use-- It IS open and notorious. Corey 
Platt acknowledged it. The hearings officer cannot ok the change of use when there are 
illegal activities on the site. The permits should be revoked for both TL #1600 and #21 00. 

Lack of enforcement: 
The hearings officer understands the Clauses frustration with the City's enforcement 
process. The illegal grading and parking activities have been occurring for roughly 17 
months. However the hearings officer has no authority to address those concerns. The 
hearings officer has no enforcement authority and no ability to compel the City to take 
any enforcement action. The Clauses may be able to request mandamus or take other legal 
action to force the City to enforce its regulations. But the hearings officer has no authority 
to do so in this proceeding. 

Vio lation of prior approval: 
Ms. Claus argued that the applicants failed to install signage noting the planned extension 
of Cedar Brook Way as required by the conditions of approval for the existing office 
building. p. 8 of Ms. Claus' October 31,2013 Jetter. To the extent the applicants are in 
violation of the conditions of prior approvaL it is an enforcem ent issue. It is not relevant 
to the approval criteria forth is application. 

COMMENT: n1e hearings officer does have the ability to revoke the site plan per Sherwood code 
Section 16.90.030 (B) when conditions of site approval are not satisfied such as variance, exception, 
conditional use permits, etc. They mandate revocation if the conditions are not satisified. 

11andJey Drive storm drain: 
Mr. Claus noted that the existing storm drain in let on Handley Drive was set too low, 
which caused significant erosion on his property west ofthe site. Exhibit B. Mr. Claus 
argued that the proposed development will exacerbate this condition. Staff appear to 
agree that the existing storm drain inlet was improperly installed. P. 3 of the St.affReport. 
However this is an existing condition. The proposed development will not exacerbate the 
prob I em. The applicants will collect and treat S:ormwater from this site and pipe it to an 

CLAUS COMMENTS TO FINAL ORDER (PAGE 19) 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

146

outfall north ofthe site. The proposed development will not direct any storm water onto 
the Clauses property or into the existing, improperly installed, storm drain inlet noted by 
Mr. Claus. 

COMMENT: Photos in the file and on the Petition for Review show that areas have been 
paved where it previously had vegetation. The house is more nonconforming now than it 
was before because it has converted areas to provide additional parking and storage for the 
tenant occupying the house. 

Based on Mr. Claus' testimony, runoff from the illegal gravel parking lot and other 
i llegally graded areas of the site (the "borrow pit") may be flowing onto the Clauses 
property, contributing to the erosion problem. However that existing, illegal. impact is not 
relevant to this application. The proposed parking lot may alleviate the runoff problems to 
some extent, by replacing the existing gravel area with a paved parking lot and properly 
engineered stormwater facilities that will divert stormwater runoff away from the Clauses 
property. Existing gravel areas located outside ofthe proposed development may continue 
to drain onto the Clauses property. However those impacts are not relevant to the 
approval criteria for this application. The City can only address impacts from the existing 
illegal grading and construction through its enforcement process. 

Hearings Qfjicer Final Order 
Case .Vo. SP 13-01 /Pacific Dental Parking J.o/1 Page JO 

CLAUS COMMENTS TO FINAL ORDER 1PAGE20) 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

147

Approval of this development will preclude future extension of Cedar Brook Wa;: 
SW Cedar Brook Way, a designated collector street. is currently stubbed to the north 
boundary oftax lot 2100, near the western boundary. This street will eventually extend 
across tax lot 21 00 and properties to the west, providing a connection to Highway 99. The 
Clauses expressed concerns that approval of the proposed parking lot expansion on tax lot 
2100 will delay or preclude this street extension. The Clauses noted that the City can only 
require a developer to pay tor the extension of this street if the cost of the street extensiOn 
is roughly proportional to the impact of a proposed development. The proposed parking 
lot will consume much of the developab le area oftax lot 2100. Less developable area 
means less development to fund thi s street extension. Failure to extend this street will 
result in inverse condemnation of properties west of the site, which have no alternative 
access for development 

COMMENT: The hearings officer misapplies the Nollan case to the Doyel 
circumstances. The guy wanted a building permit for his house. They added an 
easement for the public to get to the beach. That is not the same thing as knowing 
before purchasing that a collector street was required. 

The hearings officer understands the Clauses' concerns. However they are not relevant to 
the approval criteria for this application. T he City cannot constitutionally require the 
applicants to extend SW Cedar Brook Way as a condition ofthis approval . because there 
is no "essential nexus" between tbe impacts oftheproposed development and the need 
for this street extension .Nollan v. Cal.ffornia Crustal Comm n, 483 U .S. 825. 107 S.Ct. 
3141 (1987). While there may be a public need for the extension ofSW Cedar Brook 
Way, the development proposed in thjs case will not create or exacerbate that need. The 
proposed parkjng lot expansion will not generate additional traffic that would utilize this 
street. Parking Jots do not generate traffic separate from the uses they serve. In this case, 
the parking lot will serve the existing dental office building on tax lot 1600. No changes 
are proposed to that existing building. Therefore the proposed development will not 
generate any additional traffic, and there is no essential nexus between the impacts of the 
proposed development and a condition requiring the extension ofSW Cedar Brook Way. 
In addition, in order to impose such a condition of approval the City must bear the burden 
of proof that the cost of the extension is roughly proportional to the impact ofthe 
development. Dolan v. Cityd Tigard, 114S.Q. 2309, 129 L.Ed.2d 304 (1994) and 
Koontz V St. Johns River Water Management District, U . S. Supreme Cow1Siip 
Opinion. No. ll -1447, (June 25.20 13). The City fa iled to provide any evidence to that 
effect. The City could not make such a showing because the proposed parking lot will not 
generate any additional traffic impacts that could justify the cost of extending SW Cedar 
Brook Way. 

COMMENT: They are taking more than one acre of the two acres in deed 
restrictions. East Cedar Brook Way, the easements on that property being used 
for public benefit and purpose. Admits it is an exaction. Doyel can make an 
exaction demand on the city and hire a lawyer. It is his obligation. Why is 
staff still bending over backwards to accommodate Doyel? 

The Clauses may be crorectthat expansion of the parkjng lot onto tax Jot 2100 will 

CLAUS COMMENTS TO FINAL ORDER (PAGE 21) 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

148

reduce the City's ability to require future developers to extend SW Cedar Brook Way. 
The proposed parking lot will reduce the amount of developable area on tax lot 2100. 
which will reduce the amount of development availableto fund the extension ofSW 
Cedar Brook Way. However the Code does not prohibit such impacts. 

Highway 99 Frontage Improvements 
The City and ODOT cannot constitutionally teqaire tlie 4Jplicauts to corrstr oct additional 
transportation improvements along the site's Highway 99 frontage as a condition ofthis 
approval for the same reasons the City cannot require the extension ofSW Cedar Brook 
Way There is a need for additional improvements along this section of Highway 99. 
However the proposed development will not generate any increase in traffic that would 

llt!W/•1[!.' 0!/lter Ftlwl Ord,·r 
Cwv .\1' SP I :3·111 (/'ocffidJmral l'arking /,rJ/! Pup,e If 

CLAUS COMME, fS TO J'rN/\1 DROP.fi. (1'-\GE 221 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

149

create or exacerbate the need for those improvements. Therefore there is no essential 
nexus between the development and the needed improvements. 

COMMENT: What is he saying? The sidewalk and curb and gutter don't need to be 
put in? This is two site plans rolled into one with responsibilities to extend public 
infrastructure. Doyel already knew and agreed to the extension of the Cedar brook 
Way. Did they cheat Doyel? He already put in $500K and a visual corridor before 
he decided to cut it dovm. Let Doyel sue the city if necessary. 

Vegetated Corridor Plantings 
The Clauses argued that tree planting required by CWS within the vegetated corridor on 
the site will limit or preclude the extension ofSW Cedar Brook Way. City plans call for 
the extension ofS W Cedar Brook Way across the vegetated corridor and drainage located 
on the site. However the plans do not designate a specific alignment for this road 
extension. Therefore it is impossible to avoid planting trees within the future right of way. 
However those plantings will not preclude the future extension of this street. Trees can be 
removed if necessary. CWS may require additional plantings to compensate for any trees 
that are removed, as well as to mitigate for other impacts caused by construction of this 
street across the vegetated con-idor and drainage. Approval ofthis application will not 
preclude such mitigation. 

COMMENT: Trees can be pushed over by bulldozers. Anytime you want to get rid 
of a tree you can. Once you put the CWS restrictions and easements however, it 
cannot be developed without another land use process and new and different Service 
Provider Letter requested by Doyel. It precludes use from developing Cedar Creek 
way, they are blocking it. Instead of using it to built the road it is a vegetative 
corridor. 

Alteration of the nonconforming use: 
The existing single-family residence on tax lot 2100 is a nonconforming use. Single
family residences are not pemlitted in the GC zone except for a securi ty person or for a 
different form of residence normally associated with a conditional use. The app licants 
proposed to remove the existing detached garage and shed associated with the single
family residence. Nothing in the Code prohibits such an alteration .The Code only 
prohibits the enlargement , extension or relocation of nonconforming uses. 16.48.040.A. 
Removal of the garage will eliminate covered parking for the single-family dwelling on 
the site. However the Code does not require covered parking for the single-family 
dwellings. 

COMMENT: Doyel added onsite heavy equipment/storage areas. They are expanding the 
parking areas, and parking cars illegally and equipment, they are tearing down a commercial 
use that would be allowed to function as his office-- yet they are tearing it down. They are 
expanding the nonconformity. He is now running the construction out of his house- not the 
commercial space. 

Highway 99 access: 
The existing single-family residence on tax lot 2100 will continue to use the existing 
driveway to Highway 99. However no access is proposed to Highway 99 from the 
proposed parking lot or the existing dental office. 

CLAUS COMMENTS TO FINAL ORDER (PAGE 23) 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

150

COMMENT: Doyel is developing the site- see the CWS provider letter. 13-16-10. 
They have altered the non-confonning use including increasing parking for heavy 

equipment/storage. 

Joe and Ma·a Broadhurst argued that this site plan application must include the entire 
site. Exhibit M. The hearings officer finds that the proposed plans do include the entire 
site. See the applicants' plan sheets. The applicants proposed to develop a portion of the 
site with the expanded parking lot. The applicants proposed to retain the existing, 
nonconforming , single-family residential use on the remainder of the site. Nothing in the 
Code requires that the applicants develop the entire site at once. 

F.FINDINGS 

Chapter 16.22 -Commercial Land Use Districts 

1622.020 -Uses 

The table (16. 22.020 in the Development Code) identifies the land uses that are 
permitted outright (P), permitted conditionally (C), and not permitted (N) in the 

Hearin~s Officer Final Order 
l'a.ve:\o. SP 13-01 (Pm·[fic Dental Poi'!. inK Lol) Page 12 

CLAUS COMMENTS TO FINAL ORDER (PAGE 24) 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

151

Commercial Districts. The specific land use categories are described and defined in 
Chapter 16.88 Use Classifications and Interpretations. Jn this instance, the 
properties are zoned General Commercial (GC) 

COM!vfENT: There is no question you can have a parking lot in GC zone. 
Under specific conditions. The hearings officer fails to realize that is not what 
is occmTjng here. It is the admitted illegal uses/conditions at 17680 SW 
Handley after seven years of operation that they are attempting to expand and 
make somewhat conforming. What the applicant has to do now is redesign his 
site and correct the deficiencies or the stand alone "for rent" parking lot is not 
pennitted. 

There is additionally one very serious problem that either Turner or Kilby have 
dealt with. If in fact, Doyel through his solely owned LLC rents this to Pacific 
Family Dental LLC it is a violation of the ordinance. He is creating a ''for 
rent" commercial parking lot. As is typical with the city and the hearing 
examiner, that creates spec.ial rules for the politically connected, which Doyel 
is, that question is not being asked. It is not just that they are not charging 
development fees, they have never asked Doyel to provide a notarized letter 
that he will not increase the rent (barter or remuneration) to his cmnmercial 
tenants of the office building in order to pay the hundreds of thousands of 
dollars he had to borrow from AI and Nancy Williams. None of those 
protections are being asked for in the conditions of approval. 

FINDING: The current use of tax lot 1600 as a professional dental office was identified 
in the SP 06-07 approval as a ''medical and dental office" use, which is a permitted use 
within the GC zoning district. The applicants are proposing to pave the n011heast corner 
of tax Jot 2100 to provide additional motor vehicle parking for the existing dental office 
building in accordance with City of Sherwood standards. The proposed parking lot 
extension is an accessory use to the existing office and therefore is an outright pennitted 
use subject to site plan approval. 

Mr. Claus argued that parking is not a permitted use in the GC zone, except public or 
commercial parking (non-accessory), which is permitted as a "personal service" use. p. 11 
ofExhibit P. However the applicants are not proposing to provide a stand-alone 
commercial parking lot as a separate and independent use. The applicants arc proposing 
to provide additional parking as an accessory use to serve the existing dental office use on 
tax lot 1600. Such professional offices, including associated parking, are a permitted use 
in the GC zone. 

COMMENT: It is on a separate lot with separate ownership. He needs to do a 
traffic study on it. 

The applicants cannot transfer this parking area to another use in the future. 

COMMENT: This is an open misstatement regarding the parking at TL # 1600. 
Julia Hadjuk, currently the community development director decided to ignore 

CLAUS COMMENTS TO FINAL ORDER (PAGE 25) 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

152

the plain language and add back two off site street parking that the ealrier 
hearing examiner said could not go toward the ten required offsite parking 
spaces. She allowed Doyel and Handle Properties LLC to illegally operate that 
property. The site has never been conforming and due to the staff's 
misrepresentation about setback, landscape islands, landscape corridors , we 
will never know how nonconforming to the code this building was and the 

This statement is disturbing in that the hearings officer says that if any time 
this parking lot is discontinued on the Williams property, his use apparently 
becomes illegal non-conforming. The hearing officer is suggesting that there 
is no mechanism for a citizen to enforce site plan violations. Since Doyel and 
the city have classic unclean hands. it is not ultra varies for him to require an 
automatic mechanism to enforce this code when Doyel violates it again. 

The existing office building is non conforming with respect to the minimum parking 
requirements of the current code.3 The proposed parking lot expansion will bring the site 
into compliance with the miJlimum parking requirements of the ClnTent code. SZDC 
16.22.030.A prohibits any modification or conveyance of any portion of a lot when such 
modification or conveyance would reduce the required parking below the minimum 
required by the Code. Therefore the applicru1t cannot transfer this parking lot to another 
use because doing so would cause the dental office to fall out of compliance with the 
minimum parking requirements oftheCode. 

The Clauses argued that the parking lot is an accessory use that must be enclosed , citing 
the table of uses included in SZDC 1622.020. p. 11 of Exhibit P and p. 7 of Ms. Claus' 
October 31, 2013 letter. attached to Exhibit P. The table of uses included in SZDC 
16.22.020 lists the following as a conditional use in the GC zone, "Any incidental 
business, service, processing, storage ordisplay.not otherwise permitted that is essential 
to and customarily associated with a use permitted outright , provided said incidental use 
is conducted entirely within an enclosed building."The hearings officer finds that this 
provision is inapplicable to this application. The applicants areproposi llgto expand an 
existing parking lot to serve an existing use. The applicants are not proposing a separate. 
independent. use that would be subject to this requirement. Motor vehicle parkjng is 
allowed, and required 1 as an accessory use for most, if not all, uses pennitted in the GC 
zone. 

COMMENT: The applicants are proposing to expand an existing parking lot to expand 
an existing use. It is tllis kind ofloose language given in attempts to justifY an existing 
use that leads the hearings officer to justify expansion over objection. If you read 
further, Turner steps on his words" A condition of approval is warranted 
prohibiting commercial use of the parking lot on this site without further Ci~ 
review" This is because the hearing officer flip flops when necessary back and 
forth between treating TL #1600 as a separate site and TL #2100's 1/2 acre separate 
but together. He is forcing a development and redevelopment of the properties 
including the landscape con·idor but has not adequately provided conditions to 
prevent more abuse by Doyel of the land use process. Doyel is planning on 

CLAUS COMMENTS TO FINAL ORDER (PAGE 26) 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

153

charging the tenants of the Cedar Brook Professional Building to use the satellite 
parking lot located on TL #21 00. It violates the standard of the approval because it 
was not reviewed as a conunercial parking lot. 

3 When the office use was approved , the Code required a minimum 3.9 parking spaces per 1,000 square feet 
afgrass leasable area; ar 48 parkiAg spaees. Seep. B afthe Oeeember 22, 2QQe ''Repart a»d DeeisiaA af 
the Hearings Officer, Fi le No: SP 06-07" attached to Exhibit P. The current code requires a minimum 4.1 
parking 1Paces per 1.000 square feet, or 60 parking spaces. They only had 46 spaces. Hadjuk qualified 
two spaces which were not to be used. It was never 10 legitimate parking spaces off site. TL # 1600 has 
been illegal for years and the hearings officer should have employed a revocation order. 

Hearings Officer Fin(lf Order 
Case No. SP 13-01 (l'nc(flc Dental Parking lot) Page/_, 

CLAUS COMMENTS TO FINAL ORDER (PAGE 27) 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

154

Mr. Claus argued that the illegally constructed, gravel surfaced, parking area on tax lot 
2100 is not a parking lot; it is an illegal excavation. p. 17 of Exhibit P. That is correct. 
The existing gravel area was constructed without required permits and approvals. With 
this application the applicants will replace the gravel surfaced parking area with a 
properly constructed and approved asphalt surface parking area. Approval of this 
application will em rect the existing violation in the redeveloped portion of tax lot 2100. 

Mr. Claus argued that the applicants intend to use the parking lot as a commercial parking 
lot. p. 17 ofExhibit P. That is not what the applicants proposed. The parking lot 
expansion is intended solely to provide additional parking for the existing dental office 
building on tax lot 1600. As discussed above, the app licants cannot transfer this parking 
area to another use in the future without violating SZOC 1622.030.A. lntheOly, the 
applicants could rent or lease parking spaces that exceed the minimum requirements of 
the Code as a commercial parking. However this use was not reviewed as a commercial 
parking lot. A condition of approval is warranted prohibiting commercial use ofthe 
parking lot on this site without further Ci~ review . 

COMMENT: Applicant is 35 new parking spaces on TL #2100. That alone would 
not make TL # 1600 confonning. You have to add all of the spaces together to make 
it legal confonning since he built it. Therefore you have to bring both parcels to 
code. They are unified to give the conforming spaces needed to comply with the 
code. Doyel has already testified that most of the off street parking next to his 
building is being utilized by others. 

Since the site plan appears to be trying to make the spaces conforming, the 
conformance should include the visual con-idor. landscaping islands, trees, etc . 

Doyel has been a bad faith actor. Why is he being rewarded? It is a self imposed 
hardship that he created when he made all the illegal changes to both tax lots. He 
never applied for permits before he made the changes. The hearings officer had the 
ability in the code to revoke the site plan. 

The hearings officer suggests that we have to go to court to give us a way to stop 
Doyel's behavior. The city manager and city staff decided against enforcement for 
several months and are allowing the illegal uses to be modified. The Planning 
Commission should provide guidance to come up with some language to con-ect the 
problems. The commission cannot leave it to the staff and city manager who have 
refused to date to stop Doyel from using the site at his whims. Doyel and the city 
have unclean hands. Y ou should not reward Doyel's rule breaking. It is a self 
imposed hardship. He broke the law numerous times. How can we trust a city that 
w ouldn't enforce the code? The planning commission cannot leave matters to staff 
interpretation. 

This standard is satisfied. 
1622.030-Dimensional Standards 

No lot area, setback, yard, landscaped area, open space, off-street parking or 

CLAUS COMMENTS TO FINAL ORDER (PAGE 28) 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

155

loading area, or other site dimension or requirement, existing on, or after, the 
effective date of this Code shall be reduced below the minimum required by this 
Code.Nor shall the conveyance of any portion of a Jot for other than a public use or 
right-of-way, leave a lot or structure on the remainder of said lot with less than 
minimum Code dimensions, area, setbacks or other requirements, except as 
pem1itted by Chapter 16.84. (Variance and Adjustments). 

A. Lot Dimensions 
Except as otherwise provided , required minimum lot areas and dimensions 
shall be: 

1. Lot area: 10,000 square feet 

2. Lot width at front property line: 70 feet 

3. Lot width at building line: 70 feet 

FJNDING: The existing lot area, lot width, a1d width at the building line exceed the 
minimum requirements prescribed above. The applicants are not proposing to modifY the 
dimensions of the existing lots. Since this request does not include a land division or 
reconfiguration of the lots involved, these standards are not applicable to the proposed 
development. 

lfl'«ring., ( J/fh·,!r l'ilud Order 
Cost· \a Sl' I J-01 ( Pal'ijlc lie mal Park11tg LIJf/ 

('( AU!l COMMENTS TO FINAl ORDER 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

156

Mr. Claus argued that the applicants should be prohibited from seeking a let line 
adjustmenL p. 18 of Exhibit P. However he failed to cite to any provision of the Code or 
case law that would justify such a condition. The applicants are not currently seeking a lot 
line adjustment. lfthe applicants submit a request for a Jot line adjustment in the future. 
the City will review that request based on the laws in effect when the application is filed. 

B. Setbad\:s 
Except as otl:xrw lse 1>rovP ed. required mlmmum setbacks shall be: 

1. Front None, except w hen abutting a residential zone. then there shall 
yard: be the same as the abutting residential zon e. 

2. Side None, except when abutting a residential zone, then there shall 
yard: be a minimum of twenty (20) feet. 

3 Rear None, except when abutting a residential zone, then there shall 
y ard: be a minimum of twenty (20) feet. 

4 ~eight : Fifty (50) fe et. 

FINDfNG: Setback requirements only app ly to buildings and structures.-+ No new 
buildings or S.n1ctures are being proposed as part of this project. s Therefore this standard 
is inapplicable. 

16.22.060 -Community Design 

For standards relating to off-street parking and loading, energy conservation. 
historic resources, environmental resow-ces, landscaping, access and egress, signs, 
parks and open space, on-site storage, and site design, see Divisions V, VID and IX. 

ANALYSIS; The applicable standards that a1'e listed in the Community Design section 
are addressed elsewhere in thi s Final Order. As proposed, the development will meet 
these standards: off -street parking, energy conservation, environmental resources, 
landscaping. access and egress, signs, parks and open space, on-site storage, and site 
design. There are no historic resources on site therefore that standard is not applicable. 

Chapter 16.58- Clear Vision and Fence Standards 

1658.01 O~Clear V ision Areas 

1 SZMC 1 G. I 0.020 defmes, ''&'tback" as 'The minimum horizontal distance between a public street right · 
of. way I ine, or side and rear property lines. to the front, side and rear lines of a build ing or structure located 
l'n a lot.'' 
• SZMC 16.10.020 provides the following releva nt definitions: 

Building: Any structure used, intended for. supporting or sheltering any use or occupancy. Each portion 
of a st.-ucture separated by a d ivision wall without any openings shall be deemed a separate building ." 

CLAUS COMMLN fS It) FINAl, ORDER !PAGE 30) 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

157

Structure: A structure must be more than one foot from grade to be considered a structul'e 

1-fearulf.;,, Oj!icer I ina/ Urdl!r 
( 'ase Nn Sl' 13-IJ I (P(lcijic Dental Parking /.()1) Page/) 

Cl ,\liS COMMENTS ro I·INAl ORDER (PAGE 31) 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

158

A. A clear vision area shall be maintained on the corners of all property at the 
intersection of two (2) streets, intersection of a street with a railroad. or 
intersection of a street with an alley or private driveway. 

B. A clear vision area shall consist of a triangular area, two (2) sides of which are 
lot lines measured from the corner intersection of the street lot lines for a 
distance specified in this regulation; or, where the lot lines have rounded 
comers, the lot lines extended in a straight line to a point of intersection , and so 
measured, and the third side ofwhich is a line across the comer of the lot 
joining the non-inlersecting ends of the other two (2) sides. 

C. A clear vision area shall contain no p Ianting, sight obscuring fence, wall, 
structure, or temporary or permanent obstruction exceeding two and one-half 
(2 112) feet in height, measured from the top of the curb, or where no curb 
exists, from the established street center line grade, except that trees exceeding 
this height may be located in this area, provided all branches and foliage are 
removed to the height of seven (7) feet above the ground on the sidewalk side 
and ten (1 Q) feet on the street side. 

The following requirements shall govern clear vision areas: 

1. I nall zones, the minimum distance shall be twenty (20) feet. 

2 In aU zones, the minimum distance from comer curb to any driveway shall 
be twenty-five (25) feet. 

3. Where no setbacks are required, buildings may be constructed within the 
clear vision area. 

FINDING: The proposed development will not create any new intersections listed in 
SZMC 16.58.01 O.A. The proposed parking lot will connect to the existing parking lot on 
tax Jot HDO.A II ingress and egress will occur via the ex isting intersecti on on SW 
Handley Street. Therefore this criterion is not applicable to the proposed development. 

COMMENT: They are putting in a utility box and solid waste/recyclables collection boxes. There 
are photographs showing there is landscaping between the lots now. There are trees separating lots 
1600 and 2100. Now Doyel has to remove them. If he removes them, the lot 1600 becomes non 
conforming and he has to re-do the site plan. A site visit by the hearings officer would have helped. 
Looking at the photographs would have helped. 

The Clauses argued that the proposed landscaping wiJ l confl ict with required clear vision 
areas, p. 19 ofExll ibit P. However they fai led to provide any evidence to that effect. No 
new intersections are proposed with this app lication. The proposed parking lot expansion 
will utilize the existing driveway intersections on SW Hand ley Street. No changes are 
proposed to those intersections. The proposed parking lot and associated landscaping wi II 
be located 100 feet or more any existing intersections. 

CLAUS COMMEN I"S ro FfNAL ORDER IPAGE32l 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

159

16.90.030-SitePlan Modifications and Revocation 

D. Reqwred Findings 

No site plan approval shall be granted unless each of the following is found: 

Jh'<ll"illf>'S Officer Final VrJcr 
l tnt' \o. \'P 13-IJI f Pacific D<:ntal l'arking /,<~/! I 'ogt• I fi 

('LAUS l'OMMhN fS 10 FJN <\l ORDLR 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

160

1. The proposed development meets applicable zoning district standards and 
design standards in Division II, and all provisionsofDivisions V, VI and 
Vlll. 

FfNDING: This standard can bemetasdiscussed and conditioned in this final Order. 

2 The proposed development can be adequately served by services conforming 
to the Community Development Plan, incJuding but not limited to water, 
sanitary facilities, storm water, solid waste, parks and open space, public 
safety, electric power, and communications. 

FfNDING: existing water, sanitary, stonn water. solid waste, public safety, electrical 
power,and communications providers already serve the office building. The applicants 
are not proposing any new utili ty improvements for the proposed parking lot extension. If 
it is subsequently determined that water service is necessary for the purposes of providing 
irrigation , improvements related to water service will be required. The specifics related to 
this determination are discussed in greater detail later in this Final Order. As discussed 
and conditioned later in this Final Order, it is feasible for the applicants to satisfy this 
standard. 

COMI'vlENT: The hearings officer refers to those sections in the code but he obviously hasn't read 
them. He is required to order a revocation ofthe permits-- not the enforcement of the code. He has 
the power as the hearing authority. The code allows him to revoke the permit. This was illegal 
activity in which Doyel did not get permission. The hearing officer can order the revocation of all 
of Doyel's perm its. Either Doyel comports to a ll of it or it is revoked. He has taken the Jaw into his 
own hands. The hearing authority can revoke the existing penn its. STOP it. STOP it now. It 
needs to be put out of business. 

The driveway he is trying to build has to be built for 100ft. They cannot meet the provisions of the 
code ... tear out the landscaping and replace it or find another place for the driveway between lot 
1600 and 2100. The front of the building could work but he has to remove the landscaping. In this 
case, the driveway is landscaped and blocked. Doyel needs a new site and landscaping plan. 

The Clauses argued that the applicants should be required to extend public sewer and 
water to the existing single-family residence on tax lot 2100. However the existing single
family residence on tax lot 2100 is an existing nonconforming use. No modifications are 
proposed that would alter utility needs of the residence. Therefore the existing residence 
is not relevant to this approval criterion. 

3. Covenants, agreements, and other specific documents are adequate, in the 
City's determination, to assure an acceptable method of ownership, 
management, and maintenance of structures, landscaping, and other on-site 
features. 

FINDING: The site is owned by Handle Properties, LLC & Knob Properties LLC. The 
northern portion ofthe site, tax lot 1600, is already developed with a dental office 
building, landscaping , parking and other improvements. The maintenance of structures_, 

CLAUS COMMENTS TO FINAL ORDER (PAGE 34) 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

161

landscaping, and other on-site features have been on-going, and do not appear to be 
neglected . Condition of approval 5 requires ongoing maintenance in the future. This 
standard is satisfied. 

4. The proposed development preserves significant natural features to the 
maximum exten t feasible. including but not limited to natural drainage ways. 
wetlands, trtH:lS, vegetation (including but not limited to environmentally 
sensitive lands), scenic views, and topographical features, and conforms to 
the applicable provisions of Division VITI of this Code and Chapter 5 o f the 
Comnllmity Development Code. 

FINDlNG: According to the Natural Resource Assessment written by SWCA 
Consultants (Exhibit .J) and corroborated by Clean Water Services there are on-site 

rledr/11!1..1 O}Jiirt!i hnul Ordrt 
''11.\'t' 'Vo. Sf' 13·01 fl'aC'i{ic Demal1'.1rkm.rt l.nf) Page 17 

wetlands on the western portion of tax Jot 2100, which require a 50-foot-wide vegetated 
corridor. The proposed development will have no impact on the vegetated cort·idor. Clean 
Water Services has identified the vegetated corridor as being degraded and is requiring 
restoration efforts by the applicants. Included intheNatural Resource Assessment isa 
plan for enhancing the vegetated corridor to the specifications required by Clean Water 
Services. The plan includes a list of native trees, shrubs and groW J dcovers that would be 
planted upon approval. Specifically the plan states that prior to ground cl isturbance. an 
erosion contl'ol permit is required through the City. Additionally, a maintenance plan 
descdbing a two-year maintenance period is included with the vegetated corridor planting 
plan. The site does not contain any additional significant natural features. 

CONDITION: Prior to final site plan approva the applicants ~all submit evidence
demonstrating compliance with the required conclitions provided by Clean Water Services 
File Number l3.{)016 l0. Exhibit K. This includes obtaining City of Sherwood Builcling 
Department approval for any grading or erosion control plans. 

S. For a proposed .site plan in the Neighborhood Commercial {NC), Office 
Commercial PC), Office Retail (OR),Retail Commercial (RC), General 
Commercial (GC). Light Industrial (Ll), and General Ind ustrial (Or) zones, 
except in the O ld Town Overlay Zone, the proposed use shall satisfY the 
requirements of Section 16.108.080 Highway 99W Capacity A llocation 
Program, unless excluded herein. 

FINDING: The proposed parking lot extension will not increase vehicular traffic to the 
site. The proposed parking lot is intended to serve the existing dental of1ice building on 
the site. No changes are proposed for the existing dental office building that would cause 
an increase in vehicular traffic to the site. Construction of a parking lot alone will not 
generate additional vehicle traffic. Therefore the proposed use is expressly excluded from 
the provisions of the Highway 99W Capacity Allocation Program6 and this standard is not 

CU. liS COMMI Nl'"i ro I·INAL t1RDLR. (P \GEJ5l 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

162

CONTINUATION OF CLAUS COMMENTS ON THE HEARING OFFICER'S FINAL ORDER. 

NOTE: Due to a malfunction in the software, these Claus comments are not embedded in the Final Order. 
Instead they are included here with page reference numbers from the Final Order. 

Page 17. 'fhete is no excuse given there is an open area widlin a 1(:)() ft ofttle lot with in 50 feet oftbe 
well, the swales are threatening the water quality on a well that old . 

Page 17. 4 Turner is selectively reading the information submitted. The wetland study is completed 
falsified. The drainage area down below is in a period of rapid head ward erosion committing destructive 
waste. They are doing nothing about that./ The CWS is trying to call the city manger to come p with a 
shared plan to correct that. City Manager is not responding. 

Page 17, 5. Again, he is dealing with two sites. That is why the application should be revoked. Two 
sites. What Turner is trying to say that Doyel doesn't really need this .. there won't be any other traffic 

generated by the dental office. Yet there will be multiple more trips on #TL 21 00. TL #21 00 between 
Corey Platt and the construction equipment and the physical traffic of the parking lot on TL #21 00 there 
is increased traffic. 

Doyel has already spent over $500,000 in development fees. That gives him the money to get rebates for 
the land and the road construction on Cedar Brook Way. Payment has been a bogus issue. The taking of 

wetlands and the easement, he can sue if there is a deficit. Both the Hearing Examiner and city are saying 
it is an exaction. 

The only question here is whether in the mterest of the city, that Cedar Brook Way doesn't develop-
Doyel has already paid $500,000 in impact fees. Or if in the interest of the city, they take dedication of 
the roadway. They have money from him and may owe him rebates. They are giving him a new 
application. The hearing authority can revoke the permits. It seems harsh to recommend. There are 

ways to solve the road problem including working with Clean Water Services and ODOT through their 
grant programs to obtain monies to help build Cedar Brook Way through the degraded vegetative 
corridor. The site plan is structured with both properties involved and nearly full development of both 
sites. The planning commission can put as a condition of approval to put the street in, because of the 
development Doyel has created. Our preference is not that you force someone out of business , but that 
option remains here because of Doyel's bad faith activities. He had a choice. He made it. 

The earlier hearing record is part of this record because Petitioners submitted it-- not because of the staff. 
Conditions could be amended that require Doyel to sit down with CWS to solve the problems and tind 

additional funding to extend Cedar Brook Way or decide it is too expensive to try to breech the vegetative 
corridor and incorporate its removal from the upcoming TSP amendments. 

PAGE 19 Section 7 A-B-C These items Doyel is in violation of and is grounds for revocation. 

PAGE 20 and 21-- Section 16.92.020 landscaping materials and plant selection. Existing vegetation. 
What he is doing is making assumptions that the trees which have been destroyed by the repeated cutting 

ofPGE in front of the house on 99W and the other landscape work can work to satisfy the problem. 

CLAUS COMMENTS TO FINAL ORDER (Page 36) 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

163

It occurs because he is mixing and matching applications. TL #21 00 and# 1660 do not have a complete 
landscaping plan. He is ignoring it-- future development without making Doyel's bu ilding illegal is almost 
certain. The dental building needs that parking. 

PAGE 22 -- non vegetative feature. He says that Claus made the asse1tion that they are treating these as 
if they are a separate application. That should be obvious to anyone. Lot 1600 does not meet current 
landscaping, architectural designs, or parking-- it doesn't mee1 any of it 

In order to get around the current code he needs certain numbers to be within the range of conformity. 
Doyel doesn't have the islands, the building design, the updated code, which he is seeking to comply to. 
The hearing officer should revoke the old permit. If Doyel chooses not to act responsibility based on the 

code, then he needs to order the nonconforming house tom down. Even though he is not conforming to 
the code, he can lessen the non-conformity. Instead they have expanded the parking on the 
nonconforming house, al l of the lawn areas. 

PAGE 24 Parking area landscaping: if you look at Section 16.92.030 (a). He has to put in a site 
obstructing fence, or ... separating residential from commercial... Again, in his find ings, the hearing 
officer seems to have found a statement he is comfortable with "he is not a judge, he has no legal 
authority to enforce a code." As has been demonstrated, he admits there were several violations, but 
refuses to revoke the pennit. Doyel is asking after he built a building, to add to the parking. He could 

have cut down the building size at the time. By an administrative slip he built an illegal nonconforming 
building. Now he comes back when he was warned from the beginning he was under parked. He is 
telling us all now that he really doesn't need the parking but that he isjust a good guy. A series of il legal 

acts to accomplish this without any legal permits. Revocation ofthe site plan would send a signal of how 
serious the Doyel breeches have been. 

P.24-27 parkjng. landscape, in deta il--- all of this through page 27 is not accurate on the landscaping 
because he is not making the parking and landscaping conform. He is trying to make the parking lot 

conforming and the dental office nonconforming. There is no use doing a great deal of work on a lot 
more of this. The hearings officer misses the obvious-- he can revoke the site plan for the earlier acts 
such as "topping off' of the trees in the front ofTL #1600 along 99W or the landscaping and trees that 
were removed. 

P. 33 Section 16.94 (D) Prohibited Uses: Read the language .... the hearings examiner is not reading 
the language of the code. There has to be a statement that under no circumstances is rent going to come 
back from any of the dental or other tenants, or Nathan and Polly Doyel as Knob Properties, that then 
increases rents back to the tenants. This site plan has not be reviewed as a commercial parking lot. 

This is a critical condition to the approvals. What in the approval criteria is to stop Mr. Doyel from 
creatively finding a way to obtain rent, lease, batter or other remuneration for the use of this parking lot 
on TL#2100. 

If Corey Platt is renting the house and allegedly told the enforcement officer that he is not running a 

business. he is then merely renting the nonconforming house atld car parking space for that house. 

CLAUS COMMENTS TO FINAL ORDER (Page 37) 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

164

(f) that condition needs to include that all of the parking needs to be marked-- including Corey Platt's. 
The instructions are wrong ... with the non-conforming house-- you are increasing the non-conformity 
through the increased parking being allowed that includes the tenant's heavy equipment. 

Q:.].§ SERVICE DRIVES one of the reasons for the unusual configuration is they are trying to preserve 
the highway access for the tenant, the well location, and the problem with the elevation changes. The 
tree hedge of the driveway is a dangerous condition The proposal is to right up to the non conforming 
house. He is blocking the vision. 

~ Doyel is cutting the lot in half and barring access. That bouse can only exit to the highway and has 
no connections whatsoever with other developments. The parking, topography both bar access. He gets 
back development credits for the land and the streets. If he put easements, then they have to pay. What is 
the problem with giving access-- he gets credits back for the development and street. If he and Gall 
would cooperate, there may be ODOT money to help put in the street.. If it is an exaction, Doyel can get 
an attorney and the city will pay for it. Why does the hearings officer tell us to sue the city to stop illegal 
activities? He bas code authority to revoke the site plan. He can pull the building permit and pull the 
application. He is empowered to do it. He is now saying that Doyel is not smart neough to get an 
attorney to get his permit monies back? 

ill Access to major roadways. This site plan is not a full or complete application . The CWS Service 
Provider Letter covers the entirety of TL #21 00. The application only deals with part ofTL #21 00 as 
evidenced in this finding by the hearings officer. Part of TL# 2100 does access 99W and the cun-ent 
tenant has several heavy pieces of equipment that are brought in and out of that site as well as stored on 
site. With the CWS letter the entire parcel ofTL #21 00 is covered. Both sites are developed. CWS 
acknowledges development. It is an illegal development and attempting to make a completely illegal 
dental office conform to the parking and nothing else. The hearings officer picks and chooses which 
aspect if the development he will treat at any time. That leaves you to his remarks about access. 

The property is not supposed to access to and from any artery. That is a flat misstatement. They are 
continuing to enter in from the highway. They are intending to use the nonconforming house to go in and 
out of99W. fn violation Section of 16. 96 (F)-- they are intending to enter/exist the highway. 

p. 42 B. Again what he is saying is as long as TL #1600 takes half of the buildable land ofTL#2100 
as long as it has circulation, TL#2l 00 doesn't need access. He chose the development course of the 
application. 

p. 43. 16.96.040 The hearings examiner admits that DoyeJ is illegal or nonconforming legal at the best. 
He is proposing to mix and match sites so he can conform to the parking code. He is only doing this to 
conform to the current code. All of the extra landscaping and spaces is not going to help his business. 

Traffic will dramatically increase-- he is saying the traffic is already there on SW Handley. It is like 
saying because the 99W traffic already exists, there is no increase in traffic to the individual sites-- and no 
traffic impact fees. If in fact he is merely moving his site plan then he has to moving the sidewalks, etc., 
to connect to this section. The house on the one acre are being isolated from community connection. 

p. 44 On site storage Chapter I 6.98 

CLAUS COMMENTS TO FINAL ORDER ( Page 38) 



Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

165

Conclusions again and again, for his own solace, recreational vehicles and equipment only may be storage 

in designated areas and street improvements. They are storing equipment from the tenant. They have 
done nothing to plan this pru1 of the application. They should be planning Platt's parldng area- plan it 

now. Again the whole two acres must be dealt with. 

The heru·ings examiner misunderstru1ds what I am saying ... He has landscaping requirements. by the time 
vou are moving the trash receptacle around you are blocking the visual corridors. He wants to change the 
entrance on the Handley parking lot because he cannot meet the visual corridor standards. 

Doyel needs to put the parking Jot and then has to prove the 24' foot increase doesn't impact the 
landscaping and re-do the landscaping plan. If he moves the entrance to the front of the building, he can 
do it but he has to move the Jandscaping. 

p.46 16.106 Trru1sportation facilities 

First, if the hearing examiner read 16.10.020 Doyel is required to dedicate Cedar Brook Way as part of 
this new effort to finally make #1600 with the use of#21 00 a legal and conforming office. Since we are 
the people that he is abutting Cedar Brook Way to our property we are interested in seeing that dedication 
of that property. lt is hard not to get impatient with this ongoing lru1d use process designed to help Doyel. 
We bad to supply the or iginal hearing officer's decision. The city wasn't even concerned enough to 
supply it. Secondarily, the hearing examiner has not seen the original plans to see that the building and 

parldng lot conform to the new code-- if he allows something from the earlier plan to be violated he is 
violating the General Plan. The staff had to review the earlier plan especially given the outrageous fees 
they charge- that plan should have been reviewed as a basic pru1 of review. All of that aside, the point is 

that was he obligation and duly to have investigated the fact that they are charging high development fees 
that they have in the bank now-- or do they? Doyel has seven years to collect back on the dedication. 

Doyel can work with the city to get his development fees back. The hearing examiner has said that this is 
an exaction on the rest of it landscaping, wetlands, etc. Doyel cal get a lawyer and get his money back 

from the city. It makes no sense.... those development credits have been paid and no more are needed ... 
get the right of way, get the land and dedication. Stop harassing us-- Doyel should take care of his 

business. Why does the hearings officer suggest to us to sue to force the staff to do their job? Clauses 
should not have to legally force the staff and its contractors to do their job. 

CLAUS COMMENTS TO FINAL ORDER ( Page 39) 



These are the all the files pertaining to this land use action, including the original application materials.  

They can be found at: 

https://www.sherwoodoregon.gov/planning/project/pacific-family-dental-parking-lot-expansion 

Appeal Hearing Public Notice, December 20, 2013 
Affidavit of Posting for Appeal Hearing Public Notice, December 20, 2013 
Affidavit of Posting at the site for Appeal Hearing, December 23, 2013 
Appeal Application, December 6, 2013 
            Exhibit 1, Copy of the Decision 
            Exhibit 2, Copy of the Decision with Petitioners comments in red 
Notice of Decision, November 22, 2013 
Hearing Officer Decision, November 22, 2013 
Hearing Officer Agenda 
Staff Report, Brad Kilby, Planning Manager, October 17, 2013 

Exhibit A, Application Materials, Received June 19, 2013 
Exhibit B, Written Comments Jim Claus, August 9, 2013 
Exhibit C, Written Comments Michelle Barrera, October 9, 2013 
Exhibit D, Clean Water Services Comments, Jackie Humphreys, October 2, 2013 
Exhibit E, ODOT Comments, Seth Brumley, September 23, 2013 
Exhibit F, Pride Disposal Comments, Kristin Leichner, October 1, 2013 
Exhibit G, Tualatin Valley Fire and Rescue Comments, John Wolff, October 3, 2013 
Exhibit H, Engineering Comments, Craig Christensen, October 11, 2013 
Exhibit I, Natural Resource Assessment, May 13, 2013 
Exhibit J, Stormwater Report Prepared by AKS Engineering 
Exhibit K, Clean Water Services, Service Provider Letter, July 1, 2013 
Exhibit L, Written Testimony Jessica Abarca, October 21, 2013 
Exhibit M, Written Testimony Joe and Mara Broadhurst, October 24, 2013 
Exhibit N, Written Testimony Susan Claus, October 24, 2013 
Exhibit O, Written Testimony R. James Claus, October 24, 2013 
Exhibit P, Written Testimony Jim Claus, October 31, 2013 
Exhibit Q, Written Testimony Jim Claus, October 31, 2013 
Exhibit R, Not applicable 
Exhibit S, Applicant’s Final Statement, November 7, 2013 

Affidavit of Publication, Tigard Times, October 3, 2013 
Affidavit of Publication, Sherwood Gazette, October 1, 2013  
Request for Agency Comments 
Public Notice 
Affidavit of Posting 
Completeness Letter 
Application for Land Use Action 
 

Planning Commission Meeting 
January 7, 2014

177

https://www.sherwoodoregon.gov/planning/project/pacific-family-dental-parking-lot-expansion

	Planning Commission Meeting Packet Cover
	01.14.14 PC Agenda
	11.26.13 PC Minutes
	Sherwood Industrial Park Phase II  Staff Memo to Planning Commission 
	Resubmittal Letter-Mackenzie 12.16.13
	Revised Elevations
	Revised Plans
	Pacific Family Dental Appeal Staff Memo to Planning Commission
	Appeal Application
	Appeal Exhibit 1
	Appeal Exhibit 2
	Website Slipsheet



